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Providing critical, sustainable
Infrastructure and services



Over the last 100 years, we have been at the
forefront of the UK’s waste industry, collecting
15,000 tonnes of rubbish every day from 76,000
businesses and around 2.2 million households.
But our skills and capabilities stretch well
beyond the bins.

Today our operations span the entire breadth
of the waste management process including
collection, recycling, treatment, disposal and
energy generation.

We believe our 8,000+ team can lead the wayin
achieving a sustainable future for the UK, helping
to change the way people think about waste.
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Performance Highlights

Continued growth

Financial Highlights

Non-Financial Highlights

Statutory Revenue
(£m)

£1,163.1m

Net Revenue Underlying
(Em) Operating Profit (£m)

£1,102.8m £90.56m

Lost Tire Injury Rate C0,e Emissions
(%) (scope 1&2) (kins)

0.23% 572ktns

Underlying
Free Cash Flow [£m]

£53.6m

Statutory Profit
after Tax [£m)

£45.6m

Leverage Ratio (x]

2.4x

Employee Total Renewable

Engagement (%)

58% 423MW

Energy Generated (MW)

Dividend
per Share (pence)

2.47p

Statutory Earnings
per Share (pence)

18.3p

Underlying Earnings
per Share (pence)

23.1p

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

1. For technigal terms and abbreviations please refer to the
glossary or: pages 161to 162.

2. The impact of IFR5 16 on FY20 results has been to increase
Underlying EBITDA by £18.9m, Underlying Operating
Profit by £2.8m, reduce Profit after Tax by £1.1m and
Underlying EPS by 0.5p. Net Debt has increased by £141m.
The impact on leverage is 0.6x.

3. Lost time injury rate refers te the number of lost time
injuries relative to the number of ermployees calculated
over a specified time period.

4, Ourtotal energy generated reduced as we diverted less
waste to landfill resulting in less landfill gas (which we
use to generate ensrgy).
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At a Glance

Creating value for
our stakeholders

Biffa has an efficient and sustainable
business model. Qux ability to capture
value from the waste we collect and
through recycling, energy recovery

or safe disposal, is both profitable
and envircnmentally sustainable.

A business model with
sustainability at its core

Our business is formed of two divisions: ‘Collections’ and 'Resources
and Energy’ (R&E). Collections encompasses our Industrial and
Cormrnercial (I&C), Specialist Services and Municipal businesses
and provides collection, disposal and other services for businesses
and households. R&E which includes Recycling, Organics, Inerts and
Landfill Gas, focuses on sorting, treating, processing and recycling
waste streams. See pages 21 to 24.

We have a strong track record of reinvesting in our business, people,
infrastructure and systems and processes, whilst providing positive
returns to our shareholders over the long-term.

We believe our strong heritage, brand and reputation give us a
competitive edge and makes it challenging for new and existing
players to corapete with us. As with most businesses across bath
the UK and the globe, COVID-13 is undoubtedly testing the resilience
of our business model. However, we believe we have responded well
to the challenges (as detailed on pages 6 to 7) and continue tobe
well placed. This is undoubtedly due to our swift response and the
hard work our people put in every day.

We have a deep and unrivalled understanding of the UK waste
market, which comes with over a century of experience. Our
expertise is often sought not enly from our customers, but

from the UK Government which values Biffa's opinion at a local
and nationai level. This, along with our scalable infrastructure,
distinguishes us from our competitors and is why we believe we
have an exciting growth journey ahead.

Collect

We collect general waste and recyclate materials

Revenue sources
m Searvice fees for collection and disposal of commercial waste

m Outsourced provision of household collection services

Costs

m Gate fess payable to third-party operators
(if waste cannot be processed at a Biffa facility)

w Vehicle, personnel and associated support services

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020




100+ Leader

70 I&Cdepots

2 Polymers plastic recycling facilities

years of heritage in industry health & safety 15 Soil treatment and composting facilities
performance 3
38 I&C waste transfer stations
N 1 : ! 8 O O 11 Hazardous waste facilities
0 [ ] 9 9 Operating landfill sites
for I&C collections vehicles 4 Materials recycling facilities
8 0 0 0 9 5 0/ 33 Landfill gas sites generating electricity
y I 0 3 Anaerobic digestion plants
employees UK postcode coverage 36 Municipal collections contracts
Process Produce

We process and treat waste and recycling
at our facilities

Where we cannot recycle material at our sites,
we send to Energy from Waste facilities or, as
a last resort, dispose of to landfill

v

Revenue sources

m Gate fees for processing and treating waste

We generate renewable energy and recycled materials

Revenue sources
m Sale of commodity products

®m Sale of renewable energy

Costs

® Processing and treatment costs
(including equipment and personnel costs)

m Landfill tax

m Gate fee disposal costs for certain products

Bitfa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Our Stakeholders

Engaging our
stakeholders

Positive relationships with our stakeholders,
who have an interest in our business and
may be impacted by the decisions we make,
are Rey to our long-term success.

Emplovyees Customers

We therefore engage with them to understand what matters

to them and take this into account when setting strategy and
also in our day-to-day business operations. Our key stakeholder
groups are identified below. We have set gut on these pages
how the business engages with these stakeholders, the key
interests raised and the outcomes of that engagement.

Shareholders

How we engage

We regularly engage with our employees
face-to-face and through a number of
channels including cur amployee app,
employee roadshows, all employee calls,
newsletters and our intranet. We conduct
an annual employee engagerment survey

and hold focus groups ta share results and

gain feedback.

Key interests raised
u Pay and benefits

1 Communication
s Development apportunities
» Employee fundraising

#u Business performance and
customer information

® Health and Safety (H&S) progress

Outcomes of engagement

= Introduced our employee
app ‘Biffa Beat’

m Launched 'Safer Together'
H&S campaign to build a
stronger safety culture

B Smarter Ways of Working
programme to support flexible
working and work life balance

® Improved benefits and
employee discounts

u Introduced new comprehensive
online suite of training and
development materials

®» Partnered with the charity WasteAid

Where to find more information
See our People section
on pages 29 to 31

How we engage

Ensuring that we work collaboratively
with our customers is of vital importance.
We communicate regularly via customer
meetings, newsletters, blogs and social
media updates.

Key interests raised
®» Service delivery

m Strategy and growth opportunities
» Support with sustainability arabitions
m HES

» Ability to self-serve online and more
digital products

m Electric vehicles and alternative fuels

Outcomes of engagement

m Custormer events held toupdate
customers on business strategy
and opportunities

a Launched Sustainability Strategy
“Resourceful, Responsible”

m Developing an online training product

to support our customers in how to

segregate their waste

Trialling SMS text alert service with

national customers, letting them

know when their collection is due

m Introduced new e-commerce enabled
waste collection service called Skoup

Where to find more information
See our Operating Review
on pages 2 to 24

How we engage

The Executive Diractors and Investor
Relations teamn meet (in person or

via confgrence pall) with existing and
potential investors. We also provide
webcasts, email blasts and events
throughout the year.

Rey interests raised
a Financial results

m Business model/strategic direction
m Capital allocation

a Merger & Acquisition potential

a Competition in the industry

m Sustainability Strategy

QOutcomes of engagement

m High number of meetings held
throughout the year

w Held Capital Markets Day for key
stakeholders (including onling
webcast) to outline growth strategy
and introduce mermbers of Biffa's
Executive teamn

m Launch of Sustainability Strategy
“Resourceful, Responsible”

& Developed investor section of the
wehbsite to include alert service

Where to find more information
See our Shareholder Engagement
on page 52

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020



Section 172 statement

During the year, the Directors have acted to promote the success of the Company
for the benefit of shareholders, whiist having regard to the following matters:

m Likely long-term consequences
1 Interasts of the Company's employees

s Business relationships with suppliers and customers

a Impact on the community and environment

w Reputation for high standards of business conduct

m Acting fairly between shareholders

Where to find out more (page)

6to7,10t011,39
4t05,7,29t0 31,48
4t05,7,21t024,48
4t05,7,26t031,48
6t0713,49

7,48, 52

Government and Regulators Suppliers

Communities

How we engage

We have regular contact with Government
and regulatory stakeholders and participate
in various expert working groups,
Government consultations, waste sector
liaison groups and councillor training.

Key interests raised
a Environmental policy and compliance

» Waste and resources policy
and regulation

m Sustainability issues, including
climate change, circular econormy
and bioplastics

m Landfill tax issues
m Tackling modern day slavery and H&S

Dutcormes of engagement

m Input to, and member of, industry
working groups

= Responses to statutory consultations
and calls for evidence

m Liaison over new national policy
and regulation issues

m Publication of Biffa “Reality Gheck”
report series on website

m Launch of Sustainability Strategy
"Resourceful, Responsible”

How we engage

We look to secure excellent value

for money, whilst minimising risk in
our supply chain. Our Procurement
tearm hosts events and ensures a positive
two way comrnunication process with
our suppliers.

Key interests raised
m Business model/strategic direction

m Sustainability strategy, including
use of electric vehicles

m Stamping out modern slavery
in the supply chain

m Support of Biffa's charity
partner WasteAid

Outcomes of engagement

® Suppliers provided electric and
hybrid vehicles on trial and Biffa
provided feedback to product
development teams

m Launch of Sustainability Strategy
"Resourceful, Responsible”

m WasteAid/Slave Free Alliance joint
supplier day. Commitment from
suppliers to join the alliance and
help support our charitable efforts

How we engage

We are proud to give something back

to the communities in which we serve.

We attend parish council and local

liaison meetings, invite community
rnembers to visit our sites, provide regular
community newsletters and participate in
volunteering and fundraising initiatives.

Key interests raised
m Local site specific envirenmental and
operational issues and complaints

a Funding of local projects through Biffa
Award Landfill Communities Fund

» Sustainability issues including
waste plastic managerment and
circular economy

» Support of Biffa's charity
partner WasteAid

OQutcomes of engagement

m Working relationships with
local communities

m Direct contributions through
cormmunity volunteering,
sponsorship and fundraising

m Local project funding through
Biffa Award scheme

m Biffa “Reality Check” series of reports

s Launch of Sustainability Strategy
“Resourceful, Responsible”

Where to find more information
See pur website for further information:
www.biffa.couk/publications

Where to find more information
See how the Board engages with
Stakehoiders on pages 48 t0 49

Where to find more information
See our People section
on pages 29 to 31

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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COVID-19 Response

Decisive action in

challenging circumstances

The COVID-19 outbreak is one
of the higgest challenges Biffa
has faced in its long history.

Since the crisis began, we have taken decisive action,
focusing on the following three immediate priorities:

a Protecting the health, safety and wellbeing of our
employees and the communities we serve.

m Ensuring our business operations are able to continue
with minimal disruption and that customers continue
to receive the essential services that we provide.

m Protecting the financial strength of the Group.

The response of the entire Biffa team in ensuring we have
been able to successfully balance these three challenging

priorities has been exceptional.

Volumes are beginning to recover and COVID-19-related
absence is reducing. See ‘Ensuring Continuity of Business

Operations’ for further information.

COVID-19 Response timeline

Protecting Health, Safety and Wellbeing

Biffa contributed to and supported the development of
national Health & Safety guidance. The UK Government and public
heaith authorities provided H&S-based instructions and guidance
and the Executive and Waste Industry Safety and Health [WISH)
body, of which Biffa is a leading member, have also established
sector-specific H&S guidanca.

We provided a comprehensivae suite of Biffa H&S protocals and
supporting guidance, such as social distancing, cleaning standards
and good hygiene to our management, office and front line teams.
We were, like most businesses, faced with the challenge of obtaining
supplies of cleaning products and hand sanitiser in the early days
of the crisis. We worked with our supply chain partners to ensure

we had reasonabla timeframes for deliveries and prioritised depots
that were in short supply. We also educated our workforce on what
alternative options they could utilise, such as soap and bottled
water for handwashing when hand sanitisers were not available.

We put measures in place to safeguard our employees who met

the vulnerable and extremely vulnerable category criteria and
implermented pay enhancements for these people to enable

them to keep safe. We also developed an individual employee case
tracker to help monitor and advise individuals within these groups.

The business made a huge effort to enable and suppoart home working,

by issuing over 230 new laptops and supporting an increase in remote
connections to the Biffa network from [on average] 100 101,300 2

day. Technigal guidance was developed to help people during the
transition along with tips and advice on looking after their welibeing
during these challenging times.

Ensuring Continuity of Business Operations

In our Collections division, the Industrial & Commercial
business has continued to serve customers, providing essential
sarvices such as food manufacture and retail, distribution,
health and utilities. It is however, the most severaly irmpacted
part of Biffa's business, with almost all revenues from custormers

|

March

4 March 2020 Pre-close Trading
Update and regular Leadership
Team calls begin

6 March Additional Safety, Health
and Quality cleaning and hygiene
protocols introduced

6 March Internzlresponse team set
up to coordinate business response

16 March Trade unions briefed
on Biffa's action plan

20 March Michae! Topham, CEO
begins weelkly coronavirus video
updates for employees

25March Additional Trading Update

26 March Letter to every Biffa
employee gutlining priorities
and the financial support available

31March Business Continuity
Statement published on website

April

1 April ‘Hi-Vis Heroes' campaign launched
to provide appreciation for our employees

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020



affected by the lockdown ceasing for the time being, across sectors
including hospitality, leisure, transport and non-food retail. Overall,
revenuaes were initially down around 50% from their position prior
to COVID-19, however volumes are now beginning to recover with
revenues now c. 40% down.

The Municipal business has remained resilient, with revenues
rernaining stable. The business has worked with clients to ensure
continuity of almost all services and the team is performing
admirably despite the inevitable increased ermployes absence
due to COVID-19. Increased absence levels with COVID-19 related
absence peaked at c.17%, now they are ¢.6%.

The impact across Resources & Energy is varied, with the most
notable impact being on Biffa's landfill operations, which rely on
the construction industry for a large proportion of their business
and saw revenues reduce by around 50% frorm their position prior
to COVID-19. Volumes are now beginning to recover with revenues
now c. 40% down. The other areas of the business, whilst impacted,
are holding up well.

For further information see our Operating Review on pages 21to 24.

Protecting Financial Strength

We took swift and decisive action to mitigate the impact of the

crisis on trading performance and to protect the Group's finances,
including:

m rightsizing I&C operations by re-routing trucks, taking c40%
of the front line fleet off the road;

m all M&A activity was suspended;

a 3ll non-essential and uncommitted capital expenditure
was deferred;

®» 1,500 staff, predominantly in or supporting our I&C business,
were furloughed under the Government’s Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme;

» the Board, Executive and Leadership Teams have taken pay
cuts, whilst we continue with the Government’s Coronavirus
Job Retention Scheme;

® all uncommitted pay increases were cancelled;

» FY20 bonuses, for the most senior participants, are to be settled
in shares and FY21 bonus schemes have been suspended;

m all areas of operating costs were reviewed and non-essential
costs curtailed;

m the Group agreed deferrals in payments of indirect taxes with
HMRC; and

= nofinal dividend has been recommended for FY20.

In addition, the Group’s banks have been very supportive. Covenant
amendments and an additional £60m (in principal) liquidity
headroom has been agreed.

Stakeholder Management

All of our stakeholders were affected in some way by the
COVID-19 crisis. Our swift action and clear engagement with
all stakeholders has enabled Biffa to endure these challenging
circurnstances in the best way possible, whilst ensuring we have
continued to support these stakeholders and act fairly at all times:

Employees - our internal effort to protect our people was our top
priority. From adapting staff bensfits where relevant, utilising the
Coronavirus Government Retention Scheme, creating aninternal
response teamn, utilising our ernployee app to proactively engage
with our teams, offering wellbeing support and other engagerent
methods including letters, appreciation videos and much more.

Customers - we actively worked with customers to minimise service

disruption and suppart them where possible. We have also enjoyed
good levels of new business wins.

Shareholders - we sought to engage proactively with shareholders,
participating in numerous calls with them as well as briefing broker
sales teams, and releasing three RNS announcements in relation
to the crisis. Our share price reaction has been consistent with our
sector and the FTSE 250 overall.

Suppliers - we are extrernely grateful to the many long-standing
suppliers who have supported our operations through the crisis.
We worked proactively with key suppliers to agree rebates, payment
deferrals and discounts where appropriate.

Government and Regulatoers - we proactively engaged with the
Government and Regulators and other industry operators to pull
together as an industry, helping to develop industry guidelines and
best practice in response to the crisis.

Comrmunities — our key workers are providing an essential service
to businesses and households. We were overwhelmed by the support
we received from our customers and members of the public (in the
form of hand-written notes, pictures and social media posts) who
have expressed their gratitude for our front line workers.

You can read more on:

Principal risks on pages 34 to 38

Viability staternent and going concern on page 39

How the Board Engages with Stakeholders on page 47

—
Cd

2 April Biffa provides waste collection
services for the first temporary COVID-19
hospital, NHS Nightingale in London

{the first of three NHS hospitals we

are supporting) are delivering

6 April Remuneration measures
Trading Update

6 April Regular rhythm of all-ermployee
calls begin

6 April Furlough process introduced

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

15 April Biffareceives letter from MP
Rebecca Pow, the Parliamentary Under
Secretary of State for Defra, thanking
the industry for the vital services we

22 April Issued welibeing guidance to
managers and podcasts to employees
to offer additional support

May
4 May Bankcovenantarnendments agreed

6 May COVID-19Financing and
Reporting Trading Update

June

5June Full year results announced
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Chairman’s Statement

Maintaining a strong
business foundation

Ken Lever
Chairman

Last year, my Chairman’s Statement had the
strapline “Well positioned for the future”
and 2019/20 was another good year for Biffa,
building on the progress made since our [PO
in 2016 and establishing a clear path for
future growth against our vision, to ‘lead the
way in UK sustainable waste management’.

It was not until the final couple of weeks of the year that the
impacts of COVID-19 became truly apparent. Biffa's management
reacted swiftly to the changing economic circumstances and the
significant reduction in demand that the business has experienced
since the year end, especially in the Industrial and Commercial
[I&C) Collections and landfil! operations businesses.

0f paramount importance to the Board and the management
is protecting the health, safety and wellbeing of our employees
and the communities we service. I am proud to say that I, and
the rest of the Board, are confident that we have taken the right
steps to do this whilst ensuring the continuity of the critical
services that we provide.

At the end of the financial year, we had over £150m of available
liquidity. This strong liguidity position, combined with the decisive
action taken to control costs, leaves Biffa well placed to weather
these unprecedented trading conditions.

Business and Markets

We understand the increasing scrutiny placed on businesses and
households to rnanage their waste responsibly. That is why we are
committed to providing our customers with efficient, reliable and
sustainable waste management, Central to our business is the
collection of industrial, commercial, and domestic waste which
we process, prioritising its recycling and energy recovery, with
safe dispesal tolandfill as a last resort.

The markets in which we operate provide us with a number of
opportunities for organic and inorganic growth. Our business spans
each area of the waste hierarchy, which means we are well placed
to take advantage of these opportunities when they arise.

At the beginning of the last financial year we re-organised the Group
into two divisions - Callections and Resources & Energy. This has
created a more efficient, focused structure and positioned us for
growth in the areas where we have advantaged positions. We have
made good progress in both divisions, delivering our plan for the
vear and performing in line with expectations, despite the initial
impact of COVID-19 in the last month of the year. You can read

more in our Operating Review on pages 2110 24.

Strategy and Capital Allocation

Biffa has a clear strategy for growth based on three strategic pillars;
grow our market share; develop services and infrastructure; and
optimise systems and processes. These are underpinned by a focus
on three specific opportunities - growing our collections business;
expanding our plastics recycling business Biffa Polyraers; and
investing in energy from waste (EfW). The strategy fully supports
Biffa’s purpose to ‘change the way people think about waste' and
our vision to ‘lead the way in UK sustainable waste management’
and is underpinned by our Sustainability Strategy, ‘Resourceful,
Responsible’, which we were delighted to launch in March 2020.

One of the highlights of the year for me was attending the official
opening of the first phase of Biffa's new 57kt PET recycling facility
in Seaham, County Durharm, in January 2020. This is progressing
well, despite the COVID-19 outbreak and we still see significant
opportunity for further investiment in our Polyrmers plastics
business over the next few years.

We have also continued to cormit capital to bolt-on acquisitions
in the Collections business, which are central ta Biffa's combined
organic and inorganic growth strategy.

You can read more about gur overall strategic focus on
pages12t013.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020



Shareholder Returns

We had planned to see an increase in the dividend for the year
ended 27 March 2020, but due to cash conservation measures
inresponse to COVID-1§, the final dividend of 2019/20 has
been cancelled. The Board believes this to be prudent in the
circumstances and aspires to return to dividend payments

as spon as more normal trading conditions allow.

Health & Safety

The waste management industry carries inherent Health & Safety
(H&S] risks and we are committed to keeping our people, our
custorners and the general public safe and well. Protecting the
health, safety and wellbeing of our people has been our top prierity
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. Biffa has always been an
industry leader, setting extremely high safety standards. The Board
was delighted to see the achievement of the planned year-on-year
reduction in the Lost Time Injury rate as well as the introduction

of a new H&S culture change programme, ‘Safer Together”

Corporate Governance

We set out in some detail later in the Corporate Governance
Report (see pages 40 to 85), cur approach to corporate governance
and compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code. The
increasing cost associated with meeting such requirements must
be recognised. We seek to ensure an appropriate balance between
pragratic compliance and the associated cost, whilst upholding
the highest governance standards in those areas that truly add
value to the business.

The Board

Last year we made a number of changes to the Board. This year
we have seen these changes successfully embedded and Board
rmermbers working and interacting well together and building
strong relationships. Inevitably the COVID-18 crisis has challenged
the Board and the Group Executive Team, but it is at times of crisis
that the high quality of our team and leadership is apparent.

Biffa Annual Repart and Accounts 2020

Employees

Qur people are the core of our organisation. It is the hard work they
put in every day which makes the difference. Identified by the
Government as ‘key workers' our people have continued to work
throughout the COVID-19 crisis, highlighting their commitment,
dedication and loyalty. The Board thanls all our employees for this
and for the sacrifices they have made to ensure we have been able
to continue to operate and support our customers and communities
during this time.

It has been regrettable that as a result of the downturn in business,
some of our emplovees have been put into the Government Furlough
Scheme. Biffa has provided enhanced benefits, designed to ensure
that no employee suffers undue hardship whilst unable to work

due to COVID-19. Our executive and senior leadership teams have
also taken adjustments to their rernuneration and 1 would like to
recognise the contribution they have made at this difficult time.

Employee engagement continues to be of key importance to the
organisation. [ was delighted that David Martin, our Board member
who has responsibility for workforce engagement, attended two
employee roadshows, conducted a focus group with a cross section
of emnployees and attended the annual employee awards event,
along with several other activities enabling him accessto a large
number of employees.

You can read more about this on pages 29 to 31.

Looking to the Future
We are mindful that the irnrnediate futura of Biffa is very much affected
by the current uncertainty in markets attributed to COVID-13.

However, Biffa is a strong company, built on solid foundations, with
a dedicated and committed management team and a clear strategy
for growth. The immediate focus of the Board is very much to protect
and preserve the fundamental value of the business so that we can
return to business as usual and deliver further progress against our
strategic growth plans, once we are through these difficult times.

Ken Lever
Chairman

4 June 2020
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In Conversation with our CEQ

Supporting customers
and communities
through the crisis

Michael Topham
Chief Exacutive Officer

How would you sumumarise the year for Biffa?
Events sinice March have, for abvious reasons, completely
overshadowed what was otherwise a very successful year for
Biffa. We delivered a strong set of financial results, continued
to execute our exciting growth strategy, and comritted to

an ambitious 10-year Sustainability Strategy, ‘Resourceful,
Responsible’ which will see the Group unlock £1.25bn of
investment in green economy infrastructure by 2030.

We continued to male good progress in our I&C business, through
a cormbination of organic growth, a number of acquisitions and a
standout performance in ouy Speciaiist Services business. The
Municipal busingss stabilised with sorme excsllent new business
wins and contract extensions. In Resources & Energy, a strong
performance in our Biffa Polymers business offset sorne weakness
in the recycling facilities that arose from ongoing softness in
commodity prices. You can read more about this on pages 21to 24,

We cornbined strong business performance and strategic delivery,
with committed leadership in helping to tackle broader issues
affecting our industry including rough sleeping, modern day
slavary, managing waste in the developing world, and diversity
and inclusion in the workplace. We also delivered our best ever
safety performance,

We were admitted to the FTSE 250 Index in March 2020 and I'm
proud of what we have achieved in the year, and even more so
by our response to the COVID-19 crisis,

What are Biffa's strategic priorities and what progress
has been made in their delivery in the year?

In Septermber 2013 we held a Capital Markets Day event, our frst since
the IPO in 2016. The materials presented on the day are available in
the Investors section of our website. At the event, along with mernbers
of the Group Executive Team, we explored the key themes of our
strategy, including the growth of our leading I&C Collections platform,
investing to grow our award-winning plastics recycling business

Biffa Polymers, and investing in EfW infrastructure.

During the year we made good progress in all three areas:

10

= Dur I&C business nperates in a fragmented market where
scale delivers significant benefits. Our focus on growing, both
organically and through synergistic acquisitions, rermains central
to Biffa's strategy. In the year we delivered strong acquisition growth
of 8.3% of revenue, integrating the acquisitions completed in the
prior year and completing five further bolt-on acquisitions. We
also made good progress in evolving our offering to enable us
to drive further oxganic growth by developing enhanced digital
capabilities and launching new products to market.

u Our Polymers business operates in an exciting sector, with
demand for the closed-loop, food-grade recycled plastic that
we manufacture growing rapidiy. In the year we successfully
tuilt and commissiened the first phase of our PET plastic bottle
recycling plant at Seaham in County Durham. The plant can
process the equivalent of 1.3bn plastic bottles aach year, turning
them into food-grade regycled raw materials for reuse here in the
UK. We alsp announced a £7m investment in nearby Washington,
in a plant to process plastic pots, tubs and trays. The Polymers
business has again combined the delivery of a strong operational
performance with the development and execution of an exciting
growth strategy.

u In Efw, the UK continues to have under-capacity to treat non-
recyclable waste for energy recovery. Biffa, as one of the UlCs
largest controllers of waste feedstock through its Collections
business, is well piaced to unlock the development of this much-
needed infrastructure. I was delighted that we reached financial
close on our Newhurst project in Leicestershire [ £45m for 50%
eguity cornmitment). Plant construction is now under way and
scheduled to be completed in 2023. We continue to progress our
second opportunity, Protos in Cheshire, and are at an advanced
stage of this evaluation.

Iam pleased with our strategic progress and remain confident
about the future growth opportunities ahead.

Biffa recently launched its Sustainability Strategy.
What are the key parts of the strategy and how does

it align with Biffa's growth strategy?

Sustainability isn't new tous - it has been core to our business and
investment plans ever since the business and the wider industry
began to move away from landfill disposal and into recycling and
renewable energy.

We launched ‘Resourceful, Responsible’, our 10-year Sustainability
Strategy, in March 2020, The strategy, which is aligned to the UN's
Sustainable Developrent Gaals, is centred arsund three key
pillars: building a circular econormy; tackling climate change; and
caring for our people and supporting our cormmunities. It includes
a cormmitrent to unlock £1.25bn of investrment in green econorny
infrastructure, whilst reducing our CQ. emissions by a further 50%
in the coming decade. When combined with what we've achieved
in the last 15 years, that will amount to a reduction in our C0z
emigsions by over 80%.

‘Resourcefui, Responsible’ is inextricably linked to our strategic
framework and the investment in green economy infrastructure
includes the plans already outlined in our growth strategy,
including: plastics recycling- which reduces the carbon intensity
of packaging; Collections acquisitions- which reduce the carbon
intensity of business collections as well as improving local air
quality and reducing traffic congestion; and EfW~ which helps
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reduce the U's dependence on fossil fuels. In addition to those
existing plans we have outlined our ambition to invest in solar
energy across our legacy landfill land bank, and our commitment
to phase out the purchase of diesel refuse vehicles by 2030.

It's a bold and ambitious plan, but it is grounded in known
technologies and solid investment opportunities that we are
well positioned to deliver.

Biffa has refreshed its vision and purpose.

What does this mean for the oxganisation?

I am fortunate tolead such a committed team of individuals,
who share a clear vision and purpose for our business.

Our vision is simple - to lead the way in UK sustainable waste
management. We wish to lead in business performance and
returns, innovation, reputation and in how we tackle broader
societal issues relevant to our industry. In the year we have
proved we are worthy of the mantle, through the delivery of

a strong business performance, the ongoing execution of cur
ambitious strategic growth plans, the articulation of our 10-year
Sustainability Strategy, and the exceptional commitment and
resilience the team has exhibited through the COVID-19 crisis.

Our purpose is - to change the way people think about waste. This
embodies what drives us as an organisation. We understand that waste
rnatters to people in a way that it didn't use to. We see the opportunities
that exist in our sector and believe that our role is to help people
understand them so that together we can make them happen.

I believe that together our vision and purpose are a great embediment
of what life at Biffa is all about and they help to drive our teams to
do the best that they can do.

You've mentioned the COVID-19 epidemic.

What impact has it had on the business and

what are you doing to mitigate this?

The COVID-19 crisis is of course unprecedented, and it has had

a significant impact on our business. Since the emergence of the
crisis we have focused on three priorities: protecting the health,
safety and wellbeing of our people and the communities we serve;
ensuring our business operations are able to continue with minimal
disruption and that customers continue to receive the essential
services that we provide; and protecting the financial strength

of the Group.

We took swift action to protect our paople, including a rapid shift to
home working where possible and the introduction of new protocols
to ensure that social distancing was observed where practical in our
frontline operations. At all times we have been closely invoived inthe
development of, and of course have strictly observed, industry and
Governrnent advice and guidelines. In addition to ensuring we kept
our people as safe as possible, we offered enhanced financial benefits
for those unable to work due to COVID-19-related sickness or absence.

The impact has varied across the range of services we provide. Our
most severely impacted business is I&C, where we experienced a
significant reduction in demand for our services and a 50% revenue
decline during the lockdown period, versus pre-COVID levels.
Demand for our Municipal services was relatively unaffected
however, ensuring services could continue in the face of significant
workforce absence has been challenging. Our Resources & Energy
business has been most notably affected in our Inerts business,
with landfill revenues down ¢50%, versus pre-COVID levels, due to
reduced volumes particularly from the construction sector. Other
parts of the division have been less impacted.

Qvarall, Group revenues for the period of lockdown were down
30% versus pre-GOVID levels. Howaver, the Group saw an early
stabilisation of these trends and in recent weeks we have seen
increases in revenues, with revenue levels in both I&C and landfill
operations now down about 40% from pre-COVID lavels.

To support short-term cash preservation we have taken a number of
proactive measures, deferring all discretionary capital and operating
expenditure and other strategic investrments such as acquisitions,
settling the majority of earned bonuses from the 2019/20 year in
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equity, pay reductions for the Board, Executive Tearm and other
leaders, the suspension of bonus schemes for the 2020/21 year
and cancelling our year-end dividend. We have benefited from
Government support through the deferral of indirect tax payments
and furloughed approximately 1,500 people. As outlined in our
Chief Financial Officer's Review, we negotiated waivers of lending
covenants and secured agreement to £60m of additional headroom
financing lines from our existing lending banks, should they be
required. When combined, these reasures have ensured that the
Group is positioned to withstand the impact of the crisis and will
help to ensure that we emerge strongly when the crisis passes.

I would like to offer my thanks and appreciation to all of Biffa's
stakeholders, in particular our employees, for their exceptional
response to the COVID-19 crisis.

As aresult of ail the actions taken to contrel costs and enhance
liquidity, the Group remains EBITDA positive and is seeing only
maodest monthly cash burn. As a result of mitigating actions, the
Group has taken, we are confident that we can manage through FY21
without seeing a marked increase in debt. Consequently, the Group
is in a position to weather the unprecedented operating backdrop
and trade through all modelled scenarios.

However, it is clear that COVID-19 is having a very significant impact
on some of the Group's markets and the duration of the pandernic’s
impact and the ongoing effect it may have on the Group's financial
performance remains uncertain.

As aresult, our balance sheet and liquidity planning is based upon a
cautious base case scenario, which assumes lockdown restrictions
continue to be imposed for the duration of 1 FY21 and are followed
by a subdued and incomplete recovery over the remainder of the
year. Under this scenario:

m The I&C division is expected to recover slowly as customers begin
to renew activity, exiting the FY21 year with run rate revenues of
~80-90% of Y20, and remaining at these levels as we enter FY22.

m The Resources & Energy division is expected to experience a
continued and more marked decline in Landfill Gas revenues during
FY22, based on known volume reductions and current electricity
prices. The Group expects its recycling business to continue to grow
across FY21 and FY22, with the new Seaham PET plant coming
on-line and Material Recycling Facility contract improvements.

The impact of reduced EBITDA would see leverage increase at the
end of FY21 to ¢.3x on the base case and 4x on worst case seenario
[both on a pre-IFRS 16 basis].

As a consequence of the covenant amendments agreed with lenders,
we have agreed a number of restrictions, relating tolevels of capex,
M&A and shareholder distributions, which we expect to remain in
place for ¢.12-18 months. The Company is therefore continuing to
consider its funding options on an ongoing basis, including raising
equity capital, to allow it to continue with all the previously outlined
growth investment opportunities across I&C, closed loop plastic
recycling and Energy from Waste, without delay.

What are your core priorities over the next year?

Our imrnediate priorities remain those associated with navigating
the COVID-19 crisis. [ am however hopeful and confident that as
the year continues, and given the extensive measures we have
taken, we will be able to refocus on delivering our strategic growth
plans, make further progress against our Sustainability Strategy
and ensure Biffa emerges as a stronger and better business.

COVID-19 will eventually pass and we will be able to restore
underlying profitability over time, but the climate emergency
is a continuing global challenge that will still be with us, and
we at Biffa understand the vital role we have to play in helping
the UK to address it.

Michael Topham
Chief Executive Qfficer

4 June 2020
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Our Strategic Framework

Driving progress
through strategy

Our purpose

To change the way people

think about waste

Read more on page 11

Our vision

To iead the way in UK sustainable
waste management

Read moreg on page 11

Our strategy for the future is built on three key pillars:

Grow our
market share

Biffa seeks to drive organic growth
across all of its businesses by gaining
new customers and by upselling
services to existing customers.

In its I&C business, Biffa has a clear
focus to grow by acquisition, as

a natural consolidator within

a fragmented market.

Read more on page 13

Develop
services and
infrastructure

Bifta looks to leverage the control

of waste feedstock from its collections
operations o invest in sustainable
waste processing infrastructure.

The expanded capacity and service
offerings that this brings will help
deliver the sustainability ambitions
of both Biffa and its customers whilst
providing the Group with long term
sources of earnings.

Read more on page 13

Optimise
systems and
processes

Biffa aims to maximise margins by
operating its business as efficiently

as possible. Optimising Biffa's systems
and processes includes activities such
as integrating acquisitions on to Biffa
systems, delivering strong levels of
customer service to minimise custorner
churn, leveraging e-comrnerce
opportunities and ensuring that
projects meet investment criteria and
help deliver our Sustainability Strategy. !

Read more on page 13

Focused on three specific investment areas:

Collections
growth
m Scale and capabilities position
us well for organic growth
a Proven track record of M&A

= Platform gives unique
synergy opportunities

Undexpinned by an extremely powerful sustainability story:

Leading in UK
plastic recycling

s Operational and development
track record

s Control of materials

s Trusted offtake partnerships

Developing
energy from waste
infrastructure
» Proven market need
» Control of waste and consented sites
m Underpins I&C business

We are unlocking c.£1.25bn of investment in the green economy, supported by fundable and defiverable investment plans. See pages 2510 26.

Building a circular
€Conomy

m Quadrupling our plastic
recycling capability

® Investing in energy from waste

Tackling climate
change
u Efficient low carhon collections
» Transitioning to EV/alternative fuels
m Solar developrent

Caring for our people,
supporting our
communities

m Reduce Lost Time Injuries

m Top quartile business for
ernployee engagement

= Manage 30% of estate for hiodiversity
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Our strategy for growth sets us on a clear path to lead the way
in UK sustainable waste management.

Grow our
market share

What we achieved

Biffa has continued its strong track record of
delivering both organic and inorganic growth,
delivering good levels of new contract wins
in all areas of the business and by acquiring
and successfully integrating acquisitions in
our I&C business.

During the year, we achieved some flagship
Collections division customer wins including
Transport for London and Center Parcs in

our I&C business, Winchester and Comwall
Council in our Municipal business, and North
London Waste Authority and Miiller in our
Resources & Energy division.

We acquired the trade and assets of

five small businesses for a combined
consideration of £5.1m, which takes our
total number of successfully integrated
businesses up to 22 since 2016, with £102m
invested and £132.6m in revenue acquired.

We made good progress in integrating
acquired businesses from the prior year
with all integrations on track. In particular,
the integration of Weir Waste has seen
strong operational synergies by reducing
the size of the combined trade waste

fleet by 24% and in SWR, where we have
benefited significantly from additional
ravenues into our collection network.

FY20 Acquisitions

June 2019 Thamesdown Recyeling
July 2019 TWMS Waste Collection.com
September 2019 Ribbex

Noveraber 2019 Kier Somerset ade waste

Jan 2020 Winchester ity Couneil
Trade Waste Business

Priorities

We have a strong track record in delivaring
on our M&A programme. The market
remains fragmented and once we emerge
from the COVID-19 crisis we will be well
placed to continue with our strategy.

As at March 2020, we had several potential
acquisitions that were significantly
progressed, but those processes were put
on hold due to the impact of COVID-18.

We are confident that as the year progresses,
we will be able to further progress our
strategic growth plans in this area.

Risks
See pages 32to 38
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Develop
services and
infrastructure

What we achieved

A particular area of focus for the Group
is in plastics recycling, where we have
the operational track record, control of
feedstock materials and the deep trusted
partnerships with our customers that
position us for success in this critical
and growing sector. Similariy our focus
is in EfW, where our control of feedstock
and consented sites give us the potential
to unlock the development of this much
needed infrastructure.

In January 2020, we opened and
comnissioned the first phase of our new
£27.6m PET plastics recycling facility in
Seaham, County Durham. In the next year,
Biffa intends to progress the second phase
of this facility in addition to building a £7m
facility in Washington, which will expand our
recycling capahbilities for plastic pots, tubs
and trays. These combined investments
will increase Biffa’s total recycled plastic
processing capability to 140,000 tonnes
per annum.

We also made good headway in growing

our EfW assets, reaching financial close

for our facility in Newhurst, Leicestershire
in February 2020, a commitment by Biffa
ofc.£45m. The plant is now in construction
and is expected to be operational in 2023.
Our second project, the Pratos EfW in Cheshire,
is at an advanced stage of evaluation.

In response to the COVID-19 crisis, we
deferred all non-essential and ungommitted
capital expenditure. We anticipate that
this will have only a modest impact on the
timing of our plastics expansion plans and
EfW programme.

Priorities

Our strategic priorities continue to remain
as outlined in our Capital Markets Day in
September 2018, the presentation for which
is included on our website. We intend to
proceed at pace with these plans once the
COVID-19 crisis passes.

Risks
See pages 32 to 38

Optimise
systems and
processes

What we achieved

At the beginning of the financial year

we restructured our business into two
aperating divisions - Collections and
Resources & Energy. The restructure has
delivered real benefits and synergies in
particular with closer working between the
I&C and Municipal businesses and between
our Landfill and Landfill Gas operations.

Increasing efficiency was a key

focus throughout the year which we
accomplished in many areas, including
pur finance back office by deploying a
Rohotic Process Automation (RPA) using
UI Path. The tool automates repetitive
tasks and increases the speed of
completing certain finance processes.

From a customer perspective, we experienced
low levels of churn, in our 1&C business,
with key renewals including John Lewis
Partnership, Baxter Healthcare, Greene King
and Mitchells & Butlers. We also deployed
customer facing Power Bl reporting across
64 corporate customers which enables
them to report on their overall spend,
volumes, carbon consumption and other
detailed activity. It is proving to be areal
differentiator for new business versus
competitors, adding to Biffa's unique and
quality service offering.

We successfully integrated prior year
acquisitions, together with five additional
businesses bought in year, overseen by

our experienced management team. Our
excellent M&A track record and integration
capabilities have been key success factors
in ensuring we can quickly benefit from the
synergias that these acquisitions deliver.

We have also been progressing ‘Project
Fusion!, the Group’s system replacement
programme. More on this can be found
on page 20.

Priorities

Qur investment focus remains on
improving efficiency of Collections,
processing and back office function
operations. We also seek to reduce

the level of manual intervention in
operational day-to-day tasks so that our
resource can provide more added value
elsewhere, We will implement RPA in
other areas of the business in the coring
year to drive increased efficiency and will
explore potential efficiency opportunities
using our internal BrightSparks innovation
process which generates new ideas.

Risks
See pages 32t0 38
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Key Performance Indicators

Measuring our progress

Financial

Underlying Organic
Net Revenue Growth (%)

2020 2.5
2019 15

2018 2.1

Acquisition Net

Revenue Growth (%)
2020 4.5
2018 29
2018 4.4

Definition The increase/(decrease] in
Net Revenue in the period
excluding Net Revenue from
acquisitions cormnpleted in
the period and Net Revenue
from acquisitions completed
in the prior period up tothe
anniversary of the relevant
acquisition date, fo the
extent such Net Reverue
falls in the current period.
Where comparative periods
differ in duration, the KPT is
adjusted on a pro-rata basis.

Performance The Group had a strong
year of organic growth with
some flagship custormer
wins. In our Collections
division these included
Transport for London and
Center Parcsin the 1&C
business and Winchester
and Cornwall Council in
our Municipal business.

Ir our Resources & Energy
division, we had some
important contract renewals
that will underpin ongoing
prganic growth including

Miller, Arla and North
London Waste Authority.

CPI +1%

Target

Assaciated with annual
bonus financial or
perseral metrics.

Remuneration Linkage

Acquisition Net Revenue
Growth in any period
represents the Net Revanue
Growth in the relevant
period from {i) acquisitions
completed in the relevant
period and {ii) any
acquisitions completed in
the 12 months prior to the
relevant period up to the
12-month anniversary of
the relevant acquisition
date (to the extent such Net
Revenue falls in the current
period). Acquisition Revenue
Growth is calculated onthe
same basis, using revenue
in place of Net Revenue.

We acquired the trade

and assets of five small
businesses for a combined
consideration of £5.1m.

We also made good progress
in integrating acquired
businesses from the prior
vear with all integrations
on track.

As at March 2020, we
had several potential
acquisitions that were
significantly progressed,
hut those processes were
put on hold due to the
impact of COVID-19.

Underlying Operating

Profit Margin (%)
2020 7.8
2019 7.5
2018 7.5

Profit before exceptional

items, amortisation of

acquisition intangibles,

impact of real discount

rate changes to landfill

provisions, finance costs

and taxation expressed i
as a percentage of sales.

The Underlying Profit Margin
rermained stable, despite
commodity price headwinds
and disposal cost pressure.
On a pre-IFRS 16 basis the
margin for the current year
was 7.5%.

> 2.5%

Continuous irmprovement,

Assaciated with annual
bonus financial or
personal metrics.

Link to Strategy

14

Associated with annual
bonus financial or
persanal metrics.
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Return on Operating Assets Return on Capital Employed Underlying Earnings Leverage Ratio

%] (%) per Share [pence) (x)
2020 19.4 2020 8.9 2020 231 2020 2.4
2019 26,5 2019 9.4 2019 20.6 2018 21
2018 27.2 2018 9.8 2018 18.2 2018 19

Underlying Operating 7 Operating Profit excluding Underlying Profit After Tax Net Debt: Underlying

Profit divided by the average
of opening and closing
tangible fixed assets plus
net working capital.

exceptional iterns and the
impact of real discount rate
changes tolandfill provisions
divided by the average

of opening and closing
shareholders' equity plus

Net Debt (including lease
liabilities), pensions and
environmental provisions.

divided by the number of
shares inissue.

EBITDA.

Return on Operating
Assets decreased due to
the inclusion of £134.9m of
IFRS 16 Right of Use assets.
On a pre-IFRS 16 basis

Whilst operating profits have
increased year-on-year, due
to IFRS 16, Capital Employed
has increased by £141m. On
a pre-IFRS 16 basis ROCE

Underlying Earnings per
Share rose by 121% to 23.1
pence. Thisis driven by
higher underlying profits
and lower underlying

Leverage has increased in
the year due to the inclusion
of £141m of IFRS 16 finance
leases. On a pre-IFRS 16
basis leverage reduced

RODA improved to 26.4%. improved to 10.3%. financing costs. from 2.1x to 1.8x as a result
of strong underlying cash

See page 122. See page 122. Sea page 102 flow generation and lower
M&A expenditure.
Seenote 27 on page 143.

Grow to over 20% and Grow to over 10% and Consistent growth. <2.5x and to return to s2x over

maintain above this level.

maintain above this level.

medium term (pre-IFRS 18).

Associated with annual
bonus financial or
personal metrics.

Associated with annual
benus financial or
personal metrics.

LTIP - Earnings Per Share 50%.

Associated with annual
bonus financial or
personal metrics.
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Key Performance Indicators continued

Definition

Financial Non-Financial
Underlying Free Cash Flow Dividend per Share Tonnes of waste processed
(€] [pence) (ktns)
2020 53.6 2020 2.47 2020 4,055
2019 a17 2019 7.20 2019 4,031
2018 44.4 2018 B.70 2018 3,693

Net cash and cash
equivalents plus
dividends, acquisition
spend, restructuring, EVP
and exceptional spend
movement in financial
assets less net borrowings.

Performance

Target

Remuneration Linkage

Link to Strategy

16

Underlying Free Cash Flow
increased by £5.9m in the
vear, due to lower finance
costs and working capital
improvements.

Maximising conversion
of underlying PAT to cash
[currently 93%).

Annual bonus.

Dividend declared divided
by the total number of
shares in issue.

Due to the impact of
COVID-18, the Board is

not recommending a final
dividend for the FY20

year. Asaresult, the only
dividend for the period was
the interim dividend of
2.47 pence per share.

Growth over time,

Associated with annual
bonus financial metrics,

Tonnages received in

the period subjacted to
processing activities, such
as sorting, bailing, plastics
recycling etc. at

Biffa operated sites.

Tonnage processed
increased by 1% this year.
A decrease in transfer
station volumes was
offset by increased soil
treatment volumes.

Growth,

Agsociated with annual bonus
financial or personal metrics.
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Tonnes of waste collected Lost Time Injury Rate C0.e emissions reduction Employee engagement (%)
{ktns) (%) {ktns)
2020 4,052 2020 0.23 2020 183 2020 58
2019 4,007 2019 0.39 2019 27 2019 58
2018 4,124 2018 0.27 2018 109 2018 53
Total waste tonnages LTIs are defined as workplace Greenhouse gas (GHG) The levels of employee
oollected from customers injuries which resulted in emissions data is captured engagement as measured
by Biffa operations. Excludes the injured person taking which is then convertad through the Kincentric

sub-contractad services and
haulage/internal movernents.

time off work to recover
from their injuries.

to CO: equivalents using
Government emission
conversion factors for
GHG reporting published
by the Department for
Business, Energy &
Industrial Strategy.

Employee Engagement Index.

Tonnes of waste collected
has increased by 1%, I&C
volumes remain static
with an increase in

During the year we had our
best ever H&S performance,
significantly reducing the
number of LTIs across the

Wereduced carbon
emissions by 23% in the
year. We achieved this
through a combination

The 2020 result from

a survey carried out in
February 2020 was an
employee engagement

Municipal tonnage. organisation by 42%. This of landfill gas reduction score of 58%.
achievement was the result [with a 31% decrease in
of great efforts by all our methane emissions) and
employees, supported by our an improvement in how we
‘Watch your Step’ campaign, capture gas for renewable
which resulted in a 50% energy generation purposes.
reduction in the number
of slips, trips and falls from
the previous year.
Growth. 5% reduction in LT1 rate. Year-on-year reduction in A 2%increase to an employee
overall carbon emissions. engagement score of 60%.
Assopciated with annual bonus Annual bonus personal Associated with annual bonus Annual bonus personal
financial or personal metrics. metric (6%). financial or personal metrics. metric {6%).
See page 28 for See page 26 for See page 30 for
more information more information more information
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Financial Review

Positioned well ahead
of the downturn

A veculwilialion from Undoerlying Profit After Tax tn Statutory
Profit After Tax is set out below:

IFRS 16 Pre
FY20 Adj IFRS 18 FY18
£m £m £m £m

Underlying Profit
After Tax 574 1.1 58.5 515
Acquisition-
related costs 1) - (11) (2.8)
Amortisation
of acgquisition
intangibles (16.9) - (16.9) (16:5)

Impact of changes
in real discount

Richard Pike

; ; \ . rate on landfill
Chief Finangial Officer provisions a9 . 4.9 (L6)
Strategy and
Group Performance . restructuring cost {a.8) - (4.8) @1
Iam pleased ta be able to present anather strang set of Hinancial _—
results. Compared with the prior year, Statutory Revenue was up 7%, Onerous confracts 15 - 1.5 (10.2]
Statutory Operating Profit increased 63% and Statutory Profit before Pensions GMP
Tax was up 163%, resulting in Earnings per Share (EPS) increasing equalisation - - - [3.1)
154%. Looking at underlying performance measures, Underlying .
Operating Profit {pre-IFRS 16) was up 7.3% and Underlying EPS Finance charges 11 - 11 (62)
increased 14.6%. Taxation impact
on other items 35 - 2.5 9.0
Dther Items Statutory Profit
To enable a better understanding of business performance, certain After Tax a5.6 11 467 18.0

iterns are excluded when calculating the Group’s underlying
measures of performance. These items are explained further in
Note 3 to the consolidated Financial Statements and include:

(i) exceptional items; and

(i} Other non-underlying iterns that recur most years but
that the Group feels will aid the user by excluding from
underlying performance- amortisation of acquisition
intangibles and movement on landfill provisions as
aresult of discount rate changes.

These Alternative Performance Measures [APMs]) are also used
to enhance the comparability of information between reporting
periods and the Croup's divisions, by adjusting for non-recurring
or uncontrollable factors which affect IFRS rneasures, to aid the
user in understanding the underlying performance.
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Finance Charges

Underlying financing costs fell significantly cornpared with the prior
year, as a result of renegotiated loan borrowing and bonding facilities
and the natural decline of the number of older, more expensive lease
liabilities. A breakdown in net finance charges is below:

IFRS 16 Pre
FY20 Adj's IFRS 16 FY19
£m £m £m £m
Interest on net
borrowings 9.0 - 9.0 9.9
Interest on lease
ligbilities 4.2 - 4.2 50
IFRS 16 leases 4.2 (4.2) - n/a
Bond premiums 1.6 - 16 1.8
Provision discount
unwind/other [0.3) - (0.3} 1.0
Net underlying
finance charges 187 [@a.2) 14.5 177
Discount unwind
on EVP instrument
and IPO costs [1.1) - (11) 24
Unamortised
arrangement fees
on old facility - - - 3.8
Net finance
charges 176 4.2) 134 238
Taxation

The Group’s tax strategy is approved annually by the Board and is
available on the Group’s website. The Group remains committed
to fully discharging its responsibilities in respect of all relevant
tax legislation in a clear and transparent manner based on a
collaborative relationship with all tax agencies.

The statutory effective tax rate was 19.2%, slightly higher than

the prevailing rate due to certain charges being disallowed for UK
corporation tax. Payments in respect of corporation tax in the year
were [£0.2m] (prior year £0.2m). The Group's deferred tax balance

of (£17.3m) includes balances totalling (£39.9m) in respect of
Accelerated Capital Allowances, previously written off goodwill and
losses which will continue to moderate tax payments in future years.

Earnings per Share

Underlying Earnings per Share rose by 12.1% t023.1 pence from
20.6 pence in the prior year. In addition, Total Earnings per Share
increased to 18.3 pence, over 154% higher than the prior year

7.2 pence, as a result of improved trading performance and lower
exceptional, non-underlying items.

Retirement Benefits

The Group operates defined pension schemes for certain ernployees.

These are closed to new members and to future accrual [except for
a small number of members who have protected entitlements under
local Government contracts). At 27 March 2020, the net retirement
surplus was £124.7m (prior year £79.0m). The Bitfa Pension Scheme
had an actuarial deficit of £29.2m at the time of the last valuation
in March 2018 [compared with £66.7m in March 2015), and an
inflation-linked annual payment of £4.3m has been agreed with

the Trustee of the scheme.
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Capital Allocation

The Group seeks to balance the allocation of its discretionary capital
between shareholder returns, acquisitions and organic growth
opportunities.

Due to the impacts of COVID-19, and the prudent prioritisation of
cash conservation, the Board is not recormending a final dividend
for the FY20 year. As a result, the only dividend for the period was
the interim dividend of 2.47 pence per share.

Prior to putting all M&A activity into abeyance, due to the impending
irmpacts of COVID-19, the Group had continued to deliver against

its growth strategy by completing five small acquisitions for £5.1m
during the year. As the SWR business was acquired on 12 March
2019, the integration of this business, and the other six acquisitions
last year, has been a significant focus for the Group.

Cash Flow

Another year of focus on strong cash flow delivery in the year
enabled the Group to exit the year with a further strengthened
balance sheet and reduced leverage.

A summary of the Group’s cash flows is shown below:

IFRS 16 Pre
FY20 Adj's IFRS 16 FY19
£m Em £m £m
Underlying EBITDA 174.0 (18.9) 155.1 150.7
Working capital
mevement 12.8 - 12.8 (3.2)
Net capital
expenditure (55.8) - (65.8) (45.2)
Net interest paid (16.9) 4.2 (127 [16.0)
Lease pringipal
payments (50.2) 14.7 (35.5) (33.0)
Pension deficit
payments (a-1) - 4.1) (4.0)
Advance for
purchase of pwn
shares for share
awards (6.0) - (6.0) (1.4)
Tax paid re
acquisitions (0.2) - (0.2) (0.2)
Underlying Free
Cash Flow 53.6 - 53.6 477
Restructuring and
exceptional items (14.2) - {14.2) f4.5)
Acquisitions (5.1) - (5.1) {41.5)
Investment in
associates (5.0] - (5.0) -
Changes in
borrowings 0.5 - 0.5 451
Movement in
financial assets 10.1 - 10.1 (4.4)
Dividends (18.3) - (18.3) 17.0]
Netincrease/
{decrease) in
cash and cash
equlvalents 21.6 - 216 25.4
19
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Financial review continued

Underlying Free Cash Flow increased by £5.9m in the year, driven

by working capital inflow and reduced interest costs, which offset
increased capital expenditure and purchase of own shares for share
awards. Net cashflow (excluding movement in borrowings) is stronger
than last year as a result of lower MEA spend, offset by the Hazardous
waste landfill tax payment to HMRC {detailed further below) and the
initial equity investment in the Newhurst EfW facility.

Systems Replacement Programme

We have made some substantial changes to ‘Project Fusion, the
Group's systems replacement programme, during the year. We were
not satisfied with the progress to date and as a result, we paused
the prograrmmme in May 2019 in order to reassess the constituent
elements, ordering and project milestones. The increased costs
associated with this pause are included in Other Items: Strategy and
restructuring costs. We replaced the Systems Integration delivery
partner and recommenced the prograrnme with a new partner in
November 2019, The programme has been paused again in April
2020 as a result of COVID-19.

Net Debt and Financing Facilities

In March 2019, the Group refinanced its bank borrowings with a new
unsecured revolving credit facitity (RCF) of £350m. This facility
had an initial five-year term and was extended by a further vear
to March 2025 during the period. The RCF provided the Group with
a lower than average cost of debt compared with the prior year, an
increased maturity profile and improved covenants. As previously
reported, after the year end, an agreement was reached with the
Group's banks to revise covenants and increase liquidity headroom
for FY21 to provide appropriate flexibility to cope with the irnpacts
of COVID-19 in order to cater for all modelled scenarios:

m An amended pre-IFRS 16 Net debt: EBITDA covenant for FYZ1 H1
of 5.5x (compared to the previous covenant of 3.5x) and an
interest cover covenant unchanged at 4x;

m An agreement that in relation to FY21 He, the Group will be
afforded a 30% covenant headroom over and above Biffa's
forecast profit run rate as calcuiated in Septernber 2020,
to cater for the current lack of visibility around the post
lockdown run rate of profitability; and

# In addition, whilst the Group has sufficient liquidity to cover the
various modelled scenarioes, its banks have agreed in principle,
to an additional £60m commuitted liquidity headroom facility,
should it be required.

Repaorted Net Debt at year-end breaks down as:

IFRS16 Pre

Reported Net Debt FY20 adj's IFRE16 FY19
(Em) £m £m £m £m
Cash 87.8 - 878 66.2
Loans (249.0) - [249.0) [248.0)
Lease liabilities (268.0) 141.0 (117.0) (122.8)
EVP preference

instrument (6.3} - {6.3) [6.3)]
Total [425.5) 141.0 (284.5) [310.7)

Reported Net Debt excludes £41.3m (prior vear £42.3m) of EVP
preference instrurnent liahility in respect of the EVP Dispute
{see Note 33]. £6.3m of these casts is included in Reported Net
Debt as it will be payable irrespective of the outcome of the
dispute and is therefore considered core debt.
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Lanadfill Tax Matters
The Group is currently engaged in the following disputes with HMRC:

EVP: The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC concerning
historical landfill tax. Biffa was successful in its appaal at the Upper
Tax Tribunal hearing held in Novernber 2019. HMRC has appealed
this decision to the Court of Appeal. This is covered in more detail
in note 34 of the accounts.

Hazardous Waste: As previously disclosed, HMRC assessed Biffa
for £8.5m of landfill tax relating to the period 2012 to 2016. Biffa
paid these monies to HMRC in December 2013 and is appealing the
assessment. The cash payment is within exceptional cash flows
and is held on the balance sheet within prepayments as we expect
to successiully defend this case.

Financial Reporting Council (FRC] Information Request
In February 2019, the Group received a request for information on
the reporting treatrent of certain areas from the FRC, following a
review of the Group's 2018 Annual Report and Accounts. The request
focused on four main areas- APMs, landfill restoration and aftercare
provisions, pension schemes, and service concession axrangements,
The Group responded fully and on a timely basis to the FRC, enabling
it to close its enguiry in early May 2019. As a result of the enquiry, the
Graup made a number of simall disclosure changes in the prior year
Financial Statements, which have also been incorporated this vear.

IFRS16

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 with effect from the start of this year.
It has not restated the prior year Financial Statements. Adoption

of IFRS 16 has no effect on how the business is run, nor on the cash
flows for the Group.

The Balance Sheet impact of IFRS 16 is:

IFRS 16 Pre

FY20 adj’s IFRS 16 FY19
[Em) £m £m £m £m
Property, plant
and eguipment 5277 [139.9) 388.3 385.4
Lease Liability (258.0) 141.0 (117.0]  (1226)
Other 141.3 (0.5) 140.8 117.3
Net Assets 411.0 11 4121 360.1

The impact to the trading staternent of IFRS 16 is:
IFRS 16 Pre

FY20 adj's IFRS 16 FYi9
(£m) £m £m £m £m
Underlying EBITDA 174.0 (18.9) 155.1 150.7
Depreciation (83.5) 161 (67.4) [69.0]
Underlying
Operating Profit 90.5 2.8) 877 817
Underlying Profit
before tax 717 1.4 731 84.0
Underlying profit
after tax 674 11 58.5 515

Richard Pike

Chief Financial Officer

4 June 2020
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Operating Review

Collections Division

Jeff Anderson
Chief Operating Officer, Collections Division

The Collections division comprises the Industrial & Commercial
[I&C), Municipal and Specialist Services businesses. Collection
services are provided for local authority and commercial customers,
together with commodity recycling and a wide range of additional
services including hazardous waste collection.

Industrial & Commercial

The I&C business provides waste
collection and materials handling
services for commercial customers.

Performance Summary

The I&C business performed extremely well in the year, with revenue
growing by 7.8% to £603.7m. Organic growth of 1% was supplemented
by 8.3% from acquisitions.

In the year, we benefited significantly from SWRrevenues (which

we acquired in March 2019). We successfully integrated seven
acquisitions from FY19 into our business and made a further five small
acquisitions during the current year. Integration of these acquisitions
is progressing well and we had a strong pipeline of future opportunities
in March 2020, prior to putting all acquisitions on hold.

We were pleased to achieve a further year of excellent customer
retention [overall churn of 5.2%), as well as a number of flagship
customer wins including: Transport for London, Center Parcs, SSE,
Malmaison, Barratt Homes and Skanska.

In our Small to Medium Enterprise (SME) market we had & record
vear. The growth was largely driven by strong performance from our
telesales team and good progress in our lead generation capability.

Biffa Annual Repert and Accounts 2020

Market Conditions

Qverall Biffa remains a leader in a fragmented Collections market,
benefiting from our scale, route densities and lower operating
costs. We are seeing increasing requirements from custormers

to help manage their sustainability performance, specifically
around landfill diversion and carbon emissions. Qur smarter
logistics mapping allows for constant reconfiguration of routes

to help reduce carbon ‘waste miles’ and our integrated position
means our customers have full visibility of the waste supply chain.

Volatility in the global commodity markets depressed the value
received for recycled materials in the year. In addition, we also saw
the introduction of imnport tariffs on refuse derived fuel in both the
Netherlands and Sweden. Market pricing responded accordingly,
and these costs were successfully mitigated, demonstrating the
resilience of the business model.

As discussed at our Capital Markets Day, the I&C business intends to
reduce volure into sorme European export refuse derived fuel (RDF)
markets over time, and expects more UK incinerator volume, including
EfW developrnents planned by Biffa, to increasingly become available.

Strategy and Outlook

The I&C business has been significantly impacted by the COVID-19
crisis as many customers, particularly those in hospitality, leisure
and non-food retail, ceased or reduced trading, with revenues falling
by approximately 50% in the weeks since the financial year end.

By taking rapid action to reduce costs, we have been able to ensure
that service levels continue to be maintained at their normal very
high standards, with over 97% of services successfully provided first
time. In addition, despite these challenges, new business wins have
continued at high levels, as some smaller operators have struggled
to ensure continuity of service.

We have a clear strategy to grow the Collections business through
organic growth and the development of additional services,
supported by complementary acquisitions.

We are developing a nurnber of new routes to market, innovating
and broadening our digital capabilities. We are strengthening our
e-commaerce capability, by adding additional customer features on
our self-serve web portals and introducing more digital products
to market. During the year, a new reactive waste collection service
‘Skoup’ was introduced which enables residential and cornmercial
custorners in the UK to order a skip, van collection or hag service
online. You can find out more about Skoup here: www.skoup.co.uk
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Operating Review continued

Collections Division continued

Specialist Services

The Specialist Services business provides
specialist, tailored and niche services to
customers who have more complex waste
requirements. It was formed through the
amalgamation of Integrated Resource
Management (IRM) and our Hazardous Waste
operation, tagether with Biffpack, our plastic
packaging compliance service business.

Performance Summaxy

Specialist Services delivered a strong perforrmance through
operational synergies, customer retention and some encouraging
new business wins. Revenue grew by 23.9% to £89.8m. In IRM

we continued to secure more complex customers including
manufacturers such as Britvic and food processors such as Avara
Foods. We imprgved underlying performance in Hazardous Waste by
leveraging Biffa's I&C customer base to provide additional collection
and treatment services to custorners and this was further supported
by some encouraging new gontract wins, including Royal Mint.

Through Biffpack we have a role to play in helping businesses
to mest their legal compliance with packaging regulations.
We offered free compliance workshops in the year on topics
including WEEE and batteries, to help customers understand
the regulatory requirements.

Market Conditions

The market for Specialist Services is growing and Biffa's unique
position in having a fully integrated waste management platform
means we can take advantage of cross-selling services from our
I&C customer base.

Going forward we will continue to engage with the UK Government,
to ensure our opinions on packaging compliance reforms are
considered during the development of new waste policy and
regulatory measures, including the Resources and Waste Strategy
in England.

Strategy and Qutlook

Specialist Services is holding up well in thg current circumstances,
with IRM continuing to provide an extremely valuable service to
the food manufacturing sector in particular, with Hazardous Waste
collections and end of life processing continuing, albeit around 20%
down on pre-COVID-19 crisis levels.

Going forward, the business has a good opportunity for growth,
particularly in the Hazardous Waste arena. This will be reflected in
our acquisition pipeling, once we emerge from the COVID-19 crisis,
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Municipal

The Municipal business provides hausehold
waste and recycling collections, street
cleaning and other services for households,
on behalf of local authorities.

Performance Summary

We have made significant progress in stabilising the business,
winning new contract tenders, building gur strang order baok and
achieving good operational delivery. Revenue grew by 7.7% to £177.3m.

We successfully mobilised our East Sussex and Waverley contracts,
delivering good jevels of customer service and ensuring strict
Health & Safety protocols are in place. In addition, key contract
wins in the year include the waste and cleansing contracts for
Cornwall, Tandridge and Winchester Councils, which have added
over £300m to the order book.

Market Conditions

Our Municipal business is number two in the UK domestic market,
with 35 municipal contracts and is regarded by local authorities

as a key partner, delivering a high-quality service. The market
remains competitive; however, we are sesing a shift in approach
and sore parties are now exiting the market, resulting in increased
stabilisation. This in turn is 1eading to more maturity in the sales
and procurement processes and a more equitable risk balance
between the public and the private sector.

The business is well placed to benefit from the Government's
Resources and Waste Strategy (RWS) in the next few years as
dernand for recycling services fror local authorities increases.

We are also seeing more willingness from local authorities to
increase their budgets for waste contracts as they appreciate that
asustainable gquality service is more beneficial over the long term.
Labour supply, including driver availability continues to be a key
risk, but we are confident that we have tha best team in place to
rnanage our business needs.

Strategy and Outlook

The Municipal business has remained resilient in the current
rmarket conditions, with revenues remaining stable, The business
has worked with clients to ensure continuity of almost all services
and the team is performing admirably despite the inevitable
increased eraployee absence due to COVID-19.

Going forward, the buginess will continue to focus on delivering an
efficient, high-quality service, keeping costs firmly under control
and delivering efficiencies through the increased use of technology.

We will continue to build cur complementary and adjacent Non-
Local Government revenue strearns whilst delivering high quality,
commercially robust and risk appropriate tenders for new business
in our core market.

We have enhanced our technology capabilities by investing in
the remote monitoring of vehicles to improve safety performance
and custorner service.

In line with our sustaingbility ambitions, we are supporting
Manchester City Council with the implementation of electric
refuse collection vehicles. We are committed to being at the
forefront of this innovation and embracing this technology
forms a key part of Biffa’s Sustainability Strategy and our
target to reduce carbon emissions by 50% by 2030, You can
read more on this here: www.biffa.couk/sustainability
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Operating Review continued

Resources & Energy Division

Mick Davis
Chief Operating Officer, Resources & Energy Division

The R&E business, which includes Recycling,
Organics, Inerts and Landfill Gas, focuses

on the treatment, recycling, energy recovery
and ultimate disposal of waste. Net revenue
in the year was £232.1m.
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Performance Summary

Recycling

Our recycling facilities comprise our Polymers plastics business
and our raterials recycling facilities (MRFs).

In our Polymers business we have seen increasing dermand for
recycled plastics result in revenues increasing by 0.4% to £79.5m
and {as described on page 24] we have invested £15m in tha

first phase of a new 57kt PET facility in Seaham during the year
to satisfy the growing demand in this space.

We faced variable commodity prices in the year, which reinforced
the need for us to change our business model to improve gate fees
and lower corcunodity exposure. We have repurposed some of
these facilities from dry mixed recyclables to focus purely on
plastics so we can increase capacity and produce feedstock for
our Polymers business.

Organics

Revenue decreased by 7.8% to £56.9m due to a mixture of service
contract changes in West Sussex, where material is now sent to
EfW rather than landfill and the impact of planned maintenance
downtime in Poplars, reducing energy generation. Qur Leicester
site has had a solid year with improving underlying performance.

Inerts

Landfill has had a strong year, improving tonnage from 2.8 to 2.9MT,
offsetting a modest reduction in average gate fees due to changas
in geographic and waste type mix. These volumes have been
underpinned by our rail hub operations in Leeds and Manchester.
Soil and aggregate treatrment operations have also had a solid year.
As a result, net revenue in the business grew by 11.2% to £52.4m.

Landfill gas

Ongoing landfill gas yield declines were lower than recent years due
to strong operational performance. Higher average forward-selling
prices achieved (£49.23 per MWh in FY20 versus £46.00 in FY19)
have been offset by alower ROC upside.
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Operating Review continued

Resources & Energy Division continued

Market Conditions

We continue to experience strong demand for plastics recycling
material as a result of ongoing consumer and brand preference
coupied with emerging Government policy.

In the budget it was announced that a plastics tax of £200/t would
be introduced from 2022. The additional measures announced in
the Government's RWS are subject to ongoing consultation, but are
generally expected to have a positive market impact on recycling
levels, which will provide the right conditions for cormpanies, such
as Biffa, to invest in waste infrastructure.

The landfill market continues to see the closure of sites as void
space is filled with no near term sites replacing thern. This is
resulting in fawer landfill sites within the UK and waste being
transported further. Biffa has responded by expanding its current
rail hub programume, which can transport inert waste cost effectively
to alternative sites with capacity.

Whilst the markat prices for energy have weakenad, Biffa has
forward sold c90% of itg FY21 output.

The growth of separate food waste collections has been limited
during the last year and there continues to be an excess of anaerobic
digestion processing capacity, placing pressure on gate fees. However,
through our scale, operational expertise and collection network, we
remain well positioned to benefit from a rebalancing in this market as
the RWS measures around food segragation are introduted over time.
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Strategy and Outlook

The impact of COVID-19 across R&E is varied, with the most
notable impact being on Biffa’s landfill operations, which rely on
the construction industry for a larga proportion of their business
and have segen revenugs reduce by around 50% from their position
prior to COVID-19. The other areas of the business, whilst impacted,
are holding up well.

Going forward we will continue to focus on expanding our capacity
for clused-luup 1ecycling, which ic tho highest-grade (fnnd grade
material) and therefore has the highest value.

In January 2020, we opened the first phase of our £27.6m yPET plastics
recycling site in Seaham, County Durham, The plant, which can
recycle the equivalent of 1.3bn plastic hottles per annum, was built
on budget and on schedule and was fully opsrational at the start

of the new financial year. We also announced a new £7m facility

in Washington, Tyne & Wear, which will expand our recycling
capabilities for plastic pots, tubs and trays. These combined
investrments will increase Biffa’s total recycled plastic processing
capability to 140,000 tonnas per annum.

EfW forms a key part of our strategy. The Newhurst EfW development
reached financial close on 11 February 2020 and will commence
operations during 2023. As previously disclosed, Biffa's financial
commitment to this development will be c£45m over the next
three years. We continue to progress our second opportunity,
Protos in Cheshire, and are at an advarnced stage of this evaluation.

We announced in our Sustainability Strategy that we will look

10 invest in solar energy generation on closed or restored landfill
sites. Our Iow cost access to the grid and [arge [and holdings make
this an interesting future investment opportunity.

We will continue to expand our rajl hub network to support our
landftill operations, together with optimising gas, electrical and
material yields whilst maintaining operational efficiency across
all our sites.
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Sustainability

Our ambitious

approach to
sustainability

In March 2020 we launched our Sustainability
Strategy: Resourceful, Responsible.

The strategy builds on our long track record of malking a positive
contribution to the environment and communities we operate in,
outlining Biffa's ambition to drive the sustainability agenda within
the UK waste management industry for the next 10 years. It is
underpinned by an ambitious but deliverable plan, which is aligned
to our strategic framework and fully supported by our previously
putlined investment plans.

In the strategy, we pledged to continue building on the significant
progress that we have made in recent years to decarbonise our
services, which has already seen CO; emissions reduce by 65% since
2002, In the year we reduced our ernissions by over 23%; however

we have big ambitions and are targeting a further 50% reduction in
ernissions by 2030. This will be achieved through increased recycling,
diversion frorn landfill and by improving cellection route densities.

Dur Sustainability Strategy has been informed by recognised best
practice, new and emerging UK and EU waste and circular economy
policies, and the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals.

Sustainable Development Goals {SDGs)
Under each strategy pillar we have mapped tha SDGs to demonstrate
how we are making a contribution.

You can read more about this in the Sustainability Strategy, which
is available at: www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability

Strategic Pillars Strategic Ambitions Targets to 2030 Alignment to the SDGs
Bu11dmg a circular Unlock £1.25bn of investment m Expanding our low-carbon
in green economy infrastructure collection business
m (Juadrupling our
plasticrecycling
m Investing in low carbon,
Energy from Waste
Tackling climate Having reduced emissions by m 50% reduction in
h 65% since 2002, we will deliver carbon emissions
change a further 50% reduction by 2030 _ ,
m Cease buying fossil-fuelled
collection vehicles
m Increase collection route
efficiency by 20%
Caring for our people To be recognised as a top ranked m Tocontinuously be a
: ’ employer and to continue to top quartile business for
supportmg our be a good corporate citizen, Employee Engagement
communities supporting good causes to L
make a real difference ® 50% reduction in our

Lost Time Injury rate

Manage 30% of our estate
for biodiversity

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Sustainability continued

Environmental Performance

Biffa has a team of environrmental regulation and policy specialists,
who engage with the UK Governrent, regulators and policy makers
to help shape the national regulatory and policy framework in
relation to environmental matters,

We also provide our expertise in our Reality Check papers, published
on our website, which cover important topics such asrecycling,
plastics and waste treatment.

<G> To read these papers visit:
www . biffa.co.uk/media-centre/publications

Below is our streamlined energy and carbon reporting data for year
ended 27 March 2020. Further environmental data can be found at:
www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability/environmental-performance

Glohal GHG Emissions and Energy Use Data for period 1 April 2019 to 27 March 2020
Currentreporting year Comparison reporting year

2019/20 2018718
Emissions from activities for which the company own or control
including combustion of fuel & operation of facilities (Scope 1} /tC0ze [ktns) 543 716*
Emissions from purchase of electricity, heat, steamand cooling
purchased for own use [Scope 2] /tC0:e (kins) 29 31
Total gross scope 1 & 2 emnissions/tC0ze (ktns) 572 747
Intensity ratio: tCO:e (gross scope 1 & 2 emissions per eraployee) 71 95
* Scope 1 emissions far 2018/15 have been restated as improved diesel data has now becornme avaiighle.
Energy consumption used to calculate the above emissions
Current reporting year Cornparison reporting
Climate change/GHG emissions table {Total kWh): 2019/20 year 2018419
Methane emissions {utilised) 434,148 447463
Diesel fuel used 449,367,933 474,364,639
Red diesel used 80,800,198 89,689,097
Unleaded petrol used 846,055 1,251,655
Kerosene used 106,848 98,240
LPG 8,164 15,782
Natural gas 7,100,877 6,952,145
Purchased electricity 76,685,813 73,334,935
Self-supplied electricity 37,480,319 36,692,163
Total kWh 653,310,355 682,844,119

To calculate the above consumption figures, we used methodology based on Energy Savings Oppartunity Scheme (ES0S) and CRG Energy
Efficiency Scheme cornpliance.

Following our ESOS audit, completed in Novernber 2019, a number of Biffa's sites undertook energy saving projects. These included installing
LED lighting at 45 of our sites and PIR motion sensors at 11 of our sites, both aimed at reducing electricity consurmnption.

Overall, we reduced carbon emissions by 23% in the year. We achieved this through a combination of landfill gas reduction and an improverment
in how we capture gas for renewable energy generation purposes.

Energy Generation
2020 2018
Generation {GWh) 423 441
Carbon benefit (kt COze) 108 125
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Non-Financial Information Statement

Our Annual Report and Accounts details our approach to environmental, social and employee related matters. The table below outlines

where in the report you can find this information and where additional information can be found on our website.

Main policies and standards which govern our appzoach

Where to find further information

Anti-fraud, bribery
and corruption

m Anti-fraud, bribery and corruption policy
and procedures
m Whistleblowing policy and procedures

Our People (pages 29 to 313

Audit Cornmittee Report (page 57]

Business model,
principal risks and
non-financial KPIs

®w Business model
m Principal risks
w Non-financial KPIs

Group at a glance [pages 2 to 3]

Principal risks [pages 34 to 38)

Key performance indicators
[pages 14 to 17)

Employees

Employee handbook

Corporate responsibility statement
Sustainability strategy

Diversity policy

Health, safety and wellbeing policy
Whistleblowing policy and procedures

Our People [pages 29 and 31)

www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability/

corporate-social-responsibility

www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability

Environmental matters

Corporate responsibility statement
Sustainability strategy

See page 26

www.biffa.co.uk/sustainahility/

corporate-social-responsibility

Human rights

Employee handbook

Corporate responsibility statement

Modern slavery and human trafficking policy
Supplier Code of Conduct

Our People (pages 29 to 31)

www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability/

corporate-social-responsibility

www.biffa.co.uk/about-us/suppliers

Social matters

m Corporate responsibility statement
m Sustainability strategy

Our People (pages 29 to 31)

www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability/

corporate-social-responsibility

www.biffa.co.uk/sustainability

Biffa Annual Report and Agcounts 2020
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Health and Safety

Keeping our people

safe and well

Keeping our people safe and well is our
absolute priority. This extends to the
safety of our contractors, customers
and members of the public. The Board
has overall responsibility for Health &
Safety, including setting policy and
reviewing perforrmance.

Health and Safety Policy

Qur H&S policy outlines our approach to health, safety and wellbeing
across the Group. In order to support the implementation of the
policy, we have a set of management standards which apply Lu all of
Biffa's operations. In the vear, we undertook a project to consolidate
these into 20 Group standards which cover key areas of H&S, such
as waste handling processing and traffic management. Training is

provided to employees, including contractors, to ensure compliance.

Performance

During the ysar we had our best ever H&S performance, significantly

reducing the number of LT1s across the organisation by 42% (39 in
2019/20 compared with 67 in 2018/19). This achievement was the
result of great efforts by all our employees, supported by our ‘Watch
your Step' campaign, which resulted in a 50% reduction in the
number of slips, trips and falls from the previous year.

Lost Time Injury and RIDDOR Rate

238

Despite our recent positive performance, thexe is still much to do.
Our long-term commitrnent is to create a zero harm environment,
with no injuries or work related ill health across our team, We are
aiming for a further 50% reduction in our LT rate by 2030.

To support us on this journey, we irplemented or continued the
following initiatives in the year:

Safer Together

‘Safer Together', which launched in February 2020, is our new H&S
programme centred on collective responsibility by working together
to ensure the safety of our people and those we work with, including
contractors, customers and merbers of the public.

The foundation of the programme is the Safer Together Pact:

All pur senior leaders attended a two hour Safer Together leadership
training experience so they can continue to lead by example. This
will be supported by tfraining for managers, supervisors, drivers ang
front line operatives throughout the year ahead.

Peoplein Bins

Biffa is working collaborativeiy with the waste industry, hormelessness
charities and members of the public to address the growing issue

of people sleeping in bins, which poses significant H&S risk. By
raising awareness of what preventative measures need to be taken,
by both drivers and members of tha public, we hope to prevent these
ingidents from orcurring, This includes, training our own drivers on the
importance of checking bins before they are collected and reporting
such encounters to Street Link, a national rough sleeping reporting
service. You can read more about our research and action plan an
our wehsite here: wwwhiffa.co.ul/media-centre/publications

Driving Recklessly on Pavements (DRoPs)

Our employees continue to face the threat of reckless and aggressive
drivers who do not have the courtesy or patience to allow themn to
parform their duties, Biffa is comrnitted to raising awareness of the
social unacceptability of DRoPs to help protect the safety of our
craws and the public.
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Our People

Engaging
our people

Our services are delivered by a team of
over 8,000 colleagues across Biffa. We
work hard to create a culture and an
environment that allows everyone to work
effectively and safely and to contribute to
the growth of the organisation. Our People
Strategy guides our priorities with a focus
on; Attraction, Leadership, Engagement,
Development and Performance.

Our policies ensure that our positions on key topics are clearly
defined and communicated to our eraployees and that we all
tale consistent and appropriate action.

Our Values

Our values (Be safe, Be innovative, Be customer focused, Be a team
player and Be accountable) help guide our people in their daily
activities and support our behavicura] framework. They describe
the behaviours we encourage all employees to adopt to best serve
the interests of our customers, employees and the business overall.
We have been finalising a new set of values over recent months ta
reflect our evolving position as key workers and to better capture
the sentiment of how we act. Once approved, they will be embedded
internally over the coming months.

Health and Wellbeing

We care about the health and wellbeing of our employees. OQur
“&Me" programme focuses on aspects of health and wellbeing

that are particularly relavant to Biffa. The programme delivers
regular campaigns, training and offers a dedicated website with
advice and guidance on how to improve wellbeing. We also have
our Smarter Ways of Working programimme which supports flexible
working and work-life balance and provides a confidential Employee
Assistance Prograrmme with a 24-hour helpline.
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Board Engagement Activities

David Martin, our Senior Independent Director, has Board
responsibility for workforce engagement. David has attended,
and been privy to, a number of employee-related activities
over the course of the year, which have provided opportunities
to interact directly with representative groups of employees

in a variety of forums.

This included attending events such as employee roadshows,
manager conferences, employee focus groups and the annual
Diamond Award ceremony.

In addition, David attended, with the Group Executive

Tearn, a presentation on the results of the annual employee
engagement survey and employee action plan reviews with

the CEQ, Group HR Director and thelead employee engagement
champions, where he had the opportunity to consider and raise
guestions about the annual employee engagement survey and
subsequent action planning activities.

David has provided feedback to the Board on engagement
activities and provided a full report at the April 2020 meeting
when the engagement plan for 2020/21 was also agreed.
Site visits for future Board meetings will be structured to
accommodate general discussion with employee groups.

“Having completed a full year undertaking the
respaonsibilities of the Non-Executive Director

for Workforce Engagernent, [ am content that the
Terms of Reference and Engagement Framework is
proving fit for purpose, and providing me with ample
opportunity to sample reactions and viewpoints of
the workforce at large.”

“At all the meetings I attended I noted high levels
of motivation, engagement and pride at being part
of a successful business and significant buy-in

to ‘changing the way people think about waste' a
purpose which has landed strongly across a range
of employees and managers.”

“I was very impressed at the constructive input from
all participants, which gave me confidence to advise
the Board that so far I have seen practical evidence
of our values being openiy expressed and validated
by a good cross-section of emplayees.”

David Martin
Non-Executive Director for Workforce Engagement

Details of how the Board has considered employee
interests during the year in its decision making are
set out on pages 48 to 49
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Dur People continued

Engaging our Employees

Creating high levels of employee engagernent is one of our top
priorities and is central to our People Strategy; we strive to make
Biffa a consistently great place to work. Since 2G11, the percentage
of engaged employees at Biffa has doubled and in the past year
our gverall level of engagement has rermained stable at 58%,
following a 5% point increase last year. Although levels have
rerained stable this year, we are still ahead of our strategic
target and ahead of the UK average. We engage with our employees
throughout the vear through rmultiple cornmunication channels
including: face-to-face roadshows, conference calls, recorded
vlogs and our employee app, Bitia Beat.

In addition, we recognise our employees and teams who have gone
the ‘extra mile’ through our annua! Diamond Award ceremony.

Learning and Development

We continue to invest in the personal development of our colleagues.
Our Learning and Development Team provides a broad selection

of programmes ranging from compliance and technical training to
management and leadership development. We have also invested

in a comprehensive portfolio of e-learning maodules, allowing all our
amployees access to relevant and timely learning content.

One key area of focus for 2020 is our Advanced Leadership
Programme. This new senijor leader develepment programme
will accelerate the development of some of our brightest talent
across the organisation.

We continue to offer a portfolio of apprenticeship programmes
which range from enginearing apprenticeships through to master's
in business administration.

Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption

Qur anti-fraud, bribery and corruption policy and procedure sets
out the standards that are expected of employees and the systems
and procedures which Biffa employs to minimise the opportunity
for fraudulent or corrupt behaviour taking place and how it will
deal with any instances of such behaviour. It applies to all our
employees and appropriate parts of the policy are also applied to
representatives, joint venture partners and outsourcing partners.

Promaoting Diversity and Inclusion (D&I)

We are committed to proroting D& across all areas, including
gender and ethnicity. The industry in which we operate has
traditionally employed more men than women. Across the Group,
the workforce comprises 12% female and 88% rale employees. There
ig therefore [ots more to do in this area and it remains a key focus.

The Company entered the FTSE 250 in March 2020 and we will
submit the gender data on our Group Executive Team and their
direct reports to the Hampton-Alexander Review in Novermnber
2020. The table below shows our employment by gender in each
of the relevant categories,

We believe that diversity enhances our effectiveness and we will
continue to adgress pur gender imbalance when making future
Board and senior leader appointiments and will strive to develop
a diverse pipeline of exegutive talent.

Althaugh women account for only 12% of the overall workforce,
they are better represented within professional and managerial
roles which means on average they receive high levels of pay
in our business. This results in a negative gender pay gap.

More information can be found in our Gender Pay Gap report:
www biffa.co.uk/sustainability/corporate-social-responsibility

We are working to create a consistently inclusive environment
where differences are valued and all colleagues can thrive.

We delivered B&I training to our senior leaders during 2018,
introduced an e-learning module on diversity for all managers

and plan to deliver D&I training to front line employees during 2020.

Our diversity policy also covers specific arrangerments for people
with disabilities including:

m giving full and fair consideration to applications from disabled
persons, having regards for their skills and abilities;

= continuing the employment of and arranging appropriate training
for those who have becorne disabled while at Biffa; and

m career development and promotion of disabled ermplovees.

More information [including targets for the next 10 years)
can be found in our Sustainability Strategy: www.biffa.couk/

Itincludes guidance to employees on the giving, receiving and sustalnability

recording of business gifts and hospitality. There is an e-learning

module on this topic for all Biffa leaders and managers to ensure

they understand and adhere tothis. Any breaches of policy are

Investigated by the Head of Riskand Internal Audit and are raparted

to the Audit Committee (see details on whistleblowing).

Our Gender Statistics:
Male Female Non-Disclosed Total

Category No's % No’s % Na’s % No's %
Board B 85.7% 1 14.3% 8] 0.0% 7 100.0%
Group Executive Team 6 B5.7% 1 14.3% 0 0.0% 7 100.0%
Direct Reports to Group Executive Team 28 737% 10 28.3% 0 0.0% 38 100.0%
All Employees 7160 87.4% 1,028 12.6% Q 0.0% 8,188 100.0%

Board = Chairman, Non-Executive Director's and Executive Director’s
Group Executive Tearn = Executive Directors’ and E Grades

Direct Reports to Group Executive Tearm = Direct Reports to E Grades (except PA'S)

All Emplovees = All Eraployees
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Ethics and Human Rights

We conduct our business with honesty, integrity, fairness and
respect and encourage all our employees to ernbrace these
principles. Our employee handboolk sets out our expectations
and we also have specific policies including whistleblowing,
anti-fraud, bribery and corruption, disciplinary and grievance
matters, diversity and inclusion and preventing modern slavery.

Praventing Modern Slavery

Modem slavery is a growing world-wide issue exacerbated by the rapid
rise in global migration. We operate at over 200 sites across the UK
and employ more than 8,000 people, as well as many agency staff. We
also have relationships with many external suppliers to source labour
and materials for our business. It is therefore imperative tomaintain a
robust and effective approach towards slavery and hurnan trafficking
in order to protect our people and supply chain. We procure goods
and services under the Code of Ethics of the Chartered Institute of
Procurement & Supply and complete due diligence checks on new
and existing suppliers. There is an e-learning module on modern
slavery for all leaders and managers to build their knowledge and
understand their responsibilities.

More information can be found in our Modern Slavery
Statement: www.biffa.co.uk/media-centre/publications
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Whistleblowing

The Group has a long established whistleblowing policy and
procedure by which all employees may, in confidence, report any
concerns where the interests of the Company or others are at risk.
Employess are encouraged in the first instance to talk to their
manager, a higher level of management or a member of the HR
team. However, in circumstances where this is not possible, or is
inappropriate, the Group has provided an independent, external
whistleblowing hotline, via Safecall, for the reporting of such
matters on a named or anonymous bhasis.

All reports are entered in the Group Whistleblowing Register and
are treated in the strictest confidence. The output of an investigation
is typically reviewed by a review body, which confirms the outcorme
and any action to be taken, comprising the Group HR Director,
General Counsel & Company Secretary and other senior leaders as
appropriate, dependent on the nature of the complaint. The policy
is reviewed annually to ensure it is fit for purpose and continues
to reflect best practice. There were 39 whistleblowing reports in
the year ended 27 March 2020, nearly 60% of them being in the
categories of inappropriate behaviour or dishonesty.

In five of these cases process/systermn changes were recommended
to be enacted. In the other 19 cases the investigation completed,
but did not result in sufficient evidence to warrant disciplinary
action or a change to existing processes or systems.

Giving Back to our Communities

We encourage all colleagues to ‘give something back’ and are
proud to partner the charity WasteAid, as well as supporting
local communities through employee volunteering, local
fundraising activities and biodiversity initiatives.

We support our eraployees in their volunteering activities
within their local comumunities. We believe that, in addition to
giving something back to society, volunteering results in better
teamwork, motivation, engagement and personal fulfilment for
employees. During the year, more than 56 employees took

part in volunteering activities.

We also have the Biffa Award which diverts a proportion of landfill
tax to help support community projects near landfill sites. During
the year, 44 projects received funding of more than £3m to support
the improvement of land for biodiversity, the improverment of
cornrnunity buildings, such as village halls and the installation of
recreational facilities such as play equipment. We are comritted
to providing an additional £25m tolocal communities by 2030.

You can read more about our people and communities
in our Sustainability Strategy here: www.biffa.co.uk/
sustainability/downloads
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Managing our Risks

Managing risks
through unprecedented
clrcumstances

The Board has overall responsibility for risk
managerment at Biffa. In support of this, risk
management is firmly embedded within our
everyday business activities and our culture.

Clearly the evolving COVID-19 crisis has had a significant irmpact

on the Group. Whilst Biffa has continued its operations throughout
the unprecedented circumstances, there has been increased risk to
the I&C and landfill businesses in particular. Further detail on risk
management throughout the COVID-19 crisis is provided in Principal
Risks and Uncertainties on pages 34-38.

Risk Governance

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure that the Group's
internal control systems and risk management framnework are
effective. The Audit Committee has specific delegated authority
to review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control processes during the year.

Day-to-day risk management and control is the responsibility of
the Group Executive Team, with Board oversight, and is dasigned
to ensure that management provides leadership and direction ta
employees so that our overall risk-taking activity is kept within our
1isk appetite.

Biffa operates the 'Three Lines of Defence’ model to manage the
ongoing effectiveness of risk and control, to define the relationship
betwean the various management and oversight functions, and ta
demanstrate how responsibilities are allocated. The Internal Audit
tearn assesses our risks and controls independently and objectively.

32

Risk Appetite

The Board sets our overarching risk appetite and ensures that we
manage risk appropriately across the Group. H&S, regulatory and
environmental risks are our top priority. Biffa dedicates significant
resources and focus ta managing and monitoring these risks an a
daily basis, with other key risks considered and reviewed alongside
this. In each case, controls and mitigating actions aligned to the risk
appetite are put in place.

Risk Assessment

Arisk assessment matrix is used to ensure that risks are agsessed
consistently. This matrix considers the likelihood of the risk
materialising and its patential impact. We assass both the inherent
risk, before any mitigating actions, and the residual risk, after
considering mitigating actions and controls. We also identify any
additional activities that could be undertaken to further mitigate
therisk.

Emerging Risks

In addition to known risks, we identify and analyse emerging risks
and the need for mitigation as part of our existing risk rmanagement
processes. These risks are reviewed by both the Group Executive
Tearn and the Audit Comnmittee, and include risks relating to climate
changs, such as flood risk arising from high rainfall, and pandermic
and infectious diseases.
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Risk Management Processes

The Group's risk management processes are centrally coordinated
with an established netwaork of 'Risk Champions’ in place to
facilitate updates torisks during the year. The Risk Champions
are members of the senior management team and take a lead rola
in engaging local management to identify, agree and update risk
information on a regular basis.

The Group Executive Team receives regular reports on the principal
and emerging risks and ownership of each of these risks is assigned
to individual members of the Team.

The Audit Committee undertakes regular reviews of the principal
and emerging risks, as identified and assessed by management
through the above process. The Audit Committee also reviews
summaries of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit team,
which operates a risk-based annual plan of assurance reviews.

Our risk management systems are intended to mitigate and reduce
risk to the lowest extent possible, however we cannot eliminate

all risks to the Grouyp. The risk management processes can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Risk Management Framework

Board

Audit Committee

Group Executive Team

1

I

1

m Operational management/staff
Activity/controls:

m Policies and procedures

m Internal controls

® Planning, budgeting,
forecasting processes

» Delegated authorities

» Business workflows/IT
system controls

m Personal objectives
and incentives

s Compliance/oversight functions

Activity/controls:
m Health, Safety & Quality Team
with audit programme in place

s Environmental/regulatory compliance

Risk management

s Controls compliance monitoring

Management/Board reporting
and review of KPIs and financial
performance

m Corporate policies and central
function oversight

1stline of defence 2nd line of defence 3rd line of defence
Owns and manages risks Oversight of risks and Independent
and implements/operates control compliance assurance
business controls

Who is responsible: Who is responsible: Who is responsible:

m Internal Audit
Activity/controls:
m Approved Internal Audit plan

» Internal Audit reporting line
to Audit Committee

® Regular Internal Audit updatas
to Audit Committee
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risk title/description Risk maovernent Mitigating actions Changes in year Suategic
and Impact objective
Changes in Government Experienced and qualified envirunmental Published reports (Reality
policy and legal and i suppart experts working across all Check series) on Recycling
. operating divisions. Collections Guide and on L
regulatory compliance ® Opesational ) the Envi tal Managing Waste Plastics, Optimise
The Group operates in a a Financial epresentanon_aq e Environmentsa. ] -
highl lated indust d ; Services Association and other external 10-year Sustainability Strategy
1ghiy regulated Incustry an m Reputational  nodips; liaison with policy makers and ‘Resourceful, Responsible’
any changes to Government = Regulatory Regulators at national and local levels; developed and launched in
policy, standards or regulatory responses to Government/regulatory March 2020, which helps link
compliance requirements consultations and sustainability reporting. the coramercia)l strategy with
. . . ; sustainability/ESG strategy and
could have an adverse impact Environmental compliance strategy in place targets. These are in line with
on the Group's operations including annually reviewed targets and UK Government environmental
actions at 1ocal, divisional and Group levels. : s
and results. palicy and abjectives, as well as
Established compliance processes in place the United Nations Sustainable
to manage other regulatory cornpliance risks, Developrnent Goals.
such as anti-bribery and corruption, GDPR,
modern slavery, competition and vehicle
operating licences.
Founding merober of the Slave Free Alliance
and has irplemented several injtiatives,
including a manager's guide to modern
slavery, to raise awareness across the business.
Training for seniar leaders on modern
slavery, anti-bribery and corruption, GDPR
and competition.
Health & Safety (H&S} Group H&S function reports to the CED. New H&S Prograrnme - Safer
Biffa's operations present = Active and regular engagement by senior Together launched.
inherent H&S risks to our X management including weekly reporting Existing H&S standards updated Optimise
employees, our customers m Reputational  3nd calls with the Group Executive Team. and incorporated into a new Group
o > & Regulatory i . fon s Integrated Management Systern.
and the wider public. m Financial Inclusion of H&S targets and cbjectives within
Group Balanced Business Plans {(BBP) withone  New driver training programime
Violations of H&S laws/ of the five pillars being ‘Safe and Sustainable’ - Streetwise developed which
regulations could have a Embedded policies, standards and procedures ;D?Se.s on defensive driving
material adverse effect on in place across Biffa for the systematic control ehaviaurs.
Biffa's business and reputation. of significant H&S risks. Wellbeir_\g programine delivered
Primary Authority relationship with Hampshire suppclit;lng i‘iv topics such as
Fire and Rescue Service enables access to mental health.
advice and counsel on fire risl issues.
Management syster transitioned 1o 150 14001
and IS0 9001:2015.
Mergers & Acquisitions Group delegated author_ities for the review/ During the year we have
(M&A] strategy and J, approval af all transactions by senlor continued our M&A strategy to
. managerment, Investment Comrnittee support growth and completed
delivery . , and the Board. five small acquisitions. Brow
Biffa faces risks arising from ® Financial : ) o X
. e epr Dedicated corporate finance expertise in We have also worked to integrate
its acquisition strategy, such place together with experienced Biffa subject the previaus year's acquisitions
as increased cornpetition for matter experts as senior stakeholders for the including the internalisation Develop

acquisition targets ar a lack of
suitable targets. Additionally,
acquisition integration

risks and issuas could arise,
impacting the delivery of
expected benefits, either
within expected timeframes
or to the extent anticipated.

acquisition process.

Board and executive level review and update
ineluded in monthiy Board report sumumarising
pipeline of identified potential targets.

Due diligence undertaken for all M&A
transactions, including use of external
advisers depending on target value and
complexity. A standardised approach using
an established valuation model is in place
with all transactions reviewed/approved
by the Investrnent Comrnittee and [where
appropriate) the Board.

Project team kept in place until integration
phase completed. Post-acquisition reviews to
track henetit delivery with financial benefits
embedded within financial planning processes
[e.g. forecasts and hudgets),

of SWR customer collections
previously cutsourced. This
activity will complete next year.

Post COVID-18 we anticipate
returning to a strong pipeline
of opportunities.
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Risk title/description Risk movement Mitigating actions Changes in year Strategic
and Impact objective
Long-term contracts Group delegated authorities for the review/ Continued focus on the sales
and tendering \L approval of bids by senior management, gavernance process including:
) . the Investrnent Corumittee and the Board Th
The Group is exposed to risks (depending on bid size] m Thedevelopment of the Grow
; ; ; Financial ' contract risk frarnework to
inherent in long-term fixed- - o . ;
. ; . m Reputational  Material bids are compiled by dedicated formalise the governance
price contracts, mn plall’tlcu] ar development teams with significant expertise approach to key commercial/
in its Municipal division and and experience. They are supported by subject legal risks, which has been
related operations. Risks ratter experts as appropriate. approved by the Board,
inglude inaccurate long-term Praotection from change of law or force majeure . i?g:gﬁgzﬁg::g;n; oject
cost estimates due to changes ﬁi;:éﬁﬁ:g:: circumstances is designed management and mobilisation
in the external operating : team facilitating a culture of
environment and market A contract risk frarnework is in place to identify continuous improvement.
; ; key commercial/legal risks and confirm m Restriuchire of the commercial/
dvn_amlcs that le,a‘? FD material through the governance process that these sales function, integrating
deviations from initial have been considered and mitigated. leadership under the new
underlying assumptions. Municipal Commercial
Directer, but alsc adding
additional support in both
the commercial and business
developrnent tearns.
cOVID-19 The Group has introduced measures to reduce See pages 6 to 7 for more
A signitfication reduction in * costs, including furloughing aver 1,500 information.
. employees; pay reductions being taking by
demand for I&C Collection » Financial the Board, the Group Leadership Team and the Grow
services, as many customers s Operational broaderleadership group; and suspension of
are forced to cease or m Reputational  bonuses and pay increases.
drastically reduce trading, All M&A has been suspended and non-essential Optimise
may have an adverse capital expenditure that has not already been
; T ; committed for FY21 has been put on hold,
‘mpact on Bitfa's operating In addition, payment deferrals have been
performance, revenues negotiated where appropriate and meaningful
and results of operations. in areas such as indirect taxes, pensions, lease
» liabilities and material supplies.
In addition, the, Gmljlp Covenant amendments and additional
expects reductions in liquidity headroom have been agreed
volumes into some processing with the Group's banks.
facilities in the R&FE division An internal response team has been set up to
and impacts to all business ensure we support the health and wellbeing of
operations from workforce our colleagues, manage business continuity,
illness or enforced absence provide clear and timely communications and
! miniraise service disruption.
All staff who are able to have been advised to
worlk frorm home and social distancing applied
across our workplaces,
Internal cornmunications and engagement
have been key with CEO vlogs, internal
appreciation campaigns and our employee
App, Biffa Beat all contributing.
Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020 35
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Risk title/description Risk movement Mitigating actions Changes in year Strategic
and Impact abiective
Business continuity, Crisis management and emergency respornse Continued testing and
cyber security and — plans in place for key sites and aperations. improvernent of Biffa Business
IT resilience Server infrastrugture supporting key IT Eﬁ;ﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁg?ﬁg‘emg Optirnise
A significant disruption to s Financial services hasted in Microseft Azure Cloud ’
Rt K . m Reputaticnal  providing resilience, failover and backup Buginess continuity capability
Biffa's infrastructure, including g gperational  services. dermonstrated during COVID-19
IT systems, could potentially . . . X crisis whereby the majority of
L L 150 27001 certification (Information Security) N R
have an impact on the activity in place. g_?ma.':t Cmm%};lgjihead ;fffme
of the Group’s customers, such . - notions enabled to work frorm.
. . . Externally hosted business continuity
as increased billing times, recovery sites in place for key administrative
interruptions to collection and support functions with a tri-annual testing
operations and processing programme in place.
logistics, and additional costs. Intrusion detection in place and a cloud-
based ‘always on' security service pravided by
. ¥
Additionally, the theft, loss, Microsoft protecting against key cyber threats.
destruction, mlsa.p.propnation Cyber security education initiatives taken place.
or release of sensitive and/or
confidential information
could result in business
disruption, negative
publicity or brand damage.
Economic environment/ Biffa has revenues and costs that are either Whilst we continue to monitar
Brexit — directly or indirectly irnpacted by the value this risk, we are confident that
. . . of Sterling relative to key currencies such as our existing mitigations will
Economic conditions in the - ial the US Dollar or the Euro. This provides sorae enable the Group to miniraise Grow
UK may have an adverse m Tinancia degree of offset and nattiral hedge. the impact of any weakening in
impact on Biffa's cperating We enter into forward contracts for the sale of sconomic conditions.
performance, revenues and electricity and to ritigate short-term currency Optimise
results of operations. The exposures, improving earnings visibility in the
Group is exposed to political, shart term.
social and macroeconomic Biffa provides services across the breadth of
; : ! ; the UK economy and to custorners in the public
risks relating to the UK's exit and private sectors. The breadth of customers
from the EU. offers a degree of protection against econornic
- pressures that may affect specific areas of the
Any economic weakness economy,
that leads to reduced The Group has assessed the potential imnpact
volumes of wasteand of certain Brexit scenarios on its activities and
recyclate will adversely the Board is satisfied that there is unlikely to
impact the Group's business. be a net material impact on the Group.
Furthermore, a deterioration
in macroeconormic conditions
may alsoresult in increased
competitive pricing pressure
and increased customer
turnover.
People - attraction, T Reward framework for employees and COVID-19response team set up
H 3 managers competitively aligned to the market, to ensure we support the health
succession, reta,nuon including Performance Share Plan for senior and wellbeing of our colleagues,
The loss of the services of a s Operational  bersonneland Sharesave schemeavailableto  manags business continuity, Grow
number of Executive Directors, . financial all eraployees. provide clear and timely
senior management or key Talent and management development cormmurications and minimise
employees, or if the Graup prograrnraes deployed at senior levels and service disruption. Develop
encountered labour shortages progressively to other levels going forward. Introduced an Advanced
or was unable to attract people Ongoing review of the recruitment and Leadership Programme,
for core business roles, could retention of drivers. .
Optimise

have a rmaterial adverse effect
on Biffa's business results,
operations, financial condition
and prospects.
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Established apprenticeship prograrmume.
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Risktitle/description Risk movement Mitigating actions Changes in year Strategic
and Impact cbjective
Strategic project Board and Group Executive Team engagement Fusion transformation project has
implementation Lo and leadership. made sound progress throughout
. \ : N . the year but has been slowed
Failure to deliver strategic u Operational Selected software is a proven 'off the shelf product. down during COVID-18 crisis. Develop
projects, such as Energy from m Tinancial Independent programrne assurance. The project will resume following
Waste (EfW) and Project Change network in place to ensure line the resalution of the crists.
Fusion. EfW increases Biffa's management ownership of Fusion. Newhurst EfW has achieved Optimise
residual waste treatment Praven EfW technology, substantial UK ﬁﬁ;l:‘gmﬁ ogoﬁs;\s;:x;l?f{: 3
capabilities providing a secure and worldwide reference plants with > 30 e gongéact
and cost-effective disposal operational in the UK treating in excess 0f 10 p :
solution for the I&C business. tannes per ansum.
Fusion is focused on our EfW joint venture providing complementary
products and services, how skill sets and experience to minimise risk.
they are sold and deliverad, Limited recourse project strugture.
the technology used and
the online services offered
to customers. As with any
such projects, there are
risks that the project fails
to deliver the anticipated
improvements and/or
benefits for the budgeted
investment, adversely
impacting reputation and
operating results.
i i ili Significant and flexible bank funding facility Covenant amendments and
Finance availability. mends
investment — with substantial headroom to enable the additional liquidity headroom
. Group to progress strategic priorities and have been agreed with the
If the Group were to fail » Financial accommodate any downslde performancerisk  Group's banks in response Grow
t? COmP ly with an.v of ﬂ.le £350m unsecured revolving credit facility, to the COVID-19 crisis.
financial or non-financial expiring in March 2025 but with an option to
covenants in its credit extend for a further year. As at the end of the Develap
facilities (due, for example, year, £98m of the facility was undrawn.
to deterioration in financial In addition to the bank funding facility, the
performance), it could Group has over £150m of lease liabilities, L.
result in an event of default with undrawn funding of over £70m at the Cptimise
i end of the year.
and the acceleration of the Ongol toring of financial and
) . ngoing monitoring of financial an
Group's obhgz.itlong torepay non-financial covenants with sumrmary
those borrowings, increased updates to the Board.
borrowing costs or cancellation
of gertain credit facilities.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Risk title/description Riskmovement  Mitigating actions Changes in year Strategic
and Impact objective
Commodities market Ongoing monitoring and irprovements to Investment in sorting technology
and pricing volatilitv \l, product quality within recycling processes. and process Improvements
L, . - to ensure we can continue to
Biffa produces significant Off-taker strategy review to limit dependency, supply overseas markets. Supply Develop
volumes of recycled a Einan(t:_ial . where able, an the Chinese market. agrepments naw in place.with
cormmaodities for re-sale. ® Uperationa Corarnodity price risk sharing within domestic processors to enable
Commoditics produced long-texm corumercial contrasts. a proportion of the material to Optimise
- . . rerqain in the [T,
include various paper grades, Working with key customers (e.g. Local i ) ) .
card, plastics, and ferrous Bovernment) to agree gate fees to reflect Biffa's investment in plastic
! ! any increased costs and alsg dual recycling has significantly
and non-ferrous metals. collection methods. reduced reliance on exports,
. . . . L . with the majfority of recovered
In addition, Biffa generates Power price hedging polioy in place, which plastics beix{.g ptr‘gcessed tcend
power from renewable sources is regularly reviewed. destination internally.
and changes to electricity Route to market Power Purchase Agreement . P
export prices impact revenues awni;h;rcé%ge‘;ggl—:?;;rsgives oft-take certainty giﬁ‘ﬂigféiggiﬁg gmzﬁf
and profits achieved. ' price fluctuations by risk
sharing with our local authority
Markets for these recyolate Customﬁé s. InFY 2018/20, we
S i mitigated 58% of commodity
products have individual . price risk through this approach.
supply and demand dynamics
impacting both price and
availability of off-take.
Following Ghina's decision
to ban mixed paper imports
in 2018, other Far East
markets have tightened
quality standards, and in
some instances also banned
irnports. This has put furthex
downward pressure on prices
with an oversupply of material
in the market and made it
more challenging to place
lower quality material,
Strategic/competitive Internal business innovation group focuses Several innovative concepts
threat to business medel — pn market developments and to act as an have been developed as potential
Market disruption from incubator for ideas and new business models. projects and evaluated by the G
i oW
the application of new m Financial Continual competitor analysis to consider executive tearm.
technology and the advent s Operational threats and changes to the landscape.
of new business models could Annual strategy review ta ensure that
change the waste supply Biffa business model rerains current Develop
and competitive.
cl.la“:l and ad}rerse]v lmpa.\ct Customer surveys to ensure that the Biffa
Biffa's established operating offer rernains relevant and cormpelling. Optiraise

asset base of a traditional
collection network and
processing facilities.

The Strategic Report was appraved by the Buard 01 4 Tune 2020 ang signed o 1ts behstf by

W
Michaet Topham
Chaef Luegys se Oftcar
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Ongoing investment in and improvernent
of the customer experience through
digitisation, improved processes and
management information.
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Viability Statemment and Going Concern

The COVID-19 pandemic is unprecedented and has led to a sudden and significant
decline in waste volumes, due to lockdown measures. When these measures are
lifted, a marked but gradual recovery in volurmes is anticipated, albeit with deprassed
run rate 1evels, as a result of an expectation that a proportion of small customers
will not survive the pandemic.

Whilst the Group is subject to a number of principal risks, as disclosed in the Strategic
Report, these are considered to be well managed by the Board and the Group is fairly
defensive in nature. However, the economic downturn impacts of COVID-19 have
proved to be an entirely different proposition and the impacts of this are the main
factors taken into consideration for the viability assessment.

In accordance with provision 31 of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018, the
Board has assessed the viability of the Group over a longer period than twelve
months and has adopted a period of three years for the assessment. In determining
the appropriate period over which to assess viability, the Board has considered
budgeting, forecasting and strategic planning cycles, the timeframe within which
the Group assess risks and the maturation of the Group's credit facilities.

Three years is considered an appropriate time period given the short-term impact of
the COVID-19 lockdown measures to the waste industry and is & reasonable period
for a shareholder to expect a waste business to be assessed over. Beyond the three
year period, the Group has considered and is satisfied the longer term pre-COVID-13
strategy is still relevant and appropriate, this includes further recycling capacity,
acquisition growth and investment in EfW plants.

Ongoing weekly and, more recently as things have started to stabilise, bi-weekly
re-forecasting under different scenarios, have been undertaken since the COVID-19
pandemic started to impact the business at the end of March. Within these forecasts
the Directors carried out a robust assessment of the Principal Risks facing the Group,
including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the varicus sectors the business
operates in and the waste streams arising in all the Group's operating areas. To assess
viability, multiple, material risks are selected by the Board and are assumed to
crystallise in paralle! during the assessment period, putting financial and operational
performance of the business under plausible, but unlikely, stresses outlined below.

These forecasts assume a 13 week lockdown period from the balance sheet date and

a subsequent phased recovery. The financial irnpact has been modelled on a sub-
divisional level and includes the impact on revenue and operating costs. In modelling
the scenarios, recovery assumptions have been applied on the various sectors the
Group services. Impact to expected credit losses has been considered and reflected

in the modelling. The assumptions have been stress tested with variant recovery time
periods to determine whether current headroorn would suffice and whether revised
bank covenants would be breached.

The Group has also implemented various rmitigating actions to combat the near-
term reduction in demand for the Group's services. These include the reduction of
expenditure on M&A, non-committed development and non-essential maintenance
capital expenditure, remuneration, other operating costs and not declaring a final
dividend for the year.

The Group's profitability, liguidity and financial headroom have all been assessed
and incorporated within the above mentioned scenario analysis.

Based on the results of this analysis and after careful consideration of the uncertainty
and dynamic nature of COVID-18, including reviewing the fast changing externsl
factors and their cumulative impact in the short, medium and long term, and other
considerations including the Group’s business model and ability to model a range
of severe, but plausible, reasonahle worst-case scenarios, the Directors confirm
that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to withstand
the impact of each of these scenarios, in isolation and in a number of plausible
gombinations, should they occur in the course of the three-year assessment period.
In each event the Group would continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they
fall due. Therefore, the Board concluded that it remains appropriate to consider a
three year time frame over which we should assess the long-term viability of the
Group over the period to 31 March 2023.
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Corporate Governance Report

Summary of the Corporate
Governance Report

40

Board Leadership and Company Purpose

Board of Directors 42-43
Board Engagement with Stakeholders 40 49

Activities of the Board bl

Division of Responsibilities

Governance Framework 45
Roles and Responsibilities 46

Composition, Succession and Evaluation

Board Evaluation Process 53
Nomination Committee Report 54-56

Board Skills and Attributes 55

Audit, Risk and Internal Control

Audit Committee Report 57-61
Risk and Internal Control 80
Remuneration

Directors' Rermuneration Report 62-83
Directors' Remuneration Policy 66-73
Diractors' Annual Report on Remuneration 74-83

Our Corporate Governance Report, on
pages 40-85 explains how the Company
has applied the principles and complied
with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Covernonce Codo 2018 (the Code], nthear
than as referred to below.

Compliance Statement

The Board has applied the principles and
complied with the provisions of the Code
throughout FY20, with the excaption of
provision 21, which requires an external
evaluation of the Board every three years
and provision 38, concerning pension
contribution rates for Executive Directors.
Further information regarding the Board
evaluation can be found on page 55 and
regarding pension contribution rates can
be found in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on page 66.

The Coda is available on the website

of the Financial Reporting Council at

www.fro.org.uk

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020



Chairman’'s Introduction

Leading with Purpose

Ken Lever
Chairman

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to introduce the Group's
Corporate Governance Report for this year. As previously stated,
the Company has had another successful year, delivering on its
strategy, with good financial results and the publication of its
first Sustainability Strategy.

Inthe final weeks of the year, the Board's focus moved to the
Company's response to the impact of COVID-19, providing oversight
and approving a number of updates to the market and various
rmeasures for near-term cash preservation. The Board held weekly
calls at which it received updates on the status of the response
planning and the impact to our employees, other stakeholders and the
business. Further details on Biffa's response are set out on pages 6-7.

Changes to the Board During the Year

Thers have been no changes to the Board during the year, following
last years movements. ] am pleased to report that the changes have
been successfully ernbedded, with Board merabers working and
interacting well together, this was confirmed by the results of our
2020 Board evaluation (see page 53 for more details).

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

Governance

This year we are reporting under the 2018 UK Corporate Governance
Code for the first time. The updated principles in the Code emphasise
the value of good corporate governance tolong-term sustainable
succass. The Board took the opportunity to undertake a comprehensive
review and refresh of its policies and processes, following the publication
of the Code, with these being ernbedded during the year, The Corporate
Governance Report on pages 40-85 sets out how we cormply with, and
have applied, the Code during the year.

Section 172 and Stakeholder Engagement

Setout on page 5 is the Board's first section 172 statement. In order
to comply with section 172, the Board is required to consider a
nurmber of matters in its decision making including the interests of
its stakeholders. Further details on this are set out on pages 48-49.
The Board fulfilling its 5172 duties has been clearly demonstrated in
its response to the COVID-19 crisis, in particular, how it has engaged
with a number of different stakeholder groups during this time. All
of our stakeholders have been affected in some way and the Board
has supported the business to act fairly at all times, ensuring the
continuation of our essential services, whilst approving measures
to protect and preserve the fundamental value of the business to
ensure its long-terr health. Further information on how the Board
has considered our stakeholders during this time can be found on
pages 6-7.

Shareholder Consultations

During the year, the Remuneration Committee consulted with our
major shareholders in relation to the new Directors’ Remuneration
Policy which will go hefore shareholders for approval at the AGMin
July this year. A number of changes were made to the Policy following
feedback from shareholders and the proxy agencies [see page 68 for
details). David Martin, our Senior Independent Director, also consulted
with investors following the votes against the resolution for my
re-appointment at the last AGM [see page 53 for details].

Purpose, Values and Culture

In last year's Annual Report we introduced our new purpose - to
change the way people think about waste - for the first time. During
the year, the Board has monitored how the purpose, values, and
strategy align to the Company's culture (see page 47 for details).

Environmental, Social and Governance [ESG)

Inrecent years we have seen an increased focus from shareholders on
ESG. In response to this, we published our first long-terrn Sustainability
Strategy ‘Resourceful, Responsible’ in March 2020, The strategy,
which builds on the Group's long track record of making a positive
contribution to the environment and communities it operates in,
outlines the Company's ambition to drive the sustainability agenda
within the UK waste management space for the next 10 years. It is
underpinned by an ambitious but deliverable plan, which is aligned
to the Company's strategic framework and fully supported by the
Group's previously outlined investment plans. Our Sustainability
Strategy can be found our website www.biffa.co.uk/sustainahility.

Looking Forward

During the coming year, the Board will continue to focus on
the Group's recovery from the COVID-19 crisis and the strategic
opportunities that will present.

Ken Lever
Chairman
4 June 2020
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Board of Directors

The right balance of knowledge and skills

Ken Lever
Non-Executive Chairman

Date of Appointment
28 Septermmber 2016

Committee Memberships

Nationality
British

David Martin
Senior Independent Director

Date of Appointment
28 September 2016

Committee Mamberships

Nationality
British

Relevant Skills and Experience

Ken is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and a
former partner at Arthur Andersen. He has a wealth of corporate
finance experience, having previously held board executive director
positions with Numonyx BV, Tomkins plc, Albright and Wilson plc
and Alfred McAlpine plc. Ken joined Xchanging plc as its chief
financial officer, and was subsequently sppuinted and served as
its chief executive officer from 2011 to 2015. He was previously a
norn-executive director of Catesby Property Group plc, iSoft plc and
Vega Systems plc, and served for six years on the UK Accounting
Standards Board between 2006 and 2012.

External Appointments
Ken is chairman of RPS Group plc and a non-executive director
of Vertu Motors ple, Blue Prisr ple and Gresham House Strategic plc.

Relevant Skills and Experience

David is a chartered management accountant and has significant
experience of bpth domestic and global transport businesses.

He was involved in the acquisition of National Express and the
successive management buy-out, leading to the creation of British

Bus Group Limited. David was subsequently appointed chief executive
of Arriva, pic, a position ha heid from 2006 to Decermber 2015, He was
previously a non-executive director of Ladbreles ple and Arriva ple.

External Appointments
David is chairman of FirstGroup plec.

Michael Topham
Chief Executive Dificer

Date of Appointment
29 September 2018

Corarnittee Memberships
None

Nationality
British

Relevant Skills and Experience

Michael was appointed Chief Executive Officer on 29 Septermnber
2018, having previously held the role of Chief Financial Officer
from 2013. Michael trained as a Chartered Accountant with PwC
in London, and held positions in both the audit and transaction
services practices. Prior tc joining Biffa, he was finance director
at Greenstar UK Hpldings Limited from 2005 to 2010.

External Appointments
Michael is a director of the Environmmental Services Association Limited.

Richard Pike
Chief Financial Officer

Date of Appointment
29 Septamber 2018

Committee Memberships
None

Nationality
British

Relevant Skills and Experience

Richard was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 29 September 2018.
Having trained as a Chartered Accountant with Price Waterhouse,
he went on to hold a variety of financial and management positions
at Pilkington plc, Scapa Group ple and Manchester Airports Group.
Latterly, Richard was the chief financisl officer of AB Sugar,
managing director of British Sugar and group chief financial

ofticer of Boparan Holdings Limited.

Board and Committee Attendance Table 2019/20

Board meetings Nornination Committee Audit Cornmittee Rerauneration Cormmittee
Director attended/held meetings attended/held megetings attended/held meetings attended/held
Michael Averill 8/8 373 44 w7
Gab Barbaro 8/8 3/3 474* 8/7*
Carol Chesney 8/8 3/3 a4 777
Ken Lever 8/8 3/3 a/4* 57
David Martin 8/8 3/3 4/4 7
Richard Pike 8/8 3 444" B/
Michael Topham 8/8 3/3* 4/4* B/7*

* Attended the meeting as an invitee
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Committee Membership

Rermuneration Committee
J:] Committee Chairman

Audit Committee
Nomination Committee

Michael Averill
Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment
28 September 2016

Committee Membexships

Nationality
British

Gab Barbaro
Non-Executive Dirsctor

Date of Appointment
1 January 2019

Cormmittee Memberships

Nationality
Italian/Australian

Relevant Skills and Experience

Michael has extensive knowledge of the waste management industry.
He is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Waste Management and a
former chairman of the Environmental Services Association. Michael
held a number of senior managerment roles in the industry before
being appointed group chief executive of Shanks Group ple from 1994
t0 2007 where he oversaw the growth of the group. Michael joined the
former Board of Biffa Group in February 2013. He was previously a
non-executive director of TG ple, Care UK plc and Van Gansewinkel
Group in the Netherlands.

External Appointments
Michael is a non-executive director of the Saudi Investment
Recycling Company in Rivadh, Saudi Arabia.

Relevant Skills and Experience

Gab is currently the managing director of UK business at Centrica plc
(a division trading as British Gas Business), a position ke has held
since 2015 following his promotion frorm his role as managing
director of British Gas Business Services.

Prior to this, Gab held a series of senior management roles in
strategy including head of group strategy at Centrica plc and
chief risk officer at Snowy Hydro in Australia, as well as strategy
consulting roles in consultancy firms Boston Consulting Group
and Accenture.

Carol Chesney
Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment
12 July 2018

Committee Memberships

Nationality
American/British

Sarah Parsons
General Counsel and
Company Secretary

Date of Appointment
June 2019

Relevant Skills and Experience
Carol is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, and qualified with Arthur Andersen in the UK.

Carol was the company secretary of Halma plc, the FTSE 100 health,
safety and environmental technology group, where she oversaw
governance, pensions, group insurance and ethics compliance

from 2008 until September 2018. Prior to this role, Carol was
Halma's group financial controller with oversight of all day-to-day
financial planning and reporting matters.

External Appointments
Carol is a non-executive director of Renishaw plc, Hunting plc
and IQE ple.

Sarah joined Biffa in June 2019 as General Counsel and was
appointed Company Secretary on 11 July 2019, She is responsible
for managing legal risk and in supporting the Chairman and the
Board in maintaining high standards of corporate governance.
She joined Biffa from Rotork ple, where she was Senior Legal
Counsel and Company Secretary. Prior to that, Sarah spent a
nurnber of years in Australia as a senior in-house counsel at ANZ
Bank. She began her career in London at Bryan Cave Leighton
Paisner where she spent more than a decade as a corporate M&A
lawyer. Sarah is qualified as a solicitor in England and Australia.
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Group Executive Team

Michael Topham
Ghief Executive Officer

Michael's full biography
appears on page 42,

Richard Pike
Chief Financial Officer

Richard’s full biography
appears on page 42.

Jane Pateman
Group HR Director

Date of Appointment:
December 2010

Jane joined Biffa in December 2010. Prior to this, she held a number

of senior HR director positions in FTSE listed businesses, with
significant experience in managing change. Jane is accountable
for the people strategy and her responsibilities include employee
relations, internal comrmunications, learning and development,
payroll, engagement and reward and benefits. Jane is also a non-
executive director of Knights plc.

Mick Davis
Chief Operating Qfficer,
Resources & Energy

Date of Appointment:
September 2010

Mick was appointed Chief Operating Dfficer, Resources & Energy with
effect from April 2018, having previously held the role of Managing
Director of the RR&T Division from September 2010. He is responsible
for the day-to-day management of the Resources & Energy Division
and the developroent of new facilities, including the EfW plants. In
addition, he has oversight of the Group’s Environmental strategy as
well as being a trustee of the charity Biffa Award.

David Gooding
Chisf Information Officer

Date of Appointment:
July 2011

David was appointed Chief Information Officer in April 2020,
having previously held the role of Group IT Director from July 2011,
Davis has worked in the waste industry for 15 years. In his role
David is responsible for IT services, IT strategy, the development of
management irnfarmation, project governance, and leading Praject
Fusion, the current initiative to iraprove the Group's systems and
processes, and Group innovation.

Jeff Anderson
Chief Operating Officer,
Collections

Date of Appointment:
September 2011

Jeff was appointed Chief Operating Officer, Collections with effect
from October 2018, having previously held the role of Managing
Director, 1&C Division from September 2011. He is responsible for

the overall leadership of our Collections operations, including our
hazardous waste business. His previous career was spent within B2B
supply chain and logistics companies, and he has held executive
board director positions at Wincanton pic and Securicor plc. Jeff has
significant experience in managing change, turnaround managerment
and operational excellence in large-scale operational businesses.

Roger Edwards
Managing Director, Municipal
Division

Date of Appointment:
October 2010

Roger joined Biffa in June 2010 following the acquisition of Greenstar
UK Holdings Limited. Prior to this, he had previously been managing
director at Verdant Municipal Limited and held board positions

in other waste businesses. Roger is responsible for tha Municipal
business providing waste collection and street cleansing services

to over 2m households and leading a tearn of 3,400 employees.
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Division of Responsibilities

Our Governance Framework

The Board has a clear corporate governance framework comprising Board reserved matters, various Committees with their Terms
of Reference and the Group delegated authorities matrix ensuring decision making at appropriate levels within the Group.

Board of Directors

The role of the Board is to promote the long-term success of the Company, generating value for shareholders and
contributing to wider society by providing effective leadership and direction to the business as a whole. It sets the Group's

strategy, having regard to stakeholders, while maintaining a balanced approach to risk within a framework of effective
controls. It has also established the Company's purpose and values and monitors culture to ensure alignment, Its setsthe
tone and approach to corporate governance and is responsible for the overall financial performance of the Group.

The principal Board Committees are the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees. In addition, there
is also the EVP Committes and the Disclosure Cormmittee. Each Coramittee has its own Terms of Reference,
approved by the Board, which are reviewed annually, and are available to view at www.biffa.co.ul.

v

Audit Committee Nomination Committee Remuneration Cormnmittes
Reviews the integrity, adequacy Evaluates and makes Sets, reviews and recommends
and effectiveness of Biffa’s recommendations regarding Biffa's overall Remuneration
system of internal control and risk Board and Committee Policy and strategy and monitors
managernent, and the integrity compaosition, suceession their implementation.
of Biffa's financial reporting, ] planning and Directors’ - ~
whistleblowing and anti-bribery potential conflicts of interest.
and corruption obligations.
Audit Committee Nomination Committee Rernuneration Committes
Report pb7-61 Report pb4-56 Report p62-83
EVP Committee Disclosure Committee

Is responsible for the identification and disclosure of
inside information and cornprises the Chief Executive
Qfficer, Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel and st
Company Secretary and the Director of Group Finance.

Provides an independent review of the EVP dispute
proceedings, (see note 33 on page 173 of the Financial
Staternents,). The members are Gab Barbaro, Carol
Chesney, Ken Lever and David Martin, all Board
merabers, who have no financial interest in the
result of the dispute.
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Chief Executive Officer

Group Executive Team

The Group Executive Team is responsible for the day-to-day running of the business. It meets monthly and receives regular
reports on financial and business matters, health and safety, divisional updates, and has scheduled periodic reviews
on sustainability and environment, procurement, internal audit and risk, human resources, IT, and legal, property and
insurance. Relevant matters are reported to the Board by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.

Biographical details of the Group Executive Tearn are on the opposita page

J

Investment Committee
An Executive Management Committee comprising the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the General
Counsel and Cornpany Secretary. It reviews and approves significant capital expenditure, potential acquisitions and
disposals, major contracts, tenders and property transactions within specified authority limits delegated by the Board.
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Division of Responsibilities continued

Rolss and Responsibilities
The Board mermbers have separate clearly defined roles and
responsibilities, as set out in the table below.

As set gut in their biographies on pages 42-43, each member
of the Board has a range of skills and experience that is relevant
to the successful operation of the Group.

Independence of the Non-Executive Directors

The Nomination Committee reviews the independence of the Non-
Executive Directors annually and has contfirmed to the Board that
it considers gach of the Non-Executive Directaors, being Ken Lever,
Michael Averill, Gab Barbarp, Carol Chesney and David Martin,

to be independent in accordance with the Code.

Time Commitment

All Non-Exegutive Directors are required to devete sufficient time to
meet their Board responsibilities and demonstrate commitment to
their role. During the year, the Nomination Comumittee considered
the time cornmitment of al} the Directors and agreed that the
required time commitrnent from them is still appropriate.

Roles and Responsibilities Table
Role Namea

Additional Appointments

All Directors are required to consult with the Chairman and obtain
Board approvat before taking on any additional appaintments.
Executive Directors are not permitted to take on more than one
significant appointment as a director of a FTSE 100 company or
any other substantial appointment. As part of the selection process
for any new Board candidates, any significant external time
comrnitments are considered before an appointrment is agreed.

Accass to Advice

- Should any Director judge it necessary to seek independent legal

advice about the performance of their duties with the Company,
they are entitled to do so at the Cormpany's expense. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary.

Responsibility

Chairman Ken Lever

Chief Executive Officer Michael Topham

Chief Financial Officer Richard Pike

Senior Independent Director David Martin

Michael Averil]
Gab Barbaro
Carol Chesney

Non-Executive Director

Company Secretary Sarah Parsons

The Chairman leads the Board and is responsible for its overall
effectiveness in directing the Cormpany. He promotes a culture of
openness and debate facilitating constructive Board relations and
the effective contribution of all Non-Executive Directors, and ensures
that the Board receive accurate, tirmaly and clear information.

The Chief Executive Qfficer is responsible for the day-to-day
running of the Group's businesses and the development and
implementation of strategy, decisions made by the Board and
operational management of the Group, supported by the Group
Executive Team.

The Chief Financial Officer supports the Chief Executive Officer
in developing and implementing strategy, oversees the day-today
financial activities of the Broup and ensures that policies and
practices set by the Board are adopted at all levels of the Group.

The Senior Independent Director (S1D] is an independent
Non-Executive Director, who provides a sounding board for the
Chairman and serves as an intermediary for the other Directors
and shareholders where necessary. The SID alsa leads the annual
appraisal and review of the Chairman’s performance.

The Non-Executive Directors are responsible for bringing an
external perspective, sound judgement and objectivity to the
Board's deliberations and decision making, and to support and
constructively challenge the Executive Directors using their
broad range of experience and expuilise,

The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Board and all
the Board's Comrnittees and is responsible for supporting the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the delivery of the
corporate governance agenda.

a6
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Board Leadership and Company Purpose

Effective Board

How Governance Supports Strategy

The Board is responsibie for delivering value for shareholders by
setting the Group's strategy and overseeing its implementation by
the Group Executive Team and management. Information on our
strategy is set out on pages 12-13.

During the year, the Board held strategy days in April 2019 and
January 2020 where it received presentations from the Group
Executive Team and the Divisional Finance Directors on the
strategies for the business and functional areas. The Executive
Directors also presented on the overall Group Strategy. The Board
approved the strategy at those meetings and provided further
approvals during the year for material projects. The Board also
receives regular updates on strategy progress at Board meetings in the
Executive reports. See Board activities on page 51 for further details.

Culture, Values and Purpose

The Board is responsible for setting the Cormpany’s purpose and
values and ensuring these are aligned with the Group’s culture.
Our new purpose, ‘changing the way people think about waste’ was
approved by the Board in 2019 and launched in last year's Annual

Report alongside our vision, 'to be the leader in UK sustainable
waste management’. This was a focus of the Biffa leadership and
management canferences in June 2020 and following that there
were activities to initiate awareness and understanding.

Our culture is the way that we work together and is fundamental to
how we operate. We pride ourselves on our common-sense approach
to sustainable waste managerment, our collaborative working and
our ability to get things done. Our culture is underpinned by our
values, see further details on page 29.

Workforce Policies and Practices

The Board and Group Executive Team review and approve all kay
workforce policies and practices. Our policies are published on the
intranet and referenced in our employee handbook. The Company
induction process covers the core HR policies for new employaes
and we communicate any changes that take place. To ensure
policies are embedded in our business practices we undertake
anumber of activities including mandatory e-learning modules
for line managers.

Measuring Our Culture

A number of our non-financial KPls,
such as Health & Safety and employee
engagement, allow trends and changes in
the culture of the Group to be monitored.

Key Performance Indicators

Leading By Example

QOur Directors and senior management,
act with integrity and lead by example,
promoting our culture to our employees.
They do this through engagement with
our employees.

Our People on pages 29-31

How the

Risk Management

Biffa's risk appetite is approved by
the Board and reviewed annually.
The Group dedicates significant
resources and focus to manage and
monitor risks via our Internal Audit
team. The Audit Committee monitors
risk management processes and
controls on behalf of the Board.

Audit Comrnittee Report on page 60

Board

Monitors

on page 17
M
.
4
R 2
Aligning Remuneration
and Culture

Our annual bonus schemes are directly
linked to the annual Group BBP targets.
These include the rasults of the annual
employee engagement survey, the Health
& Safety improvement targats, as well as
behaviours underpinned by our values.

Director's Remuneration Report

on pages 62-83
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Culture

Listening T'o Our Employees
Employee engagernent is measured
through the annual survey, which
provides valuable insight in respect of
engagement and culture. Key findings
are presented to the Board, improvement
areas are identified and action plans
developed. With the appointment of

our designated Director for worlkforce
engagerment the Board will have the benefit
of further employee engagement feedback.

Our People on page 29

Ethics, Whistleblowing, Fraud
and Anti-Bribery

Mechanisms are in place to facilitate
employees reporting incidents of
wrongdoing on a named or anonymous
basis. The Audit Committee, with
delegated authority from the Boaxd,
regularly monitors and reviews the
Company policies, incidents and trends
arising from any such incidents and
provides the Board with updates.

Audit Committee Report on page 57
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Board Leadership and Company Purpose continued

How the Board Engages with Stakeholders

Our Stakeholders:
The Board considers our stakeholders when making decisions.
The icons below, denote our stakeholders, which have been

identified by the Board.

Employees Customers Shareholders
Government Suppliers Communities
& Regulators

Much of the day-to-day decision making and stakeholder engagement
at Biffa is carried out at a business level, Further details are set

out on pages 21-24. The Board receives details on this engagement
through the Executive Directors and the reports it receives from
senior management in the Board and Committes papers. More
material matters require the Board's consideration, with the Board
engaging directly with, primarily, our employees and shareholders.
The relevance of Board decision making for each stakeholder group
depends on the subject matter.

Wa explain below how, during the year, the Board has engaged with our
stakeholders, the key decisions made during the year and the relevance
to our stakeholders are set out in the Poard activities on page 53. There
is also a case study, opposite, explaining how the Board considered the
matters in 5172 when approving the Newhurst EfW project which was a
major strategic milestone for the Group this year.

Employees

The Board approved the People Strategy during the year and
received an update later in the year on the progress on the strategy
frorn the Group HR Director and senior HR team. This included
a presentation on the results of the 2019 employee engagement
survey. See further details on page 30.

The Board approved the appointment of David Martin, our Senior
Independent Director, as Non-Executive Workforce Engagement
Director in 2019 and David has reported back to the Board during the
vear on the activities he has attended and feedback received from
the employees he has met. David's report is set out on page 29,

During the year, the Board engaged directly with employees during
site visits and when they were presenting at Board meetings,
A number of employees also attended a Board dinner in September.

Engaging our Stakeholders pages 4-5

Our People pages 29-31

Customeyrs

During the year, the Board received reports and presentations
from management on the business which included feedback on
engagernent with our customers, including what matters to thern
such as innovation and sustainability In addition, the Board was
requested to consider and approve a number of material tenders
and contracts with major customers.

Anumber of Board members attended the opening of the PET
plant in Seaharm and the Capital Markets Day when they had
the opportunity to meet a number of our custormers.

Operating Review pages 21-24

Shareholders

The Board approved the annual investor relations strategy
during the year which sets out a comprehensive programme
for engaging with shareholders (existing and potential). See
page 54 for further details.

The Board also conducted two consultations with shareholders
inyelation to the new Directors’ Remuneration Policy and the
votes against the resolution re-appointing the Chairman.

See pages 64 and 55.

All Board decisions are made with the long-term success of the
Company in mind, which ultimately benefits our investors.

Engaging our Stakeholders pages 4-5

Communicating with our Shargholders page 52
Nomination Committeg Report pages 54-56
Directors' Remuneration Report pages 62-83

Government & Regulators

The UK Governrnent published its Resources and Waste Strategy
for England in December 2018, cutlining plans for minirmising
waste, promoeting resource efficiency and moving towards a circular
gconomy. There are similar policy ambitions in Scotland, Wales
and Northern Ireland

Our strategy supports the Government's agenda in this area and
our Sustainability Strategy is aligned to the direction of the UK
Government's strategy which will come into effect over the next
few years.

Sustainability pages 25-26

Suppliers

The Board receives information about our suppliers and our
payment practices through the Board reports. Material supply
contracts also require Board approval and a number of

these were approved during the year.

During the year, the Board received a presentation on our approach
to the risks of modern slavery and considered and approved our
Modern Slavery Statament.

Operating Review pagas 21-24

Communities

The Company provides an essential service to over 95% of UK
postcodes and, as such, plays an important role in the communities
in which it operates. The Board is cognisant of the impact that certain
decisions it makes can have on the community and receives relevant
information in management reports.

A key ambition in our Sustainability Strategy, which the Board
approved during the year, is to continue to be a good corporate
citizen, supporting good causes to make a difference by investing
in communities and supporting biodiversity.

Sustainability pages 25-28
Our People pages 29-31
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Board in Action

Investing in Energy from Waste [(EfW]
infrastructure is a strategic priority
for the Group and a major milestone
was reached in February 2020 with
the announcement of financial close
for a new EfW facility in Newhurst,
Leicestershire, which is a joint venture
with Covanta Holding Corporation and
Macquarie's Green Investraent Group.
This major project required Board
approval and in malking its decision,
the Board considered the matters set

out in 8172 as outlined below.

$172 Matter

Considerations

Conclusicns

Employees

Our ermployeses want us to engage with
them and to be kept informed of any
changes in the business that may affect
them and their teams.

Our strategy has been openly communicated with cur employees,
including regular updates on the progress of the project and asscciated
benefits to the wider Group. Supporting our I&C business, the secure,
long term disposal solution ensures service continuity and job security
for the I&C divisiorn. The project will create over 300 jobs during the
construction period with approximately 40 permanent employees once
operational, providing future job opportunities.

Customers

Our custemers want a reliable, cost-
effective and sustainable service.

The Newhurst EfW will provide a long-term, secure, cost-effective
disposal solution for our customers’ waste ensuring the diversion of
non-recyclable materials from landfill and the generation of renewable
power, significantly increasing the sustainability of their supply chain.

Shareholders

Qur sharehplders want to see us
progressing our strategy, maximising the
returns to them in a sustainable way.

The Newhurst EfW progresses our strategy to develop services and
infrastructure. It will generate good returns for the Group: Biffa's
financial commitment to the project will amount to c£45m, with

a mid-high teens projectad return on investment.

Government &
Regulators

The UK Governrnent published its
Resources and Waste Strategy in December
2018, outlining its plans for minimising
waste, promoting resource efficiency and
moving towards a circular econormy.

The new facility supports the Government’s strategy to both reduce
reliance on landfill and the UK's ability to treat more non-recyclable
waste without relying on export to European facilities or disposal to
landfill. Newhurst provides additional UK capacity for the treatment
of non-recyclable waste protecting existing landfill capacity for waste
that cannot be recycled or sent to EfW facilities.

Suppliers

Our suppliers are key to our business
model, and delivering our strategy, and
are looking for opportunities for growth.

The project will create many opportunities for the local supply chain
with a commitment from the project to purchase goods and services
from nearby cornpanies wherever possible.

Communities

The communities in which we operate
expect us to be a good neighbour, operating
our facilities responsibly with engagement
on any potential concerns or issues.

Local residents, Council Officers and other representatives all participate
in a local liaison group, a forum to provide regular updates on progress
and an opportunity to ask question and be reassured about any concerns.

Environment

We are committed to building a circular
econormy and tackling clirmate change
as stated in our Sustainability Strategy -
Resourceful, Responsible.

The Newhurst EftW is a key step in our strategic ambition to unlock
£1.25bn of investment in green economy infrastructure by 2030. The
facility will provide a low-carbon engrgy source, generating up to 42MW
of electricity (enough to power around 80,000 homes) and will divert
waste from landfill.

Long-term

The Board's decision making is focused
on ensuring the Company is sustainahle
in the long term.

The Newhurst EfW has secured along-term domestic disposal route for
restdual waste for our I&C business, supporting continued growth and
is also an attractive investment opportunity.

Reputation

We are committed tomaintaining
a reputation for high standards of
business conduct.

Qur reputation is very important to us and the Board will be updated on
the delivery of Newhurst EfW as it progresses to ensure high standards
of business conduct are maintained.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Board Leadership and Company Purpose continued

How the Board Operates

The Board had seven scheduled meetings during the year.
Additional Board calls were also held as and when circumstances
required it to meet at short notice and also following the COVID-18
putbreak when regular update calls were held. Directors’ attendance
at scheduled Board and Commitiee meetings held during the year
is set out on page 42. An outline of the Board's activities covered

at those meetings is set out opposite.

Directors are provided with papers at least five days in advance
of each Board or Comynittee meeting and meeting pacls are
accessed from a board portal. For each scheduled Board meeting,
the papers inciude updates on trading, financial performance
and investor relations and in addition, papers for the special
business of the meeting.

Non-Executive Directors are encouraged to communicate directly
with senior management hetween Board meetings. Members

of the Group Executive Team are invited to attend at lgast one
Board meeting each year to present an update on their areas of
responsibility. They also all attended the annual strategy Board
meeting which was held in April 2019 and January this year.

Board Site Visits

The September Board meeting was held at West Sussex MBT.
The Board received a presentation from the site manager on
the business and was also given a tour of the MBT. The visit
gave the Board the opportunity to meet the local team and
spe how operations are run.

In addition, some of pur Board members attended the opening
ceremony, pictured here, of our £27.5m plastic recycling plant
in Seahar, County Durham in January 2G20. They got the
opportunity to see how this state-of-the-art recycling facility
is run and got to meat a number of our stakeholders.

50

Meetings between the Non-Executive Directors, without the
presence of the Executive Directors, are scheduled in the Board's
annual programme. During the year, Non-Executive Directors met
on two occasions without the presence of the Executive Directors.
These meetings provide the Non-Executive Directors with a forum
in which to share experiences and discuss wider business topics,
fostering debate in Board and Comimittee meetings and strengthen
working relationships.

Matters Reserved for the Boayd

In order to retain control of key decisions and ensure that there
is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and
the running of the Company busingss, the Board has a formal
schedule of matters reserved for its decision that is reviewed
annmually to ensure it remains fit for purpose. This is available
at www.biffa.couk.

Board Allocation of Agenda Time

Agendas for each Board meeting are prepared in advanced and are
aligned with the approved Board programme, which is reviewed
annually, and updated when appropriate. All matters are given
due consideration and are reviewed at the appropriate pointin
the regulatory and financial cycles.
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Activities of the Board

During the year, the Board undertook the following key activities:

Strategy, Business Performance
and Capital Investment

m Approved the Company’s corporate strategy

m Approved the Company’s sustainability strategy

m Considered and approved the Newhurst EfW facility

a Considered and approved the investment in a Polymers
wash plant

w Approved the Investor Relations strategy

a Approved a number of material tenders and contracts

a Received an update on Project Fusion and IT

m Approved the Group’s Health & Safety strategy

m Considered Brexit impact, mitigations and preparations

m Considered the irnpact of COVID-19 on the business

m Received business performance updates

People and Culture

Finance

® Approved the 2019/20 budget and Five Year Plan

® Reviewed the 2020/21 budget

a Reviewed and approved the interirn and final dividend
recommendations for financial year ended 2019

m Reviewed and approved the preliminary and interim
results announcements

m Reviewed and approved the Pre-close Trading Statements

m Recommended to the shareholders the re-appointment
of the Auditor

m Reviewed the preliminary results roadshow presentation

m Approved the Treasury Policy

m Approved the appointment of a new corporate broker

Governance, Compliance and Risk

m Approved the Company's vision and purpose

® Approved the Company's People strategy

m Approved the appointment of David Martin as the
Non-Executive Director for workforce engagement and

approved the workforce engagement frarnework and plan

m Approved the Cormpany’s Modern Slavery Statement
a Approved the Corpany’s Gendar Pay Gap Staternent

At each Board meeting there are standing iterns, which include:

review and approval of the previous minutes;

Board Committee updates to the Board;
report from the Chief Executive Officer;
report from the Chief Financial Officer; and

a
]
a
n
]
m Investor Relations report.
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status update on any matters outstanding from previous meetings;

a Reviewed and approved the 2019 Annual Report
and Accounts and Notice of AGM

m Reviewed and approved the schedule of matters
reserved for the Board and the Terms of Reference
to the Board Committees

m Approved the 2020/21 Board and Board Committee
programimes and calendar

= Approved the revised Investment Committae Terms
of Refarence

» Received an EVP dispute update

B Approved the Group's Whistleblowing Palicy
and Procedures

® Considered the Board and Board Committees
gvaluation questionnaire

» Reviewed and approved the revised Delegated Authorities

m Approved the Group's risk appetite

m Approved the Directors' Conflicts of Interest register
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Board Leadership and Company Purpose continued

Communicating with Qur Shareholders

Shareholder Engagement

The Board is committed to maintaining open channels of
communication with all shareholders, whether institutional

or private. It is irnportant that shareholders understand the
Company strategy and objectives, and for the Company to receive
shareholders' feedback and consider the issues and guestions
raised. To facilitate this, the Company has a comprehensive investor
relations strategy, which is approved by the Board each year.

For our private shareholders there is an opportunity to meet the
Directors at our Annual General Meeting and further information
on the Company can be found on our website. Information on how
the Company communicates with its shareholders, investors and
analysts can be found in Engaging our Stakeholders pages 4-5.

Both the Executive and Non-Executive Directors meet shareholders
and prospective shareholderg, both institutional and private, on

a regular basis. Non-Executive Directors are available to meet
shareholders if they wish to raise issues without the Executive
Directors present.

During the year the Executive Directors, assisted by the Investor
Relations team, have held meetings in the UK, USA, Switzerland
and Luxernbourg with both existing and potential institutional
shareholders, from countries including UK, USA, Canada, Denrmark,
Australia, France, Switzerland, Luxembourg and Germany, providing
insight into the development of the business and its progress. In
addition, our Chairman and Senior Independent Director meta
selection of our largest shareholders during the year.

The Board receives regular updates on the views of our shargholders
and analysts through briefings and in market reports at each Board
meeting, which include:

w share price performance monitoring;

u review of shareholder performance and sector analysis;
w composgition of the shareholder register;

m peer group comparison: and

m professional and external adviser feedhack.

Capital Markets Day

On 17 September 20189, the Company held a successful Capital
Markets Day in London welcoming over 100 investors, analysts,
banks and other stakeholders to meet Biffa's management team.
Presentations facused on the core areas of the Group’s growth
strategy including: the 1&C growth opportunity and investments
in plastics recycling and EfW. The presentation from the day can
be found on our website wwwbiffa.couk/investors/news/capital-
markets-day

Website

The Company’s website wwwbiffa.co.uk acts as a good medium
through which results and other news releases such as acquisitions,
contract wins and new strategic initiatives are published including
key financial calendar information, details of live webcasting
services for key presentations and the source of past key
presentations and announcements.
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Key Shareholder Activities During the Year

2019

June Full-year results presentation and
roadshows in London and Edinburgh

July AGM
Investor roadshows in Zurich,
Luxembourg and London

September HI Pre-close Trading Statement
and Capital Markets Day

October Analyst visit to Seaham

Novembsr Half-year resulls presentation and
roadshows in London, Edinburgh and USA

2020

January Opening event at our plastics recycling
plantin Seaham

Marxch H2 Pre-close Trading Statement and

investor calls
Sustainability Strategy launch

JPM Conference and investor meetings

Shareholders by number of shares

As at 27 Masch 2020
1ta 100 53.5%
101to 600 11.7%
501t0 5,000 12.7%
5,001t0100,000 11.7%

100,001 t0 500,000 5.4%
500,001 to Highest 5.0%

Shareholder by type

Asat 27 March 2020
Public Limited
Company 0.4%
Nominee 65.8%
Limited Company 26.9%
Other 6.6%
Bank 0.2%
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Statement on 2019 Annual General Meeting
Resolution Votes Against

At the Company's Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on

10 July 2019, 20.48% of votes were cast against the resolution
to re-elect our Chairman, Ken Lever. The resolution was still
passed with the required majority.

There has been an expanded focus on overboarding of

directors following the publication of the Code and a number

of institutional investors and proxy advisers have developed
specific guidelines with regard to this. The Board understands
that some shareholders may have concerns about the number of
directorships held by the Chairman and that this may undermine
his ability to serve effactively on the Board, particularly at times
when urgent issues arise.

Following the AGM, I wrote to those shareholders who had voted
against the resclution to understand their concerns, outline in
more detail the time commitments of the Chairman and explain
why the Board believed that the Chairman was the right person
to lead the Cormpany forward. No responses were received

from this engagement.

Board Evaluation

Asrequired by the Code, the Board undertakes an annual evaluation
of its performance and that of its Committees. Under the Code,
itis recormmended that FTSE250 companies have an externally
facilitated Board evaluation every three years.

With the substantial changes to Board composition during the
previous year, it was again concluded that it would be more
effective to defer having an externally facilitated evaluation. The
Board and Comrnittee evaluations were therefore facilitated by

the Chairmarn and Company Secretary by way of an ordine self-
evaluation questionnaire. As the Company moved into the FTSE250
in March 2020, and it has not had an externally facilitated evaluation
since its IPO in 20186, this is contrary to provision 21 of the Code.

FY20 Board Evaluation

All Directors, regular attendees and the Company Secretary
responded to the Board questionnaire in March 2020, covering

all aspects of Board performance including: Board/Committee
composition; conduct of meetings; corporate strategy, purpose,
values and culture; transactions and approvals; risk management
and internal controls; measuring and monitoring performance; and
stakeholders. The participants were asked to score 25 statements
on a scale of 1to 5 and provide written comments, including areas
for improvement.

Initial feedback from the evaluation was presented to the Board for
discussion in April 2020. The overall assessment is that the Board
continues to operate effectively and it has performed well during the
year with the overall rating up from the previous year. It was agreed
that the key actions would be defined by the Chairman and those
actions would form part of the Board’s agenda for the coming year.
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The Board has recently considered the time commitment of all the
Directors and specifically whether the Chairman should be required
to address the concerns relating to his other appointments. It has re-
confirmed that it is confident that the Chairman discharges his role
effectively notwithstanding his other Board cornrnitrents. This has
particularly been demonstrated during the recent coronavirus crisis
where there has been an increased time commitment requirement
for all the Directors.

The Board believes that the Chairman plays a pivotal role
in helping drive the strategy of the Group and remains fully
supportive of the role and guidance he provides to the Company.

David Martin
Senior Independent Director

The Chairman and the Senior Independent Director also reviewed
the performance of each member of the Board and provided
feedback and the Senior Independent Director led the Non-
Executive Directors in a review of the performance of the Chairman.
It was agreed that each Director continued to contribute effectively.

Update on FY19 Board Evaluation Outcomes

As reported last year, the FY19 Board performance evaluation was
internally facilitated by the Chairman and Company Secretary.
The review identified some opportunities for the Board.

Farmat and length of Board papers

A Board paper template has been developed by the Company
Secretariat team which has helped improve the format and
length of Board papers. The rermoval of the repetition of papers
in Board and Committee packs has also helped improve the
overall length of the packs. The recent Board evaluation
highlighted the improverment in this area.

Communication of material matters between Board meetings
The Board agreed that it is not necessary to have scheduled Board
call updates between meetings. The Chairman and CEO havea
weekly catch up and consider whether there is anything that is
required to be notified to the Non-Executive Directors. This is

done by email or ad-hoc call. During the COVID-19 crisis, the

Board have had weekly update calls.

Develop the Non-Executive Directors’ understanding

of shareholders views

The CFO provides an Investor Relations update paper at each Beard
meeting. He also provides copies of analysts’ reports when published.
The Non-Executive Directors agreed that this is very comprehensive
and therefore nothing further is required in relation to this.
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Composition, Succession and Evaluation

Nomination Committee Report

Members

Ken Lever {Chairman)
Michael Averill

Gab Barbaro

Carol Chesney

David Martin

Areas of Focus in 2020/21

The Committee's priorities for 2020/21 will be to:

m review Board and senior managernent succession planning;
and

m take an active role in setting diversity objectives for the Corpany.

Dear Shareholder,
Iam pleased to present the Nomination Committea {Cornmittee)
Report on behalf of the Board.

There has been no changes to the composition of the Board
during the year and therefore the Committee has not been
required tolead the process for any new Board appointments,

In FY20, the Committee has ermbraced its expanded role undex
the Code and focused on succession planning for the Board and
the Group Executive Team and the leadership taient pipeiine.

It has also continued to consider diversity and inciusion,

As previously reported, the Company entered the FTSE250 in March
2020 and we will therefore be submitting our gender data for the
Group Executive Tearn and their direct reports to the Hampton-
Alexander review later in the year (see page 30 for more detail).

Ken Lever
Chair, Nomination Committee

4 June 2020

Membaership of the Committee and Altendance
The current merabers of the Committee are the Chairman
as Committee Chair and four Non-Executive Directors.
The Committee mat three times during the year and the
attendance at those meetings is shown on page 42.

The Company Secretary attends all the Committee meetings
as Secretary to the Committee and by invitation, they are also
attended by the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Utficer atwd U Guoup 1IR Dircotor.

Role and Responsibilities of the Committeg

The role of the Committee is to lead the process for Board
appeintments, ensure plans are in place for orderly succession
to both the Board and senior management positions and oversee
the development of a diverse pipeline for succession to ensure
that the Group has the best talent to perform etfectively now
and in the future.

The Comrmnittee's responsibilities are set out in its Terms
of Reference and include:

m reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board
and making recommendations ta the Board with regard to
any changes;

m succession planning for the Board and senior managerment;

m leading the process for Board appointments and making
recommendations to the Board;

» assessing whether Directors can commit sufficient time
to fulfil their responsibilities; and

a taking an active role in setting diversity objectives and
strategies for the Company as a whole and monitoring the
impact of diversity initiatives.

Activities During the Year
During the year, the Committee's key activities were:

m Annualreview of the structure, diversity, size and composition
of the Board including Board succession planning.

® Reviewing the succession and development plans of the
Executive Directors.

m Reviewing the succession plans for the Group Executive Team.

m Reviewing talent development within the senior leadership tearn.

m Undertaking the annual review of Birector independence, time
cormmitment and conflicts of interest.

m Reviewing and making a recommendation to the Board te approve,
the revised Committee Terms of Reference,

Board Composition and Skills

The Compmittee considors that the current Board membership
provides the right mix of skills and attributes for the Board to ensure
effective governance and oversight of the strategic and significant
aperational decisions of the business and performance manitoring.
Information on each of the Directors’ skills and attributes is set out
in the table opposite.
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Diversity Overview

Diversity

The Board's policy is for new appointments and succession plans
to be based on merit and against objective criteria but within this
context believes that inclusion and diversity, in its broadest sense
including gender and ethnicity, should be promoted as they are an
important factor in Board effectiveness.

The Committee supports the recommendations of the Hampton-
Alexander Review and the Parker Review and has an ongoing
commitment to increase female and ethnic representation at
Board and senior management lavel. An overview of the diversity
of the Board is set out below.

Board Skills and Attributes

As previously outlined, now that we have entered the FTSE250,
we will be subrmitting our gender data to the Hampton Alexander
review later in the year.

The Board also supports the Company’s policy on inclusion and
diversity and has received updates during the year on progress
against objectives in relation to this. For further details see page 30.

Michael Gab Carol Ken David Richard Michael
Averill Barbaro Chesney Lever Martin Pike Topharm
Independence | [ ] [ | [ | |
Functional background: Operations | [ ] | [
Functional background: Finance [ | | | [ ] n
CEO & Leadership experience [ | | | [ ] | |
Waste sector | [ ]
Logistice/metworks | [ | ]
M&A/ restructuring | [ | [ | [ ] | [ | [ |
Governance & regulatory [ | | [ | | | [ | [ |
International | | [ | | | [ ]
Stakeholder/IR/PR | | | [ | || | |
Technology/e-commerce | | |
Business evolution/strategy development [ ] | n | [ ] | |
People | | [ ] | | | |
Composition of the Board Length of Tenure
Chairman 1 0-2 years 3
Executive directors 2 2-4 years 4
Non-Executive Directors 4
7 Average tenure
Board members of the Board
Age Gender
40-49 2 Female 1
50-b39 2 Male 5]
60-89 3
1]
58 years 14%
Average age Fermnale
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Composition, Succession and Evaluation continued

Conilicts of Interest

Under the Cormpany’s Articles of Association, the Board rmay authorise
any actual or potential conflicts of interest that may arise and
impose limits or conditions as appropriate. The Company has a
detajled process for the management of conflicts of interest which is
monitored by the Committee. On appointment, a Director is required
to disclose any conflicts of interest to the Company Secretary and
on an annual basis, as part of our year end reporting, sach Director
reviews the Conflivts of Interest register and confirms any canflicts.

Succession Planning

During the year, the Cammittee has reviewed the succession plans
for the Board, Group Executive Team and the senior management
talent pipeline. The Committee takes an active interest in the
guality and development of talent and capabilities within Biffa,
ensuring that appropriate opportunities are in place to develop
high-performing individuals such as invitations to Board dinners
and the Group Talent Programme.

Board Appointments Process

The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new Directors to the Board. This procedure includes the evaluation of
the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of the Board
by the Cornmittee to ensure that any new appointrnents complement
or address any shortfalls inany of these areas.

The Committee ensures that the selection process is rigorous

and transparent and, if appropriate, it will appoint a professional
external search firm. Candidates from a wide range of backgrounds
that meet the role specification will be considered and all appaintrents
will be made entirely on rnerit, with due regard to the benefits of diversity
on the Board, which includes, but is not limited purely to, gender.

Directors’ Induction, Training and Development

On appointment, all Directors receive an induction on their duties
and responsibilities as Directors of a publicly quoted corpany.

The induction process also comprises a comprehensive programme
which includes meetings with all Directors, members of the Group
Executive Team, the Company Secretary and heads of functions.

To update the Directore’ skills, knowledge and familiarity with the
Company key site visits are incorporated into the programme and
undertaken to meet management and develap graater cormmercial
awareness of the business. During these visits the Directors receive
briefing sessions from local managerent, allowing them to ask
questions, learn about the business and spend time with different
teams and individuals to observe and experience first hand how
the culture and values are embedded across the Company.
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Gommittee Evaluation

The Commitiee's performance during the year was assessed
at the same time as the Board evaluation in March 2020.
Further detalls on the wider Board evaluation process

can be found on page 53.

FY20 Committee Evaluation

All Directors and the Company Secretary responded to
an online self-evaluation questionnaire, covering all
aspects of Committee performance including: the role

of the Comumittes and its Terms of Reference; meetings
and papears; succession planning and the development of
a diverse pipeline. The participants were asked to score
13 statements an 4 scale of 1 to 5 and provide written
commments, including areas for improvement.

[nitial feedback from the gvaluation was presentaed to the
Committee and discussed at the Board meeting in May 2020,
The overall assessment is that the Committee is clear on
its role and responsibilities and these were fulfilled during
the year. It was agreed that the key actions would be defined
by the Chairman (as Chair of the Committee] and those
actions would form part of the Committee's agenda for
the corning year.

Update on FY19 Committee Evaluation Outcomes

As reported last year, the FY19 Committee performance
svaluation was internally facilitated by the Chairman

and Company Secretary. The review identified succession
planning and addressing leadership skills for future Executive
directors as sorne potential opportunities for the Cornmittes.

The Committee is satisfied that the work undertaken during
the year. [t has seen an improverment in executive succession
planning, in particular the Group Talent Programme. This

will rernain an area of focus for the Committee with the
Board having further exposure to senior managers and high
potential employees.
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Audit, Risk and Internal Control

Audit Committee Report

Members

Carol Chesney [Chair)
Michael Averill
David Martin

Areas of Focus in 2020/21

The Committee's priorities for 2020/21 will be to:

m consider the financial impacts of COVID-19 on the
Company; and

® monitor the implementation of the business strategy
and its impact on the Group's internal control and risk
management processes.

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to present this year's Audit Committee (Committee)
Report which aims to provide an understanding of the work of the
Committee over the past year and highlight our areas of focus in 2020.

During the year, the Cornmittee has continued to monitor the
implementation of the business strategy and its impact on the
Group's internal controls and risk management framework. Further
information on our key activities during the year are on page 60.

In addition, the Committee has considered the impact of COVID-19
on our financial statements. It has reviewed the Group’s profitability,
liguidity and financial headroom as part of a number of forecast
scenarios. As part of this work, the Committes has also reviewed

the viability statement and going concern, following which it was
agreed that the going concern basis of accounting continues to be

an appropriate basis of preparation for the financial statements.

Carol Chesney
Chair, Audit Committee

4 June 2020
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Membership of the Committese and Attendance

The current members of the Committee are the Chair and two
Non-Executive Directors all of whom are independent. The Chair
and David Martin are both qualified accountants and the Board
congiders their financial experience to be recent and relevant for
the purposes of the Code. The Cormmittee met four times during the
year and the attendance at those meetings is shown on page 42.

The Company Secretary attends ail the Committee meetings
as Secretary to the Comrmittee and, by invitation, they are also
attended by the Chairman, Chief Financial Officer, the Chief
Executive Officer, Gab Barbaro { Non-Executive Director), the
External Audit Partner, the Head of Risk and Internal Audit
and the Director of Group Finance.

Role and Responsibilities of the Committee

The role of the Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling
its oversight responsibilities by monitoring and reviewing
the integrity of the Group's financial reporting and the
effectiveness of the Internal and External Audit functions
and risk management framework.

The Committee reports to the Board on its activities and makes
recornmendations, all of which have been accepted during the
period under review.

The Committee's responsibilities are set out in its Terms of
Reference on the Company's website at www.biffa.couk.

Whistleblowing

The Board has averall responsibility for monitoring the Group's
whistleblowing arrangements under the Code. It has delegated
this to the Committee which updates the Board on a regular
basis on all significant whistleblowing matters.

The Committee receives a report on whistleblowing cases
at each meeting. Improvements were made during the year
to the reports that the Committee receives.

The Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures were reviewed by

the Cormunittee during the year. The Comumittee is satisfied that
they are effective, facilitate the proportionate and independent
investigation of reported matters and allow appropriate follow-up
action to be taken. It recommended to the Board that some minor
changes were rmade to the Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures
which were approved by the Board. Further details on the Group’s
Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures can be found on page 31.
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Audit, Risk and Internal Control continued

KRey Activities During tha Year

Key areas Activities during the year

Financial
Reporting

= Reviewed the Annual Report and Accounts, including whether they are fair, balanged and understandable,
the material judgements and sstirnates, Going Concern Statement and Viability Statement.

m Reviewed the half-year accounts, including the material judgements and estirnatas,
» Reviewed the External Auditor's report on the full-year and half-year audits.
1 Reviewed the half-year and full-year results announceraents and the Septermber and April Pre-Close Trading Staternents.

External Audit

u Reviewed the External Auditor's independence, objectivity and effectiverness.

m Considered the succession plans for the lead Audif partner.

m Considered the re-appointment of the External Auditor.

m Considered External Auditor fees and terms of engagement.

n Reviewed and approved changes to the Non-Audit Services Palicy.
m Reviewed the External Auditor non-audit serviges and fees.

Risk and
Internal
Controls

m Monitored the Company's risk register, including the cormpleteness of the process to identify the Group's principal
and emerging risks and rnovernent in such exposures.
m Considered the status of key risk indicators including any breaches of thresholds.

n Reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.

w Considered responses, and their timeliness, to avdit findings and recommendations for contral improveraents,
including reviewing the External Audit management letter.

® Reviewed the risk management and internal controls disciosures in the half-year agcounts and Annual Report

and Accournts.

» Recelved regular updates on the implementation of the new key controls framework.

m Reviewed, and recommended to the Board approval of a revised, Whistieblowing Policy and Procedures.
m Received updates on material litigation and whist!ebiowing matters.

m Received an update on the GDPR project and its effectiveness.

Internal Aundit

m Approved the annual Internal Audit plan, including its alignment to the pringipal risks, ermerging areas of risk,

coverage across the Group and continuing review of the Group's processes and controls.

» Monitored and reviewed the Internal Audit effectiveness and independence of the Internal Audit function
including consideration of key Internal Audit reports; stakeholder fgedback on the guality of Internal Audit activity;
and the implementation of Internal Audit recornmendations.

m Reviewed Internal Audit reparts, including those related to cornumadity trading, Municipal terider mobilisation,
credit management, privileged access, M&A integration and GDPR.

Other Areas

= Reviewed and recornmended to the Board approval of the revised Committee Terms of Reference.

» Reviewed the results of the evaluation of the effectiveness of the Committee.
m Received an update on Project Fusion including the implementation plan and reviewed the key challenges and

risk of the project.

= Received an update on tax matters for the Group and reviewed and recommended to the Board approval of the

Group's annual tax strategy.

8 Reviewed and recomurnended to the Board approval of a new Treasury Policy and received a treasury update.
m Reviewed and approved changes to the Related Party Transactions Policy and reviewed the Related Party List.

Financial Reporting

One of the Cormmittee’s principal responsibilities is to review and
report to the Board on the quality and appropriateness nf the Group's
Financial Statements, including the half-year accounts and Annuai
Report and Accounts, with a particular focus on:

m the suitability of accounting policies;

m theappropriateness of underlying assumptions, judgements
and estimates made by management;

® key audit matters identified by the External Auditor;

compliance with relevant accounting standards and other
regulatory financial reporting requirements including the UK
Corporate Governance Code; and

» advising the Board, where requested, on whether the Annual

Report and Accounts are fair, balanced and understandable and
provide the information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Company’s position and performance, business model and strategy.

58

In making its assessment, the Comunittee raviews reports from
members of the Finance team and the External Auditor who are
invited to attend all Committee meetings. Through discussions
and detailed written reports, the Committes is able to understand
and assess the significant judgements and estimates and how they
are being recorded and disclosed in the Financial Statements.

The significant financial judgements considered in relation to the
Annus) Report and Accounts are detailed in the tabls opposite.
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Significant Financial Judgements Considered in Relation to the Annual Report and Accounts

Significant issues considered by the Comumittee in relation to the Financial Staterments

How these issues were addressed by the Cormmitiee

Landfill
Accounting

The Committee reviewed the valuation of the landfill
provisions and assets, the level of such landfill provision
and the extent of the depreciation of such assets, it being
noted that the responsibility for a landfill site extends
beyond the cessation of land filling operations until

the Group has fulfilled its aftercare and restoration
abligations which is estimated to be up to 60 years

post closure of the site.

[See Note 21 on page 140 for further details on
landfill provision).

The Committee considered the Group Landfill
Capital and Provisioning Policy, which includes
the basis for cost, void space, waste compaction
ratio and gas generation estimates, and associated
accounting methodology.

The Committee determined that with the combination of
external third-party reports and guidance, External Auditor
testing and the Group's experience to provide for these
estimated costs the current landfill accounting treatrment
and value, and level of provisions were appropriate.

Retirement
Benefit
Obligations

The Group operatas a defined benefit pension scheme
known as the Biffa Pension Scheme (BPS) which is
closed to new joiners and to future accrual as at

31 October 2013. There are currently active merbers
of the BPS who have protected defined benefit accrual
either by virtue of contract location or legislation. The
BPS was in a pension surplus of £116.7m as at 27 March
2020. Due to the COVID-19 impact on fund valuations,
it was necessary to get valuations for all funds as at

27 March 2020.

(See Note 29 on page 145 for further detzils on pension
and post-retirement benefits).

The Committes considered reports from management
and the External Auditor in relation to the valuation of
the BPS and reviewed the key actuarial assumptions
used in calculating the defined benefit pension liabilities,
especially in relation to discount rates, inflation rates,
salary growth, rate of pension increase and mortality/life
expectancy, and concluded that the assumptions used
were appropriate and were supported by independent
actuarial experts. Details of the key assumptions used are
set out on page 145 in Note 29 to the Financial Statements.

Asset
Impairment
Review

The Group carries different clagses of intangible assets
on its balance sheet, which include goodwill, landfill gas
rights, the Biffa brand, customer contracts and Project
Fusion development costs. The Group's assessment of
the carrying value of goodwill and the other intangible
assets is dependent on the disaggregation of cash-
generating units {CGUs) and assumptions of future cash
flows, including both short and long-term growth rates.
The Group performed its last asset impairment review
at the end of the financial year with the assistance of an
external third party. The WACC rate increased due to the
COVID-19 impact and the P&L impact for COVID-19 has
been built into the impairment models.

The Committee reviewed and discussed management's
report on the impairment review and considered the
External Auditor’s testing thereof.

After due consideration, the Committee concluded that
it was satisfied with management's assumptions and
judgements applied in relation to such testing. Details
of the key assumptions and judgements used are set
outin Note 14 to the Financial Statements.

Onerous
Contract
Provision

The Group operates a broad portfolio of complex contracts,
especially in the Municipal and Resources & Energy
businesses. The accounting for gertain contracts may

be underpinned by assurmptions or judgements made by
management in respect of the cutcome of future events.

(See Note 3 on page 121 for further details on
onerous contacts).

The Committee reviewed management's judgements
and assumptions used to determine onerous contracts
and any required provision for future losses. In addition,
External Auditor testing was taken into consideration.

The Commmittee concluded that it was satisfied by
management's assessment and the approach adopted,
inciuding the presentation of these as non-underlying
due to the creation of non-recurring provisions.

The last review by the FRC Corporate Reporting Review team
of the Biffa plc Annual Report & Accounts was for the year
ended 30 March 2018. Following the review and responses
frorm the Company, the FRC advised in February 2019 it had
closed its enquiry. For more information see page 20.

Biffa Annual Repert and Accounts 2020
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Audit, Risk and Internal Control continued

Risk Management

The Board has overall responsibility for setting the Group’s risk
appetite and ensuring that there is an effective risk managernent
framework. The Board delegates responsibility for review of

the risk management and the effectiveness of internal controls
to the Committes.

The Chief Executive Officer has overall accountability for the
control and management of the risks that Biffa faces and working
with the Group Executive Team has established processes, as part
of the normal good management of the business, to manitor:

m strategic plan achievernent, through a regular review of prograss
towards strategic objectives;

m financial performance, within a comprehensive financial
planning and accounting framework, including budgeting and
forecasting, financial reporting, analysing variances against
plan and taking appropriate management action;

m capital investment and asset management;

m performance, with detailed appraisal, authorisation and
post-investment reviews;

m that the principal and emerging risks facing the Group are
being identified, evaluated and appropriately managed; and

m the maintenance of insurance cover to insure all risk areas
of the Group.

The Committee has reviewed the work done by managerment on
the assessment of the Cormpany's principal and emerging risks,
noting that a cormprehensive review of the principal risks was
completed in September 2018 for our interim reporting and this
exercise, which additionally included an assessment of emnerging
risks, was undertaken again at the year end in March 2020.

The Board also undertook, during the year, a robust assessment
of the principal and emerging risks faced by the Group.

Further details of the Group's risk management systems and
controls, principal and emerging risks and staterment following
the viability assessment are included in the Strategic Report on
pages 34-38.

Internal Control

The Company's systern of internal control, along with its design
and operating effectiveness, is subject to review by the Committes,
through reports received from the Company, along with those
from both the Internal and External Auditors, Any control
deficiencies identified will be followed up with action plans
tracked by the Committee.

Policies and procedures, including clearly defined levels of
delegated authority, have been communicated across the Group.
We continue to implement a key controls framework across the
Group, in respect of operational and financial processes, that
requires a quarterly self-certification by management, confirming
that key internal controls within their area of responsibility have
been operating effectively, and will be subject to independent
review by Internal Audit.

Itisrecognised that the current restrictions imposed on the
Group by the COVID-19 crisis may lead to some changes in risk
management processes and internal controls in the short term
in order to maintain operations. To ensure that we continue to
maintain an effective control environment, we are monitoring
any changes carefully and introducing alternative mitigating
controls where necessary and practicable to support the ongoing
operation of an effective control environment.
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The system of internal control is designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and
it must be recognised that it can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss

The Committee intends to keep the risk management and internal
control systems under review and to support the Board in carrying
out an annual review of their effectiveness.

As part uf Lhe year-end cornpliance certification process and senior
management review on the effectiveness of internal controls and
risk management, the Cormnmittee has not identified, nor been
advised of, any failings or weaknesses in the internal control
systems or risk management processes that ara determined

to be significant.

Risk Appetite

The Company's approach torisk appetite has been developed in line
with the Code. By clarifying the type and level of risk it is willing to
take in order to achieve its strategic objectives, the Company aims to
support consistent, risk-informed decision making across the Group.

The Cormpany’s risk appetite has been incorporated into the risk

management framework and the Cornmittee monitors whether the
Group is operating within that appetite through a review of a series
of agreed metrics and a review of the principal and emerging risks.

Internal Audit

The Company has an Internal Audit function, led by the Head of Risk
and Internal Audit, which focuses on performing a programume of
reviews of processes and controls implemented across the Group.
Internal Audit findings are presented to therelevant Head of a
Group division or Group function, the Company Secretary and the
Chief Financial Officer for review. The Committee is responsible
for overseeing the work of the Internal Audit function.

The Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Internal Audit
function, reviews and approves the scope of the Internal Audit
annual plan and assesses the quality of Internal Audit reports,
along with management’s actions, and their timeliness, relating to
findings and the closure of recommended actions. The Committes
also considers any stakeholder feedback on the quality of Internal
Audit's work. In order to safeguard the independence of the Internal
Audit function, the Head of Risk and Internal Audit is given the
opportunity to meet privately with the Cormrmittee without any
Executive Directors or other members of management present.

External Auditor

Deloitte LLP was appointed as the External Auditor of the Company
on 23 August 2016 and the current lead Audit Partner, Makhan
Chahal, was appointed in August 2016. Mr Chahal is in his final year
as lead Audit Partrner and will rotate off the engagernent next year.

The Group confirms it is in compliance with the requirements
of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies Market
Investigation (Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender Processes
and Audit Responsibilities] Order 2014, which relates to the
frequency and governance of external audit tenders and the
setting of a policy on the provision of non-audit services.

The Company intends to conduct a tender process in line with
the regulations and by no later than 2026.

The Cornmittee reviewed the External Auditor's effectiveness
during the year. In carrying out its assessment it considered:

m feedback from the Chief Financial Officer and his team who
monitor the External Auditor's performance, behaviour and
effactiveness during the exercise of its duties;
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m all key External Auditor plans and reports;

m theregular engagement with the External Auditor during
Committee meetings and ad hoc meetings, including mestings
without any member of management being present;

m the Committee Chair having discussions with the Senior
Statutory Auditor ahead of each Committee meeting;

= the External Audit effectiveness review conducted by the Head of
Risk and Internal Audit which was presented to the Cormnmittee at
the September Committee meeting This contained the results of
an External Audit process effectiveness review questionnaire that
was completed by the Directors and key members of management
and staff who were involved in the external audit process; and

» theindependence and objectivity of the External Auditor.

Having corapleted this review, the Comumittee concluded that the
audit process, independence and quality of the External Auditor
was satisfactory.

The Committee has made a recornmendation to the Board
to re-appoint Deloitte LLP as the Company's auditor for the
2020/21 financial year. Accordingly, a resolution proposing
their re-appointment will be tabled at the July 2020 AGM.

External Auditor's Independence and Non-Audit Services
To preserve objectivity and independance, the Cornmittee has
adopted a policy on the provision of non-audit services which
restricts the work and fees available to the External Auditor. This
policy was updated during the year to reflect the requirements of
the FRC Revised Ethical Standard published in Decermber 2019.

The policy specifies certain activities which the External Auditor
rmay not undertake such as tax, consulting, valuation or corporate
services [other than reporting accounting arrangements). Permitted
services are set out in a whitelist and the fees are capped at 70%

of the average audit fees paid in the last 3 years.

The policy requires prior Cornmittee approval for any non-audit
services work permitted under the policy whose value exceeds
£50,000, or where it will cause the cumulative fees for the year to
exceed 10% of the amount of the prior year’s audit fee, or where the
cumulative fees for the year already exceed 70% of the average of
the external audit fees paid in the last three years. Prior approval
of the Chief Financial Officer is required for any non-audit services
work permitted under the policy whose value exceeds £10,000.

Non-audit fees are monitored by the Committee and the Committee
is satisfied that all non-audit work undertaken this year was

in line with the policy and did not detract from the objectivity
and independence of the External Auditor. The External Auditor
confirms its independence at least annually.

The fees paid to Deloitte LLP in respect of non-audit services during
the year related to the review of interim Financial Statements
and governance compliance certificates and totalled £91,600,
representing 10% of the total audit fee (2019 £57,900 and 10%].
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Committee Evaluation

The Committee's performance during the year was assessed
at the same time as the Board evaluation in March 2020.
Further details on the wider Beard and Committee evaluation
process can be found on page 53.

FY20 Committee Evaluation

All Directors, regular attendees and the Company Secratary
responded to an online self-evaluation questionnaire, covering
all aspects of Committee perforrmance including: the role

of the Coramittee and its Terms of Reference; meetings

and papers: the internal audit plan and effectiveness of
management’s response to internal audit recommendations;
and risk rmanagerment and internal controls. The participants
were asked to score 20 statements ona scaleof 1to5and
provide written cormuments, including areas for improvernent.

Initial feedback from the evaluation was presented to the
Committes and discussed at its meeting in May 2020. The
overall assessment is that it continues to operate effectivaly
and has performed well overall during the year. It was agreed
that the key actions would be defined by the Chair and those
actions would form part of the Committee's agenda for the
coming year.

Update on FY19 Committee Evaluation Qutcomes
Asreported last year, the FY19 Committee performance
evaluation was internally facilitated by the Chairman and
Cornpany Secretary. The review identified some potential
opportunities for the Committee including the on-going
personal development needs of the members and to improve
the implementation of the internal audit recommendations.

The Committee members discussed whether anything further
was required in relation to their personal developraent needs.
They noted that the External Auditor’s reports cover all the
relevant latest developments and other opportunities for
development are provided by Deloitte Academy membership
and through other external sources and were therefore in
agreement that nothing further was required.

The Committee is satisfied that the work undertaken during the
year has seen an improvernent in the quality and effectiveness
of the implementation of Internal Audit's recornmendations.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Remuneration Committee Report

Mermbers

Michael Averill [Chair)
David Martin
Carol Chesney

Areas of Focus in 2020/21

The Committee's priorities for 2020/21 will be to:

= continue to consider the impacts of COVID-19 on
remuneration; and

m monitor developmaents in market best practice.

Dear Shareholder,
Iam pleased to introduce the Directors’ Remuneration Report
for 2020.

The whole Board is grateful to our shareholders for the continued
support received on remuneration matiers at the Company's 2019
AGM where aur Directors’ Remuneration Report was approved by
over 99% of aur shareholders.

This year, in conjunction with our regular duties the Remuneration
Committee (Committee) has been preparing and discussing a

new Rernuneration Policy and we have consulted with our major
shareholders on our proposed Policy which will be presented for
approvai at the 2020 AGM. I would like to thank those shareholders
who have participated in this process for their feedback and
guidance, which resulted in changes to the original proposal.

As [ write, the Committee is continuing to consider the impacts of
COVID-19 on rernuneration at Biffa. As announced on 6 April 2020,
we have undertaleen the following actions:

» the Board of Directors and the Group Executive Team members
have volunteered to take a 20% reduction in salary with effect
from 1 April 2020. This will last for the duration of the period
during which the Group is participating in the Government’s
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CIRS);

m Biffa's Leadership group, representing a further 85 people,
have also taken a 10% reduction in salary for the same period;

m all pay increases have been suspended until further notice;

m bonus entitlements earned in respect of the year to 27 March
2020, which under normal circumstances would be paid in cash
in July 2020, will be ¢alculatad in the normal manner but will,
for the most senior participants, be satisfied in shares through
the Group's employee share plans, subject to final Remuneration
Comumnittee approval; and
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» the Group's annual bonus scheme in respect of 2020/21 has
been suspended and will be reintroduced at the discretion
of the Remuneration Committee when appropriate.

The Report comprises two sections:

m the Directors’ Remuneration Policy, which will apply fora
maximum of three vears from the 2020 AGM and will replace
the Directors' Remuneration Policy previously approved at
the #N17 ABM: and

m the Directors’ Annual Report on Remuneration, which sets out
payments and awards made to the Directors for 2019/20 and
how the Policy will operate for 2020/21.

The Directors' Remuneration Palicy will be subject to a binding vate
of shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, with the Directors’ Annual
Report on Remuneration being subject to an advisory vote.

Membership of the Committee and Attendance

The Comurnittee is comprised of independent Non-Executive
Directors and is chaired by Michael Averill, with David Martin and
Carol Chesney also being membars. The Remuneration Committee
met saven times during the year and the attendance at those
meetings is shown on page 42.

The Company Secretary attends all the Committee meetings

as Secretary to the Comunittee and, by invitation, they are also
attended by the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Qfficer, Gab Barbaro [Non-Executive Director), Group HR Director
and external professional advisers for all or part of any meeting

as and when appropriate and necessary.

Role and Responsibilities of the Committee

The role of the Cormnmittee is to establish a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on reruneration
in accordance with the Code. It sets the remuneration of the
Chairman, the Executive Directors and senior management
with due account taken of all relevant factors such as, individual
and Group performance and remuneration payable by companies
of a comparable size and complexity and, in relation to the
Executive Directors, the rernuneration of, and remuneration
policies applying to, the Group's employaes.

The Committes reports to the Board on its activities and makes
recornmendations, all of which have been accepted under the
period of review.

The Committee's responsibilities are set out in its Terms of
Reference on the Company's website at www.biffa.couk.

Advisers

FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP (FIT), signatories ta the
Rernuneration Consultants Group's Code of Conduct, are the
Committee’s appointed adviser. FIT provides advice to the
Cormmittee on matters relating to executive remuneration
and all-employee share awards. During the year, FIT provided
no other services to the Company and, accordingly, the
Committee was satisfied that the advice provided by FIT was
objective and independent. FIT's fees in respect of the 2019/20
financial year were £101,089 plus VAT, charged on the basis
of the firm's standard terms of business for advice provided.
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Activities of the Committee During the Year

The main Comimittee activities during the year (further details
of which are set out in the relevant sections of this report)
included the following:

» Agreed the performance against the targets and the payments
for the 2018/19 Executive Director annual bonus awards.

» Reviewed annual bonus payments for 2018/19 for the Group
Executive Team, senior managers and employees.

m Set the annual bonus performance targets for 2019/20
for the Executive Directors.

m Approved the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
Remuneration Policy for the 2019 Annual Report.

m Agreed the population, award levels and performance
targets for the 2018/19 PSP awards.

m Oversaw the grant in 20198/20 under the all-employee
Sharesave Plan.

m Received an update on Group employee pay and conditions
and employee share plans.

u Reviewed and recormmended the Gender Pay Gap report for
2019/20 to the Board for approval.

m Reviewed and agreed an increase to the Executive Director
and Group Executive Team base salary levels from 1 April 2020
(although note subsequent decision in respect of COVID-19
detailed above).

The Cornrnittee is periodically updated on wider employee
matters such as information on our wider workforce pay and
conditions, our CEO to employee pay ratio, our gender pay statistics
and our diversity initiatives. The Committee has reviewed these
elements and is satisfied that the executive rermnuneration structure
ramains appropriate.

Whilst the Company does not currently directly engage with
ernployees as part of the process of formulating the Directors
Rernuneration Policy or reviewing executive pay, the Company
does use several initiatives to obtain insights from the broader
employee population, including the annual engagement survey.
Further detail on engagement with employees is given in the
Our People section which starts on page 29.

The Committee has ensured that the Directors’ Rernuneration
Policy and practices are consistent with the six factors set out
in Provision 40 of the Code:

Clarity - Our Directors’ Remuneration Policy is well understood by
our senior management team and has been clearly articulated to
our shareholders and representative bodies [bath on an ongoing
basis and during consultation when changes are being made].

Simplicity - The Committee is mindful of the need to avoid overly
complex rernuneration structures which can be misunderstood
and deliver unintended outcomes. Therefore, a key objective of
the Committee is to ensure that our Directors’ Remuneration Policy
and practices are straightforward to communicate and operate.
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& Reviewed and agreed an increase to the Chairman’s fees
(although note subsequent decision in relation to COVID-19
detailed above].

u Reviewed the impact of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance
Code and various changes to the regulatory environment
and market practice.

m Approved revised shareholding guidelines applying to
the Executive Directors and Group Executive Team.

n Reviewed and recommended the updated Committee
Terms of Reference to the Board for approval.

» Agreed the terms of remuneration on appointment of the
General Counsel and Company Secretary.

®» Received an update on the AGM season voting outcomes
and market developments.

m Considered the Investment Association's letter to
Remuneration Cornrnittee chairs and the Investment
Association's Principles of Rerauneration.

m Approved the changes to the malus and clawback provisions
in the Deferred Bonus and PSP rules.

m Undertook a review of the Directors' Remuneration Policy
and shareholder consultation.

m Considered remuneration related measures to mitigate
the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the business
as noted above.

Risk - Our Directors’ Remuneration Policy has been designed to
ensure that inappropriate risk-taking is discouraged and will not

be rewarded via (i) the balanced use of both annual incentives

and long-term incentives which employ a blend of financial,
non-financial and shareholder return targets, (ii) the significant
role played by shares in our incentive plans including the deferral
under the annual bonus share and the holding period under the
PSP [together with in employment and post cessation shareholding
guidelines) and (iii) malus/clawback provisions within all our
incentive plans.

Predictability - Our incentive plans are subject to individual caps,
with our share plans also subject to market standard dilution limits.
Examples of the range of outcemes under the Policy are shown
within the scenario charts. The use of shares within our incentive
plans means that actual pay outcomes are highly aligned to the
experience of our shareholders.

Proportionality - There is a clear link between individual awards,
delivery of strategy and our long-term performance. In addition,
the significant role played by incentive-based pay, together with
the structure of the Executive Directors’ service contracts, ensures
that poor performance is not rewarded.

Alignment to culture - Our executive pay policies are fully aligned
to the Company’s culture through the use of metrics in both the
annual bonus plan and PSP that measure how we perform against
key targets and objectives within the Group Balanced Business Plan.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Pay and Performance

Biffa has had a strong year demonstrated by the promotion to the
FTSE 250 towards the end of the year. We have delivered a strong
set of financial resulis, which include increasing net reavenues by
7% and maintaining Underlying Operating Profit Margin at 7.8%. The
Group delivered good organic growth and made a series of earnings
enhancing acquisitions. Strong cash management and tight capital
controls resulted in year-end Net Debt of £425.5m, which was 2.4
ety Undeslying EBITDA

As aresult, in respest of the 2019/20 annual honus for the Executive
Directors, the actual Operating Profit was between the targetand
maximurm and the Free Cash Flow result exceeded the maximum
target. In addition, the majority of the strategic/personal objectives
were either partially met or were met in full. As such, bonus awards of
98.64% of salary for Michael Topham and 83.46% of salary for Richard
Pike were awarded. These awards would normally have been paid in
cash where the 200% of salary share ownership guidelines were met,
or a combination of shares and cash where they were not. However,
as part of the COVID-19 measures mentioned above, all bonus
entitlements sarmed by the Executive Directors will be gatisfied in
sharas through the Group's employee share plans. Full details of the
bonus targets and performance against the targets are set outinthe
Annual Report on Remuneration.

The July 2017 PSP award is subject to underlying EPS performance
10 27 March 2020 and T5R performance. The estimated overall
payout for the award is 100% of maximum.

The Committee considers that the Remuneration Policy operated
as intended during 2019/20 and that rermuneration outcomes are
cansistent with the Group performance. The Camumittee considered
the Board's recommendation that no final dividend is to be paid for
2019/20 and the implemented measures outlined above regarding
the remuneration for 2020/21 that address the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic and determined that no discretion nesded to
be applied for the above remuneration outcomes although as noted
above the Committee has determined that bonus entitlements for
2019/20 should be satisfied in shares.

Also as noted above, the Group’s annual bonus scheme in respect
of 2020/21 has been suspended and the Committee will consider
the performance delivered for our shareholders when determining
the gutcome for 2020/21 if the scheme is reintroduced.
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Committee Evaluation

The Committee's performance during the year was assessed
at the same time as the Board evaluation in March 2020.
Further details on the wider Board and Committee evaluation
process can be found on page 53.

FY20 Conmmittee Evaluation

All Directnrs, regular attendens and the Company Secretary
responded to an online self-evaluation questionnaire, covering
all aspects of Committee performance including: the role of the
Committes and its Terms of Reference; meetings and papers;
communication with key contacts and dialogue with key
institutional investors and representatives on rermuneration
issues. The participants were asked to score 20 statements

on a scale of 1 to 5 and provide written comuments, including
areas for improvement.

Initial feedback from the evaluation was presented to the
Committee and discussed at its meeting in April 2020.
The overall assessment is that the Committee is working
well, there is a good mix of skills and experience and ali
members contribute to the high quality of debate. It was
agreed that the key actions would be defined by the Chair
and those actions would form part of the Committee's
agenda for the coming vear.

Update on FY19 Committee Evaluation Outcomes
As reported last year, the FY19 Committee performance
evaluation was internally facilitated by the Chairman

and Cornpany Secretary. The review identified potential
opportunities for the Committee including, further
improvement in relation to the content and delivery

of Committee papers and personal development needs

of Committes members.

The Committes receive regular updates from FIT during
the year and agreed nothing further was required. The

recent Committee evaluation noted the improvement in
the content of papers and delivery of the meeting packs.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020



Remuneration for 2020/21

As explained above, at the 2020 AGM we will be submitting our
Directors’ Remuneration Policy for renewal by our shareholders.
The policy is materially unchanged from our first policy as a
newly listed cornpany which was approved at our 2017 AGM,
with the changes proposed being made to align the Policy with
the new Code and regulatory reporting requirements.

No change with increases generally
in line with those awarded to other
salaried employees.

Base salaries

Pension contributions for new Executive
Director appointrments will be aligned

with the pension benefits available to

the majority of the workforce. Pension
provision for current Executive Directors
(20% of salary for the CEO and 15% of salary
for the CFO) will initially remain unchanged
although will align with workforce rates by
2023 (see below]).

Pensions

Maximum bonus unchanged at 130% of

base salary. Annual bonus potential for

the CEO and CFO0 will continue to be set at
130% and 110% of salary. Compulsory bonus
deferral will be introduced for new Executive
Director appointments, whereby one-third

of any bonus will be deferred into shares for
three years.

Annual bonus

Maximum unchanged at 150% of base

salary. The CEQ and CFO will continue to
receive a PSP award of up to 150% and 125%
of salary respectively.

A two-year holding perind also now applies
to all PSP awards (and was applied to awards
granted to Executive Directors in 2019).

Long-term
incentives

Post-employment shareholding guidelines
will be introduced going forward, requiring
Executive Directors to retain their relevant
shareholding at the date of leaving for two
years post cessation.

Shareholding
guidelines
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As part of its review of the Policy, the Committee spent significant
time considering the most appropriate approach for pension
provision, noting the Code requirement for pension provision to
be alignad with that available to the workforce. Any new Executive
Director appointments will have a pension level that is aligned
with the pension benefits available to the wider workforce. The
Committee determined that the current Executive Directors’
provision will initially remain unchanged, but the Comrmittes wiil
be aligning the pension contribution for all Executive Birectors
to those available across the workforce by 1 January 2023.

The Comrmnittee has also been considering the most appropriate
performance targets to be attached to the 2020 PSP awards.

The current intention is to continue to use a mix of EPS and TSR
measures. Due to the current high level of uncertainty surrounding
setting suitably stretching EPS targets, the EPS targets are yettobe
finglised and will be confirmed by the Committee in due course and
in accordance with recent guidance from the Investment Association,
no later than six months following grant. If it is determinead that the
Cornmittee is unable to set suitably robust EPS targets within this
timeframe the weighting on the TSR element will be increased to 100%,
Full details of the targets will be set cut in an RNS announcerment
issued immediately after the PSP award is granted or subsequently

if they are determined later.

As confirmed in the new Policy, the Committee has the ability to
adjust the formulaic outcomes from performance conditions where
appropriate and the Committee will ensure that outcomes reflect
Company and executive performance as well as the experience

of shargholders and other stakeholders. The Committee will also
use its discretion to reduce vesting outcormnes where it determines
that windfall gains have been received.

We trust that you find this Report to be informative and
transparent, and we hope to receive your support for both the
Directors' Remuneration Policy and the Directors’ Annual Report
on Remuneration at our forthcoming AGM.

Michael Averill
Chair, Remuneration Cornunittee

4 June 2020
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

This Directors’ Remuneration Policy, which has been approved by the Board and is subject to approval of the shareholders at the 2020 AGM,
contains the material raquired to be set out in the Directors' Rernuneration Report for the purposes of Part 4 of The Large and Medium-sized
Companies and Groups [Accounts and Reports] (Amendment) Regulations 2008 as amended in 2013 {the DRR regulations].

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy will take effect for all payments made to Directors with effect from the conclusion of the forthcoming
2020 AGM.

In devising the new Directors’ Remuneration Policy, the Committee undertook an extensive review oi the existing policy and determined
that it, as approved by 99.7% of shareholders at the 2017 AGM, remains aligned with the Group’s remuneration principles.

The minor amandrments to the policy are primarily driven by emerging requirements under the Uode and regulaluly remuncration roparting,
which the Committee continues to monitor. Set out below is the Directors' Remuneration Policy table which includes a summary 0f the
proposed changes from the previous policy.

Directers’ Remuneration Policy Table

Executive Directors

Elernent and Base salary

purpose The core alement of pay, reflecting the individual's position within the Company and experience.

Policy ang Base salaries will be reviewed as appropriate, but typically not more than annually. In reviewing base salaries, the
operation Committee will consider the performance of the Cornpany and individual, any changes in responsibilities ar scope

of the role, as well as pay practices in relevant comparator companies of a broadly similar size and complexity.

Maximum It is anticipated that any salary increases will generally be in line with these awarded to salaried employees. That
said, in certain pircumstances (including, but not limited to, changes in role and responsihilities, market levels,
individual and Cornpany performance) higher increases may be made. However, no incumbent Exscutive Director's
salary will increase more than an average of 10% p.a. over the duration of this Policy.

Perforrmance nfa

measures

Changes from No material changes.

previous policy

Element and Benefits in kind

purpose To provide market-competitive benefits valued by recipients.

Policy _and The Executive Directors may receive benefits in kind including car allowance, fuel allowance, private family
operation medical insurance and such other market competitive benefits as the Committes considers appropriate.
Maxirnum Benefits may be provided up to an aggregate value of £60.000 for each Executive Dizrector (or such higher amaunt

as the Remuneration Committee considers appropriate).

Perfarmance n/a

measures

Changes from No material changes.

previous policy

Elerment and Pensian

purpose To provide retiremnent benefits.

Policy and The Executive Directors will receive a defined contribution provision (or cash supplement).

operation

Maximum The maximum employer's contribution (or cash supplement) is 20% of salary. Pension contributions for new

Exscutive Director appointmants will be aligned with the pension benefits available to the wider workforce.

Current cantributions are 20% of salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 15% of salary for the Chief Financial Dificer.
These levels will be aligned to the wider workforce from 1 January 2023.

Performance n/a

measures

Changes from Newly appointed Executive Directors will be aligned to the wider workforce.
previous policy

Incurmnbent Executive Directors remain on current levels through to end of 2022 and then aligned to rate available
to the wider workiorce.
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Element and
purpose

Annual bonus
To motivate Executive Directors and incentivise the delivery of business strategy over a one-year operating cycle.

Policy and
operation

Annual bonus plan levels and the appropriateness of measures are reviewed annually to ensure they continue
to support our strategy.

Once set, performance measures and targets will generally remain unchanged for the year, axcept to reflect
events [e.g. corporate acquisitions, other major transactions) where the Committee considers it to be necessary
inits opinion to make appropriate adjustments.

The Committee retains the flexibility to pay annual bonus outcomes in cash and/or deferred shares {which may
allow for dividend roll-up). For current Executive Directors, one-third of any bonus earned will be deferred into
shares for three years to the extent that the Executive Director does not at the bonus payment date already hold
sufficient shares to satisfy the share ownership guidelines as may apply from time to time. For new Executive
Director appointmeants, one-third of any bonus will be deferred into sharas for three years.

Clawback and malus provision apply as explained in more detail in the notes to this Policy table.

Maximum

The maximum annual bonus opportunity is 130% of base salary.

For 2020/21, the maximum opportunity will he 130% of salary for the CEO and 110% of salary for the CFO.

Performance
measures

Bonuses will be payable subject to the achievement of performance conditions which will be set by the Committee.

The targets may be financial and/or personal and strategic, with the majority based on financial targets. It is
anticipated that the financial targets will have a significant profit-based elerment. Where a sliding scale of targets is
used, attaining the threshold level of performance for any measure will not typically produce a pay-out of more than
20% of the maximum portion of overall annual bonus attributable to that measure, with a sliding scale to full pay-out
for maximum performance. Bonus payrments will also be subject to the Committee considering that the proposed
bonus amounts, calculated by reference to performance against the targets, appropriately reflect the Company's
overall performance and shareholders’ experience. If the Committee does not believe this to be the case, it may
adjust the bonus outturn accordingly.

Changes from
previous policy

For newly appainted Executive Directors, one-third of any bonus will be deferred into shares for three years.

The default good leaver treatment is amended so that rather than deferred bonus share awards vesting at cessation,
they will continue to vest at the normal vesting date.

Elerment and
purpose

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
To motivate Executive Directors and incentivise the delivery of sustained performance over the long term, and
to promote alignment with shareholders’ interests.

Policy and
operation

Awards under the PSP may be granted as nil/nominal cost options or conditional awards which vest to the extent
performance conditions are satisfied over a period normally of at least three years.

Awards will vest at the end of the specified vesting pericd at the discretion of the Committee and for awards granted
after 10 July 2019, Executive Directors will be required to retain shares vesting under the PSP [net of tax) until the
fifth anniversary of grant.

The PSP rules allow that the nurnber of shares subject to vested PSP awards may be increased to reflect the value
of dividends that would have been paid in respect of any record dates falling betwean the grant of awards and the
expiry of any vesting period/holding period.

Clawback and malus provisions apply as explained in more detail in the notes to this Policy table.

Maxiraum

The market value of shares to be awarded to Executive Directors in respect of any year will normally be up to
150% and 125% of base salary for the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer respactively, with awards
of a maximum of 250% allowable in exceptional circumstances.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Executive Directors Performance Share Plan (PSP) continued

Performance
measures

Changes from
previous policy

The Committee may impose such conditions as it considers appropriate for each grant which must be satistied before
any award will vest. This currently includes EPS and TSR that are normally applied with equal weighting.

All awards made to Executive Directors will be subject to performance conditions which measure performance over
a period narrmally no less than three years.

No more than 25% of awards vest for attaining the threshold level of performance. The Committee also has a standard
power to apply its judgement to adjust the formulaic outcome of all PSF pertormance measures L lake avcouint of
any circumstances (including the performance of the Company, any individual or business] should it consider that
to be appropriate.

A two-year holding period was applied to PSP awards made to Executive Directors in 2019. This is now included in the
formal Policy for completeness.

Dlarified the ability of the Committee to adjust the formulaic outcomes from performance conditions where appropriate.

Element and Share ownership guidelines

porpose Ta promote stewardship and to further align the interests of Exacutive Directors with those of shareholders.

Policy and The share ownership guidelines encourage Executive Directors to build or maintain (as appropriate] a shareholding

operation in the Company.
1t any Executive Director does not meet the guidelines, they will be expected tg retain up to 50% of the net of tax
nurnber of shares vesting under any of the Company's discretionary share incentive arrangements (including any
deferred bonus shares) until the guideline is met after which they are expected to retain these levels as a minimum.
These restrictions do not apply to shares acquired through purchase.
From the 2020 AGM, Executive Directors will be required to maintain a shareholding in the Company for a two-
vear period after stepping down from that position, being 200% of salary ar the Executive Directors’ actual relevant
shareholding at leaving this position if lower.
The Executive Directors' actual relevant shareholding will include shares vesting under any of the Company's
discretionary share incentive arrangements (including any deferred bonus shares) from awards granted after the
date the Policy was adopted but excludes shares acquired through purchase and the release of shares under share
incentive plans where the grant occurred prior to the adoption of the Policy.

Maximum Noless than 200% of base salary for any Executive Director.

Performance n/a

measures

Changes from Extended the application of share ownership guidelines for a 2-year period post termination of employment.

previous policy

Elernent and All-employee share plans

purpose To tacilitate and encourage share ownership by employees, thereby allowing them to share in the long-term success
of the Company and align their interests with those of shareholders.

Policy and The Executive Directors will be entitled to participate in all of the Company's employee share plans, including the

operation Share Incentive Plan and Sharesave Plan, on the same terms as other emplayess.
These all-employes share plans are established under HMRC tax-advantaged regimes and follow the usual form for
such plans.

Maximum The maximum participation levels for ail-employee share plans will b the limits for such plans set by HMRC from
time to time.

Performance Consistent with normal practice, such awards would not be subject to performance conditions.

measures

Changes from No material changes,

previous policy
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Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

Element and
purpose

Chairman and Non-Executive Director fees
To enable the Company to recruit and retain Company Chairs and Non-Executive Directors of the highest calibre,
at the appropriate cost.

Palicy and
operation

The fees paid to the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors aim to be competitive with other fully listad companies
of equivalent size and cornplexity.

The fees payable to the Non-Executive Directors are determined by the Board, with the Chairrman’s fees determined
by the Corunittee. No Director participates in decisions regarding their own feas.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors donot participate in any new cash or share incentive plans since Admission.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are entitled to benefits relating to travel and office support and such
other benefits as may be considered appropriate.

The Chairman is paid a single fee for the role, although he will be entitled to an additional fee if he is required to
perform any specific and additional services.

Non-Executive Directors receive a base fee for the role. Additional fees are paid for acting as Senior Independent
Director, Chairs of the Audit, Rermuneration ar ather Board Committee and to the designated Non-Executive Director
for workforce engagement to reflect the additional time commitment. They will be entitled to an additional fee if they
are required to perform any specific and additional services.

Maximum

Fees are paid monthly in cash.

The aggregate fees and any benefits of the Chairrman and Non-Executive Directors will not exceed the limit from time

totime prescribed within the Company’s Articles of Association for such fees (currently £5,000,000 p.a. in aggregate).

Any increases in fee levels made will be appropriately disclosed.

Performance
measures

Changes from
previous policy

n/a

No material changes.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Notes to the policy table

1. Stating maxima for each element of the Remuneration Policy
The DRR Regulations and related investor guidance encourages
companies to disclose a cap within which each element of the
Directors’ Remurneration Policy will operate. Where maximum
armourits for elerments of rermuneration have been set within the
Policy, these will operate simply as caps and are not indicative

of any aspiration.

2. Travel and hospitality

While the Committee does not consider it to form part of benefits
in the normal usage of that term, it has been advised that corporate
hospitality, whether paid for by the Company or another, and
business travel for Directors (and in exceptional circumstances
their families) and any related tax liabilities may technically
come within the applicable riles, and so the Cornmittee exprassly
reserves the right for the Committee 1o anthorise such activities.

3. Past obligations

In addition to the above slements of remuneration, any
comrnitment made prior to, but due to be fulfilled after, the
approval and implementation of this Rerauneration Policy
or appeintment as a Director will be honpured [such as any
commitrments made in relation to the EVP Return Letters).

4. Malus/clawback

The Committee may apply malus [being the ability to withhold or
reduce a payment/vesting) to an award under the annual bonus
plan or PSP where there are circurmstances which would justify such
action, such as: those relating to materially financially inaccurats or
misleading results, risk management failure leads to financial loss,
errors in calculating a payment/vesting, a participant's behaviour
results in material reputational damage, or the Company becormes
insolvent.

The Committee may apply clawback (the ability to reclaim some or all
of a payment/vesting] to an award under the annual bonus plan or PSP
where there are circumstances which would justify such action, such
as: evidance of misconduct or material error, material misstatement
in the audited accounts, errors in calculating a payment/vesting, a
participant's behaviour results in material reputational damage,

ot the Corapany becomes insolvent.

5. Performance conditions

The performance-related elements of remuneration take into
account the Group's risk policies and systers, and are designed

to align the senior executives’ intarests with those of shareholders.
The Cormmittee reviews the metrics used and targets set for senior
managerment (not just the Executive Directors and Group Executive
Tearm) every year, in order to ensure that they are aligned with the
Broup’s strategy and to ensure an appropriate level of consistency.

6. Committee discretions

The Corrmmittee will operate the annual bonus plan and PSP according
to their respective rules and the Policy table. The Camrittee retains
discretion, consistent with market practice, in a number of respects,
inrelation to the operation and administration of these plans. This
discretion includes, but is not limited to, the following:

® the selection or participants;

® thetirning of grant of awards;

= tha size of an award/bonus epportunity subject tothe maximum
limits set out in the Policy table;

& the determination of performance against targets and resultant
vesting/pay-outs;
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» when dealing with a change of control or restructuring
of the Cornpany;

» determination of the treatment of leavers based on the rules
of the relevant plan and the appropriate treattuent chosen
(subject to the policy on termination as set out below);

s adjustments required in certain circumstances
(e.g. rights issue and special dividends); and

= the annual review of performance measures,
weightings and targets from year to year.

In addition, while performance and targets used in the annual
bonus plan and PSP will generally remain unaltered, if events
ocecur which the Committee determines have resulted in the
original conditions ceasing to operate as intended, an amended
or different target can be set, provided that it is not materially mare
or less difficult to satisfy, having regard to the event in question.

Any use of the ahove discretion would, where relevant, be explained
in the Annual Report on Directors Remurneration and may, where
appropriate and practicable, be the subject of congultation with
the Company's major shareholders.

The Committee may malke rinor amendments to the Remuneration
Policy for regulatory, exchange control, tax or administrative
purposes or to take account of a change in legislation, without
obtaining shareholder approval for that amendment.

Remuneration Policy on Recruitment

The Company's recruitrnent rernuneration policy aims to give the
Committee sufficient flexibility to secure the appointment and
promotion of high calibre executives to strengthen the management
tearn and secure the skill sets to deliver our strategic aims.

In terros of the principles for setting a paciage for a new Exacutive
Diractor, the starting paint for the Comumnittee will be to apply the
Remuneration Policy and structure a package in accordance with
that Policy (noting that pension contributions for a new Executive
Director will be aligned with the pension benefits available to the
majority of the workforce). Consistent with the DRR Regulations,
any caps contained within the Policy for fixed pay do not apply to
new recruits, although the Commmittee would not envisage exceeding
these caps in practice unless absolutely necessary.

The annual bonus plan and PSP, including the maximum award
levels, will operate as detailed in the Remureration Policy in
relation to any newly appointed Executive Director. For an internal
appointment, any variable pay slement awarded in respect of the
prior role rmay either continue on its original terms or be adjusted
to reflect the new appointment as appropriate.

For both external and internal appointments, the Cormnmittee may
agree that the Company will meet certain relocation expenses as
it considers appropriate. It is envisaged these would only be offered
for alimited period.

For external candidates, it may be necessary to make additional
awards in connection with the recruitmant to buy out awards
forfeited by the individual on leaving a previous eraployer. For the
avoidance of doubt, buy-out awards are not subject to a formal cap.
Any recruitment-related awards which are not buy-outs will be
subject to the limits for the annual bonus plan and PSP as stated in
the Remuneration Policy. Details of any recruitment-related awards
will be appropriately disclosed.
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Far any buy-outs, the Company will not pay more than is necessary
in the view of the Cornmittee and will be limited in value to what the
Committee considers to be a fair estimate of the value of the awards
foregone. The Committee will in all cases seek, in the first instance,
to deliver any such awards under the terrms of the existing annual
bonus plan and PSP. It ray, however, be necessary in some cases

to malke buy-out awards on terms that are more bespoke than the
existing annual bonus plan and PSP.

All buy-outs, whether under the annual bonus plan, PSP ar
otherwise, will take due account of the service obligations and
performance requirements for any remuneration relinquished by
the individual when leaving a previous employer. The Committes
will seek, where it is practicable to do so, to make buy-outs subject
to what are, in its opinion, comparable requirements in respect of
service and performance. However, the Committee may choose to
relax this requirement in certain cases, such as where the service
and/or performance requirements are materially completed, or
where such factors are, in the view of the Committes, reflected in
soma other way, such as a significant discount to the face value of
the awards forfeited, and where the Committee considers it to be
in the interests of shareholders.

Service Contracts

Executive Directors

Michael Topham entered into a service agreement with the Company
which was dated 26 September 2018. Richard Pike entered into

a service agreement with the Company dated 25 July 2018. The
policy is that each Executive Director's service agreement should
be of indefinite duration, subject to terrmination by the Company
or the individual on no more than 12 months’ notice. However, the
Committee reserves flexibility to alter these principles if nacessary
to secure the recruitment of an appropriate candidate and if
appropriate introduce a longer initial notice period of up to two
years (reducing over tirne to no more than 12 months).

The service agreements of all Executive Directors, which are
available for inspection at the Company's registered office,
comply with this policy as follows:

m Michael Topharn's service agreement is terminable by the
Company on not less than 12 months’ written notice or by Michael
on not less than 12 months' written notice. The contract provides
for immediate termination upon payment in lieu of notice and
contains a 12-month garden leave clause.

m Richard Pike’s service agreement is terminable by the Company
on not less than 6 months’ written notice or by Richard on not
less than B months” written notice. The contract provides for
immediate termination upon payment in liew of notice and
contains a B-month garden leave clause.

In each case, any payvment in lieu of notice will be calculated

by reference to base salary and contractual benefits only and
will not include any entitlement to bonus or holiday pay that
wouid have accrued during the notice period. The payments in
lieu will be paid in monthly instalments. Each Exscutive Director
is also obliged to seek alternative employment/incormne during
this period and the instalment payments will be reduced by the
amount of such income.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors’ appointments are
subject to the terms of letters of appointment agreed between
themselves and the Company. They are not entitled to receive
any cormpensation on termination of their appointment (other
than payment in respect of a notice period where notice is served)
and are not entitled to participate in the Company's share, bonus
or pension schemes, and are entitled to be reimbursed all
rezsonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the proper
performance of their duties.

Their appointment may be terminated at any time upon three

months’ written notice. The appointment may also be terminatad
pursuant to the Articles or as otherwise required by law. They are
subject to annual re-election by the Company in general meeting.

Driginal date of

Non-Executive Director Appointrment Letter of Engagement

Ken Lever 12 August 2016 12 March 2018
Michael Averill 25 February 2013 17 Gctober 2016
David Martin 12 August 2016 17 October 2016
Carol Chesney 12 July 2018 12 June 2018
Gab Barbaro 1 January 2019 1January 2019

Remuneration Policy on Termination

The Cormumittee will consider treatments on a termination having
regard to all of the relevant facts and circurnstances available at that
timme. This policy applies both to any negotiations linked to notice
periods on a termination and any treatments that the Committee
may choose to apply under the discretions available to it under the
terms of the annual bonus plan and PSP. The potential treatments
on termination under these plans are as follows:

Annual Bonus Plan

If an Executive Director resigns or is dismissed for cause before the
bonus payment date, the right to receive any bonus normally lapses
(unless the Committee deterrmines otherwise). If an Executive
Director ceases ernployment before the bonus date because of death,
ill health, injury or disability, retirement, redundancy or any other
reason determined by the Committee, such bonus will be payable
as the Comumittee in its absolute discretion determines taking into
account the circumstances for leaving, time in employment and
performance. Similar treatment will apply in the event of a change
in control of the Company.

If an Executive Director ceases employment unvested deferred
bonus awards will normally lapse. However, if employment

ends because of death, ill health, injury or disability, retirernent,
redundancy, the sale or transfer of the employing company or
business {other than on a change of control), or for any other reason
determined by the Committee, the award will vestin full, unless the
Comurnittee decides that it should be subject to a pro-rata reduction
in the number of shares vesting to take account of the proportion

of the vesting period during which the participant will notbe in
employment. Release will not typically be accelerated, except

in the case of death in service. The Committee has the ability
torelease a good leaver's awards early in suitable cases.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Performance Share Plan
If, during the performance or vesting period, a participant:

m resigns or is dismissed for cause, awards will normally
lapse in full;

m cagases tabe employved dueg to il health, injury or disability
{established to the Company’s satisfaction], retirernent with the
agreement of the participant's employer, redundancy, the sale or
transfer of the emnploying company or business (other than on
change of control), or for other reasons specifically approved by
the Commitiee, the award will continue and, uniess the Comrnittee
determines ctherwise, will vest on the original vesting date
subject to the satisfaction of the performance conditions over
the performance period and a pro-rata reduction in the number
of shares vesting to take account of the proportion of the vesting
peried during which the participant was not in erployment.
Alternatively, on the sale or transter of the employing cornpany
or business, participants may be required to exchange their
awards for equivalent awards in the acquiring company; and

» dies, unvested awards will vest at the date of death subject
to performance testing and time pro-rating, unless the
Remuneration Cormmittae determines otherwise.

Ii there is a takeover, scherne of arrangement, demerger or other
corporate rearganisation of the Company, participants may be
required, or may be allowed, to exchange their awards for equivalent
awards in the acquiring corapany. [f awards are not exchanged, they
will normally vest immediately, the performance conditions will
apply and the number of shares which vest will be time pro-rated
to take account of the proportion of the vesting period which has
elapsed prior to the relevant event unless the Comrnittee, acting
fairly and reasonably, decides that it is appropriate not to apply
pro-rating (or apply it less strictly]. An award granted in the form
of an option will normally be exercisable for six months after

the date of vesting and will lapse at the end of that period.

The number of shares subject to an award may be adjusted in such
manner as the Cornmittee considers reasonable if there is rights
issue, corporate restructuring events, dernerger, special dividends
or other variation of capital.

The all-eraployee Shate Incentive Plan and Sharesave Plan provide
treatrnents for leavers in line with HMRG rules for such plans.

The Company has the power to enter into settlement agreements with
Directors and 1o pay compensation to settle potential legal clairns.
In addition, and consistent with market practice, in the event of the
termination of employrent of an Executive Director, the Cormpany
may make a contribution towards that individual's Jegal fees and
fees for putplacement services as part of a negotiated settlement.
Any such fees will be disclosed as part of the detail of termination
arrangements. For the avoidance of doubt, the policy does not include
an explicit cap on the cost of termination payments.

Extermal Appointments

The Company’s policy is to permit an Executive Director to accept
one nor-executive appointment putside the Company when this
does not conflict with the individual's duties to the Company.
When an Executive Director takes such a role they may be entitled
to retain any fees which they eayn from that appointment.

Statement of Consideration of Employment Conditions
elsewhere in the Company

Pay and employment conditions generally in the Company will be
taken into account whan setting Executive Directors’ remuneration.
The Committes will receive regular updates on overall pay and
conditions in the Company, including (but not limited to] changes
in base pay, any employee bonuses in operation, gender pay gap
and pay ratios. There is also oversight of the all-ermplovee share
plans which Executive Directors and ail other Cornpany employees
can participate in on the same terms and conditions. Reflecting
standard practice, the Company does not currently consult with
employees in drawing up the Directors’ Remuneration Report or
when determining the underlying Policy, although it will continue
to monitor developments In this area.

Differences bstween the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
and the Policy on Remuneration for Other Employees
The Remuneraticn Policy for other employees is based on broadly
consistent principles as described above. Annual salary reviews
across the Company take into account Company performance,
lacal pay and market canditions and salary levels far gimilar

roles in comparable companies.

Other members of senior management participate in similar
annual bonus arrangements to the Executive Directors, although
award sizes vary by organisational level. PSP awards may also

be granted to a broader population than the Executive Directors.
The Company operates discretionary bonus schemes for eligible
groups of employees under which a bonus is payable subject to the
achievement of appropriate targets. All eligible employess may
participate in the Company's Share Incentjve Plan and Sharesave
Plan on identical terms.

Statement of Cansideration of Shareholdeys’ Views

The Comunittee considers shareholder views received during the
year and at each Annual General Megting, as well as guidance from
shareholder representative bodies more broadly, when determining
the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and its implementation.

The Committee seeks to build an active and productive dialogue
with investors on developmaents on the remuneration aspects

of corporate governance generally and it will consult with rnajor
shareholders in advance of any material change to the structure
and/or operation of the Policy and will seek formal shargholder
approval for any such change if required.
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Illustrations of the application of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The charts helow show how the Dirsctors’ Remuneration Policy will be applied for Executive Directors for the 2020/21 financial year using
the following assumptions:

Minimum

m Consists of base salary, benefits and pension.

m Base salary is the salary to be paid in the 2020/21 financial year.

m Benefits are based on estimated values for the 2020/21 finanecial year.

m Pension is measured as the defined contribution or cash allowance in lieu of Company contributions of 20%
of salary for the Chief Executive Qfficer and 15% for the Chief Financial Officer.

Base salary Benefits Pension Total fixed

Michael Topharm £495,000 £11,000 £99,000 £605,000
Richard Pike £325,000 £11,000 £48,000 £385,000

Target

Based on what the Executive Director would receive if performance was on-target {excluding share price
appreciation and dividends):

®» Annual bonus: consists of the on-target bonus (60% of maximum opportunity used for illustrative purposes).
» Long term incentive plan [LTIP): consists of the threshold level of vesting (26% vesting) under the PSP.

Maximum

Based on the maximum remuneration receivable (excluding share price appreciation and dividends):

m Annual bonus: consists of maximum bonus of 130% of base salary for the Chief Exscutive Officer and 110%
of base salary for the Chief Financial Officer.

w LTIP: consists of the face value of awards [150% of base salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 126% of base
galary for the Chief Financial Officer) under the PSP

Maximum
with 50% share
price growth

m As the maximum scenario plus the value resulting from share price growth of 50% from the PSP award.

£'000 W Fixed pay (salary, benefits, pension) [ AnnuzlBonus [l LTIP [ Share price growth

£2,500 £2362
£2,250
28 16%
£2,000
£1,750
£1,
200 E1,352
£1,250
£1,000
£760
£500 £401
£250
£0
Minimum OnTarget Maximum Maximum Minimum OnTarget Maximum Maximum
with share with share
price growth price growth
Michael Topham Richard Pike
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ Annual Report on Remuneration

2019/20 Remuneration
The following section provides details of how the Directors were paid during the financial year to 27 March 2020,

Single Total Figure Table {audited)
The remuneration for the Executive and Non-~Executive Directors who performed qualifying services during the year is detailed below
[with prior year comparatives).

Taxable Long-term Total
Dixectors Salary/Fees benefits’ Bonus? ingentives* Pension  Rerauneration
Executive Directors
Michael Topham?® 2020 £435,000 £9,425 £488,264 £495,733 £89,000 £1,587.422
2018 £410,000 £9,885 £412,507 £624,226 £82,000 £1,538598
Richard Pike® 2020 £325,000 £12,614 £271,258 - £48,750 £657,522
2019 £188,250 £6,288 £161,451 - £27,187 £383176
Non-Executive Directors
Michael Averill 2020 £57,000 - - - - £57,000
2019 £57,000 - - - - £57,000
Ken Lever’ 2020 £180,000 - - - - £180,000
2019 £180,000 - - - - £180,000
David Martin 2020 £67,000 - - - - £67,000
2019 £57,000 - - - - £57000
Carol Chesney 2020 £57,000 - - - - £57,000
2019 £41069 - - - - £41,069
Gab Barharo® 2020 £50,000 - - - - £50,000
2019 £12,500G - - - - £12,50G
Former Exacutive Director
lan Walkelin? 2020 - - - - - -
2019 £255,000 £7304 £273,219 £724,463 £51,000 £1,310,986

1 Taxahle benefits received comprised car allowance, fuel card and private family medical insurance and the intringic value of Sharesave options granted during
tha year.

The bonus is to be in paid in shares.

The estimated outtumn for the 2017 PSP which vests in 2020 is 100% and the vesting share price has been estirnated at 270.9 perice, based on the three-month
average share price ending 27 March 2020. For further information see page 64. £89,485 of the above figure for Michael Topham be attributed 10 a share price
appreciation of 48.9 pence per share, baged on an actual award price of 222 pence.

In June 2018, the Eormmittes confirmed that the 20186 PSP awards would vest as to 73%. The long-term incentive figures in the 2019 comparatives have therefore
been updated to reflect this and the actual share price on vesting [223 pence) rather than the three-month average used in the 2019 Annual Report (185.2 pence].
Michael Topharm was appointed GEG an 289 September 2018; his 2019 recorded salary therefore includes only that as CEQ for part of the year,

Richard Pike was appointed CFO on 28 September 2018; his 2019 recorded salary therefore relates to part year tenure.

Ken Lever's Fees restated for 2019 (£187,096) which previously included arrears for Fees relating to 2017/18

Bab Barbaro joined the Board with effect from 1 January 2019,

Ian Wakelin stepped down from the Board and left the Comparty on 28 Septernber 2018

- on

fes oo B i oy

The aggregate emolumnents (being salary/fees, bonuses, benefits and pension allowancas) of all Directors for year ended 27 March 2020
was £2,180,210 (2019: £2,238,736). Aggregate value of vested long-term incentives of all Directors for year ended 27 March 2020 was £495,733
(2019: £1,348,684].

2019/20 Annual Bonus (audited)

The Executive Directors’ annual bonus targets were set at the beginning of the financial year. As a result of strong underlying financial
performance, the Group exceeded the threshold underlying profit before tax and underlying free cash flow targets set by the Board for
the purposes of awarding the 2018/20 annual bonuses of the Executive Directors.

More particularly, the profit before tax and free cash flow bonus targets were as follows:

Actual Pay-out

Maxiraum. (out of

Threshold Target Maximnum Actual  Potential Pay- maximum

£m £rn £rn £€m out stated)

Underlying Profit Before Tax -1 6970 74.93 77 50.0% 35.0%
Underxlying Free Cash Flow 36.18 40.20 4422 536 20.0% 20.0%
Tatal - 70.0% 55.0%

1 No payment was payable for below target performance.
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In regpect of the personal performance targets set for each Executive Director, these were set against a range of strategic targets at the start
of the year. The targets set were aligned to Biffa's corporate ohjectives having due regard to the five-year strategy.

Details of the measures, to the extent they are not comnmercially sensitive are shown below.

Personal Performance Targets - CEQ

Maxirmum Actual
Measure Target Performance Potential Payout
Safety and Sustainability Improve safety m Safety engagement score reduced. Target 5.0% 3.3%
Demonstrate further progress engagement score by 2% not met
and improvement in safety and Reduce Group LTI ® Group LTI rate reduced by more than 40%
environmental performance by 40% (to 0.26%) (to 0.23%)
Reduce no of RTA's » Reduction in many RTA categories but
increase overall
3% improvement in m Target not achieved due to odourissues
permit compliance at a number of landfill sites
score vs number of
permits ratio.
Launch Sustainability s Coropleted and launched March 2020
Report.
Roll out safety m Safer Together Senior Leader
leadership training training completed
to all senior leaders
Employee Engagement Survey improvement m Score 58% (no improvement) 5.0% 0.0%
Deliver an improvement in the 2% points at Group level
group Employee engagement score (to BO%)
as demonstrated by the Annual
Ermployee Engagement Survay
Strategy Execution Progress as per m Partial achievement on M&A 5.0% 2.5%
Make demonstrable progress approved strategy/five = PET plant built
in delivery of the strategy year plan ® Newhurst financial close complete
Strategy development and financing Strategy approved m Capital Markets day delivered strategy 5.0% 5.0%
Develop and gain approval for the and communicated
Group's growth strategy and ensure to markets including
appropriate funding arrangements deliverable plan for
are in place to underpin its delivery financing
Communications Board assessment-to  m Updated investor slide deck and 5.0% 5.0%
Develop and implement a proactive include policy thought sustainability strategy launch
comprehensive cormmunications strategy  leadership and public
interest items (e.g.
safety, sustainability)
as well as IR-related
activities
Talent management and succession Board assessment ® Annual talent review completed with an 5.0% 5.0%
Implerment a formal talent management additional focus on manager hi-potentials.
programme; further develop/improve Newly developed Biffa Advanced
the broader leadership teamn/identify Leadership Prograrmnme commenced.
appropriate successors for Group Executive
Tearn positions where relevant
30.0% 20.8%
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Directors' Remuneration Report continued

Personal Performance Targets - CFO

Actual
Measwre Target Performance Maximum Payout
Safety and Sustainability Irnprove safety w Safety engagement score reduced. Target 5.0% 3.3%
Dermonstrate further progress engagerment score by 2% not met
and improvement in safety and Reduce Group LTI by n Group LTI rate reduced by more than 40%
environmental performance 40% [tp 0.26%) [to 0.23%)
Reduce no of RTA'S m Reduction in many RTA categories but
wrease overall
3% irnprovement in w Target not achieved due to odour issues
permit compliance at a number of landfill sites
score vs number of
permits ratio.
Launch Sustainability  a Completed and launched March 2020
Report.
Roll out safety m Safer Together Senior Leader
leadership training training completad
to all senior leaders
Employee Engagement Survey improvernent m Engagement score remained static. 5.0% 0.0%
Deliver an improvement in the group 2% points at Group level Target was not met
Employee engagement score as [to BO%)
demonstrated by the Annual
Employee Engagement Survey
Strategy Execution Progress as per & Partial achievement on M&A 5.0% 2,5%
Make demonstrable progress approved strategy/ m PET plant built
in delivery of the strategy five year plan s Newhurst financial close complete
Efficiency and Process Improvement Near term Fusion sub w All delivered/progressing to plan 5.0% 5.0%
Reset Project Fusion projects delivered to
plan and longer term
delivery plan approved
andinplace
Financing To include: financing m Qutperformed budgeted working capital, 5.0% 5.0%
Deliver key initiatives to improve for strategy {e.g. equity improved terms of bonds, overdraft
the availability and cost of the raisg), put-performance secured, commenced work for US
Group's financing of budgeted working private placement bond
capital position,
improved terms of
bonds, securing access
to other poals of finance
where appropriate
Investor Relations To include: improved m CMD delivered, sustainability 5.0% 5.0%
Develop and deliver a more proactive direct cornrmunications strategy launched
investor relations programime with investors and
prospects (including
website], Capital
Markets event, launch
of ESG/sustainability
strategy
30.0% 20.8%
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On the basis of the above performance, the Committes determined that payment of 20.8% for the CEQ and 20.8% for the CFO out of the
maxirnum of 30% for this part of the bonus was propartionate and reasonable in the eircumstances. This performance resulted in the
following performance assessment for the year:

Weightings Outcomes
Michael
CEG/CFO Topham Richard Pile
Financial performance {% of potential) 70% 55.0% 55.0%
Strategic performance (% of potential) 30% 20.8% 20.8%
Total performance outcome (% of potential) 100% 75.8% 75.8%
Total performance outcome (% of salary) 98.68% 83.8%

Vesting of Long-Term Incentive Awards (audited)

The PSP award granted on 3 July 2017 is partly subject to EPS performance to the year ended 27 March 2020 and partly based on TSR
perfarmance to the date of the preliminary announcement of results for the year. Tha performance conditions attached to this award
and performance against these conditions is as follows:

{1) Underlying EPS targets as to 50% of the award, and [ii) relative TSR targets as to the rermaining 50% of the award. The details of these
targets are shown in the tables below:

Undeslying EPS for 2019/20 financial year [50% of award) Portion of award vesting
Below 19.5p 0%
19.5p 25%
18.5pto22.5p Pro-rata on straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
Above 22.5p 100%
Actual performance 23.6p
Vesting level 100%

Biffa's TSR? ranking vs the FTSE 250 (excluding financial

services companies and investment trusts) (50% of award] Partion of award vesting
Below median 0%
Median 25%
Between median and upper quartila Pro-rata on straight-line basis between 256% and 100%
Upper quartile 100%
Actual performance To be confirmed at end of performance perind
Vesting level (estimated) 100%

2 TSR {calculated based on Biffa pie share price movernents, plus dividends reinvested into Biffa ple shares on the relevant ex-dividend dates, over the performance
period] is measured over the period from the date of grant to the date of the preliminary announcement of results for the 2019/20 financial year.

Based on the estimated vesting percentage above, details of the shares under award and their estimated value (based on the three-month
average share price at 27 March 2020 of 270.9 pence per share) are as follows:

Maximum Number Nuraber Estimated Face value Impact of

Nurmber of shares of shares value at of awards share price

Executive of shares to vest tolapse vasting £ vesting® on vesting?®
Michael Topham 182,995 182,995 0 £495,733 £4086,249 £89,485

1 Based on the three-month average share price to 27 March 2020.
2 Based on the number of shares vesting multiplied by the share price at the date of grant (222 pence}.
3 Based on the estimated value at vesting, less the face value of awards vesting.

The awards alsereceive the value of dividend equivalents.
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Directors’ Report on Remuneration continued

EVP Awards [audited)

As described in last year's Annual Directors’ Report on Remuneration, prior to the Company's admission to the London Stock Exchange
certain Directors were granted EVP Return Letters by WasteHoldco I Limited (then the parent Gompany of the Biffa Group of companies]
in connection with a dispute with BMRC regarding the pavment of landfill tax for certain of its operations in the UK [the EVP Dispute).
These EVP Return Letters were granted in recompense for the diminution in value of their interests in the Group resulting from the EVP
Dispute which was linked to incentive arrangements in existence prior to Admission, full details of which appear below in Note 34, on
page 150 of the Financial Statements. As part of the proceedings, the Company was required to pay HMRC approximately £63m shortly
following Admission (the EVF Paid Amount].

I the EVP Dispute is irrevocably settled in the Company’s favour and the EVP Paid Amount is wwonditionally returned to the Campany
{less any amounts which the Group is required to pay in respect of costs incurred by HMRC or penaities or other associated costs of the
EVP Dispute together with the EVP Intarest payable [see below]) (the EVP Return), the EVP Return Letiers shall be settled and these
Directors shall be entitled to a cash payment (less tax and national insurance contributions) under the EVP Return Letters as follows:

% of net EVP

Returnto

which they

Director are entitled
Michael Topham 2128
Michael Averill 0194

In the event the EVP Dispute is irrevocably settled in favour of HMRG, then subject to the Group receiving a net reduction in the tax liability

of the Group (after taking into account any increase in the tax liability arising in respect of any profit and loss account credits in WasteHoldco
1 Limited in respect of the EVP preference shares granted to certain shareholders prior to Admission {the Tax Deduction)) the EVP Return
Letters shail be cancelled and the Directors shall be entitled to a cash payment equal to a percentage of the Tax Deduction subject ta a
maximum payment and a payrent inraspect of EVP Interest [see below) (less tax and social security contributions) as detailed below:

Maximum Tax

% of Tax Deduction Cash EVP Interest Total Max
Director Deduction Payment Payable Payment
Michael Topharn 2.3668 £236,559 £186,226 £421,785
Michael Averill 0215 £21,505 £16,839 £38,344

The Company was advised by HMRC in November 2017 that the remaining penalty interest of £8.7m, payable on the EVP Paid Amount,
was ng langar due (EVP Interest). Once the EVP Dispute has been irrevaocably settled, the EVP preference shareholders shall be entitled
to receive a proportion of the EVP Interest in line with their shareholding and, the holdess of the EVP Return Letters shall be entitled to
receive EVP Interest (less tax and social security contributions), as detailed above.

Biffa was successful in its appeal at the Upper Tax Tribunal hearing held in Novermber 2019. HMRC has appealed this decision to the
Court of Appeal.
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Statement of Directors’ Shareholding and Share Interests (audited)

For each Director, the total number of Directors’ interests in shares at 27 March 2020 was as follows:

Michael Richard Michael Ken David Carol Gab
Topham' Pike Averill Lever Martin Chesney Barbaro
Number of Ordinary shares held
asat 27 March 2020 805,371 367,401 71,340 52,777 25,000 6500 -
Nuraber of Grdinary shares held
as at 29 March 2019 661,004 358,046 71,340 52,777 25,000 6,500 -

1 Nuraber of shares held includes 155 shares in respect of the Biffa Share Incentive Plans SIP Awaxd for Michael Topharn.

The shareholdings above include those held by Directors and their respective connected persons. There wera no changes in the current
Directors’ interests in shares between 27 March 2020 and 4 June 2020 other than those noted above. Under the share ownership guidelines,
the Executive Directors are required tobuild and maintain a shareholding equivalent to at least 200% of salary. At the 2020 year-end, Michael
Topharn complied with this requirement. Richard Pike's shareholding increased during 2019/20 and was equivalent to 198% of salary based

on the year end share price [175.4 pence).

PSP Awards Granted in the Year (audited)
The following conditional share awards were granted under the PSP in 2019;

Number of

Basis of award Face value of shares under
Director Date of grant (% of salary] awards at grant award’ Date of vesting
Michael Topham 01 July 19 150% £742,500 359,564 04 Jul 22
Richard Pike 01 July 19 125% £406,250 196,731 04 .Jul 22

1 Based on the three-day average share price of 206.5 pence to 30 June 2019,

These awards vest in 2022 subject to performance relating to (i) underlying EPS targets as to 50% of the award, and (i) relative TSR targets as to the rernaining

50% of the award. The details of these targets aze shown in the tables below:

Underlying EPS for 2021/22 financial yeax [50% of award)

Partion of award vesting

Below 24p
24p

24pto28p
Above 28p

0%

25%

Pro-rata on straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
100%

Biffa's TSR? ranking vs the FTSE 250 (excluding financial services
cormpanies and investment trusts) [50% of award)

Portion of award vesting

Below Median
Median
Between Median and Upper Quartile

Upper quartile

0%

25%

Pro-rata on straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
100%

3 TSR (calculated based on Biffa plc share price moverents, pius dividends reinvested into Biffa plc shares on the relevant ex-dividend dates, over the performance
period] is measured over the period from the date of grant to the date of the preliminary announcement of results for the 2021/22 financial year.

Awards Granted in the Year under the Sharesave Plan (audited)

During 2019, all employees, including the Executive Directors, were eligible to participate in the Sharesave Plan. This table details the

number of options granted to Richard Pike under the Sharesave Plan:

Share priceat  Exercise price Number of
Director Date of grant grant (£) ey shares Date of vesting
Richard Pike 12Jul19 2.28 181 1,988 01Sepe2
1 Based on a 20% discount to the share price at the invitation date.
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Directors’ Report on Remuneration continued

Outstanding Share Plan Awards (audited]
Details of all outstanding share awards made to Executive Directors are set out below:

Awards Date of
Interest granted Awards Awards Interest vesting/
Award Exercise Grant at inthe lapsedin vested in at Exercise
Director type Price (£) date 208/03/19 year the year the year 27/03/20 period
Michael Topham PSPt 0 20-Oct-16 361,111 - 84,905 276,206 - -
pgp! U us-dul-tr 182,995 - 1824085 n1-.Mi-PN
P5p? 0 GP-Jul-18 131,048 - - - 131,048 Gi-Jjul-2i
PSP 0 01-0ct18 97,029 - - - 97028 01-Jul-21
PSP 0 01-Jul-19 - 369,564 - - 359,564 O01-Jul-22
SIP* 0 21-Nov-18 150 5 - - 155 SeeNoted
SAYE® 158 21 Jul17 2,278 - - - 2278 D1-8ep-20
Richard Pike PSP? 0 01-0ct-18 121,330 - - - 121,330 01-Jul-21
pgpe 0 01-Jul-19 - 196,731 - 196,731 01-Jul-22
SAYES 1.81 12-Jul19 1,988 1,988 01-Sep-22
1 Performance targets for the 2017 PSP awards are presented above.
2 Performance targets for the 2018 PSP awards are presented in last year's Directors Remuneration Report.
3 Performance targets for the 2019 PSP awards are detailed above.
4 Award of free shares under the Biffa ple SIP 2016. The awards were granted on 21 Novernber 2016 and are subject to the normal terms of an HMRC SIP. Awayds

granted in the year relate to the award of related dividend shares under the SIP.
5 Awards granted under the Biffa plc 2017 Sharesave Scheme. Awards are based on a three-year savings contract.
The aggregate gains by all Directors during 2018/20 from share plan awards was £1,348,689 (2018/19: £ nil). The market price of the

shares at the end of the financial year was 1754 pence; the highest and lowest share price during the financial year were 307 pence
and 175.4 pence respectively.

Payments to Past Directors (audited)
Other than the payments made to Ian Wakelin outlined in the Single Total Figure Table there were no payments to past Directors in the
tinancial year 2019/20 [2018/13: nil].

Payments for Loss of Office (audited)
No payments were made to any Director in respect of loss of office in the {inancial year 2019/20 {2018/19: nil).
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Review of Past Performance and CEQ Remuneration Tahle (unaudited)

The graph below shows the TSR of the Company and the FTSE 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts] over the period from Admission to
27 March 2020. This is considered an appropriate comparator for Biffa, and this aligns with the use of the FTSE 250 in the TSR performance
measure for the PSP.

Biffa TSR vs FTSE 250 since Admission

H Bifia M FTSE 250 Excl. Investment Trusts

Total shareholder return (rebased to 100)
135

130

s PN
120 / \
115 / \
110 ,/_.-/—’"’/ — \
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30 \\

85
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{Source: Thomson Reuters)

The table below details certain elements of the CEQ's remuneration since Admission.

Long-term

Singlefigure  Annual bonus incentive

oftotal pay-cutas%of vestingratesas

remuneration maximum % of maximum

2019/20 £1,687422 75.9% 100%
2018/19 £1,819,483 82.4% 72.8%
2017/18 £1,220,437 90.1% -
2016/17 £10,681,02! 94.5% -

1 Tt should be noted that £8,507,310 of the above armount relates to the bonus pald under the Managernent Incentive Plan which was in place from 2013 until the
Company's Admission and was therefore ‘one-off in nature,

Percentage Change in Remuneration of the CEO (unaudited)
The table below presents the year-on-year percentage change in remuneration received by the CEQ, compared with the change in
remuneration received by all Biffa employees:

All Biffa

CEO* employees

Salary -1.5% 4.6%
Short-term incentives -9.3% 30.8%
All taxable benefits -23.0% 10.9%

1 This percentage change reflects the change in the incumbent over the period.
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Directors’ Report on Remuneration continued

GEO to Employee Pay Ratio
The table below shows how the GEOQ's single figure remuneration (as taken from the single figure reruneration table on page 81) cornpares to
the squivalent single figure remuneration for full-time equivalent UK employees, ranked at the 26th, 50th and 75th percentile.

26th 75t

percentile Median pay percentile

Year Method pay ratic ratio pav ratic
2019/20 A 801 B1:1 49:1

The relevant regulations provide three options which may be used to calculate the pay for the employees at the 25th percentile, median
and 75th percentile. We have used Option A, following guidance that this is the preferred approach of some proxy advisors and institutional
shareholders. Option A captures all relevant pay and benefits for all employees in line with the single tigure for remuneration calculated for
Executive Directors.

The ratios shown are representative of the FTE 25th percentile, median and 76th percentile pay for UK emplovees within the Group during
2019/20, Full-year pay data for the 2019/20 financial year has been used to calculate the ratios.

The pay for part-time employees has been grossed-up to one FTE.

The Comumittee has reviewed the employee data and believes the median pay ratio to be consistent with the pay, reward and progression
palicies for the company’s UK employees over the period.

The Chief Executive Dificer's pay is based on the single figure of remuneration set out on page 81 of this report. Because a large portion
of the Chief Executive Officer's pay is variable, the pay ratio is heavily dependent on the outcomes of variable pay plans and, in the case
of long-term share-based awards, share price movements.

The total pay and benefits and the salary commponent of total pay and benefits for the employes at each of the 25th percentile, the median
and the 75th percentile are shown below:

Salary Total pay and benefits
25th 75th 25th Fhth
percentile Median pay percentile percentile Median pay percentile
Year pay ratio ratio pay ratio pay ratio ratio pay ratio
20159/20 26:1 20:1 18:1 80:1 61:1 49:1

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay (unaudited]

The table below details the change in total employee pay betwean financial years 2018/19 and 2019/20 as detailed in Note 7 to the Financial
Statements, compared with distributions to shareholdexrs by way of dividend, share buy-backs or any other significant distributions or
pavments. These figures have been calculated in line with those in the audited Financial Statements.

2019/20 2018/19

% change £'000 £'000

Total gross employee pay 3.3% £254.7m £246.5m
Distributions to shareholders 76% £18.3m £17.0m

Statement of Shareholder Voting (unaudited)
The table below shows the advisory vote on the 2018719 Directors’ Remuneration Report at the AGM held on 10 July 2019 and the hinding vote
on the Directors’ Remuneration Policy at the AGM held on 19 July 2017:

ABMresolution Votes for % Votes against  Votes withheld
Rermuneration Pelicy 192,592,197 99.73 514,821 7487112
Remurneration Report 193,472,429 99.01 1,928,292 2434

Implementation of Policy for 2019/20 [unaudited information)
Base salary
Base salaries will be as follows (unchanged from the prior year):

Director 1 April 2020 % Increase
Michael Topham £495,000 0%
Richard Pike £325,000 0%

Any increases to salaries have been suspended and the salaries above are therefore unchanged from the prior year. As disclosed in the
Committee Chair's letter introducing this report, the Exscutive Directors along with other members of the management team, have agreed
a 20% reduction in the salary they will be paid from 1 April 2020 as part of the Company's mitigation against the COVID-19 crisis for the
duration of the period during which the Group is participating in the CJRS.
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Benefits in Kind and Pension Provision
Benefits will be paid in line with the Directors’ Rermuneration Policy. Details of the benefits received by Executive Directors are set out
in the single figure table on page 81, There is no intention to introduce changes to existing benefits in 2020/21.

Pension provision for Michael Topham and for Richard Pike will rernain at 20% and 15% of base salary respectively. Contributions may
be made as cash supplements in full or in part.

Annual Bonus
The Committee had intended to operate the 2020/21 annual bonus in line with previous years. However, as disclosed in the Committee
Chair's letter introducing this report the scheme is suspended and will be reintroduced at the discretion of the Committee when appropriate.

If the scheme is reintreduced it will continue to be based on a maxima of 130% of salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 110% of salary
for the Chief Financial Officer which will be calculated on a pro-rata basis. 33% of any bonus eamed will be deferred into shares for three
years to the extent that the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer do not satisfy the Share Ownership Guidelines on the bonus
payment date.

The Committee will consider the appropriate conditions to apply if the scheme is introduced, taking into account the evolving situation
at the time. In determining any payments, the Committee will consider affordability, and supporting disclosures will be made in next
year's report.

PSP Awards
A PSP award will be made in 2020 to Michael Topharn as Chief Executive Officer and Richard Pike as Chief Financial Officer, of shares
worth 150% of salary and 125% of salary respectively.

It is currently envisaged that the performance conditions will be a mix of EPS [50% of award) and relative TSR (50% of award). These are
measures which encourage the generation of sustainable long term returns to shareholders. Bue to the current high lsvel of uncertainty
surrounding setting suitably stretching EPS targets, the appropriate range has yet to be finalised but will be confirmed within 6 months
of the date of grant. If it does not prove possible to set a robust EPS range, the weighting of the TSR element will be increased to 100%.
Full details of the targets will be get gut in an RNS announcement issued immediately after the PSP award is granted or subsequently

if the targets are determined later.

EBiffa's TSR' ranking vs the constituents of the FTSE 250 (excluding financial

services companies and investment trusts) (50% ot award) Portion of award vesting
Below Median 0%
Median 25%
Between Median and Upper Quartile Pro-rata on straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
Upper Quartile 100%

1 TSR (calculated based on Biffa plc share price movements, phus dividends reinvested into Biffa plc shares on the relevant ex-dividend dates, over the performance
period) is measured over the 3-year period from the date of grant.

The 2020 PSP awards will be subject to a 2-year post vesting holding period.
Chairman and Non-Executive Director Fees
Ken Lever is entitled to a fee of £180,000 p.a. as Chairman (with no additional fee payable for chairing the Nomination Committee].

The Non-Executive Directors are entitled to a fee of £50,000 p.&., with an additional fee of £7,000 p.a. for each of the Senior Independent Director,
Chairs of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Cornmittee and to the designated Non-Executive Director for workforce engagement.

Any increases to fees have been suspended and the fees above are therefore unchanged from the prior year. The Chairman and Non-Executive
Directors have also volunteered to a 20% reduction in their fees for the duration of the period during which the Group is participating in the CJRS.

This report was reviewed and approved by the Board on 4 June 2020 and signed on its behalf by order of the Board.

Michael Averill
Chair, Remuneration Cornmittee
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ Report

This Directors’ Report sets out the information required to be disclosed by the Company in compliance with the Act, the UK Listing Rules and
the Financial Conduct Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR). It forms part of the management report as required under the

DTR, along with the Strategic Report (pages 1-39) and other sections of this Annual Report and Accounts including the Corporate Governance
Report (pages 40-85) all of which are incorporated by reference, as outlined in the table below.

Information Reported in Pages
Acquistions and dispasals Strategic Repart 13
Business model Strategic Report 2-3
Corporate Govarnance Report
and Statemnent of Directors’
Corporate Governance Framework Responsibilities 45
Community and charitable giving Strategic Report 31
Directors’ eonflicts of interest Corporate Governance Report 58
Directors’ share interests and remuneration Directors’ Report on Remuneration 81
Director training and development Corporate Governance Report 58
Diversity, equality and inclusion Strategic Report 30
Employee engagement Strategic Report 29
Employees with diabilities Strategic Report 30
Financial instruments Financial Staterments (Note 19) 134
Future developments and strategic priorities Strategic Report 12-13
Going concern statement Strategic Report 39
Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 26
Prinicpal risk and risk management Strategic Report 34-38
Modern Slavery Statement Strategic Report 31
Non-Financial Information Statement Strategic Report 27
Results Consolidated Income Statement 102
Section 172 Statement Strategic Report 5
Stakeholder engagement Strategic Report 4-5
Statement of Directors Responsibilities Direotors Report 89
Viability Statement Strategic Report 39

Annual General Meeting

The Company's AGM will be held at 11:00arm on Thursday 18 July 2020 at its offices, Biffa plc, Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe,

Bucks, HP12 3T7Z. The Notice of the AGM accompanies the Annual Report and Accounts and is available on the Company’s website at

www.biffa.co.ul/investors.

Articles of Association

The Company's Articles of Association may only be amended by a special resolution at a general meeting of the shareholders and can

be faund on our website www.biffa.co.ulk

Branches

The Company does not have any branches putside of the UK.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020



Change of Control

The Group has in place a £350m multi-currency revolving credit
facility [RCF] with a syndicate of 10 banks which is due to mature
in March 2025. Under the terms of the RCF, if there is a change

of control of the Corapany then any lender may request that its
commitment be cancelled and all other outstanding amounts

be repaid to that lender. The Company is not aware of any other
significant agreements to which it is party that take effect, alter
or terminate upon a change of control of the Company following

a takeover bid.

There are no agreements between the Cornpany and the Directors
or employees of the Group providing for compensation for loss of
office or employment {ollowing a takeover bid.

Charitable Donations
During the year, the Company made a charitable donation of
£100,000 to WasteAid. Further details can be found on page 31.

Company Registration
Biffa plc is a company incorporated in England and Wales with
company number 10336040.

Directors

Details of the Directors who served during the year are set out on
pages 42-43. The Company's Articles of Association provide that
all Directors will stand for re-election every three years butin
compliance with the Code all Directors at the AGM will retire and
present themselves for re-election to the Board.

The business of the Company is managed by the Board, which
may exercise all the powers of the Company subject to its Articles
of Association and the Companies Act 2006.

Directors' Indemnities and Insurance

The Company's Articles of Association provide for the Directors and
officers of the Company to be appropriately indemnified subject to
the provisions of the Companies Act 20086. In addition, the Group
maintains liability insurance for its Directors and officers. Neither
the Company's indemnity nor insurance covers claims arising from
dishonesty or fraud.

Dividend

The interirn dividend of 2.47 pence per share was paid on

20 Decernber 2019. As announced on 25 March 2020, the Directors
are not recommending the payment of a dividend for FY20. For more
information see page 20.

External Auditor

Sofar as each Director is aware, there is no relevant information of
which the Company's External Auditor is unaware. Each Director
has taken all steps that ought to have been taken as a Director to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that Deloitte LLP are aware of that information.

As detailed on page 62, the Audit Committes recommended, and the
Board approved, the proposal that the current Auditor, Deloitte LLP,
be re-appointed as Auditor of the Company at the AGM. Resolutions to
re-appoint Deloitte LLP as the Cornpany’s Auditor urtil the conclusion
of the AGM in 2021 and to authorise the Directors to determina their
remuneration will be proposed to shareholders at the AGM.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

Political Donations
No political donations have been made during the financial year.

Post Balance Sheet Events
There have been no material events from 27 March 2020 to the date
of this Report.

Powers for the Company issuing or Buying Back its Shares
The Company was authorised by shareholders at the 2019 AGM

to allot shares up to a nominal amount of £833,333 and to

male market purchases of up to 25,000,000 of its own shares
(representing 10% of the issued share capital).

No shares were allotted or purchased under these authorities
during the year.

Share Capital

The Cornpany’s issued share capital as at the date of this Report
is composed of a single class of 260,000,000 ordinary shares of
1 pance each: each share carries the right to one vote at general
rmeetings of the Company. The Company may vary the rights
attaching to its shares by special resolution, subject to the Articles
of Association and applicable laws and regulations.

The Articles of Association contain provisions governing the
ownership and transfer of shares. There are no restrictions on the
transfer of shares beyond those required by applicable law under
the Articles of Association or insider trading laws. In accordance
the Company's share dealing policy, the Directors and certain
employees are required to seek prior approval of the Company
before dealing in its shares.

The Company is not aware of any agreemeants between
shareholders that may result in restrictions on the transfer
of shares and/or voting rights.

On 4 June 2020, the Biffa plc Share Incentive Plan 2016 held
534,685 shares and the Biffa PSP plan held 2,481,169 shares

in the Employee Benefit Trust. The right to receive any dividend
has been waived by the Trustee of the EBT over the entire holding
of the trust and by Wealth Nominees Limited in respect of all
Biffa plc shares in their custodian account.

Ermployess who participate in the PSP and SIP and whose shares
rernain in the Plan's trust give directions to the Trustee to vote on
their behalf by way of a Forra of Direction.
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Directors’ Report continued

Substantial Shareholdings

The table below shows the holdings in the Company’s ardinary shares that had been notified to the Company under the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules (DTR 5). The information below was correct at the date of notification. It should be noted that these holdings may have
changed singe the Company was notitied. However, notification of any change is not required until an applicable threshold is crossed.

As at 27 March 2020 Asat4 June 2020
Holding of Holding of
issued issued
Number of share capital Nurmber of share
Shareholder Direct/Indirect shares held % Lrect/Indirect sharesheld  capital %
Avenue Europe International Management, L.P Direct 21,626,174 8.65 Direct 21,447,472 8.58
Global Alpha Capital Management Indirect 17,914,663 717 Indirect 17,914,683 717
Angelo, Gordonand Co Indirect 17,907,894 716 Indirect 17,317,964 6.93
Goldrman Sachs International Indirect 14,299,746 5.72 Indirect 16,689,258 6.84
Franklin Templeton Investments Indirect 13,667,254 5.43 Indirect 12,748,364 5.09
Legal and General Investment Management Indirect 13,409,608 5.36 Ingdirect 13,409,608 5.36
On behalf of the Board.
.0 Padsow
Sarah Parsons ‘ﬁ\“d‘ ¢

Cormpany Secretary Biffa ple
Registered in England and Wales No. 10336040
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect

of the Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors are respansible for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Group and Company Financial
Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements
for each financial year. Under that law, the Directors are required

to prepare the Group Financial Statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards [IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union and Article 4 of the International Accounting
Standards Regulation and have elected to prepare the Company
Financial Statement in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law], including FRS 101 ‘Reduced
Disclosure Framework'.

Unger cornpany law, the Directors must not approve the Financial
Staternents unless they are satisfied that they give a true and

fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of
their profit or loss for that period. In preparing these Financial
Staternents, the Directors are required to:

m select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
» make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

m present information, including accounting policies, in a
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparabie and
understandable information;

® inrespect of Group Financial Statements, state whether thay have
been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

w inrespect of the Company Financial Staterents, state whether
applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject
to any material departures disclosed and explained in those
staternents; and

m prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the
parent Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable acocuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure
that its Financial Statements cormply with the Companies Act
20086. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the corporate and financial information included on the
Company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial staterments may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020

Statement of Directors’ Responsibility under

the Disclosure and Transparency Rules

Each of the Directors, as at the date of this report, confirms
to the best of their knowledge that:

m the Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit
of the Group and the Company;

m the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report include a fair
review of the development and performance of the business
and the position of the Group and the Company, together
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face; and

m the Annual Report and Financial Statements, taken asa
whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Group's performance, business model and strategy.

This statement was approved by the Board on 4 June 2020.
Ken Lever Woroon .l an
Chairman -

4 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Biffa plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
1. Opinion

In our opinion:

= the financial statements of Biifa plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’} give a true and
fair view of the state of the group's and of the parent company's affairs as at 27 March 2020 and of the group’s
protit for the period then ended;

» the group financial staterments have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs] as adopted by the European Union and IFRSs as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB);

m the parent company financial staternents have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

m the financial staterments have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
Group:

® the consolidated income staternent;

m the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income;

| the consolidated statement of financial position;

& the consolidated statements of changss in equity;

a the consaolidated staterment of cash flows; and

m the related notes 1to 39 for the consolidated financial statements;

Farent Cormpany:

& the parent company staternent of financial position;
& the parent company staternent of changes in equity; and
u the related notes 1 to 9 of the parent company financiai statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union and as regards the parent company financial staterments, as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

2. Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards v Auditing {UK) (15As (UK)) and applicable law.
Dur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the sthical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRCs")
Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requiremernts. The non-audit services provided to the group and parent company for the year
are disclosed in note 8 ta the financial staternents. We confirm that the non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's
Ethical Standard were not provided to the group or the parent company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

m Landfill accounting

® Retirement benefit obligations and pension assets

m Asset impairment in the Resources and Energy division

m Onsrous contract provisions

w Capitalisation and classification of costs associated with Project Fusion
m Impact of COVID 19 on going concern and viability

The last two key audit matters are newly identified key audit matters in the current period. Project Fusion comprises of
the investment within a new ERP systern which is entering its most active phases, where judgement is used to capitalise
material costs on a yearly basis.

As a consequence of the COVID-19 outbreak, which has severely affected the UK economy, there are financial reporting
impacts particularly with respect to key judgments, estimates, pension assets, going concern assumption and associated
disclosures within the financial statements. In response to this, we performed an updated audit risk assessment and
identified the impact of COVID-19 on going concern and viability as a key audit matter.

Within this report, key audit matters are identified as follows:

Newly identified
Increased level of risk
Similar level of risk

Decreased level of risk

Materiality

The materiality that we used for the group financial statements was £4.4 million which was determined on a combined
basis considering revenue, underlying EBITDA and profit before tax, exceptional items and re-measurements ("adjusted
profit before tax”). This equates to 0.4% of group revenue; 2.5% of underlying EBITDA and 6.1% of underlying profit before tax.

Scoping

We performed full scope audits on 15 legal entities in the United Kingdom and specitfied audit procedures on one legal
entity located in Gibraltar. All United Kingdom entities are managed from one central location in the UK and all audit
work is completed by the group audit team. These entities account for 98% of the group's revenue, 96% of profit before
tax and 98% of net assets.

Significant
changesin
our appreach

Apart from the changes to key audit matters as explained above thers have been no other key changes in our approach.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Biffa plc continued

4. Gonclusions relating to going concern, principal risks and viability statement

4.1, Going concern

Going concern is the

We have reviewed the directors' statement in page 39 to the financial statements about whether they considered basis of preparation
it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing them and their identification of any of the financial
material uncertainties to the group’s and company’s ability to continue to do so over a period of at [east twelve statements that

rmonths from the date of approval of the financial statements.

We considered as part of our risk agsessment the nature of the group, its business model and related risks including
where relevant the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit, the requirernents of the applicable financial
reporting framework and the system of internal control. We evaluated the directors' assessment of the group's
ability to continue as a going concern, including challenging the underlying data and key assumptions used

assurnes an entity will
remain in operation
for a period of at least
12 months from the
date of approval of the
financial statements.

to make the assessment, and evaluated the directors' plans for future actions in relation to their going concern
assessment; further details are set out in the impact ol GOVID 19 on going concern and viability key audit matter. We confirm that we

We are required to state whether we have anything material to add or draw attention to in relation to that statement
required by Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3]) and report if the statement is materially inconsistent with our knowledge

obtained in the audit,

have nothing material
to report, add or draw
attention to in respect
of these matters.
Refer to this key audit
matter for procedures
performed and key

observations.
4.2, Principal risks and viability statement Viability means the
Based solely on reading the directors’ statements and considering whether they were consistent with the ability of the group to
knowledge we obtained in the course of the audit, including the knowledge obtained in the evaluation of the continue over the time
directors’ assessment of the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concern, we are required horizon considered
to state whether we have anything material to add or draw attention to in relation to: appropriate by the
directors.

a the disclosures on pages 34-38 that describe the principal risks, procedures to identify emerging risks,

and an explanation of how these are being managed or mitigated;

We confirm that we

u the directors' confirmation on page 39 that they have carried gut a robust assessiment of the principal and have nothing material
emerging risks facing the group, including those that would threaten its business madel, future performance, toreport, add or draw

solvency or liquidity; or

attention to in respect

m the directors’ explanation on page 39 as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group, over what period,  of these matters.

which for Biffa is 3 years, they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their Refer to this key audit
staternent as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the group will be able to continue in operation  matter for procedures
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any related disclosures performed and key

drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions,

observations.

We are also required to report whether the directors’ statement relating to the prospects of the group required

by Listing Rule 9.8.86R{3] is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.
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§. Keyaudit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we
identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

Throughout the course of our audit we identify risks of material misstaternent (‘risks’). We consider both the likelihood of a risk and the
potential magnitude of a migstatement in making the assessment. The extent of the risk determines the level of evidence we seekin
providing assurance that the associated financial statement item is not materially misstated.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

51. Landfill accounting —

Key audit matter
description

Account balances: Provisions. Please refer to note 21 to the financial stateraents. The Audit Committee has included
their assessment of this risk on page 59 and is included within the key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note 1.
For specifics of the group’s accounting policy please see page 117.

As at 27 March 2020 the group holds a landfill restoration and aftercare provision of £56.6 million (29 March 2019: £674 rndllion).

The group operates a number of landfill sites in the UK. A significant cost of owning and operating a landfill site in the
UK arises after the land filling operation ceases due to the constructive and legal obligation to restore sites and then to
care for them until it can be demonstrated that they present no ongoing risk to the environment. The liabilities extend
until the waste is considered to be inert, which is generally assumed to he up to 80 years following closure of the site.
The group makes the provision, within the financial statements, for such long-term obligations through its provisions for
restoration. The level of costs expected are uncertain and can vary significantly from site to site. Biffa uses internal and
external experts to help determine the total expenditure required to remediate sites.

As these provisions arise in connection with an asset, under IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” the costs are
capitalised and depreciated over the remaining life of the associated asset.

The key audit matter arises frorm a nurmber of estimation uncertainties which exist in relation to the level of the provision
and depreciation required. These include the appropriateness of the total cost and void data as well as the accuracy of
the underlying calculations with the key variables being gross cost assumptions, void assumptions and the discount rate
applied to the forecast cashflow.

As part of our assessment of risk of material misstaternents due to fraud, we evaluated which of the judgements and
agsumptions in landfill provision might give rise to potential fraud risks. We have focused our audit procedures to detect
the inflation of performance through the manipulation of the provision.

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
key audit matter

Qur audit response focused on verifying and challenging the underlying data and key assumptions used by management
in calculating the restoration and aftercare provisions.

Ag part of the audit we obtained and inspected the experts’ reports for consistency with publicly available information
and their reflection in the forecasts prepared. We have also assessed the competence, objectivity and independence of
the internal and external experts.

We performed procedures to understand the adequacy of the design, implernentation and tested the operating
effectiveness of controls in place over the completeness and accuracy of accounting for landfill provisions.

We assessed and challenged the assumptions and judgements in management's calculations with reference to market
and historical data, this included discount rates applied in the forecast cash flows. We independently calculated an
appropriate discount rate range and used this to assess management's rate. We performed a sensitivity analysis of the
environmental provision utilising cur independently calculated range. We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the
calculations prepared including the reversal or utilisation of provisions in the current period.

Furthermore we performed an assessment of the reasonableness of the forecast earnings, that underpin the cash flows
used in the calculation of the provision, for a sarple of sites with comparison to historical financial information and
agreement to budget; tested landfill related provisions through analytical reviews; and re-performed the arithmetical
accuracy of the cost of the provision.

Key observations

Whilst we considered management’s assumptions to lie towards the optimistic end of the reasonable range, based on the
work performed as outlined above we conclude the assurnptions to be appropriate and concur with management that the
level of landfill provision is adequate.

We are satisfied with the group's related disclosures of environmental provisions in light of the underlying assumptions
and accounting judgraents made.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Biffa plc continued

5.2. Retirement benefit obligations and pension assets —

Key audit matter
description

Account balance: Pensions and other post-retirement benefit obligations and associated assets. Refer to note 29
to the financial statements. The Audit Comrnittee has included their assessment of this risk on page 59 and
isincluded within the key souyces of estimation uncertainty in Note 1. For specifics of the group's accounting
policy please see page 117.

The group operates several defined benefit pension schemes which are accounted for under IAS 19 (*"Employment
Benetits™). At 27 March 2020, the group have recognised a net defined benefit surplus arising from the defined benefit
schemes of £116.7 rmillion (29 March 2019: £79.0 raillion). Included within this figure is a gross defined benefit obligation of
£486.9 million {2019: £623,8 million], which compriged of valuations of property and alternative investments which asat
27 March 2020 make up £80.9 million (2019: £92.8 rillion) out of scheme assets of £599.3 million (2019: £587.6 million).

Pension accounting is a specialist area requiring the exercise of significant management judgement and the use of
technical expertise to determine the surplus or deficit of the scheme in accotdance with generally accepted actuarial
practices. The assumptions used in valuing the defined benefit pension liabilities including the discount rate, yield
curves, mortality assumption, inflation level, pension increase ang measures of longevity are complex and changes to
the assumptions can have a material impact on the value of pension liabilities.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in the valuation of certain property assets being subject to increased uncertainty.

In addition the valuation of certain alternative investrents including those held in private equity portfolios are subject to
an unusually high level of uncertainty due to the most recent valuations on them being perforrmed prior to the significant
econorric irnpacts of the GOVID-19 pandemic. Managernent obtained updated valuations of these assets at the balance
sheet date and provided relevant disclosures regarding the material uncertainty inherent in the valuation in note 29 of
the financial staterments.

Management also determined to account for certain local government pension schemes previously accounted for as
defined contribution schemes on the basis of materiality as defined benefit schemes in the current year. This is a key
audit matter which requires significant judgement to determine the correct accounting treatment of these schemes
and associated reimbursable assets.

How the scone
of our andit
responded to the
kev audit matter

Key observations

We performed walk through procedures to evaluate the adequacy of the design and implementation controls in place
over the accounting of retirement henefit obligation.

We tested the significant judgements made by third party actuaries and assessed their cornpetence and independence.
We also involved our internal actuarial experts to assess the key assuimptions applied in determining the pension
obligation for the schemes, and determined whether the key assurmptions are reasonable. The assessment included
reviewing and challenging available yield curves, discount rate, inflation and mortality data to recalculate a reasonable
benchmarl for the key assurmptions. We challenged management to understand the sensitivity of changes in key
assumptions and gquantified the impact of illustrative benchmark rates that could be used in their calculations.

Additionally we considerad the independence, objectivity and competence of the independent actuaries engaged by
managerment to perform valuations of the relevant schernes. We also tested a samp!le of the data used in the actuarial
valuation, as well as assessed the basis on which pension surpluses were recognised. The latter involved agreeing
related terms to the deeds of the relevant group pension scheme.

We also engaged internal specialists to challenge management’s valuation of scheme assets, in particular the property
and certain alternative investments assets. Our work has included assessing the reasonableness of the valuation
methodglogiss applied, reviewing publically available information on these assets, comparing the valuations to
internal benchmarks and confirmation of inputs used by management to determine the asset values, In response {o
the ‘material valuation uncertainty’ in investment properties asa result of COVID-19, we also assessed how it impacts
upon sensitivities of future sgurces of estimation uncertainty. We reviewed the appropriateness of new key estimates
disclosures in riote 1 and the assgciated sensitivity analysis in note 29,

With regards to the inclusion of the local government pension scherme and associated reimbursable assets, we assessed
the appropriateness of the accounting treatment with comparison to others within the industry, and through consultation
with internal specialists. We also gvaluated the valuation of the reimbursable asset with consultation with internal
specialists, and reviewed the terms of the contract to assess whether the calculations were appropriate.

Based on the work performed as outlined above, we are satisfied that the methodologies and other key actuarial
assumptions applied in relation to determining the pension valuation, when taken in aggregate, fall within our
internally developed reasonable range,

Whilst we note increased estimation uncertainty in relation to property investrments as a result of Covid-19,
we considered the disclosures in notes 1and note 29 to be reasonable.
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5.3. Assetimpairment in the Resources and Energy division i

Key audit matter
description

Account balance: £1,046.8 million. Refer to note 12 to the financial statements. The Audit Committee has included
their assessment of this risk on page 59 and is included within the key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note 1.
For specifics of the group’s accounting policy please see page 117,

As at 27 March 2020 the group held non-current assets of £1,046.8 million (29 March 2018: £856.6 million) which could be

at risk of impairment, including a goodwill balance of £132.2 million (2019: £128.2 million) arising as a result of the pravious

group restructurings and acquisitions. The group carries different classes of intangible assets including, gas reserves,
brand name and customer contracts. Additionally, the group has classes of tangible assets. The carrying value of these is

dependent on future cash flows and if these cash flows do not meet the group's expectations there is risk that the assets will

be impaired. Theimpairment reviews performed by the group contain a number of significant estimates including energy
prices, gate fees, forecast tonnage prices, gas yield projections, long-term growth and discount rates. Management relies on
anurber of third party experts to value a number of these key estimates.

Changes in these assumptions can have a significant impact on the headroom available in the impainment calculations.
In the current period, two generating units within the Resources and Energy divisions were identified to have low levels of
headroom and high sansitivity to key inputs. The group has incorporated a COVID-19risk adjustment across both divisions
to reflect the associated risks in the group's modelling based on reasonable and supportable information available to
management at year end.

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
key audit matter

We held discussions with management to understand the process that the group followed in its asset impairment
assassment. Following these discussions we assessed the design and implementation of the controls that management
operates over the process.

Wereviewed the forecast reports provided by management’s experts for consistency with other third party experts,
publicly available information and the reflection in the cashflow forecasts. We assessed the independence, objectivity,
and competency of the internal and external experts used.

We evaluated the accuracy of future cash flow forecasts with reference to recent performance, trend analysis and an
assessment of historical forecasting accuracy of their forecasts against actual outturn that underpin the cash flows
used in the assessment.

Having ascertained the extent of change in thoge assumptions that either were individually or collectively would
be required for the goodwill and intangible assets to be impaired, we considered the likelihood of such movements
in those key assumptions arising.

We involved our internal valuation specialists to determine an acceptable range of discount rates utilising market
comparable information and compared the rate calculated by managernent. We challenged management on their long
term growth rates and compared them to those used by comparable competitors. We assessed whether they fell within
areasonablerange of external rarket data. Where they did not, we applied our independent view of a more appropriate
rate to management's forecast. We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation as performed.

We validated the integrity of management's impairment model through testing the mechanical accuracy and verifying
the application of the input assumptions. We alsc evaluated the process management undertook to prepare the cash
flow forecasts in its impairment medel including agreement with the latest Board approved plans and management
approved forecasts.

We considered reasonable possible changes in assurnptions to challenge the appropriateness of management's
assessment of reasonable possible change scenarios. Our challenge was informed by input from certain of our
internal valuation specialists, utilising their knowledge and expertise.

Kev observations

Whilst we considered rmanagement’s assumptions to lie towards the optimistic end of the reasonable range, based on
the work performed as outlined above we conclude the assumptions to be appropriate and concur with management
that the key estimates are materially accurate.

We are satisfied that the disclosures in notes 13 and 14 appropriately highlighted the reasonable possible changes in
key assurnptions to the recoverable amounts of the cash generating units within the Resource and Energy divisions.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Biffa plc continued

5.4, Dnerous contract provisions J,

Key audit matter
description

Account balances: Provisions. Please refer to note 21 to the financial statements. The Audit Cammittee has included
their assessment of this risk on page 59 and is included within the key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note 1.
For specifics of the group’s accounting policy please see page 117

Certain of the group's contracts are onerous and long-term in nature, These contracts can be complex and contain key
performance indicator clauses where penalties may be incurred in the event of non-compliance. The group is therefore
required to make operational and financial assumptions to estimate future losses over periods that can extend beyond
seven years. In the period ending 27 March 2020, the provision against onerous contracts reduced to £15.4 million (2019:
£17.1 million).

Variability of contract penalties, underlying delivery costs, commodity prices applied and customer claims or disputes
carn put additional pressure on margins and on future contract profitability, giving rise to oneraus contract provisions.
The prediction of future events over extended periods contains inherent risk and the outcome of customer and sub-
contractor claims is uncertain and involves a high degree of management estimation.

Due to the size and nature of the onerous provision and management's judgements and estimates used in forecasting
future financial performance, we have determined this is a key audit matter. The key sources of estimation uncertainty
are in relation to the Retail Price Index (RPI), cornmodity process applied and unavoidabls costs under the contracts.

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
kev audit matter

Key observations

We performed procedures to assess the design and implementation of controls in place to identify contracts which may
be onerous, and to determine whether the potential liability is appropriately accounted and disglosed in the group's
financial statements. We performed analytics on contract margins to identify unusual or unexpected trends and to
assess whether management's process had identitied all onerous and problematic contracts.

For the identified onercus contracts, we obtained and read the key contractual terms to evaluate whether revenue was
recognised in accordance with these terms and whether it is supported by evidence of service delivery. We read and
understood the contract penalty clauses and evaluated the completeness of penalties through discussions with contract
managers and reading minutes of meetings.

We assessed each of the key assumptions underpinning managernent's forecasts to quantify onerous contract provisions
and independently sensitised management’s model. We evaluated the accuracy of future forecasted cash flow forecasts
with reference to recent performance, trend analysis, an assassment of historipal forecasting accuracy and ppgrational
improvements against the contracts.

Additionally, we assessed the Inrecast assumptions used by manageraent around RP], commodity values against external
market data and other rates in the model checked against underlying signed contracts and agreements. We also tested the
appropriateness of the discount rate used to present value the obligation, evaluating whether the rates used appropriately
reflect the risk in the underlying cash flows.

We reviewed the models created by management for arithmetical accuracy and the approach taken in relation to the
recent IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets” amendments published by the Finangial
Reporting Couneil (“FRGC™) in May 2020.

We considered the level of provisioning to be acceptable and in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities,
and Contingent Assets. We are satisfied with the group's related disclosures of these onerous cantracts in light of the
underlying assurnptions and accounting judgments rnade,
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A.5. Capitalisation and classification of costs associated will Project Fusion *

Key audit matter
description

Account balances: Intangible assets. Please refer to note 13 to the financial statements. The Audit Committee has
included their assessment of this risk on page 589 and is included within the key sources of estirnation uncertainty
in Note 1. For specifics of the group’s accounting policy please see page 117,

In the year ended 27 March 2020 managernent hold a net book value of £14.1 million of intangible asgets in relation
to costs capitalised under the IT infrastructure modernisation Project Fusion. Amounts capitalised included internal
development costs of £15.9 million (2019: £17.4 million).

We identified this as a key audit matter due to the significant amounts invested and the level of judgement involved,
for example in considering whether internal costs should be capitalised, existing assets being potentially impaired
[due to technology being superseded] and also the appropriateness of the useful sconomic life assigned to project
assets, As assessment of useful life or potential impairment of assets requires considerable judgement including
the proposed benefits and has an irnpact on the amounts recorded as an expense in the Income Statement, there

is a potential risk of misstatement due to fraud or error.

In the current year our audit procedures also considered the risk of impairment in the context of significant sums
being invested, the change in the systems integrator resetting projectad costs and the fast pace of development. New
technology could supersede previously capitalised costs or inappropriate amortisation rates could be used. Given
the current year developments, we challenged managernent’s assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on the control
environment and cash flow forecasts.

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
key audit mattexr

We held discussions with management to understand the process that the group followed in the recognition of costs
agsociated with Project Fusion and their process for assessing impairment, for example a half-yearly review of project
status involving project managers and finance. Following these discussions we assessed the design and implementation
of the controls that management operates over the process.

Wa compared a sample of costs capitalised to external invoices or timesheets, where appropriate, to assess whether
costs have been appropriately capitalised, by reference to the recognition criteria of the applicable accounting standards,
including challenging the group's assessment of the technical feasibility of the related assets.

We also met with project managers responsible to inform our assessment of the feasibility and econormic benefits of

the projects, and to identify any indicators of impairment. We assessed the reasonableness of the assurmptions used in
management's impairment review, including corroborating key inputs such as forecast costs and benefits, to internal
performance reporting and knowledge gained performing our other audit procedures. Specifically in relation to recoverability,
we challenged the group's assessment of which assets represent inefficient spend and should therefore be discontinued.

Key observations

We consider the capitalisation and classification of Project Fusion related costs to be appropriate and fairly disclosed
in the financial statements.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Biffa plc continued

5.6. Impact of COVID 19 on going concern and viability *

Rey audit matter
description

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
key audit matter

Kev observations

The COVID-19 pandernic has had a significant impact on the UK economy with consequences to the judgements and
estirnates made by the group, principally in relation to the valuation of certain pension assets. Refer to the going
concern assumption in note 1 to the financial statements and the Audit Comrmittee's discussion on page 59.

Frorm February 2020 the scale and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic an the global aconomy and markets in which ihe
group operates has increased significantly. This has impacted the results of the group for the 2020 financial year to date
and is expected to continue to impact the group for the rermainder of 2020, albeit the severity of the impact is expected
toreduce over time.

Arisk was alsoidentified in relation to the impact of the pandemic on the group's cash flows and liquidity and accordingly
its ability to continue as a going concern. In order to conclude thal il is appupriate for the financial statomonts to be drawm
up on a going concern basis and on the viability of the Group, management have performed a detailed bottom-up analysis
of the impact of COVID-19 on revenue, profit and cashflows including cost measures given the period of uncertainty.

In response Managemant has assessed the completaness of sccounting considerations acrass the group and determined
that the primary risks that arose from the COVID-19 pandemic related to the valuation of unquoted pension assets,
particularly certain assets in the property and alternative investment portfolios which are subject to increased valuation
uncertainties. The key judgerents related to the valuation of cartain unquoted pension assets are discussed inthe
‘retirement benefit obligations’ key andit matter.

In doing so, managemeant have made estimates and judgements that are critical to the outcomae of these considerations,
such as the speed of macroeconomic recovery and the quantum and timing of collected tonnages over the next twelve
months. This analysis has been used in conjunction with an assessment of the group’s liquidity and consideration of 1oan
covenants, Management have a reasonable expectation that the group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and have therefore adopted the gning concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial staterments.

We held discussions with management to understand the process that the group has followed in respect of the going
concern and viability assessment, Following these discussions we assessed the design and implementation of the
conirols that managerment operates in the process.

We assessed both the haseline going concern model prepared by management, and the COVID-19 overlay adjustments,
which have been used to sensitise the base case model.

In relation to the baseline model, we agreed the key inputs including EBITDA and net debt values back to board approved
budgets. In addition, we considered the historical accuracy of the budgeting process to assess the reliability of the data,

Specifically, in relation to the COVID-19 overlay, we obtained management's COVID-19 analysis and challenged the
underlying assumptions used with group managerment. This included consideration of the quantum and timing of
cash flows and assessing long-term growth assumptions against Bank of England and OBR projections. Further this
involved an understanding of the mitigating cost actions being taken, including those involving local government
assistance. We challenged a these assumptions based on our understanding of the business and pur knowledge of
the industry sectors in which the group operates.

In conjunction with the above we reviewed management’s analysis of both liquidity and loan covenant compliance
to assess whether any breaches are anticipated over the period of assessment. As the results for April and May 2020
have become available, wa have updated our analysis to reflect the most recent data. From this, we have rebased gur
reasonable worst case to build upon current levels of cash and drawdowns on the current facilities in place, We have
focused on the working capital cash flow and assessed the actual movements.

In relation to covenant compliance we assessed the stress testing performed on management's adjusted baseling
model and considered to what extent sufficient headroom exists to absorb any further downside risk in relation to
both EBITDA and net debt, We have performed further analysis on the levels of overdue debt held by the Group and
the plans in place with key customers to assess the recoverability of debtor balances and the impacts to forecasted
cash flows. We also reviewed the appropriateness and feasibility of management's mitigations in the case of a
reasonable worst case scenario in order to meet covenant compliance.

Lastly, we reviewed the adequacy of the graup'’s disclosures in relation to the impact of COVID-19 on going concern
and appropriateness of the sensitivity analysis presented in the notes of the financial staterments.

Our conclusion on the valuation of certain pension assets is set out in our 'net pension obligation' key audit matter.

Dur conclusion on going concern is set out in the ‘Conclusions relating to going concern, principal risks and viability
statement’ section of this report. We are satisfied that appropriate disclosures are provided in the Annual Report and
the notes of the financial statements.

We concluded that management's disclosures included in note 1 to the accounts in respect of the key judgements and
areas of estimation uncertainty are appropriate.
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6. Ourapplication of materiality

B.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstaterment in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions
of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work
and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial staternents as a whole as follows:

Group financial staternents

Parent company financial staterments

Materiality

£4.4 million (2019: £4.0m)

£1.8 million (2019: £3.7m)

Basis for
determining
materiality

Materiality has been determined with reference to revenue, underlying
EBITDA and profit before tax, exceptional items and re-measurements
(“adjusted profit before tax"). The materiality determined of £4.4 million
equates to 0.4% (2019: 0.3%) of revenue.

In making this determination, we calculated an adjusted profit before
tax as follows:

B taking the statutory profit before tax;

m adding back items classed as exceptional in note 3; and

» adjusting the effect of the change in discount rate on aftercare
provisions, so that its impact on adjusted profit represents a five
year normalised average figure.

The Company materiality was determined
on the basis of net assets and equates to 0.8%
(2019: 0.6%) of the Company’'s net assets.

Rationale for
the benchmark
applied

The business is currently highly acquisitive, and therefore profit before
tax is very low in the overall context of the balances within the financial
statements. We believe that using a materiality based on these benchmarks
reflects critical underlying measures of the group which is given substantial
prominence throughout the annual report and reflects the key metrics
used by anadysts in their reports and coramunications to shareholders
and investors, as well as the cormmunications of peer companies.

In calculating an adjusted profit before tax figure, we removed exceptional
items as these are not reflective of the underlying performance of the
Group. We consider that the impact of the change in discount rate on the
aftercare provision is a recurring itern and have therefore included it in our
calculation; however, because of its volatility, we have taken an average
over five years. We consider this measure suitable having considered
also other benchmarks: our materiality equates to 27% (2019: 2.7%) of
Underlying EBITDA, 1.1% (2019: 1.1%] of Net Assets, 8.8% [2019: 8.8%) of
operating profit; and 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) of revenue.

Ag the Company is non-trading and operates
primarily as a holding company for the
group's trading entities, we believe that the
net asset position is the most appropriate
benchmark to use. The entity is not in itself
profit-oriented. The strength of the balance
sheet is the key measure of financial health
that is irmmportant to shareholders since the
primary concern of the parent company is the
payment of dividends and servicing of debt.

Adjusted PBT
£717m

Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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£4.4m

Component materiality
range of £3.5m to £1.50m

Audit Committee
reporting threshold £0.22m
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Independent Auditor's Report ta the rmembers of Biffa plc continued !

6.2. Performance materiality

We set performance rmateriality at alevel lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected

misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial staternents as a whole. Group performance materiality was set at 0% of group

materiality for the year ended 27 March 2020 [2019: 70%). In determining performance rateriality, we considered our cumulative

experience from prior year audits, our risk assessment, including our understanding of the entity and its environrnent, the quality '
of the control environment and the history of uncorrected misstatements in previous years,

6.3. Errorreporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Comrnittee all audit ditferences in excess of £0.22 million (2019: £0.20 million),
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on gualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Coramittee
on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. Anoverview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and scoping of components

Biffa primarily operatesin the United Kingdom; the group has two active overseas entities based in Gibraltar that provide insurance services
to the group. In the prior year this component was based in Malta, however in response to Brexit the group decided to move the company to
Gibraltar. However our audit approach has not changed in this respect.

We consider the statutory reporting structure to reflect the components of the group as this is how management monitor and control the
business. The materiality and scope of work for each entity has been assessed based upon its significance and contributions to the group. Audit
progedures are then performed based upon the level of scope identified.

Based on this assessment, we performed full scope audits on 15 (2019: 15) legal entities and specified audit procedures on one (2019: one) legal
entity located in the United Kingdom and Gibraltar. All United Kingdorm entities are managed from one central location in the UK and all audit
work is completed by the group audit team. The full scope and specified audit procedures entities account for 99% (2019: 98%) of the group’s
revenue, 38% [2019: 98%) of profit before taxation and 99% [(2019: 98%) of net assets.

In addition to the work performed at a component level the group audit team also performs audit procedures on the parent cornpany financial
staternents including but not limited to corporate activities such as treasury and pensions as well as on the consolidated financial statements
thernselves, including entity level controls, litigation provisions, the consolidation, financial staternent disclosures and rigk assessment work
on gomponents nat included elsewhere in the scope of our audit. In addition we carried out review procedures ta confirm our conclusion that
there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated financial information of the remaining components not subject toa
full scope audit or specified audit procedures.

Full audit scope a8% Full audit scope 96% Full audit scope 97%
Specified audit procedures 0% Specified audit procedures 2% Specified audit procedures 1%
Review at group level 2% Review at group level 2% Review at group level 2%

7.2. Ourconsideration of the control environment

We have taken a controls reliance approach on landfill accounting, revenue recognition, fixed assets and financial reporting by testing
whether key controls on these areas were operating effectively during the period. We have not taken a controls reliance approach over a
number of other areas: asset impairment, onerous contracts, Project Fusion, retirerment benefit obligations, expenditure and payroll. The
control improvernents that are identified in relation to these areas are reported to management and the Audit Committee as appropriate.
Management determines their response to these observations and continues to monitor their resolution with reporting to and oversight
from the Audit Commmittee. In the current year, we have highlighted the potential to enhance the formality of the control and process
documentation including evidencing their operation. We have taken a substantive audit approach on all other areas not mentioned above.

7.3. Working with other auditors

A senior member of the group audit team oversaw the Deloitte companent team's work on the Gibraltar entity. We inciuded them in our team
briefings, discussed the risk assessment, attended the closing meeting and reviewed their audit warking papers. In response to the COVID-19
pandemic and restrictions on in person meetings after the year-end, frequent calls were held between the group and the cormpenent team
and remote access to relevant documents was provided.

a8 Biffa Arnuzl Report and Accounts 2020



8. Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If wa identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatermnents, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstaterment in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

In this context, matters that we are specificaliy required to report to you as uncorrected material misstatements of the other information
include where we conclude that:

m Fair, balanced and understandable - the statement given by the directors that they consider the annual report and financial staternents
taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the group's
position and performance, business madel and strategy, is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit; or

= Audit commmittee reporting - the section describing the work of the audit committee does not appropriately address matters
coraraunicated by us to the audit committee; or

m Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code - the parts of the directors’ statement required under the
Listing Rules relating to the corapany’s compliance with the UK Corperate Governance Code containing provisions specified for review by
the auditor in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.10R[2) do not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the UK Corporate
Governance Code.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

9. Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities staternent, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial staternents that are free from material misstaterment, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the finangial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent cornpany or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial staternents as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstaterment when it exists.
Misstatermnents can arise from fraud or exror and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the econormnic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Details of the extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws
and regulations are set out below.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial staternents is located on the FRC's website at:
www.fre.orguk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of Biffa plc continued

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and then design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, including obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion,

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstaternent in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws and
regulations, we considered the following:

® the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the group's remuneration
policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

m results of our enquiries of management, internal audit, and the Audit Somrmittee about their own identification and assessment of the
risks of irregularities;

m any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s docuinentalion of their policies and procedures rclating to:
-~ identifying, evaluating and cornplying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
~ detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowladge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
~ the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

m the matters discussed among the audit engagement team, including significant component teams, and involving relevant internal
specialists, including tax, valuations, pensions, IT, and industry specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial
statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

Aa result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and identified
the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: landfil! accounting, impairment of assets in the Resource and Energy divisions, provision
for onerous contracts and the capitalisation and classification of costs associated with Project Fusion. In common with all audits under ISAs
(UI), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained anunderstanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the group operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws and
regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and
regulations we considered in this context included the UK Companies Act, Listing Rules, pensions legislation and tax legislation in all relevant
juristictions where the Group operates.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that donot have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance
with which may be fundamental to the group's ability to operate or to avoid a materjal penalty.

11.2. Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified landfill accounting, irapairment of assets in the Resource and Energy divisions, provision
for onerous contracts and the capitalisation and classification of costs associated with Project Fusion as key audit matters related to

the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matters in more detail and also describes the specific
procedures we performed in response to those key audit matters.

In addition to the abave, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

m reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant
laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

® enquiring of managemant, the Audit Committes and in-house legal counse! concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;

» performing analytical procedures to identity any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material migstatement
due to fraud;

w reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence with
HMRC; and

m in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other
adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating
the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members including
internal specialists and significant cornponent audit teams, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws
and regulations throughout the audit.
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Report on otherlegal and regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

& the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial staternants; and
a the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent cormpany and their environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
13.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

= we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

s adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

s the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

13.2.Directors' remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration have not been
rmade or the part of the directors' remuneration report to be audited is not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14. Other matters

14.1. Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the Board on 23 August 2016 to audit the financial staterents
for the period ending 24 March 2017 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous
renewals and reappointments of the firm is 4 years, covering the periods ending 24 March 2017 to 27 March 2020.

14.2.Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the audit committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee we are required to provide in accordance with ISAs (UIC).

156. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2008. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the cormpany’s members those matters we are required to state to therm inan
auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Wﬂw@mfﬁ/

Makhan Chahal ACA
(Senior statutory auditor)

For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom

9June 2020
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Consolidated Income Statement

52 weeks ended 27 March 2020 52 weeks ended 29 March 2019
Underlying Other items Underlying Other iterns
activities Em Total activities £rn Teotal

Nates £m {Note 3] £m £m (Note 3) fm
Revenue 2 1,163.1 - 116831 1,091.2 - 1,091.2
Cost of sales (1,012.7) [11.8) (1,024.3) [9568.0) (34.5) (983.5)
Gross profit 150.4 (11.6) 138.8 132.2 (34,5) 977
Operating costs (61000 ] (4.8) (62.5) (50.1) (1.8) [51.9)
Expected credit loss recognised 16 [2.2] - (2.2] [0.4) - (0.4)
Operating protit 90.5 (16.4) 74.1 B17 (36.3) 45.4
Finance incorme 4 2.3 11 34 15 - 15
Finance charges 4 21.0 - (21.0) [18.2) [6.2] (25.4])
Share of results in joint venture (o.1) - (0.1} - - -
Profit/(loss] before taxation 8 717 (15.3) 56.4 64.0 (42.5) 21.5
Taxation 9 (14.3) 3.5 (10.8) (12.5) 9.0 (3.5)
Profit/(loss) for the period 674 (11.8) 45.6 515 (33.5) i8.0
Profit/{loss) attributable
to shareholders of the
parent Company 574 [11.8) 45,8 515 [33.5) 18.0
Basic earnings/(loss)
per share {pence) 10 23.1 4.8) 18.3 20.6 (13.4) 72
Diluted earnings/(loss)
per share {pence} 10 22.5 {4.8) 179 19.9 {13.0) 6.9

Other iterns includes exceptional items, the impact of real discount rate changes to landfill provisions and amortisation of acquisition intangibles.

Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

52weeksended 52 weeksended
27March 2020 29 March 2019

Notes £m £ra
Profit for the peried 45.8 18.0
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Actuarial gain on defined beretit pension scheme 29 40.9 273
Share of other comprehensive income of joint ventures
Tax relating to items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 9 (8.3) 4.9)

32,6 22.4

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net loss on cash flow hedge (0.6) (0.4)
Net loss on cash flow hedge in joint venture .8 -
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of incorne tax 30.2 220
Total comprehensive income for the period 75.8 400
Attributable to shareholders of the parent Company 75.8 400
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Asat Asat
27March 2020 29 March 2019
Notes £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 12 132.2 128.2
Other intangible assets 13 197.0 213.0
Property, plant and equipment 14 5227 365.4
Investment in joint venture 33 3.0 -
Long-term receivables 16 68.2 68.9
Deferred tax assets 22 - 21
Retirement benefit surplus 29 1247 79.0
1,052.8 856.6
Current assets
Inventories 15 181 14.4
Trade and other receivables 16 165.3 1420
Contract agsets 37 586.2 4.2
Financial assets 19 6.7 157
Current tax assets - a5
Cash and cash equivalents 17 878 66.2
Assets held for sale 18 0.1 01
332.2 293.1
Current liabilities
Borrowings 19 [(43.6) (31.7)
Derivative financial instrurments 19 12) (0.7)
Trade and other payables 20 (274.2) (232.0)
Contract liabilities 37 (17.8) (17.8)
Provisions 21 [10.2) [16.0)
Total current liabilitles (347.0) (298.0]
Net current liabilities (314.8) (4.9]
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 19 (511.0) (387.5)
Trade and other payables 20 (13.6) (13.7)
Provisions 21 (85.1) (90.3)
Deferred tax liability 22 [17.3) -
Total non-current liabilities (627.0) [491.5)
Netassets 411.0 3602
Equity
Called up share capital 24 2.5 2.5
Share premium 29 235.3 235.3
Hedging reserves 2.8) (0.4)
Merger reserve 24 74.4 74.4
Retained earnings 25 101.6 48.4
Total equity attributable to shareholders 411.0 3602

The Financial Staternents were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issua on 9 June 2020. They were signed on its behalf by:

. "") _‘7
M'\L_
Richard Pike

Director

Cormpany no; 10336040
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Hedging

Called up Share Merger and other Retained Total

share capital premium reserve reServes earnings equity

Notes £m £m £m £m £ £m

Asat 30 March 2018 25 235.3 74.4 - 22.8 3350

Profit for the period - - - - 180 18.0

Other comprehensive (loss)/income - - - [0.4) 224 22.0

Total comprehensive [loss)/income - - - [(0.4) 40.4 40.0

Value of employee service in respect

of share option schemes [(net of tax) 23 - - - - 2.2 2.2
Dividends paid - - - - [17.0) (17.0)

As at 29 March 2019 2.5 235.3 4.4 (04 48.4 3602

Profit for the period - - - - 456 45.6

Other comprehensive (loss)/income - - - (24) 328 302

Total comprshensive (loss)/income - - - 2.4 78.2 75.8
Share purchased by ernployee benefits trust - - - - [91) [9.1)

Value of employee service in respect

of share option schemes (net of tax) 23 - - - - 2.4 24
Dividends paid - - - - (18.3) (18.3)

Asat 27 March 2020 2.5 2356.3 74.4 (2.8) 101.6 411.0
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

52 weeks ended

52weeksended 29 March 2019
27 March 2020 Restated
Notes £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 26 193.8 133.0
Restructuring and exceptional costs (14.0) (4.5}
Receipt of funds held or long-term deposit - 6.1
Net cash from operating activities 179.8 134.8
Income tax paid (0.2) (0.2)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 179.6 134.4
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (56.8) (42.4)
Purchases of intangible assets (3.8) (3.7)
Compensation 4.4 -
Purchase of business, net of cash acquired 1 (51) (41.5)
Investment in joint venture [5.0) -
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 16 0.8
Loan tojoint venture 2.4 -
Interest received 0.3 0.3
Net cash used in investing activities (66.8) (86.4)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (17.2) (16.3)
Employee share scheme purchase (6.0) [1.4]
Drawdown of borrowings 27 1.0 45.1
Fees payable on 1 year extention to RCF (0.5) -
Lease liabilities principal payments 27 (60.2) (33.0)
Dividends paid (18.3) (17.0)
Net cash flow used in financing activities (91.2) (22.6)
Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents 216 25.4
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 66.2 40.8
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 17 878 66.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated Financial Staternents have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS] and
related interpretations as issued by the IASB and IFRS adopted by the European Union {EU] and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EUIAS
regulations and the parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to entities reporting under IFRS. The comparative financial information has
also been prepared on this basis.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the recording of pensions sssats and
liabilities and the revaluation of certain derivative financial liabilities instruments.

The Financijal Staternents for 2020 have heen prepared for the 52-week period ended 27 March 2020. The prior year was a b2-week period, to
29 March 2019. The upcoming year will also be a 52-week period, to 26 March 2021. The Notes to the accounts refer to 2020 and 2019 meaning
52-week period ended 27 March 2020 and b2-week period ended 28 March 2019 respectively.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with [FRS requires the use of certain critical agcounting esiiiidles, It also requircs
management to exercise its judgerent in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assurmnptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated Financial Staternents are disclosed
on page 117,

The Group's incomae statement and segraental analysis separately identify financial results before exceptional and other items. The Directors
believe that the presentation of the results in this way is relevant to an understanding of the Group's financial performance. Presenting
financial results before exceptional and other items is consistent with the way that the financial performance is measured by management
and reported to the Board and aids the comparability of reported results frorn year to year in this context. The Group's income statement and
segmental analysis separately identify a number of Alternative Performance Measures (APMs]} in addition to those reported under IFRS. The
Directors believe that the presentation of the results in this way, which is not rneant Lu be a substitute for or superior (o IFRS measuies, is
relevant to an understanding of the Group's underlying trends, financial performance and position. These APMs are also used to enhance the
comparability of information between reporting periods and the Group's divisions, by adjusting for non-recurring or uncontrollable factors
which affect IFRS measures, to aid the user in understanding the underlying performarice. Our APMs and KPls are aligned to our strategy
and together form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration. Consequently, APMs are consistent with how the business
performance is planned and reported internally to the Board and Operating Committees to aid their decision making. Additionally, some

of thase measuraes are used for the purpose of setting remunaration targets.

Going concern

The Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through its bank facilities. The current economic and political conditions
create uncertainty; however, the Group's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performancs,
show that the Group should be able to operate within the current level of its facilities. Having assessed the principal risks and other matters
discussed in connection with the Viability Statement, the Dirgctors consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the
Strategic Report on pages 1-39. The financial position of the company, its cash flows, liguidity position and borrowing facilities are described
in the Chief Financial Officer’s review on page 18. In addition, note 19 to the Financial Statements include the company’s objectives, policies
and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments

and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group has significant financial resources including unutilised bank facilities of £98m and net cash of £87.8m at 27 March 2020. These
funds, together with the Group's long-term custorner contract portfolio, flexible cost base couplad with the geographically diverse operating
footprint of the Group and breadth of customer industry groupings, means that the Group is well placed to manage the direct business impacts
and the current global economic uncertainty arising from the COVID-19 pandermic. This view is underpinned by sensitivity analysis which
has been carried out to rnodel the potential financial impact on the Group of the pandemic over 2020. The Directors have assessed the
principal risks discussed on pages 34-38, including by modelling a reasonable worst-case scenario. This scenario covers the cash flow
impact associated with an extended lockdown for a period of 3 months and a gradual recovery in the remainder of the year. The main cash
flow impacts identified in the reaspnable worst-case scenario are:

a significant reduction in the collections business and landfill businesses driven by lower demand;

areduction in capital expenditure across the Group;

areduction in discretionary spend across all areas;

no payment of the final FY20 dividend;

the FY20 annual bomus will not be paid in cash;

m the execate taking a 20% pay cut with senior management (85 ernployes’s) taking a 10% pay reduction for the duration of the furloughing period;
» there is arecrvitment freeze in place; and

m anintensive furloughing programme involving both operational and central support services. This consists of approx. 1200 employees

As part of their analysis the Board also considered the following potential levers at their discretion to improve the position identified
by the reasonable worst-case scenario including:

m 3 nurmber of further reductions in operating expenditure across the Group prirarily related to workforce cost options; and
m further reduction in capital expenditure

Having considered the reasonable worst-scenaric and further levers at the Board's discretian, the Group continues to have headroom againgt

the Group's cornritted facilities identified in note 19 to the Financial Statements, The Bank of England CCFF scheme is being explored by the
Group in order to increase headroom in the case of an extreme downside scenario. Other factors considered by the Board as part of thair going
concern assessment included the potential impact of Brexit trade talks, alongside inherent uncertainties in cash flow forecasts.
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Based on the above, the Directors have concluded the Group is well placed to manage its financing and other business risks satisfactorily,
and have a reasonahle expectation that tho Group will have adeyuale tesources to continue in operation for at least twelve months from
the signing date of these Consolidated Financial Statements. They therefore consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the Financial Statements.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial staternents incorporate the Financial Staternents of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries] mada up to 27 March 2020. Gontrol is achieved when the Company:

= has the power over the investee;
m is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns frorm its involvement with the investee; and
m has the ability to use its power to affect its returns

The company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes ta one or more
of the three elernents of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Income Statement from
the date the Corpany gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

All intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

Impact of initial application of IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases was adopted by the Group on 30 March 2019 and replaces JAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 removes the distinction between operating
leases and finance leases. The result is that the majority of leases are capitalised on the statement of financial position as a right-of-use
asset within property, plant and equipment, with a corresponding finance creditor. The cost of leasing these assets in the income statement
is recognised as a depreciation charge and an interest charge, opposed to the operating lease charge previously reflected under IAS 17. The
exception to this is the leasing of assets for a period of less than 12 months and the leasing of low-value assets which do not require the
recognition of a right of use asset or corresponding creditor.

On transition, IFRS 16 allows for either a full retrospective approach whereby all prior year comparatives are restated or the modified retrospective
approach. The Group has adopted the modified retrospective approach. On transition the Group has made use of the practical expedients to
exclude leases where the term ends within 12 months from the date of initial application, and to not reassess whether a contract is or contains
alease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 will continue to apply to those leases entered or modified
before 30 March 2019. The Group has applied a single discount rate to portfolios of assets with similar characteristics.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and

a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lesses, axcept for short-term leases [defined asleases
with a lease term of 12 months or 1ess) and leases of low-value assets [defined by management to not exceed £5,000). For these leases, the
Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consurnad.

The lease liability is initially measured at the prasent value of the lease payrments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted
by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. The Group's
incrernental borrowing rate is defined as the rate of interest that the lessee would have to pay to borrow over a similar term and with a similar
security the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value in a similar economic environument.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the liability cormprise:

fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

payrments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease

The lease liability is presented within borrowings in the consolidated staternent of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequantly measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assat) whenever:

m thelease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

» thelease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the lease liability is remaeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate
[unless the lease payment change is due to a change in floating rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

m alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liahility, lease payrment at or before the commencement
day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Accounting Policies continued

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures continued

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which itis located or restore
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, & provision is recognized and measured under 1A5 37.
The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated aver the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership
of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-ni-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise & purchase option, the related right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commenceraent date of the lease.

At implementation the Group recognised, right of use assets of £134.9m and the corresponding lease liability of £134.9m.

To aid comparability the tables below highlight the differences arising as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16 showing the impact on Statement
of Financial Position and Tncome Statement, A reconciliation of the closing balance under IAS 17 to the opening balance undar IFRS 16 is
detailed in Note 28. The tables below use APM's to demonstrate the IFRS 16 impact as this provides a coinparable pre-exceptional position.

2020 2020 2020
Post IFRS 16 Pre
Group £m [unless stated) IFRS 16 adjustment [FRS16 2019
Property, plant and equipment 5277 (139.4) 388.3 3654
Lease liability (258.0) 141.0 {117.0) (122.8)
Dther 1413 (0.5) 140.8 137.6
Net assets 411.0 11 412.1 3801
2020 2020 2020
Post IFRS 16 Pre
Group Em (unless stated) IFRS 18 adjustment IFRS 16 2019
Revenue 1,163.1 - 1,163.1 1,091.2
Net Revenue 1,102.8 - 1,102.8 1,030.8
Underlying ERITDA 174.0 (18.9) 155.1 150.7
Underlying EBITDA margin 15.0% - 13.3% 13.8%
Depreciation {83.5) 16.1 (67.4) (69.0)
Underlying Operating Profit 90.5 (2.8} a7 817
Underlying Operating Profit margin 7.8% - 7.5% 75%
Statutory operating Profit 74.1 (2.8]) 713 454
Underlying net Finance Charges (18.7) 4.2 [14.5) 177)
Underiying Profit before Tax 717 14 73.1 64.0
Statutory profit before Tax 56.4 14 57.8 215
Underlying Profit after Tax 574 11 58.5 51.5
The table above shows underlying measurernents; IFRS 16 has no further imepact on statutory measures.
N 2020 2020 2020
Post IFRS16 Pre
Group £m (unless stated) IFRS 16 adjustment IFRS16 2019
Return 73.6 (2.8) 70.8 65.2
Average Capital Exnployed 823.1 (137.5) 685.6 692.3
ROCE 8.9% 10.3% 9.4%
2020 2020 2020
Post IFRS 18 Pre
Group £m [unless stated) IFRS16 adjustment IFRS 16 2019
Average Net Debt ar1.3) 137.9 (339.4) (336.0)
2020 2020 2020
Post IFRS16 Pre
Collections £m IFRS16 adjustment IFRS 16 2019
Revenue 870.8 - 870.8 7972
Net Revenue 870.8 - 870.8 7972
Underlying EBITDA 126.4 (11.2) 115.2 106.5
% margin 14.5% 13.2% 13.4%
Underlying Operating Profit F2.2 nn 70.5 515
% margin 8.3% 8.1% 77%
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2020 2020 2020

Post IFRS16 Pre
Resources & Energy £m IFRS16 adjustment IFRS 16 2019
Revenue 292.3 - 292.3 293.9
Net Revenue 2321 - 2321 23356
Underlying EBITDA 63.4 (5.6} 57.8 58.1
% margin 217% - 19.8% 20.1%
Underlying Operating Profit 377 (0.8] 36.9 371
% margin 12.9% - 12.6% 12.6%

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2019. Their adoption has not
had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these Financial Staternents.

The UK’s Financial Conduct Authority announced that LIBOR will cease to exist by the end of 2021, and will be replaced by alternative
reference rates. In September 2019, the IASB amended IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 by issuing Interest Rate Benchrmark Reform, which provides
exceptions to specific hedge accounting requirements to ensure that hedging relationships are not considered to be modified as a result
of the change in the reference rate. The amendments were endorsed in January 2020 for adoption in the EU, The Group early-adopted
these changes to IFRS 7 and IFRS 9 with effect from 1 April 2019. There were no transition adjustments on adoption.

14519 (amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

Annual Improvernents to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle Armendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IAS 12 Income Taxes
and IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

IFRS 9 (amendments) Prepayment Features with Negative Corapensation
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 [amendrnents) or Joint Venture

IFRIC 22 1 January 2018 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 1 January 2018

IFRIC 23 Ungertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Adoption of the above has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these Financial Staternents.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures - future developments
At the date of authorisation of these Financial Statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 3 (amendments) Definition of a Business

IAS1and IAS 8 (amendments) Deafinition of Material

Conceptual Frarmnework Amendrnents to refarences to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC Interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the Group.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for acquisitions of businesses using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business cormbination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred to the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit orloss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

» deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employes benefit arrangerments are recognised and measured in
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

® liabilities or equity measurements related to share-hased payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of
the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share based
payments at the acquisition date;

m assets [or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Dperations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable
assets and acquired and the liabilities assurmed exceeds the surn of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financia! Statements continued ‘

1. Accounting Policies continued

Business combinations continued

When the consideration transfarred by the Group in a business combination includes asssts or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in
abusiness cornbination. Changes in the fair value of the gontingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding agjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustrents are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the measurement period {which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurernent period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acguisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out above.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or if there is an indication of impairment. Gains and losses on the disposal of a cash-generating
unit include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to that cash-generating unit.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwiil is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units]
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. If the recoverable amourt of the cash-generating unit is less than
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unitand
then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

Gains and losses an the disposal of a cash-generating unit include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to that cash-generating unit.

Investment in joint venture

Ajaoint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of thae arrangement have rights ta the net assets of the jaint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of cantrol of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Under the equity methaod, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is recognised initially in the consolidated statement of financial

position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or logs and other comprehensive income of the agsociate

or joint venture. When the Group's share of iosses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's {nterest in that associate or joint

venture [which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture),

the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred '
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the invastee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessrnent, is recognised irnmediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.
The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the Group Executive Team.

The 52-weeks ended 29 March 2018 has been restated to reflect the Group reorganisation into two operating divisions. The historical :
Municipal and Industrial & Commercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment

and Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste husiness was transferred from the

Resource Recovery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or ieceivable e performance obligations have been fnifiliad, Revenue

is reduced for value added taxes, trade discounts and commeodity rebates. The methodology and assumptions for the calculations of trade
discounts and commodity rebates are monitored and adjusted regulariy with reference to contractual and legal obligations, historical trends,
past experience and projected market conditions. The nature of the service provided by the Group means that returns or refunds are extremely
limited, Landfill Tax is included within both revenue and cost of sales.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the performance obligation has been rmet, the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised at the point when service has been provided. Collection revenues are recognised at
the point of collection from customer sites. For municipal collections, revenue is recognised in accordance with quantities specified in the
customer contracts.

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction is
recognised as the services are provided and in accordance with the terms of the contract,

Revenue from waste processing, treatraent and landfill facilities is recognised when the performance obligation has been met which is
deemed to be when waste is physically received at the Group sites.

Energy generation revenue is recognised at the point that power is supplied to the customer ased on the guantity of units supplied.

The Group's standard terms for payment offered to customers is typically 30 days.
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Leasing

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the gontract. The Group recognises a right-of-use assetand a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with
alease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small iterns of office fumiture and
telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease
unless another systernatic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benetfits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted
by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate, Lease
payrnents included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payrnents that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencemant date;
the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. The lease liability is subsequantly
measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and malkes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

m the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is rerneasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
arevised discount rate;

m thelease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the leasa liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate
[unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used]; or

m alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not agcounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the lease term of the modified iease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
cormmencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a
leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
ofthe lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to aright-of-use asset, tha costs are
included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.

If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise
a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts
at the commencerment date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are disclosed within property, plant and equipment note 14 to the Financial Statements.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is irnpaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as described
in the 'Property, plant and equipment’ policy. Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurernant the
lease liahility and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers those payments occurs.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial information of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or 1oss in the period in which they arise except for:

m exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which are included
in the cost of those assets when they are recognised as an adjustrment to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings; and

= exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlerment is netther planned
nor likely to ocour (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation]), which are recognised initially in other
cornprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting these Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
are translated into Sterling using the exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Accounting Policies continued

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of gualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their interided use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Interest incorme from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will fiow to the Group and the amount
of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstangding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactiy discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Governrent grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Gruup will comply with the conditions attaching to them
and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or 1oss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, Government grants whose primary condition is that the Group
should purchase, construct ar ctherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit orloss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Employee benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expenss when eraployees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

For defined henefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses and the
retum on plan assets fexcluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised
in other comprehensive income in the period in which they oceur.

Remeasuremsnt recognised in other cornprehensive income is reflacted immadiately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to
profit or loss. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net intarest is calculated by applying the
disgount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

m Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost as well as gains and losses on curtailments and settiemants)
m Net interest expense or income
® Remeasurement

The Group presents service costs in operating costs and net interest expense or incorne is included in finance income. Curtailment gains
and losses are accounted for as past service costs.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or surplus

in the Group’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this caloulation is limited to the present value of any econormic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans. The Group rmakes contributions under
Admitted Body status to a number of Local Government Pension Schemes {LGPS) for the period to the end of the relevant customer contracts.
The Group will only participate in LGPS for a finite period up to the end of the relevant customer contracts. Af re-hid, any deficit or surpius
will be transferred to the next contractor. The Group recognises the defined benetit obligation less the fair value of scheme assets, and an
adjustment to only recognise the amount of detined benefit for which it is responsible under the contract. Mavements in this adjustment
arerscognised in the same way as maovernents in plan assets.

A liability for a terrnination banefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit
and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

Aliability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in éxchange for that service,

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the refated service.

Share-based payment plans

The Group's management awards ermployee share options, from time to time, on a discretionary basis which are subject to vesting conditions.
The economic cost of awarding the share aptions to its employees is recognised a5 an ernployse henefit expense in the incoms statement
equivalent to the fair value of the benefit awarded. The fair value is determined by reference to the stochastic pricing model. The charge is
recognised over the vesting period of the award.

Exceptional itermns

Exceptional items are those that in the Directors’ view are required to he separately disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence to enable
a full understanding of the Group's performance. This facilitates cornparison with prior periods to assess trends in financial performance
more readily. It is determined by management that each of these iterns relates to events or circurnstances that are nor-recurring in nature.

Cash flow

Cash and cash equivalents as defined for the Statement of Cash Flows cormprise cash in hand, cash heid at bani with immaediate access,
other short-term investments and bank deposits with maturities of three months or less from the date of inception, and bank gverdrafts.
In the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts where there is a legal
right to ofiset, otherwise are included within borrowings in current liabilities.
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Following a review in the year, we have restated our presentation of £6.1 rnillion of cash inflows in relation to the receipt of funds held
on long term deposits in the cash flow statement, to be presented as operating activities rather than financing activities for the financial
period ending on 29 March 2019. The reclassified cash flows relate to consideration arising from the modification of a revenue contract,
and are therefore more appropriately presented as operating activities which is where the cash flows from revenue would be presanted.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. This facilitates comparison with prior periods to assess
trends in financial performance more readily. It is determined by management that each of these items relates to events or circumstances
that are non-recurring in nature.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxabie profit differs from 'profit before tax’ as reported in the consolidated
income staterment because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and iterns that are never taxable

or deductible. The Group's current tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferrad tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition

of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities,

Current and defarred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprshensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting of a business combination, the tax effect is
included in accounting for the business cornbination.

Property, plant and equipment

Landfill sites are recorded at cost less accurmulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of landfill sites includes
the cost of acquiring, developing and engineering sites. There are no directly attributable borrowing costs. Property, plant and equipment
is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual value over their useful economic lives. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

In the Financial Statemeants depreciation was recognised so as to write off the assets on the below basis:

# Buildings - length of lease straight-line method
m Plant, vehicles and equipment - 4 to 15 years straight-line method
m Landfill sites - 2 to 51 years void consumed

Where the obligation to restore a landfill site is an integral part of its future economic benefits, a non-current asset within property, plant
and equipment is recognised. Changas to the obligation are recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset. The asset recognised
is depreciated based on energy production and void used.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable
certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depraeciated over the shorter of the lease term and their
useful lives.

Anitem of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of tha asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determinad
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accurnulated impainment
losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accurmulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Accounting Policies continuad
Intangible agsets continued
The following useful lives have been applied to the intangible assets during the period:

m Brand - indefinite life

o Customer contracts - 3to 20 years

u [T development - 3to 5 years

m Landfill gas rights - length of projected profitable gas sxtraction based on landfill site content degradation {average 28 year]

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if,
and only i, all of the following have baen demonstrated:

a the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use of sale;

& the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

& the ability touse or sall the intangible asset;

m how the intangible asset will generate probable future economir benefits;

w the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complate the development and ta use or sell the intangible asset; and
m the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its developrnent.

The amount initially recognised for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible assat first meets the criteria listed above. When no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subseguent to initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accuroulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,

or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or digposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as ths diffsrence between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount, The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to s¢ll and value in use. For the purposes af assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows {cash-generating units).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Net realisable
value represents the sstimated selling price for inventories less estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Full provision
is made for obsolete or defective stock.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised whan the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required 1o settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows {when the effect of the time
value of money is material}. The etfects of inflation and unwinding of the discount element on existing provisions are reflected in the
Financial Staternents as a finance charge.

When some or all of the econornic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be
measured reliably.

Provisions for the cost of restoring landfill sites and aftercare costs are made as the obligation to restore the site arises. Costs are charged
to the profit or [oss over the operational iife on the basis of the usage of vuid space for each landfill site. The restoratinn aobligation is
typically fulfilled within two years of the landfill site being closed to waste.

Provisions for aftercare costs are made as the aftercare liability arises. Costs are charged to the profit or loss over the operational life of each
landfill site on the basis of usage of void space. When the obligation recognised as a provision gives access to future economic benefits, an
asset in property, plant and equipment is recognised. Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates that relate to the asset are
recorded as adjustments to the carrying value of the asset. The asset is depreciated over the period of gas generation which commences
during the active phase of landfill and extends beyond the closure date, producing commercial volumes of gas for up to 16 years. Aftercare
costs are provided for based on the Directors' expectation that the obligation will have been fulfilled B0 years post closure of the site.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist
whaere the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Service concession arrangements

Where the Group has constructed infrastructure on behalf of a third party as part of an integrated waste management contract which grants
the Group unconditional, contractual rights to future revenues, the right to consideration is recorded as a financial asset. This financial asset
accrues finance income and is reduced as the financial payments are received.

114 Biffa Annual Report and Accounts 2020



Finanecial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 1oss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair vaiue through profit or loss are recogrised
irmmediately in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the entity becomes party to the contractuai provisions of the instrument and
are subsequently remeasured at their fair value at each balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group designates certain derivatives as either a) fair value hedge [(hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities);
or b cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction);
or ¢) net investment hedge (hedges of net investments in foreign operations).

The Group documents the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception.

At inception and at each reporting date the Group assesses whether the derivatives used have been effective in offsetting changes in the fair
value of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 19, Movernents in the hedging reserve are shown in the staternent
of changes in equity.

At the reporting date the Group has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges.

Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that ara designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The Group's
cash flow hedges in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts result in recognition in either profit and loss or in the hedging reserve.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, any cumulative gain or loss in equity at that tima remains in equity and is recognised when
the forecast transaction occurs. When a foracast transaction is no longer expected to oceur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in
equity will be transferred to the income staternent.

It a hedging relationship ceases to mest the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk managerment objective
for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratic of the hedging relationship so that it meets
the qualifying criteria again.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the
income staternent.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the timeframe establishad by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL] and
loans and receivables.

Allrecognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value depending on the
classification of the financial asset.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at armortised cost:

m The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
= The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal arnount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI):

m The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
the financial assets: and

w The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents continued

1. Accounting Policies continued
Financial assets continued
By default, all other financial agsets are measured subsequently at FVTPL.

Amortised cost and effective interest rmethod

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiuras or discounts)
through the expected life of the deht instrurnent, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recagnition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not rmeet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FYTPL. Specifically:

& Investrnents in equity instruments are tlassified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investmant that is neither
held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCT on initial recognition.

» Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost eriteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classitied as at FVTPL. The Group has
not designated any debt instrurnents as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss to the
extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Impairment of firancial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of irmpairment at the end of each reporting period. The Group
recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at sach reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

The expected credit losses are estimated based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast future conditions at the reporting date.

Far financial assets, the expected credit lass is ¢stimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrurnent has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reparting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrurment
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and gualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Irrespective of the outcorne of the above assessment, the Group presurnes that the cradit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Impairment of financial instruments
The Brpup assumes that tha credit rigk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrurnent is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

& the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

® the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

m adverse changes in econoric and business canditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow abligations.

All customers are subject to credit scoring on a quarterly basis, The Group considers a financial asset to have low cradit risk when the
external credit rating of the counterparty exceeds the Group’s minimum required score, and when the counterparty has a strong financial
position and payments are being made within the contractual terms.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying a significant increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

The Group considers the below as constituting an event of defeult as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet the
following criterion are generally not recoverable:

» inforrmation developed internaily or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral hald by the Group).

Financial assets may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legai advice
where appropriate,

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estirmated future cash flows of that ,
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data such as significant financial

difficulty of the borrower or it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, The Group

writes off a financial asset when thers is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficuity and there is no realistic

prospect of recovery.
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Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a finanecial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group has not participated in sny material supplier financing arrangements during the current or prior year.

Financial liabilities and equity instrurents

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Any difference between the amount initially recognised
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statermant over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Corumitment and borrowing fees are capitalised as part of the loan and amortised over the life of the relevant agraement. All other borrowing
costs are recognised in the income staterment in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlemnent of the liability for at least
12 months after the balance sheet date.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference
between the carrying arnount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payabie is recognised in profit or loss.

Share capital
Ordinary Shares are classified as equity and recorded at par value of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value, the proceeds
in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs.

Dividend distribution
Final dividend distribution to the Comnpany’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Financial Statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Areas of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of IFRS compliant Financial Staterents requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions and also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying Group accounting policies. The Group continually evaluates its estimates,
assumptions and judgements based on available information and experience. As the use of estimates is inherent in financial reporting,
actual results could differ from these estimates.

Judgements
The cost of internally generated assets is capitalised as an intangible asset where it is determined by management’s judgerment that the ability
to develop the assets is technically feasible, will be completed, and that the asset will generate economic benefit that outweighs its cost.

The Group also applies judgement in identifying the significant, exceptional and non-recurring itermns of income and sxpense. We have
summarised the policy in more detail in Note 3.

Estimates
The Group has the following lkey sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying ammounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period:

m Asset impairment; growth rates, pre-tax discount rate, food waste, energy prices, ROC rates, gate fees and haulage costs, see Note 14

m Intangible assets; The assessment of the useful economic life of the Group's assets involves a significant amount of estimation
uncertainty based on the anticipation of future events which may impact their useful life, such as changes in technology or methods
of remediation. Given the significant investment in technology and other assets, the Group undertakes a review of the remaining useful
lives of assets sach year and will reduce the remaining useful lives, or impair where necessary, assets that are being superceded by new
technology, see Note 13.

m Environmental and aftercare cormmitments; Landfill aftercare provision is a key source of estimation uncertainty in the calculation

of the provision including, long-term inflation rates, discount rates and the estimates for future expenditure of up to 60 years depending

on the date of each site closure. Estimates are applied on a site by site basis to reflect the time scales, see Note 21

Pension obligations: discount rate, mortality, inflation, salary and longevity, see Note 29

Uncertain tax provisions; The uncertain tax disputes; EVP, HMRC have been paid and this is treated as a prepayment in the accounts

with a corresponding liability recognised. Also, Hazardous soils assessment has similarly been paid to HMRC and treated as a prepayment

in the current year, see Notes 32 and 33

In order toillustrate the impact that changes in assumptions could have on the Group's results and financial position, sensitivity analysis
has been included within the Notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Accounting Policies continued

Areas of judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

In light of the current ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandermic, valuations of certain assets and liabilities are necessarily more subjective.
In particular further areas of estirnation uncertainty impacting the Group's position as at 27 March 2020 have been identified including the
valuation of certain pension assets, in particular unquoted equities and property investments Note 19,

The Board helieves that the potential impact of Brexit on the Group will be relatively limited given that it operates primarily within the United
Kingdom. Principal risks include foreign exchange movements, imposition ol lariffs and potential constraint af labour supplies. The Board will
continue to ciosely monitor developrents in the UK Government’s Brexit plans and any potentiai impacts on the Group. Similarly, management
will continue to ronitor potential cost impacts on services and seek to discuss those with customers as appropriate, on a case by pasa basis.

2. Segmental Information

The Croup is managed by type of business and is organised into two operating divisions. With effect from the start of the 52 weelks ended
27 March 2020, the Broup has been reorganised into two operating divisions. I'he divisions were merged according to type of service offered.
Collections comprises of Waste and recycling callections and related services ta industrial, commersiat, municipal and household customers.
Resources & Energy consists of Waste and recyeling treatment and energy generation services. The historic Municipal and Industrial &
Commercial divisions have heen merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment and Energy divisions have been
merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource Recovery & Treatment
division into the new Collections division. The prior period results have therefore been restated for comparison purposes.

These divisions represent the business segments in which the Group reports its primary segment information and are consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision malker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performarnce of the operating segrments, has heen identified as the Group Executive Team. The activities of the
divisions are detailed on pages 21-24. The Group's segmental results are as follows:

Revenue within segments is eliminated on consolidation.

2019
2020 £m
£m restated
Revenue
Collections 870.8 797.3
Resources & Energy 292.3 293.9
Statutory Revenue 1,163.1 1,091.2
2020 2019
£m £m
Revenue raconciliation
Statutory Revenue 1,163.1 10812
Landfill Tax (60.3) (60.4)
Net Revenue 1,102.8 1,030.8
Growth
£m factor
FY19 Net Revanue 1,030.8
Acquisition revenue growth 46.7 4.5%
QOrganic revenue growth 25.3 2.5%
FY20 Net Revenue 1,102.8

Sales between operating divisions are carried out at arm's length.
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All trading activity and operations are in the United Kingdom and there is therefore no secondary reporting format by geographical segment.
There is no single customer that accounts for more than 10% of Group revenue (2019: none).

2020 IFRS 16 2020 2018

Post IFRS 16 Adjustment Pre IFRS516 £m

£m £m £m restated

Underlying EBITDA

Collections 176.4 (11.2) 115.2 1065

Resources & Energy 63.4 (5.6) 57.8 5491
Group costs (15.8) [2.1) (17.9) (14.9)

Underlying EBITDA 174.0 (18.9) 155.1 1507
Depreciation and amortisation (83.5) 16.1 [67.4) (69.0)

Underlying Operating Profit 90.5 (2.8) 877 81.7
Exceptional items (Note 3) 4.4) - 4.9 (18.2)
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (16.9) - (16.9) (18.5)
Impact of real discount rate changes to landfill provisions 4.9 - 4.9 (1.6)

Operating Profit 73.1 (2.8) 713 454

Finance incorme 3.4 - 34 15
Finance charges (21.0) 4.2 [16.8) (25.4)

Share of result in joint venturg (0.1) - [(0.1) -

Profit before taxation 658.4 14 57.8 21.5

The 52-week period ended 29 March 2019 has been restated to reflect the Group recrganisation into two operating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Commercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment and
Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource
Recovery & Treatment division into the new Gollections division.

Group costs represent those components of shared services and corporate costs (including, inter alia, board and corporate costs, finance,
HR, IT, legal and insurance, external affairs and SHEQ) that cannot be meaningfully allocated to the operating segments.

Underlying EBITDA represents the underlying profit earned by each segment without allocation of the share of depreciation and amortisation,
exceptional items, finance costs, material impacts of changes in real discount rate applied to the Group’s long-term landfill provisions

and income tax expense. Underlying Operating Profit recognises the impact of depreciation and amortisation excluding the arortisation
of acquisition intangibles. These measures are both reported to the Group Executive Team for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

The exceptional costs of £4.4m [2019: £18.2m) are disclosed in Note 3.

2020 IFRS 16 2020 2019

Post IFRS 16 Adoption Pre IFRS 16 £m

£m £m fm restated

Underlying Operating Profit

Collections 72.2 (1.7) 70.5 61.5

Resources & Energy 377 (0.8) 36.9 371
Group costs (19.4) {0.3) (19.7) [16.9)

90.5 (2.8) 87.7 817
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staterments continued

2. Segmental Information continued

The 52-waek period ended 28 March 2014 has heen restated to reflect the Group reorganisation into twa operating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Commercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Rasource Recovery & Treatment and
Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transierred from the Resource
Recovery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.

2020 2020

2020 IFRS 16 Pre 2018
Post IFRS 16 adoption 1IFR5 16 fm
£m £m em restated

Tangible and intangible assets net book value
Collections 326.6 (77.8) 248.0 247.0
Resvurces &Energy 309.6 (47.4) 262.2 256.5
Shared services and corporate 88.5 (14.9) 751 74.9
Total 7247 (139.4) 586.3 5784

The 52-week period ended 28 March 2019 has been rastated 1o reflect the Group resrganisation into two operating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Cormnrnercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment and
Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource
Recovery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.

2020 2020 2020

Post IFRS 16 Pre 2019
IFRS16 adoption IFRS 16 £m
£m £m £ restated

Capital expenditure
Collections 65.4 (13.2) 52.2 78.0
Resources & Energy 48.1 (8.5) 39.6 21.3
Shared services and corporate 6.4 - 64 71
119.9 (2L.7) 98.2 106.4

Capital expenditure comprises additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment including leased assets,

The 52-week period ended 29 March 2019 has been restated to reflect the Group reorganisation into two operating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Commercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatrnent and
Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource
Recovery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.

The Industrial & Commercial division expenditure includes £3.2m of acquired assets as detailed in Nate 11,

2020 2020 2020

Post IFRS 16 Pre 2019
IFRS 16 adoption IFRS 16 £m
£m £m fm restated

Depreciation and amortisation
Collections 54.2 [9.5) 447 45.0
Resources &Energy 267 [4.9) 20.8 22.0
Shared services and corporate 37 6 By ] 2.0 2.0
83.6 (16.1) €75 59.0
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 16.9 - 16.9 18.5
Total 100.5 (16.1) 844 85.5

Depreciation and amortisation relates to the write down of both intangible and tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful economic
lives. Amortisation of acquisition intangibles is disclased separately in line with the segmental Underlying Operating Profit,

The 52-weelk period ended 29 March 2019 has been restated to reflect the Group recrganisation into two operating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Comrnercial divisions have been merged into the Collections division. The Resource Recovery & Treatment and
Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the Resource
Recavery & Treatment division into the new Collections division.
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3. OtherItems

The Group's financial performance is analysed into two components, underlying performance {which excludes other iterms) and other iterns.
Underlying performance is used by management to monitor financial performance as it is considered it aids comparability of the reported
financial performance year to year. The Group's income statement and segmental analysis separately identify a number of Alternative
Performance Measures (APMs) in addition to those reported under IFRS. The Directors believe that the presentation of the results in this way,
which is not meant to be a substitute for or superior to IFRS measures, is relevant to an understanding of the Group’s underlying trends, financial
performance and position. These APMs are also used to enhance the comparability of information between reporting periods and the Group's
divisions, by adjusting for non-recurring or uncontrollable factors which affect IFRS measures, to aid the user in understanding the underlying
performance. Our APMs and KPIs are aligned to our strategy and together form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration.
Consequently, APMs are consistent with how the business performance is planned and reported internally to the Board and Operating
Comumittees to aid their decision making. Additionally, some of these measures are used for the purpose of setting rernuneration targets.

Other iterns includes exceptional items, amortisation of acguisition intangibles and the impact of real discount rate changes in landfill provisions.

Management utilises an exceptional itern frarnework that has been approved by the Board. This follows a three step process which considers
the nature of the event, the financial materiality involved and the particular facts and circumstances.

Items of income and expense that are considered by management for designation as exceptional items include items such as significant
corporate restructuring costs, acquisition-related costs, write downs or impairments of non-current assets, movements on onerous contract
provisions and strategy-related costs, including the implementation of Project Fusion.

2020 2019
Included within operating profit: £m £rn
Exceptional items:
Acquisition related costs 11 2.8
Onerous contracts (1.5} 10.2
Strategy related and corporate restructuring costs 4.8 21
Pensions GMP equalisation - 3.1
Total exceptional items 4.4 18.2
Other non-underlying items:
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 18.9 16.5
Impact of real discount rate changes to landfill provisions (4.9) 16
Total non-underlying items i6.4 36.3
Corporate restructuring costs included within finance costs:
Finance charges [1.1) 8.2
Taxation impact of other iteras {3.5) [(8.0)
2020 2019
£m £rn
Segmental exceptional items:
Collections 0.7 9.3
Resources & Energy [1.5) 37
Group costs 52 5.2
4.4 18.2

Acquisition-related costs

Belivery of the Group's strategy includes investrment in acquisitions that enhance the guality of its operations. The exclusion of significant
items arising from M&A activity is designed by the Board to align short-term operational decisions with this longer-term strategy. Accordingly,
amounts arising on acquisitions are excluded from underlying profit measures. The £1.1m of acquisition-related expenditura in the 52 weeks
ended 27 March 2020 relates to professional fees and other costs which are directly attributable to acquisitions.

The £2.8m of acquisition-related expenditure in the 52 weeks ended 29 March 2019 relates to professional fees and other costs which are
directly attributable to acquisitions. This includes £0.7m in relation to the acquisition of 100% of the issued share capital of Specialist
Waste Recycling Limited and £0.9m in relation to the acquisition of Weir Waste Services Limited.

Onerous contracts

Onerous contract costs reflect all moverment on onerous service contract provisions. In the prior period the Group identified two contracts
which were loss making and not expected to return to profitability; the Directors accordingly provided for thase. In the 52-weeks ended

27 March 2020, no further onerous contracts have been identified. Onerous contract costs include the unwinding of provisions recognised
on all loss-making contracts in prior periods. Any additional provisions required against these contracts, or unwinding of these provisions,
ig reflected within exceptional itemns on the basis that they do not represent the underlying year-on-year trading of each of these contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents continued

3. OthexItems continued

Strategy-related and corporate restructuring costs

Strategy-related costs arise from Group-wide initiatives to reduce the ongoing cost hase and improve efficiency in the businaess. These

cogts are substantial in scope and impact, and do not form part of recurring operational or management activities that the Directors would
consider part of our underlying performance. Adjusting for these charges provides a measure of operating profitability that is comparable
over tirne. Strategy-related costs primarily relate ta the Group's system replacemsnt pragramme Project Fusion. Within the year the Graup
received compensation of £4.4m from the original systerns Integrator, this was offset against a write off of some previously capitalised costs.
The net charge relating to Project Fusion is £3.8mm, this was incurred progressing Project Fusion following the project pause and change of
advisers. The Project has now been put on hold temporarily due to COVID-19.

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles represents the amount amortised by the Group in sach period in respect of intangibles from prior
acguisitions, which amounts are reported separately from the Group's depreciation and amortisation charges. The charges arereported
separately and performance of the acquired business is dssessed through the underlying nperatinnal results. The Group uses this alternative
performance measure (APM) to irnprove the comparability of information between reporting periods and its divisions to aid the usex

of the Annual Report in understanding the activities taking place across the Group's portfalio.

GMP equalisation

As aresult of the 2018 High Court ruling that Lloyds Banking Group must amend its pension schernss in order to squalise benefits for men
and womer. In the prior vear an additional past service cost of £3.1m being recognised in the 52-week period ended 29 March 2019. This
was reported separately toaid the understanding of the Group’s performance as it is a non-operational itern.

Impact of real discount rate changes to landfill provisions
Impact of real discount rate changes to landfill provisions reflects the impact on provisions which arises wholly due to the change in
discount rate on landfill provisions as this is not reflective of aperational performance.

In addition to the Other items disclosed above, the Group uses Return on Operating Assets and Return on Capital Employed as performance
measures. Thase are aligned to the stratagy and are reported internally to the Board and Operating Committees to aid their decision making,
These are calculated as below:

2020 IFRS 16 2020
Post IFRS 18 Adoption Pre IFRS 16 2019
£m £m £m Era
Return on Operating Assets
Underlying Operating Profit* 90.5 (2.8) 877 817
Average of property, plant and eguipment? 514.0 [134.9) 3791 3575
Average net working capital® [46.7) - 467} (37.8)
Total average of property, plant and equipment plus net working capital® 461.3 (134.9) 332.4 319.9
Return on Dperating Assets® 19.4% 26.4% 255%

1 Profit before exceptional items, amortisation of acquired intangibles, impact of real discount rate changes to landfill provisions, finanee costs and taxation.
2 Average of opening and elosing net book value of property, plant and equiprnent.
3 Averagebalance in 2020 and 2019 of the closing net of inventories, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.
4 Average property, plant and equiprent has been adjusted for the balance recognised on the adopton of [FRS 16.
5 Return on Gperating Assets is determined by Underlying Operating Profit divided by the average of opening and closing PP&E plus net working capital.
2020 2020
Post IFRS 16 IFRS16 Pre IFRS 16 2D18
£m Adjustment £m fra
Return on Capital Employed
Operating profit 741 (2.8) na3 45,4
Exceptional iterns (Note 3] 4.4 - 4.4 18.2
Irmnpact of real discount rate changes to landfill provisions (Note 3) (4.9) - (4.9) 18
Adjusted operating profit 736 [2.8) 70.8 B5.2
Average of shareholders' equity? 3356 05 3861 3507
Average net debt? 4773 (138.0) 339.3 336.0
Average retirement benefits {101.8) - {101.8) [B5.2)
Average environmental provisions B2.0 - 62.0 70.8
823.1 {1372.58) 685.6 892.3
Average Return on Capital Employed® 8.9% 10.3% G.4%

1 Average of opening and closing shareholders’ equity.
2 Netdebt comyprises the average net debtin 2620 and 2018 (Nate 27).

3 Return on Capital Emploved is deteymined by adjusted operating profit divided by the average of opening and closing shareholders equity, plus the average
of net debt, pensions and environmental provisions.
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4. Finance Income and Charges

2020 2019
£fm £m
Finance charges
Interest on bank overdrafts, bonds and loans (11.0) [17.9)
Interest on obligations under lease liabilities 4.2) (5.0)
IFRS 16 lease interest (4.2) -
Interest unwind on discounted provisions [1.6) [2.0)
Interest on forward contracts - [(0.5)
Total finance charges (21.0) (e5.4]
Interest income 14 02
Interest on net retirement benefit {pension) 2.0 1.3
Finance income 34 15
Net finance charges [17.6] (23.9)
Recognised in other itermns (Note 3)
2020 2019
£m fm
Finance charges
Interest an bank overdrafts, bonds and loans - (3.8)
Fair value discount unwind on EVP preference instrument 11 (2.4)
11 [6.2)

Total finance charges

During the period total finance charges have decreased by £4.4m. The reduction of interest on bank overdrafts, bonds and loans is largely due
to the refinancing in March 2019. During the year the Group has also renegotiated loan borrowings and honding facilities at more favourable
rates. Thers has also been a natural decline in the number of older, more expensive lease liabilities, resulting in reduced financing costs. This
amount also includes an additional £4.2m of interest on right-of-use asset leases recognised due to the implementation of IFRS 16, The £3.8m
of interest on bank loans recognised in the prior period in other iterns is the write off of previously capitalised borrowing costs which arose a
result of the completion of the Group refinancing in the prior year. The finance charges are adjusted by £1.1m for the fair value EVP discount

unwind which is not part of the Group's underlying results as defined in Note 3. Further details on EVP are expanded in Note 34.

5. Financial Instrument Gains and Losses

2020 2019
£m £m
Financlal assets at amortised cost
Interest income 34 15
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Interest expense (21.0) (26.4)
6. Profit/(Loss) Before Taxation
2020
2020 IFR518 2020
Post IFR516 adoption Pie IFRS 16 2018
£m £m £m fm
The following items have been included in arriving
at the pre-tax profit/{loss):
Employee costs (Note 7) 292.4 - 2924 283.0
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
u Owned assets 36.3 - 36.3 380
m Assets held under lease lighilities 46.3 (16.1) 30.2 297
Amortisation of intangible assats
w Acquisition intangibles [Note 2] 169 - 16.9 18.5
m Other intangibles 1.0 - 1.0 1.3
Expense relating to short-terrn leases and leases of low-value assets:
w Plant and machinery - - - 1.9
m Other 07 16.1 16.8 129
Exceptional items [Note 3) 4.4 - 4.4 8.2
Incormne from sub-leasing right-of-use assets (2.2) - (2.2) nfa
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1.0 - 1.0 2.2
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Naotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

6. Profit/(Loss) Before Taxation continued
Underlying operating costs have been split into administration and distribution costs as detailed below:

2020 2019
£m Fm

Operating costs
Distribution costs 201 217
Administrative expenses 39.8 28.8
59.9 50.5

7. Employees and Directors
The average monthly number of persons (including Executive Directors) empluyed by reporting segrnent, by the Group during the period was:

2018
2020 Nurmber
Number restated

By segment
Collections 6,989 6,501
Resources & Energy 788 967
Shared services and corporate 368 354
8,145 7,822

The 52-week pericd ended 28 March 2018 has been restated to reflect the Group recrganisation in two aperating divisions. The historical
Municipal and Industrial & Cormmercial divisions have merged into the Collections division. The historical Resource Recovery & Treatrnent
and Energy divisions have been merged into the Resources & Energy division. The Hazardous Waste business was transferred from the
Resourge Regovery and Treatment division into the new Collections division.

2020 2m9
£m £m

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
Wages and salaries 254.7 2485
Soclal security costs 24.2 19.4
Other pension costs 123 16.3
Redundancy and termination payments 12 1.8
2924 £283.0

The remuneration of the Directors is set out on pages 62-87 within the Directors’ Report on Rermuneration described as being audited and
forms part of these Financial Staternents.

Key management compensation

2019
2020 Restated
£m £m

Thelr aggregate remuneration comprised:
Wages and salaries 2.2 24
Social seurity costs 11 n.6
Other pension costs 03 0.3
Long-term incentives 25 11
Short-term incentives 14 15
75 5.9

Key management personnel have been defined as the Group Executive Team.
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8. Auditor’s Remuneration
The analysis of the Company and Riffa Group's auditor's rernuneralion is as follows:

2020 2019
£m £m
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Corapany’s Consolidated annual
Financial Statements 0.6 D6
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company's subsidiaries 0.3 03
Total audit fees 0.9 0.9
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 01
Total audit and non-audit fees 1.0 10
The other agsurance services provided by the auditor related to agreed upon procedures and other assurance services outside of
statutory requirements.
9. Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss
2029 2019
£m £m
Current tax
In respect of the current year - 0.2
Adjustment inrespect of prior years 0.1 (0.1)
01 01
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 114 5.0
Adjustment in respect of prior yaars (0.8) (11)
Adjustment attributable to changes in tax rates and laws 0.1 (0.5)
107 3.4
Total tax charge 10.8 35

Corporation tax is calculated at 19% [2019: 19%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period. The charge for the period can be reconciled

to the profit per the consolidated income statement as follows:

2020
Underlying Dther
activities items Total
£m £m £m
Profit before tax 717 (15.3) 56.4
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax
in UK of 19% (2019: 19%) 138 (2.9) 107
Effects of:
Over provision in respect of prior years - - -
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0.8 - 08
Non-taxable income [01) - (0.1)
Effect of change in tax rate - (0.5) (0.6)
Total taxation 14.3 (3.5) 108
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

9. Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss continued

2019
Underlying Other
activities iterms Total
£m £m m
Proht before tax 84.0 (42.8) 215
in UK of 19% (2018: 19%) 122 (8.1) 41
Eiffects of:
Over provision in respect of prior years - (1.2) 1.2y
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 06 0.8 1.3
Non-taxable incormng [D.2) - [0.2)
Eifect of change in tax rate - 0.5 (0.5)
Total taxation 125 (9.0] 35

In addition to the amount credited to the consolidated income staternent, the following amounts have been credited/(charged) directly
to equity:

2020 2019

£m £m
Deferred tax [charge) arising on actuarial {gains)/losses (8.3) [4.9)
Deferred tax (charge] arising an share-hased payments [o.2) 0.9}
Total deferred tax charged directly to equity (8.5) (5.8]

Budget 2020, substantively enacted on 17 March 2020, announced that the main UK corporation tax rate applicable from 1 April 2020 now
remainsg at 19%, rather than the previously enacted reduction to 17%. As deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the rates expected
to apply in the period of the reversal, deferred tax balances have been caloulated at 18%.

As the Group's presence is mainly in the UK we do not envisage a significant impact on the Group following the decision of the UK
Government to invoke Article 50 to leave the EUL

The UK have introduced various stimulus/reliefs for businesses to cope with the impact of COVID 19 pandemic. We will monitor as the
details become availahle for any that may materially impact our future tax charges.

10. Earnings per Share
Basic Earninge per Ordinary Share are based on the Group profit for the year and a weighted average of 250,000,000 (2019: 260,000,000)
Ordinary Shares in issue during the year.

An underlying Earnings per Grdinary Share figure has been presented to eliminate the effects of exceptional itarms, amortisation af acquisition
intangibles and the impact of the change in the real discount rate to long-term provisions. The presentation shows the trend in Earnings
per Ordinary Share that is attributable to the underlying trading activities of the Group.

The reconciliation between the basic and underlying figures for the Group is as follows:

2020 2019

Earnings Earnings
per Share per Share
£m pence fm pence

Profit attributable to owners of parent Company for basic Earnings per Share
calculation 45.6 18.3 18.0 72
Other iterns (Note 3) 118 4.8 335 134
Underlying earnings 574 231 515 208
2020 2019
Total number of Ordinary Shares 250.0 250.0
Shares held in employee benegfit trust in respect of share gptions 1.9 -
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for the purposes af basic Earnings per Share 248.1 250.0

Effect of dilutive potential Ordinary Shares

Share options 6.5 -
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for the purposes of diluted Earnings per Share 254.6 250.0
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11. Acquisitions

52 weeks ended 27 Maxrch 2020

On 1 July 2019, the Group paid IWMS Wastecollection.com Limited £2.5m for the purchase of customer Iists in both the collections and
brokerage arms of the business, along with the Wastecollection.com brand and containers. It was acquired in order to extend the Group's
commercial customer base and market presence in the region, and is highly complementary to the Group’s existing business. IWMS
Collection.com Limited contributed £2,3m of revenue and £0.3m of profit for the period between the date of acquisition and the balance
sheet date. If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial period, Group revenues would have increased by £3.2m
and Group profit would have increased by £0.4m.

On 30 September 2019, the Group acquired vehicles, containers, lease liability and customer lists from Ribbex UK Limited for £2.0m.
During the year the Group also actuired certain trade and assets of:

= Kier Group
» Winchester City Council I&C contract; and
m Thamesdown Recycling

Total net assets of £0.5m were acquired for cash consideration of £0.6m resulting in goodwill of £0.1m being recognised. If these acquisitions
had been completed on the first day of the financial period, Group revenues would have increased by £6.6rm and Group profit before interest

and tax would have increased by £0.8m.

The preliminary amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as set cut in the table below:

TWMS Waste
Collection.corm Ribbex Other Total
Lirnited Lirnited acguisitions preliminary
£fm £m £m fm
Property, plant and equipment 0.1 0.6 - 07
Intangible assets 1.3 07 05 2.5
Debtors - - ~ -
Cash and cash equivalents - - ~ -
Deferred tax (liability)/asset (0.2) {0.1) - (0.3)
Creditors - - - -
Borrowings - (05) - [0.5)
Total net assets 12 0.7 0.5 24
Goodwill 13 13 01 2.7
Total consideration 2.5 2.0 0.6 51
Satisfied by:
Cash 2.5 20 0.6 5.1
Total consideration transferred 2.5 2.0 0.6 5.1
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration 25 20 0.6 51
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired - - - -
2.5 2.0 06 51

No contingent liabilities were identified at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs included in exceptional costs amount to £1.1m.

The preliminary total goodwill of £2.7m arising from these acquisitions represents an increase in Industrial & Commercial businesses
and the Group's strategy to become the leading UK-based integrated waste management business. None of the goodwill is expected to
be deductible for income tax purposes.

52 weeks ended 28 March 2019

0On 16 August 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Weir Waste Services Limited, a leading provider of waste and
recycling solution in the Birmingham and West Midlands region. It was acquired in order to extend the Group’s commercial custormer
base and market presence in the region, and is highly complementary to the Group's existing business.

On 11 March 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Specialist Waste Recycling Limited. It was acquired in order
to extend the Group's commercial customer base and is highly coraplementary to the Group's existing business.

The Group acquired certain trade and assets of:

» London Recycling Services Limited on 30 April 2018
m Bisset Waste Management Limited on 30 April 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

11. Acquisitions continued

52 weeks ended 29 March 2019 continued

m H&A Recycling Limited 31 August 2018

m The Kier Group on 31 October 2018

® Saving British Business Money Limited on 30 November 2018

Total net assets of £18.2m were acquired for cash consideration of £48.9m resulting in goodwill of £277m being recognised.
If these acquisitions had been completed on the first day of the financial period, Group revenues for the peried would have increased by
£67.9m and Croup profit would have increased by £2.7m.

12, Goodwill

Total
£m
Cost:
As at 30 March 2018 100.8
Additions 279
As at 29 March 2019 1287
Purchase price agjustment 1.3
Additions 27
As at 27 March 2020 132.7
Amortisation:
Asat30March 2018 [0.5)
As at 29 March 2019 [0.5)
As at 27 March 2020 [0.5)
Net book amount:
As at 27 March 2020 132.2
As at 29 March 2019 128.2
2020 2019
£ £m
By segment
Collections 92.9 88.9
Resources & Energy 393 39.3
132.2 128.2

The purchase price adjustment is in relation to Weir Waste Services Lirnited and the assoclated deferred tax. The Group completed the
acquisition of Weir Waste Services on 16 August 2018. Subsequent to the acquisition it was identified that the previous operators had been
operating the MRF in a non-compliant way and as a result the underiying MRF performance was misstated at acquisition. As a resuit of these
issues, it has also been determined that the carrying value of the plant should be written down,

The purchase price allocation has been reconsidered and an adjustment made ta reflect the revised carrying value of the MRF

The Group reviews at each reporting period whether there are any indicators of impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
An snnual impairment review is completed by comparing the carrying amount of the goodwill for sach operating segment to its recoverable
arnount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use, If the recoverable amount is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment 1oss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of the goodwill and then to the assets of

the cash-generating unit. In the current year all cash-generating units have been valued on the basis of value in use, with the exception

of Leicester which uses fair value less costs of disposal.

Tha valuation of goodwill allocated to the Resources & Energy cash-generating unit is noted to be most sensitive to any changes in assurnptions
dus to the limited headroom of £53m. The key assumptions when caleulating the value in use are forecast revenue and costs. Management's
calculation of value in use has been developed from forecast five-year cash flows which are prapared on the basis of past performance,
expectation of future performance and market information and a consistent growth rate thereafter, based on the underlying assets of each
division. The final year growth rate assumption used beyond the five-year plan period based on market trends, after adjusted for assumed
inflation, is 3.0% {2019: 3.0%) for the landfill gas CGU and 2.0% [2019: 2.0%) for the other operating divisions. These assumptions are considered
appropriate based on the long-term nature of the business. These forecasts are adjusted to the extent that events since they were developed
(the impact of COVID 19] indicate that they may no longer be relevant, A pre-tax discount rate of 8.01% (2018: 8.26%3 was applied across all
cash-generating units as the inherent risks have been included in the segmental cash flow forecasts. No reasonably foresesable change in
the assurnptions used in the value in use calculations would cause an impairment to any of the Collections or Resources & Energy cash-
generating units.
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13. OtherIntangible Assets

Landfill gas IT Customer
rights development Brand contracts Total
£rm £m £m £m £m

Cost:
As at 30 March 2018 190.2 161 348 576 298.5
Opening IFRS 15 adjustment - - - (6.9) (6.9)
Additions - a7 - - a7
Acquired through business combination - 0.3 21 1356 15.9
Disposals - [0.7) - - (0.7
As at 29 March 2019 190.2 19.4 36.7 64.2 310.5
Acquired through business combination - - 03 22 25
Additions - 38 - - 3.8
Compensation - (4.4) - - (4.4)
Disposals - {0.4) - - (048]
As at27 March 2020 190.2 18.4 370 66.3 312.0
Accumulated amortisation:
As at 30 March 2018 (47.9] (1.2) {0.8] (31.7) (81.8)
Opening IFRS 15 adjustment - - - 14 1.4
Charge for the period (10.23 (1.3) (0.4} (5.9) (17.8)
Disposals - 05 - - 05
As at 29 March 2019 (58.1) (2.0) [.2) (36.2) [97.5)
Charge for the period [10.2) 093 - (6.8) (17.9)
Disposals - 0.4 - - 0.4
As at 27 March 2020 (68.3) (2.5) [1.2) (43.0] (115.0)
Net book amount:
As at 27 March 2020 121.9 159 35.8 234 197.0
As at 29 March 2019 1321 174 355 28.0 213.0
As at 30 March 2018 142.3 14.9 33.8 26.9 216.9

All amortisation charges are recognised in profit or loss. Included within IT development costs are internally generated assets with a net
hook value of £14.1m {2018: £16.5m). The amortisation charge in relation to these assets was £0.9m (2018: £0.8mm). During the current period
the Group received compensation of £4.4m from one of its suppliers due to the non-performance of its obligations under contracted terms.

Given the significant investment in technology and IT development, the Group undertakes a review of the rermaining useful lives of assets
each year and impairs where necessary those that are supserseeded by new technology. The key estimates underpinning the value
in use for IT projects is the forecast casts. A 10% change in the forecast cost would reduce the value in use by £1.4rm.

The landfill gas rights are amortised over the length of projected profitable gas extraction based upon landfill site degradation. The calculations
that determine available gas reserves involve a number of estimates and judgerments. Should the amaortisation profila be shortened toreflect a
weighted gas consumption in earlier vears, this could result in an increased amortisation charge of circa. £8.8m in the next year, which would
the subsequently reduce in future years,

As at 27 March 2020, the landfili gas CGU had a value in use of £133.9rn against assets of £131.0m. The Group’s reasonable worst case scenario
represents an increase in the gas degradation rate of the sites by an additional 2%, which would reduce the value in use by £10.5m. A change
in the discount rate from the pre tax rate from 9% to 12% would reduce the values in use by £13.5m.

The export energy prices havea been agsumed to be £62.42 at the end of FY24. The reasonable worst case scenario of no growth in energy
prices beyond this point would result in a reduction of £8.9m to the value in use.

IFRS 3 requires that on acguisition, intangible assets are recorded at fair value. The Biffa brand was first created in the early 20th century
and has been used throughout the Group since then. It remains a highly recognisable brand. Given the longevity of the brand, the Directors
consider the asset to have an indefinite life. The Directors reconsidar the valuation of the brand at each reporting date. The recognition of
brand and landfill gas rights as intangible assets initially arose during the fair value exercise undertaken following the acquisition of the
Biffa Group by Wasteshareholderco 1in 2008. The values wera subsequently rerneasured following the restructuring of the Group in 2013.

In 2019, the SWR brand was acquired on acquisition of Specialist Waste Recycling Limited for £2.3m.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Land and Plant, vehicles Total
buildings Langdfill Sites  and Equipment preliminary
£m £m £m fm

Cost:
As at 30 March 2018 70.6 77.8 308.0 456.4
Additions 18 6.8 69.6 78.0
Acquired through business combination 35 - 59 94
Disposals (0.4 - {(45.01 (45.4)
Reclassifications 0.2 {0.5) (2.9) (3.2)
Asat29March 2019 75.7 83.9 335.8 4952
Adoption of IFRS 16 1296 - 53 134.9
As at 30 March 2019 20563 83.9 340.9 630.1
Additions 118 47 96.5 112.8
Acquired through business combination - - 07 07
Disposals 21n - (42.3) (44.4)
Reclassifications® - 0.2) - (0.2}
As at 27 March 2020 214.8 88.4 395.8 699.0
Accumulated depreciation:
As at 30 March 2018 [15.8) (41.0) (50.3) (106.9)
Charge for the period {4.0) (61) (67.86) (67.7]
Impairment of assets - - [0.8) (0.8)
Disposals Q.4 - 447 451
Reclassifications - - 0.5 0.5
As at 29 March 2019 (19.2) (47.1) (63.5) (129.8)
Purchase price adjustment - - [1.5) (1.5)
Charge for the periocd (18.5) 4.9) (61.2) (82.6)
Disposals 1.0 - 41.8 42.6
Reclassifications! - - - -
As at 27 March 2020 (34.7] (52.03 (816} (171.3]
Net book amount:
As at 27 March 2020 180.1 36.4 311.2 5277
As at 28 March 2019 56.5 36.8 272.1 365.4
As at 30 March 2018 55.0 368 2577 3495

1 Reclasifications relate to Landfill sites includes £6.7m (2019: £7.7m) in relation to future economic benefit te be dexived as a result of actively fulfilling aftercare
obligations that results in gas generation, Landfill site additions in¢lude £0.2m (2019: £0.7m] in relation to the future economic benefit to be derived as a result of
actively fulfilling aftercare obligations that results in gas generation. When the obligation recognised as a provision gives access to future economic benefits, an
asset in property, plant and equipmertt is recognised. Ghanges in the provision arising from revised estimates that relate to the asset are recorded as adjustmerits
to the carrying value of the asset. When the carrying value of the asset is negative, these are classified to provisions.
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The Group leases assets including buildings and plant and equipment. The average lease term is 4.5 years (2019: 3.4 years). The Group has
options to purchase certain plant and equipment fur @ nominal amount at the end of the lease term. The Group's obligations are secured
by the lessors' title to the leased assets for such leases.

The valuation of certain assets within the landfill gas energy (see Note 13] and certain organic cash generating units within the Resource
and Energy segments are sensitive to a number of assumptions: the value in use is considered to be most sensitive to changes on future ROC
Recycle price, market prices for food waste, export energy prices, the growth rate and discount rates. The assumptions have been calculated
based on external market reports within the 5 year plan period. Beyond the 5 year plan period the assumptions have been inflated using the
cash-generating units assumed growth rate of 2% with the exception of landfill gas which uses 3%.

As at the 27 March 2020 the Poplars AD CGU had a value in use of £22.3m versus gross segmental assets of £21.0m.

Based on third party reports, the Group has assumed the market price for food waste at the end of FY24 to be c£28/te. The reasonable worst case
scenario would be areduction of the price by in excess of 27% to c£20/te, this would result in a reduction to the value in use of £5.0m. An annual
reduction in haulage of £0.2m has been assumed, if this assumption was rernoved the value in use would reduce by £1.6m. If the Poplars AD
energy price remained flat at £62.16 this would reduce value in use by £1.0m. The ROC recycle benefit has been modelled at £7.93, if this was

£4 per ROCG, it would reduce the value in use by £5.3m. If the discount rate increased to 12% this would reduce the value in use by £3.1m.

The above sensitivity analysis considers each assumption and related reasonable worst case scenario in isolation. The commercial reality
is that typically there will be mitigating operating factors that would offset the above impact in instances where the reasonable worst case
scenariois realised.

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is presented in Note 19.

The carrying amount of the Group’s total right-of-use assets are analysed as follows:

2020
2020 Plant,
Land and vehicles and 2020
Group £m [unless stated) buildings equipment Total
At 30 March 2019 on adoption of IFRS 16 1317 1375 269.2
Additions 9.0 41.8 50.8
Depreciation (12.5) (33.8) (46.3}
Disposals (11) [0.1) (1.2)
1271 145.4 272.5
The split of new right-of-use assets recognised in the period is as follows:
2020
2020 Plant,
Land and vahicles and 2020
Group £ [unless stated) buildings equipment Tatal
At 30 March 2019 on adoption of IFRS 16 129.6 5.3 134.9
Additions 9.3 12.4 21.7
Depreciation (12.4) 37 (16.1)
Disposals 1) - 1)
1254 14.0 139.4

The carrying arnount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment includes £422.4m (2019: £134.3m) in respect of leased assets, analysed as follows:

2020
2020 IFR516 2020
Group £m (unless stated) PostIFRS 16 adjustment Pre IFRS 16 2019
Land and buildings 141.3 (125.4) 15.9 21
Plant, vehicles and equipment 2811 (14.0) 2671 132.2
422.4 [139.4) 283.0 134.3

The accumulated depreciation of the Group's property, plant and equipment includes £16.1m (2019: n/a) in respect of right-of-use assets.

2020
2020 IFRS 16 2020
Group £m (unless stated) PostIFRS 16 adjustment Pre IFRS16 2019
Land and buildings 142 (124) 18 21
Landfill sites - - - -
Plant, vehicles and equipment 1358 (3.7) 132.1 1322
150.0 (16.1) 1339 134.3

Noother assets hava been pledged to secure borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

14. Property, Plant and Equipraent continued
Land and buildings and landfili sites at net book amount comprise:

2020 2019
Land and Landfill Land and Landfill
buildings sites buildings sites
£m fm fra £m
Freehold 36.0 15.0 37.0 15,5
Longleasehold 40.3 134 13.0 14.0
Short leasehold 103.8 8.0 6.5 73
180.1 36.4 56.5 368

As at 27 March 2020 the Group had entered into contractual comrmitments for the acquisition of plant, propertty and equipraent amounting to
£7.9m (2019: £6.5m).

15. Inventories

2020 2018

£m £m

Raw materialg and cansumables 18 2.5
Finished goods 143 119
16.1 14.4

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories consumed in the period ended 27 March 2020 were £55.3m (2018: £45.8m). Inventory written down in the period totalled £nil
[2018: £nil). Reversals of inventory previously written down in the period were £nil (2019: £nil].

16. Trade and Other Receivables

2020 2019
£m £m
Amounts falling due within one year

Trade receivables 1394 125.8
Less expected credit loss allowance 4.3) (21

Trade receivables - net 135.1 1237

Other debtors 3.2 5.0

Prepayrments 241 1.9

Prepaid landfill provision expenditure 29 14

165.3 142.0

All amounts included within other debtors and prepayments are due within one year. The movement in prepayments relate to the timing of
payments to suppliers. The in year increase £8.5m that has been paid to HMRC in respect of Landiill tax on sub-soils, further detail on this
is discloged in Note 32. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Due to their short maturities, the fair value of trade and other receivables
approximates 1o their book value. The average credit period taken on invoices was 38.1days (2019: 38.1days).

Credit limits for new customers are assigned based on the potential customer's credit quality. An external credit scoring system is usad
before assigning any credit limit over £500. Management monitors the utilisation of credit limits regularly. The trade receivables balance
consists of a large number of custorner balances, represented largely by local account custorners, and there is no significant concentration
of credit risk.

Included in the Group's trade receivables balances are debts with a carrying amount of £21.1m (2019: £19.1m] which are past due at the
reporting date. As a result of COVID-19 and associated circumstances as at the 27 March 2020, there has been an increase in credit risk due

to a number of factors such as payment behaviour and financial position of our customers, This increase in credit risk has lead to an increase
inECL of £2.0m.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. None of the trade receivable that have been written off is subject to enforcernent activities.

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables. As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not shaw significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for logs allowance based on past due status is not distinguished
between the Group's type of customer.
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Expected Lifetime
credit loss expected
rate % credit loss
As at 27 March 2020
Trade receivables - days past due
1to 30 days 1% 0.3
31toB0days 1% -
B1to 90 days 1% -
9lto 120 days 50% 05
Over120 days 50% 1.5
Expected Lifetirne
creditloss expected credit
rate’% loss
As at 29 March 2018
Trade receivables - days past due
1to 30 days 1% 0z
31toB0days 1% -
61to 90 days 1% -
91to 120 days 50% 0.6
Over 120 days 50% 1.3

The allowance for ECL includes individually impaired trade receivables which are in excess of 120 days overdue, in liquidation or are the
subject of legal action. The ECL recognised represents the difference between the carrying amaourtt of these trade receivables and the present
value of any expected recoveries.

The following table shows the movernent in ECL that has been recognised in trade and other receivables in accordance with the simplified
approach set outin IFRS 9.

2020 2019
£m £m
Movement in expected credit losses
Balance at the beginning of the pericd 21 17
Impairment losses recognised 0.2 0.7
Amounts recovered during the period 14 07
Amounts written off as uncollectable (1.4) (1.0)
Expected credit losses in relation to increase in credit risk 20 -
4.3 21
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receivables approximates their fair value.
Long-term receivables
2020 2019
£m £m
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Funds on long-terra deposit 2.2 2.4
Prepayment in respect of EVP Dispute [(Note 34) 63.6 63.6
Loans to Employee Benefit Trust - 2.9
Other long-term debtors 2.4 -
68.2 68.9

The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation to the Landfill Tax treatment of certain materials used in the engineering of landfill
sites from September 2009 to May 2012. Prior to the IP0Q, the Group had hardship relief which meant payment was not required to be made to
HMRC. Subsequent to the IPO the Group pre-paid the disputed amount to HMRC as disclosed in Note 34.

In determining the expected credit losses for these long-terrn receivables, the Directors have taken into account the historical default
experience and financial position of the counterparties. No expected credit loss has been recognised on the basis that the counterparties
are HMRC and A-rated financial institutions,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

17. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2020 2019

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 53.6 e4.4
Short-term deposits 34.2 41.8
Balance at the end of the period 878 B6.2

Deposits comprise £25.0m (2019: £36.2m] of funds on overnight deposit via a Group cash pooling facility and an insurance deposit of
£9.2m [2019: £5.7m) which represents cash held as security for self-insurance obligations. Included within the total cash balance is £12.0m
(2019: £6.8m) which cannot be accessed by the Group as it is held as collateral against insurance liabilities by Bray Insurance Company
Limited, which is the Group's captive insurance company.

18. Assets Classified as Held for Sale

2020 2018
£m £m
Freehold land held for sale 0.1 01

The Group holds a freehold property that it nolonger requires and intends to dispose of it within the next 12 months. A search is currently
under way for a buyer and the Directors expect that the fair value less costs to sell will be higher than the carrying amount.

18. Financial Instruments

2020 2019
£m £m

Amortised cost
Liquidity fund! 3.3 131
3.3 13.1

1 Current investments held by Bray Insurance Gompany Limited, the Group's captive insurance cormpany.

Derivative financial instruments

The derivatives that the Group has entered into qualify for hedge designation as a cash flow hedge under IFRS 8. The Group has entered into
forward foreign exchange rate contracts which all mature within one year. During the year the Group has also entered into interest rate swaps
which mature in line with the Group’s revolving credit facility (RCF).

The forward foreign exchange contracts have resulted in the recognition of a derivative asset of £0.4m. During the year a loss of £0.6m has
heen recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income.

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps are caleulated by discounting the contracted farward values and
translating at the balance sheet rates, The fair value maasurements are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement, as the inputs are from observable quoted exchanges.

The fair value and the notional amounts are as follows:

2020 2018
Faijr Fair
value Notional value Notional
£m £m £m £m
Forward foreign exchange contracts 0.4 10.9 07 16.0
Interest rate swaps (1.8) 200.0 - -
n.2) 210.9 (0.7) 16.0
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Borrowings
2020 2019
Book Book Book
value value value
Post IFRS 16 Pre Average Book Average
IFRS 16 adoption IFRS 15 interest value interest
£m £ £m rate % £m rate %
Current
Lease liabilities 43.6 (15.0) 28.6 4.4% 317 5.8%
Non-current
Lease liabijlities 214.4 (126.0) 88.4 4.4% 90.9 5.8%
Bankloans 249.0 - 249.0 2.6% 248.0 3.2%
EVP preference instrument 476 - 476 5.5% 486 5.5%
511.0 (126.0) 385.0 3875
554.8 (141.0) 413.6 419.2
2020 2019
£m £m
Bank borrowings including finance leases 507.0 370.6
EVP preference instrument 47.6 48.6
554.6 418.2

At 27 March 2020 the Group has an undrawn revolving credit facility (RCF) of £98m, (2019: £99m). Due to the nature of the RCF
and continued repayments and drawdowns, the cash flows were presented on a net basis in the Statement of Cash Flows.

In the year ended 29 March 2018, the Group settled its £200m term facility and entered into a £350.0m RCF. The costs of £3.0m attributed
to obtaining the facility were capitalised and continue to be amortised over the existing life of the facility. The unamaortised costs of £3.8m
in relation to the historic £200m term facility were written off as a finance charge in Other iterns (Note 3).

In the year ended 24 March 2017 certain pre-IP0 lenders were issued with preference share capital in Wasteholdco 1 Limited in exchange for
settlement of amounts due to thern. In the event that the Group is successful in its EVP case [see Note 34) with HMRC, the EVP preference
shareholders will be entitled to certain funds recovered from HMRC by the Company.

The Directors consider it likely that the Group will be successful in the case and accordingly have recognised a liability in respect of the EVP
preference shares. In the event that the Group is unsuccessful in the EVP proceedings and does not recover the amount prepaid to HMRG,
the Group expects to release the majority of the associated EVP liability as disclosed in Note 34.

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost with the exception of the EVP preference instrument which is measured at fair value. All
financial assets and financial liabilities have been categorised as Level 2. Level 2 finaneial instruments have been valued using inputs
other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.

Interest rates on borrowings

2020 2019
Average Average
interest interest
Principal rate Principal rate
£m % £m %
Term facility 249.0 2.6% - 3.2%

Unamortised transaction costs of £3.0m incurred in the origination of these facilities have been netted against the carrying value of the
loans. The EVP preference instrument is non-interest bearing; however, in accordance with IFRS 8 Financial Instruments, an imputed
interest charge of 5.5% [2019: 5.5%) is being recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staterments continued

19. Financial Instruments continued

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

2020 2019
Book Fair Book Fair
valug value value value
£m £m £m £m
Borrowings (507.0) (507.0) (370.8) (370.6)
EVP preference instrument [(47.6) (47.6) (48.6) (488)
Trade and other payables' {Note 20) (233.2) (233.2) (189.1) [189.1)
Derivative financiol instrument 1.2) 2) 0 07
Trade and other receivables® (Note 18) 135.1 1351 1237 1237
Financial asset arising on liquity fund® 3.3 3.3 131 131
Financial asset arising from IFRIC 122 (Note 35) 34 34 - -
Funds on long-term deposit 2.2 2.2 2.4 1.4
Prepayment in respect of EVP Dispute 63.6 63.6 636 62.9
Other long-term debtors 25 2.5 2.9 2.9
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17} 87.8 a1.8 66.2 686.2
[4981.1) [(491.1) (337.1) (338.8)

1 Trade and other payables excludes deferred incorne, taxation and sogial security and other non-financial liabilities.
2 Trade and cther receivables excludes prepayments, gther debtors and accrued income.
3 Totalfinancial assets are the liquidity fund and IFRIC 12.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

Interest rate swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves
derived from quoted interest rates.

The fair values of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities are determined based on discounted cash flow analysis using current market
rates for similar instruments.

Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a varisety of financial risks: market risk (including capital risk management, cash flow interest rate risk,
currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management programmes focus on the unpradictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Financial rigk management in
the above areas is carried out under a policy approved by the Board of Directors.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital structure using a number of measures and taking into account its future strategic plans. Such rmeasures
include its net interest cover, liquidity and leverage ratios. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated staterment of
financial position plus Net Debt. Net Debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current horrowings as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) iess cash and cash equivalents. The Directors are satisfied that the current risk management
strategy is appropriate and effective.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest-bearing agsets include cash and cash eguivalents which earn interest at floating rates. The Group's income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises from long-term
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Group policy is to maintain anappropriate
propartion of its borrowings at fixed rate using interest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary.
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The interest rate risk profile of the Group's financial assets and liabilities was as foilows:

2020
2020 IFRS16 2020
Post IFRS 16 adoption Pre IFRG 16 2018
£m £m £m £m
Financial liabilities
Floating rate financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) 249.0 - 249.0 248.0
Fixed rate financial liabilities 258.0 (141.0) 117.0 1226
Non-interest bearing financial liabilities 233.2 - 233.2 189.1
Non-interest bearing EVP preference instrument 47.6 - 47.6 48,8
Total financial liabilities 787.8 (141.0) 646.8 608.3
Fixed rate financial liabilities relate to lease liabilities. Non-interest bearing financial liabilities comprise trade payahles.
2020 2019
£m £m
Financial assets
Floating rate financial assets (excluding derivatives) 65.7 68.6
Floating rate financial assets (cash and cash equivalents) 878 66.2
1535 134.8
Non-interest bearing assets
Liguidity fund 34 131
Non-interest bearing financial assets 135.1 123.7
138.5 138.8
Total financial assets 292.0 2716

The interest on fixed rate financial instruments is fixed until the maturity of the investment. The interest on floating rate financial
instrurnents is re-set at intervals of less than one year. The other financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not included in

the above tables are non-interest bearing and therefore not subject to interest rate risk.

Fixed rate and non-interest bearing financial assets ang liabilities are exposed to fair value interest rate risk and floating rate financial

assets and liahilities to cash flow interest rate risk.

The minimum payments for lease liabilities fall due as follows:

2020 2020 2020

Post IFRE 16 IFRS16 Pre IFR5 16 2019
£m £m Em Fr
No later than one year 51.7 [19.5) 32.2 35,8
Later than one year but not more than five years 145.8 [(63.8) 81.8 841
More than five years 144.3 (123.4) 209 23.3
341.6 (206.7) 1349 143.0

Future finance charges on leases liabilities (83.6) 657 (17.9) (20.4)
Present value of lease liabilities 258.0 (141.0) 117.0 1226

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from currency exposures prirarily related to the disposal of RDF via export to Europe. The
Group enters into forward contracts to purchase Euros based upon expected costs. These derivatives are classified as cash flow hedges.

Price risk

The Group is not materially exposed to any equity securities price risk. Both divisions are exposed to cormmodity price risks to a greater
or lesser degree on their outputs. The comrnodities that the Group is exposed to commodity price risks on are fuel, electricity, paper, glass,
cardboard, steel, alurinium and plastics (including HDPE and PET). The price risk associated with commmodities is considered to be in the

ordinary course of business for the Group.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis as appropriate. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments
and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables. For banks
and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of A are accepted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

19. Financial Instruments continued
Credit risk continued
Management does not expect any significant losses of receivables that have not been provided for as shown in Note 16.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial information, which is net of impairment 1osses, represents the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk. These amounts include receivable balances from lacal authority clients, henca are not exposed to
significant credit risk. Given the above factors, the Beard does not consider it necessary to presant a detailed analysis of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group ensures that there are sufficient committed loan facilities in order to meet short-term business requirements, after taking into
account the cash flows from operations and its holding of cash and cash equivalents. The expected undissounted cash flow of the Group's
financial liabilities (including derivatives), by remaining contractual maturity, at the balance sheet date is shown below:

2020
Due between Due between Due five
Due within one and two and years and
one year two years five years beyond Total
£€m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings, excluding lease liabilities - - (252.0) - (252.0)
Lease liabilities (28.6) (25.9) 49.4) (13.1) (117.03
IFRS 16 lease liability (15.0) (13.8) [37.3) (74.9) (141.0)
Trade and other payables [(233.2) - - - (233.2)
Contract liabilities (17.9) - - - (17.9)
Non-derivative financlal assets
Cash and cash equivalents 87.8 - - - B87.8
Liguidity fund 3.4 - - - 3.4
Trade and other receivables 135.1 68.2 - - 203.3
Contract assets 56.2 - - - 56.2
(12.2) 285 (338.7) (88.0) (410.3)
2019
Duebetween Duebetween Due five
Due within one and twoand years and
one year two years five years beyond Total
£m fm £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings, excluding finance lease - - (251.0) - [251.0)
Finance lease liabilities (358) (28.3) (657) [23.3]) [142.9)
Interest payments on borrowings - - - - -
Other non-interest bearing liabilities (189.1) - - - (189.1)
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 66.2 - - - B66.2
Liquidity fund 131 - - - 131
Non-interest bearing financial assats 123.7 68.9 - - 192.6
(2L7) 406 (308.7) (23.3) (3111)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure 10 interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative
instrurnents at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared taking an average of the liability outstanding
over the period,

During the year ended 27 March 2020, the Group entered into a £200rm Interest Rate Swap to fix its variable exposure to LIBOR. If interest
rates had been 2% higher/1% lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group's result for the 52 weeks ended 27 March 2020 would
increase/(decrease) by the amounts shown in the table below. This analysis assumes that, where interest rates are currently less than 1%, any
reduction is capped at zero.

2020 2019
2% increase 1% decrease 2% increase 1% decrease
interest rates interest rates interest rates interest rates
£m £m fra £m
Gain/(loss) - variahle ratg financial instruments (1.0) 04 (4.2) 27
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20. Trade and Other Payables

2020 2019
£m £m
Current
Trade payables 176.7 155.9
Taxation and social security 40.9 429
Interest payable 0.8 -
Accruals 66.2 328
Other payables - 0.6 a8
274.2 £32.0
Non-current
Trade and other payables 13.6 137
£13.0m has been recognised in relation to the EVP Dispute as disclosed in Note 33.
21. Provisions
Landfill
restoration & Onerous
aftercare Insurance Contracts Other Tatal
£m £rn £m £m fm
Asat 30 March 2018 74.2 12.8 77 119 106.4
Utilised (9.3) - - (1.1) (10.4)
Charged/{credited) to profit and loss account [0.8) (11) 94 [0.B) 70
Impact of real discount rate changes to profit and loss
account 18 - - - 16
Unwinding of discount 20 - - - 2.0
Transfers from fixed/other assets (0.3) - - - [(0.3)
As at 29 March 2019 674 11.5 171 10.3 106.3
Utilised (8.0) 04 - [2.4) (10.8]
(Credited)/charged to profit and loss account (0.9] [01) 7 4.4 17
Impact of real discount rate changes to profit and loss
account (4.9] - - - (4.9)
Unwinding of discount 17 - - - 17
Transfers from fixed/other assets 1.3 - - - 1.3
As at 27 March 2020 56.6 11.0 154 123 953
Provisions have been analysed betweaen current and non-current as follows:
2020 2019
£m £m
Current 10.2 18.0
Non-current 85.1 90.3
95.3 106.3

Landfill restoration and aftercare

As part of its normal activities, the Group undertakes to restore its landfill sites and to maintain tha sites and control leachate and methane
ernissions from the sites. Provision is made for these anticipated costs. A number of estimate uncertainties affect the calculation, including
the impact of regulation, accuracy of site surveys, transportation costs and changes in the real discount rate. The provisions incorporate

our best estimates of the financial effects of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of these estimates could materially irnpact the
calculation of the provision. Restoration costs are incurred as gach site is filled and in the period immediately after its closure. The provision
incorporates the best estimate of the financial effect of these uncertainties, but future changes in any of the assumptions could materially
impact the calculation of the provision.

Maintenance and leachate and methane control costs are incurred as each site is filled and for a number of years post closure.

Aftercare costs are incurred as each site is filled and for a number of years post closure. This period can vary significantly from site to site,
depending upon the types of waste landfilled and the speed at which it decomposes, the way the site is engineered and the regulatory
requirements specific to the site.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

21. Provisions continued

Changes in the provision arising from revised estimates or discount rates or changes in the expected timing of expenditures that relate
to property, piant and equipment are recorded as adjustments to their carrying value and depreciated prospectively over their remaining
useful economic lives; otherwise such changes are recognised within the income statement.

The associated cutflows are estimated to arise gver a pericd of up to 60 years depending on the date of each site closure. In determining the
provision, the sstimates for future expenditure required to settle the obligation are inflated using longer-term inflation rates, and discounted

using the nominal discount rate. The rates utilised reflect the period of the obligation on a site by site basis which varies between 10 and
60 years.

Long-term aftercare provisions included in landfill restoration and aftercare provisions have been inflated and discounted using the below
norminal rates:

Inflatinn rate Discount rate
restated
Perind of nbligation 2020 2018 2020 2019
5 years 2.1% 2.4% 2.1% 14%
10 years 2.3% 2.4% 2.1% 1.9% .
20 years 2.3% 2.7% 2.6% 2.5%
30 years 2.1% 2.5% 2.4% 2.5%
B0 years 1.6% 2.1% 2.2% 2.4%

Anincrease of 1% in the real discount rate (at current cost) would result in a decrease of environmental provisions of spproximately £10.3m.
A10%increase in cash outflows would result in an increased envirenmental provision of £6.8m.

Long-term aftercare provisions included in landfill restoration and aftercare provisions have been inilated at a rate of 2.3% (2019: 2.4%).
An increase of 1% in the rate of inflation would result in an increase of environmental provisions of approximately £14.3m,

Insurance

The associated outflows are estimated to arise over a period of up to five years from the balance sheet date.

Other

Other provisions include a provision for dilapidations of £7.8m (2019: £8.0m) and £15.4m (2019: £17.1m] relating to onerous contracts.
The associated outflows are estimated to arise over a period of up to 20 years from the balance sheet date.

22. Deferred Taxation
The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current period:

Temporary
difference
arising on Recognised
property, Retirernent tax losses
plantand Share-hased benefit Intangible carried
equipment payments  Provisions obligation Goodwill assets forward Total
£ £m £rm £m £rm £rn £m £m
As at 30 March 2018 324 1.8 1.9 (8.5) 8.6 [33.5) 11.8 145
Acquired (0.5) - - - - 27 - 3.2)
Credit/{charge] to income statement (2.4] a5 (1.G3 - (G.8] 3.0 (2.6] (3.4]
Credit/(charge) to SOCI - - - (4.9) - - - (4.9)
Credit/(charge) to retained earnings - (0.9) - - - - - (0.9)
As at 29 March 2019 295 14 0.9 134 77 (33.2) 9.2 21
Acquired 0.3 - - - - [0.5] - (0.2
Credit/(charge) to income statement (791 (06.4) - (1.9) - 0.7 n2 [107)
Credit/(charge) to SOCIL - (0.2) - (8.3) - - - (8.5)
As at 27 March 2020 219 0.8 0.9 {23.68) 7.7 (34.4) 94 (17.3)

A deferred tax liability of £17.3m (2019: £2.1rm asset] has been recognised in the current Year using the tax rate of 19% (2019: 17%). Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when thers is alegally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

Asg at 27 March 2020 the Group had unused tax losses of £66,9m [2013; £71.9m] available for offset against future profits.

A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £49.6m (2019: £54.7m] of these losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining £17.2m [2019: £17.2m) as it is not considerad probable that there will be future taxable profits available in the
statutory entity in which these losses are being carried forward.

140 Biffa Annuval Report and Accounts 2020



23. Share-based Payments

2020 2019

Date of grant Number Nurnber
20 October 2016 - 2,282,240
24 January 2017 - 59,088
3 July 2017 1,575,164 1,622,420
1 September 2617 26,230 26,230
2 July 2018 870,176 936,125
1 October 2018 218,359 218,359
11 Decernber 2018 18,819 18,819
1July 2019 1,773,988 -

The following share-based expenses charged in the year are included within administration expenses:

2020 2019

£m Em

Performance Share Plan 3.0 3.8

During the year the Group had three conditional share-based payment arrangements granted to Directors and employees. The schemes are

equity settled.

Performance Share Plan

Number of Share price
options  Contractual atdate Number of Falr value
originally life of grant employees Expected Expected life Risk free per option
Date of grant granted (years) (pence) at grant volatility [years) rate (pence)
20 October 2016 2,635,794 285 179.5 13 27% 2.65 0.26% 106.2
24 January 2017 84,189 24 186.8 4 27% 24 0.23% 109.3
3 July 2017 2,198,313 3.0 221.8 78 26% 3.0 0.36% 154.6
1September 2017 26,230 2.8 228.8 1 26% 2.83 0.22% 1681.8
2 July 2018 1,014,880 29 251.0 36 24% 2.93 0.71% 173.2
10ctober 2018 218,359 29 253.0 2 24% 2.93 0.89% 173.8
11 December 2018 18,819 28 192.2 1 24% 2.93 0.90% 1141
1July 2019 1,773,988 3.0 211.0 37 26% 3.0 0.54% 112.8

The Group has used the stochastic model to value its share awards.

The expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which a share price is expected to fluctuate during the period. It is typically calculated
based on statistical analysis of daily share prices over the length of the award period. Due to the racent listing of Biffa plc this information
is not available. Instead it has been based on the volatility of another company of a similar size which operates in the same market.

A reconciliation of moverents in the number of share awards can be summunarised as follows:

Number of
options
originally Lapsed/
Date of grant granted Vested forfeited 27 March 2020
20 October 2016 2,635,794 (1,664,399) [971,395) -
24 January 2017 84,189 (43,157) (41,032) -
3 July 2017 2,198,313 - (623,149) 1,575,164
1 September 2017 26,230 - - 26,230
2 July 2018 1,014,880 - (144,704) 870,176
1 0ctober 2018 218,359 - - 218,359
11 December 2018 18,819 - - 1,819
1July 2019 1,773,988 - - 1,773,988
At 27 March 2020 7,970,572 (1,707,556) (1,780,280) 4,482,736
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Notes to the Consclidated Financial Staterments continued

23, Share-based Payments continued

The Performance Share Plan {PSP) provides for the grant of awards in the form of conditional free shares or nil-costs options. Shares in
relation to the award will be released to participants subsequent to the date of the preliminary announcement of results for the 2019/20
financial year dependent upon the extent to which the performance conditions of achievement of adjusted EPS targets for the fiscal year
ended March 2020 and performanca of the Company’s relative total shareholder growth have been satisfied. The EPS fair value is equivalent
to the share price at grant date on the basis that it is a non-market based rmeasure.

In 2017 the Group launched the Biffa Sharesave Plan 2017 (the Scheme) to all employees with six months’ or more continuous enployment
at the date of the Scheme launch. The Scheme is subject to HMRC rules which limit monthly contributions to £600 and the option price for
this award was £1.58 being a 20% discount to the average rarket price over the three consecutive days preceding the offer date. The Scheme
term is for three years and options may be exercised during the six months after completion of the Save as You Earn contract.

During the period 444,438 options were granted at a fair value of 34.8 pence, and as at 27 March 2020 403,290 were outstanding under the
Scheme. The share price at award was £2.07 and the option price was £1.81.

24. Share Capital

Numberof Called up share

shares capital

£

As at 29 March 2019 250,000,000 2,600,000
As at 27 March 2020 250,000,000 2,500,000

Share premium
The share premium represents amounts recefved in excass of the nominal value of shares issued upon IPO, net of the direct costs associated
with issuing those shares.

£m

As at 27 March 2020 and 29 March 2019 235.3

Merger reserve
The merger reserve of £74.4m arose on the acgquisition of Wasteholdco 1 Limited and is the difference between the carrying value of the net
assets acquired and the nominal value of the share capital.

25. Retained Earnings/(Deficit)

2020 2019

£m £m

Retained samings/(deficit] at the start of the period 48.4 29.0
Adjustment in respect of adoption of IFRS 15 - (6.2)

Profit for the period 45.6 18.0

Other comprehensive incorne for the period 32.6 224

Shares purchased by employee benefit trust (91) -

Employee service in respect of share option schernes (Note 23) 24 2.2
Dividends paid (18.3) (17.0)

Retained surplus at the end of the period 1016 484
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26. Cash Flows from Opexations

2020 2019
£m £m
Profit/(loss) for the period 45.6 18.0
Adjustments for:
Finance income (3.4) (1.5)
Finance charges 21.0 25.4
Share of resuit in joint venture 01 -
Taxation 10.8 35
Operating profit 74.1 45.4
Share based payments 3.0 38
Exceptional iterms (Note 3) 4.4 18.2
Amortisation of intangibles (Note 6) 179 17.8
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment [Note 6) 82.6 67.7
Profit on disposal of fixed assets {1.0) 2.8
(Increase] in inventories an 17
[Increase)in receivables [14.7) (0.9)
Increase in payables 323 4.1
(Increase)/decrease in financial asset 9.2 (8.2)
(Decrease) in provisions (12.3) (11.0)
Total cash generated from operations 183.8 133.0
27. Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movemnent in Debt
2020 2018
£m £m
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 216 25.4
Net (increase) in borrowings (135.4) {69.5)
Moverment in Net Debt in the period (113.8) (34.1)
Net Debt at beginning of periad {353.0]) (318.9)
Net Debt at end of period [466.8) (3563.0)
Analysis of Net Debt
2020 2020 2020
PostIFRS 16 IFRS 16 Pre IFR5 16 2019
£m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 878 - 87.8 BB.2
Lease liahilities (258.0) 141.0 (117.0) [122.6)
Bankloans (249.0) - (249.0) (248.0)
EVP preference liability [(6.3) - {(6.3) (6.3)
Reported Net Debt (425.5) 141.0 (284.5) [310.7)
EVP preference liability (41.3) - (41.3) (42.3}
(466.8) 141.0 (325.8) (353.0)
0t the EVP preference liability, £6.3m has been included within Reported Net Debt as it will be payable to EVP preference shareholders
irrespective of the outcome of the EVP Dispute. The remaining £41.3m has been excluded on the basis that it will only become payable
subject to the outcome of the EVP Dispute and will be funded by recovery of funds from HMRC.
The Groups leverage is calculated on reported Net Debt as follows:
2020 2020 2020
PostIFRS 18 IFRS 16 Pre IFRS 16 2019
£m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 87.8 - 878 66.2
Lease liabilities (258.0) 1410 (117.0) (122.8)
Bankloans (249.0) - (249.0) (248.0)
EVP preference liability (6.3) - (6.3) (6.3)
Reported Net Debt [425.5) 141.0 (284.5) (310.7)
Reported Net Deht: EBITDA 2.4x (0.6)x 1.8x 21x
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

27. Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Debt continued
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both ¢cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising fror financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

Non-cash changes
Asat New Asat
29March  Adeption of Financing Fair value Agquisition finance Other 27 March
2019 IFRS 168 cashflows movements of subsidiary leases changes 2020
| Lease liabilities (122.6) (124.9) 50.2 - (0.5) (50.8) 0.6 (258.0)
Bank loars [(248.0) - {1.0) - - - (249.0)
EVP preference liability (48.8) - - 10 - - - (47.8)
(419.2) (134.9) 49.2 1.0 (0.5) {50.8) 0.6 (654.8)
The cash flows in respect of the Group’s bank loans include repayments of £251.0m and drawdowns of £252.0m.
1 Non-cash changes
As at New Acat
28 March Financing Fair value Acquisition finance Other 29 March
2018 cashflows movements ofsubsidiary leases changes 2018
Obligations under finance leages [118.8) 33.0 - (1.9) (36.5) 16 (122.6]
Bankloans (194.7) [45.1) - - - (8.2) (248.0]
EVP preference liability f46.2) - (e4) - - - (48.6)
(359.7) (121) (2.4] (1.9) [36.5) (6.8 {(419.2)
28. Lease Liabilities
2020 undiscounted lease liability maturity analysis under IFRS 16
2020
Land and
buildings Dther Total
fm £m Em
Within one year 15.0 367 617
Between one and five years 54.8 290.8 145.6
After five years 133.0 11.3 144.3
202.8 138.8 3416
Reconciliation of operating leases under IAS 17 to opening IFRS 16
2020
£m
Operating lease cormmitments disclosed under IAS 17 at 29 March 2019 1734
Short-term and low-value lease commitrments straight-line expensed under IFRS 16 o.n
Effect of discounting (37.6)
Exempt (0.2)
Lease liabilities recognised at 30 March 2013 134.9

Amounts recognised in the Incorne Statement arising from IFRS 18 lease liabilities have been included in Note 6. These charges include
depreciation and shost-term or exempt leases. Interest on lease liabilities have been summarised in Note 4. Right-of-use assets and

the associated movernent in the year are surmmarised in Note 14, The transition narrative in relation to IFRS 16 is included in Note 1.
Repayment of lease liabilities are included within the Statement of Cash flow.

2019 operating leases under IAS 17

2019

Land and
buildings Other Total
£m £m £m
Within one year 14.4 2.4 16.8
Between one and five years 51.0 31 541
After five years 102.5 - 102.5
167.9 55 1734
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29. Pension and Post-retirement Benefits
Defined contribution schermes

2020 2019
£m £m
Defined contribution expense 10.2 9.8

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes: Biffa Pension Schame (BPS), the Cornwall Pension Fund (the Cornwall Fund), an
Unfunded Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme [UURBS], the Federated Pension Plan [FPP), Prudential Platinum {Platinum), the Kent
County Council Pension Fund [the Kent Fund), the Staffordshire Pension Fund {the Staffordshire Fund) and the Greater Manchester Pension
Fund (GMPF) (collectively, the Schemes). The Schemes offer both pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. All the Schemes
are closed to new merabers. The BPS, Platinum, the Cornwall Fund, the Kent Fund and the Staffordshire Fund are open to accrual although
the BPS is closed for the majority of mermbers and only a few ermployees with statutory protections remain in active service. The BPS makes
up around 95% of the total liability across the Schemes.

The Schemes expose the Group to actuarial risks such as market [investment] risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk currency risk and
longevity risk. Contributions to the Schemes for the year ended 26 March 2021 are expected to be £5.9m.

The Schemes’ are administered by Trustees and the assets are held separately to the legal entity that is the Group. The Trustee board

of the Schemes is composed of an independent Trustee, and other employer and member norminated Trustees {where the legal minimum
proportion of member nominated Trustees has been upheld). The Trustees are required by law to act in the best interests of the mermbears
of the Scherme. The Trustees are responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the Schemes.

The Group considers two measures of the Schemes surplus or deficit. The accounting position is shown on the Group balance sheet. Tha
funding position, calculated at the triennial actuarial assessment, is used to agree contributions to the Scheres. The two measures will
vary because they are for different purposes, and are calculated at different rates and in different ways. The key calculation difference is
that the funding position considers the expected returns of Scheme assets when calculating the Schernes liability, whereas the accounting
position under IAS 19 discounts liabilities based on corporate bond yields.

Tha Schemes have an accounting surplus that is fully recognised on the basis that future economic benefits are unconditionally available
in the form of a reduction in the future cash contributions or as a cash refund. Where a surplus of a defined benefit scheme arises or there
is potential for a surplus to arise from committed future contributions the rights of the Trustees to prevent the Group obtaining a refund

of that surplus is considered in determining whether it is necessary to restrict the amount of the surplus that is recognised.

A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2015 which revealed a funding shortfall of £66.7m. The Group
cormunitted to deficit payments of £3.85m each year to 31 March 2017 and escalating with RPI inflation each year from 31 March 2018 to
31 March 2024.

The Group is an admitted body in one other scheme that is part of the Local Government Pension Schemes. The contractual terms of the
commmercial agreements that admit the Group to the schermes limit the actuarial risk that the Group is exposed to; consequently the scheme
has been accounted for as a defined contribution scheme.

Investment risk

The present values of the Schermes’ liabilities are calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to yields available on high-quality
AA-rated corporate bond yields; in other words, from the position of being fully funded then if the return on the Schernes’ assets were below
this rate, it would create a deficit in the Schemes.

In addition to the natural interest rate hedging provided by its investrnent in bonds the Trustee also purchases derivatives to ensure that the
funding position of the Schermes are, overall, hedged against 60% of movernents in long-term risk free interest rates and 60% of movements
in inflation expectations. No annuities or specific mortality hedging products have been purchased by the schemes.

Interestrisk
A decrease in the corporate bond yield will increase the Schemes’ liabilities; however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the value
of the Schemes’ corporate bond assets.

Longevity risk
The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of the Schemes’ members
both during and after their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the Schemes' members will increase the Schemes’ liabilities,

Inflation risk

The present values of the Schemes’ liabilities are calculated by reference to the future expected pension indexation (both indexation in
deferment and pension increases in payment), which will depend on future inflation expectations. As such, an increase in the expectation
of future inflation will increase the Schemes' liabilities.

The lump sum death benefits paid to the dependants of the Schemes’ members are insured with an external insurance company.

The present value of the obligation, and the related current service cost and past service cost, were measured using the projected unit
credit method.

The COVIDB-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a global impact on economies, equity and bond rmarkets, Market volatility during March has had an impact
on the value of assets held by our DB and DG pension plans. Qur UK DB plans have low-risk investment strategies with limited exposure to
equities and other return seeking assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staternents continued

29. Pension and Post-retirement Benefits continued
A full actuarial valuation of the Schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2015 and has been updated to 27 March 2020 by a qualified
independent actuary. The major assumptions used by the actuary were (in nominal terms) as follows:

2020 2019
£m £m
Discount rate 2.5% 2.5%
Rate nf salary increase 2.5% 3.3%
Rate of inflation - RPI 2.8% 3.3%
Rate of inflation - CPI 2.0% 2.3%
Rate of pension incrcases! - RPI with floor of 0% cap of 25% pa. 2.1% 2.2%
Rate of pension increases' — RPI with floor of 0% cap of 5.0% p.a. 2.8% 3.2%
Rate of pension increases’ - RP1 with floor of 0% cap of 8.0% p.a. 2.8% 3.3%
Rate of pension increases! - CPI with floor of 0% cap of 3.0% p.a. 1.9% 2.2%
Longevity [years)
Expectad tuture lifetime of a male pensioner currently aged 65 209 210
Expected future lifetime of a female pensioner gurrently aged 65 229 23.3
Expected future lifetime from age 65 of a rnale member currently aged 50 219 22.0
Expected future lifetime frorm age 65 of a female member currently aged 50 24.5 24,1
1 Inexcess of any Gnaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP).
The assets in the Schemes were:
2019
% £m %
Asset category
Equities 102.8 171% 126.2 214
Bonds 327.8 54.7% 3019 514
Properties and infrastructure 809 13.5% 928 15.8
Hedge funds 39.5 6.6% 48.9 85
Dther 48.3 8.1% 16.8 29
599.3 5876
Actual return on plan assets 26,3 45.9

The fair value of all of the above asset classes are determined based on quoted (bid) market prices. Virtually all equity and debt instruments
have quoted prices in active markets. Derivatives are classified as Level 2 instruments and hedge funds and property as Level 3 instruments.
[t is the policy of the Schemes to use hedge funds and liability driven investments to hedge some of their exposure to interest rate and
inflation risks. This policy has been implemented during the current and prior years.

The key source of estimation uncertainty relates to the valuation of the property portfolio, where a valuation is obtained annually from
professionally qualified external valuers. The evidence to support these property valuations is based primarily on recent, comparable
market transactions on an arm's length basis. However the assumptions applied are inherently subjective and 50 are subject to a degree
of uncertainty, aspecially as a result of Covid-19 and volatile assumptions as at the balance sheet date,

An increase in the property valuation of 10% would increase pension assets by £8.1m. An increase in the valuation of unquoted assets of 10%
would increase pension assets by £1.2m.

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present value of the defined benetit obligation

2020 2018

£m £m

Benefit obligation at beginning of period 523.8 4728
Newly recognised obligations - 426
Service cost 2.8 3.2
Past service cost - 3.1
Interest cost 12.9 137
Contributions by Scherme participants 04 0.5
Net remeasurerent (gains)/losses - financial (29.3) 29.2
Net remeasurernent {gains) - demographic (0.4) (7.9)
Net remeasurement [gaing) - experience 4.5) (14.5)
Berefits paid (19.8) (18.9)
Benefit obligation at end of period 485.9 523.8
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Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the fair value of Schemes’ assets

2020 2019
£m fm
Fair value of Schemes’ assets at beginning of period 587.6 524.9
Newly recognised GMPF asset - 29.2
Interest income on Schemes' assets 14.5 14.6
Return on assets, excluding interest income 11.8 323
Contributions by employers 5.9 5.8
Contributions by Schemes' participants 04 05
Benefits paid [18.8) (18.9)
Scheme administrative cost 1) (0.8)
Pair value of plan assets at end of period 599.3 5876
Amounts recognised in comprehensive income in respect of defined benefit Schermes
2020 2019
£m £m
Current service cost 2.8 3.2
Past service cost - 31
Administrative cost 11 0.8
Adjustment in respect of Greater Manchester Pension Fund (0.7 (0.8)
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (2.0) (1.3)
Components of defined benefit cost recognised in profit or loss 1.2 50
Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability
Return on Schermes” assets [excluding amounts in net interest expense) 11.8 32.3
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in financial assumptions 29.4 (29.2]
Actuarial gain from changes in demegraphic assumptions 04 7.9
Actuarial gain from changes in experience assumptions 45 14.5
Movement in asset ceiling [5.2) 1.8
Components of defined henefit cost recognised in other comprehensive income 40.9 27.3

The current service cost is included in operating costs in profit or loss. The net interest expense is included within finance charges in the
consolidated staternent of profit or loss.

The remeasurement of the net defined benetit liability is included in other comprehensive incorme.

The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position arising from the Group's obligation in respect of its defined benefit
Schemes is as follows:

2020 2019
£m £m
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation [485.9) [623.8)
Fair value of funded Schemes' assets 599.3 587.6
Adjustment for the restriction in asset benedit 1.7] (0.3)
Adjustment in respect of GMPF agreement 13.0 165
Net asset arising from defined benefit obligation 124.7 79.0

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are the discount rate, expected future inflation
and mortality. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 0.5%lower the defined benefit asset would decrease by £50.5m (2019: £66.6m).
If the inflation assumption increases hy 0.5% the defined benefit asset would dacrease by £42.6m [2018: £44.2).

1f the life expectancy increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit asset would decrease by £19.4m (2019: £21.8m).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemernts continued

29. Pension and Post-retirement Benefits continued
The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely
that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be carrelated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation
liability recognised in the statement of financial position.

The Schemes’ participating employers are Biffa Waste Services Limited, Biffa Municipal Limited, Biffa Environmental Municipal Services
Limited, Biffa Leicester Limited and Biffa West Sussex Limited. These subsidiaries fund the cost of any protected members' future accrual
(to the extent that any protected members remain working for each of these companies) eared on a yearly basis.

Protected members pay a range of fixed contributions of pensionable salary depending on what section of the Schermes they are in. These
contributions range from 3% to 6% of pensionable salary. The residual contribution (including past service augmentations) is paid by the
above entities of the Broup. These sontributinns, required to fund acerual, are agreed between Biffa Corporate Holdings Limnited [the Principal
Employer) and the Trustees of the Schermnes following each triennial valuation of the Schemes.

In accordance with the Pensions Act 2004, the Schemes' liabilities are measured using a prudent discount rate at the triennial valuation,
but some asset outperformance is allowed for when calculating the deficit recovery contributions paid for by the participating employers.
Additional liabilities stemming from past service due to augmentation of benefits are added te the Schemes’ deficit.

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 27 March 2020 is approximately 21 years (2019: 21 years).

The Group expects to make a contribution of £4.0m [2019: £4.1m) to the Schemes during the financial year to 26 March 2021

30. Related Party Transactions
There have been no material related party transactions in the 52 weeks ended 27 March 2020 (2019: nil) except for key management
compensation as set out in the Directors’ Rernuneration Report,

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 62-83. There have been no related party
transactions with any directors in the year or in the subsequent period.

During the year to 27 March 2020, the Group invested £5m in Newhurst ERF Limited a joint venture that the Group holds 50% share in through
Newhurst ERF Holding Limited. This is therefors a related party of Biffa Plc. On financial close the Group received from the joint venture
reimbursement for development costs incurred. There was one other related party transaction in the year. The Group issued loan notes

of £2.2m to Newhurst ERF Holding Limited, the parent company of Newhurst ERF Limited. Both parties can redeem the notes at any time.
Annual rate of interest on the notes is eight per cent. This whole balance remained outstanding at year end. None of the amount is deemed

to be uncollectable and no expenses have been recognised during the period in respect of bad or doubtful debts in this regard.

No Directors held any material interest in any contract with the Company or the Group in the year or subsequent period to 27 March 2020,
The Group has made £10.2m (2019: £9.2m) contributions to the pension schemes.
31, Subsidiary Undertakings

All subsidiary undertakings have a financial year ended cotermminous with Biffa plc unless otherwisa noted. The Companises disclosad below
are deemed to be the principal subsidiaries of the Group.

Principal subsidiary Place of incorporation Agtivity Shareholding
Biffa Municipal Limited' England and Wales Waste management  100%
UK Waste Managerment Limited! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Wasta Managermnent Limited! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa West Sussex Limited! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Bray Insurance Company Limited? Gibraltar Insurance services 100%
Barge Waste Management Limited’ England and Wales Waste management  100%
Island Waste Services Lirnited? England and Wales Waste management  100%
Poplars Resource Management Company Limited! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Waste Services Limited! Englang and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Leicester Limited! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Environmental Municipal Services Limited® England and Wales Waste management  100%
Weir Waste Services Limited! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Weir Recycling Services Limited! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Specialist Waste Recycling Limited™ England and Wales Waste management  100%

1 Registered at Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycornbe, Buckinghamshire HP12 3TZ.
2 Registered at Fiduciary Management Limited, Suite 23 Portland House, Glacis Road, Gibraltar, GX111AA

3 Registered at Annan Suite, 10 York Place, Edinburgh, Scotland EH1 3EP
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32. Contingent Liabilities

The Group must satisty the financial security requirements of environmental agencies in order to ensure that it is able to discharge the
obligations in the licences or permits that the Group holds for its landfill sites. The Group satisfies these financial security requirements

by providing financial security bonds. The amount of financial security which is required is determined in conjunction with the regulatory
agencies, as is the method by which assurance is provided. The Group has existing bond arrangements in England and Wales of approximately
£85.7m outstanding at 27 March 2020 [2019: £84.9m] in respect of the Group’s permitted waste activities where the Group has obligations

under the Environment Agency’s fit and proper person test to make adequate financial provision in order to undertake those activities.

Additionally the Group has bonds to a value of £18.0r {2019: £19.8mm) in connection with security for performance of 1ocal authority and
other contracts. No liability is expected to arise in respect of these bonds. The Group also has two letters of credit in relation to Newhurst EfW

amounting to £38.8m.

The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill tax treatment of certain materials used in the engineering of landfill

sites from Septernber 2008 to May 2012, which is fully explained in Note 34.

The Group is also engaged in a dispute with HMRC in relation to the landfill tax treatment of sub-soils with low levels of contamination from
asbestos. At the date of signing of the accounts the outcome is not gertain, however the Group has received a protective assessment of £8.5m,

which has been paid and is included in prepayments in the current year as the Group is disputing this assessment.

The Group is subject to a nurber of other HMRC enquiries which are on-going.

33. Joint Ventures

Details of each of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Flace of incorporation and

Proportion of ownership interest and voting

Narme of joint venture Principal activity principal place of business rights held by the group

2020
Newhurst ERF Holding Ltd Energy from waste England and Wales 50%
Newhurst ERF Limited Energy from waste England and Wales 50%

All of the above joint ventures are accounted for using the equity methad in these consolidated financial statements as set gut in the

Group's accounting policies in note 1.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts in joint ventures financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS Standards adjusted by

the Group for equity accounting purposes,

2020
£m
Current assets 4.4
Non-current assets 28.0
Current liabilities (7.0)
Non-current liabilities (22.2)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents 1.9
Current financial liabilities [excluding trada and other payables and provisions) (5.2)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) (22.2)
Revenue
Profit or loss from continuing operations -
Profit/(loss) for the year (0.1)
Other comprehensive income attributable tothe owners of the company nse)
Total comprehensive income (1.9)
The above profit (loss] for the year include tha following:
Depreciation and amortisation -
Interest income -
Interest expense -
Income tax expense {income) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

33, Joint Ventures continued
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in the
Consolidated financial statements:

2020

£m

Net assets of joint venture 8.0
Proportion of the Broup’s ownership interest in the joint venture 50%
Goodwill -
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in the joint venture 3.0
2020

£

Interest in joint venture at 30 March 2019 -
Addition 4.9
Share of post-tax results (0.1)
Share of net loss on cash flow hedgg in joint venture (1.8)
Interest {n the joint venture at 27 March 2020 3.0

34. EVP-related Items
The Group is engaged in a dispute with HMRC concerning historical Landfill Tax.

HMRG claims that the Group is liable for £61.9m of Landfill Tax in respect of certain waste materials deposited in Biffa’s landfill sites from
2008 to 2012 (EVP). Biffa contests that the material was used in the sites for an engineering purpose and is not therefore subject to Landfill
Tax. Notwithstanding the Group's opinion on the tax treatment of this raterial, since 2012 all materials of this nature have been subjected
to Landfill Tax. The matter was heard by the Second tier Tax Tribunal which found in Biffa's favour. The Environment Agency has exercised
its right to appeal this decision.

The contested amount was originally unpaid under a hardship agreement with HMRC but was paid to HMRG following the refinancing
of the Group upon its IP0 in Dctober 20186. In addition to the payment of £61.9m, the Group paid £1.7m in interest in the prior year.

The Directors, having taken appropriate advice, do not believe that a liability to tax exists, and accordingly have treated the payment
of the tax and associated interest as a prepayment.

As part of the IPO of the Group, arrangements were put in place to make certain payrnents to the shareholders and certain members of employee
incentive schemes of the Group irmmediately prior to its Listing, subject to and in respect of the outcome of the dispute. A liability of £47.6m
has been recognised in borrowings, an accrual of £13m has been recognised in non-current liabilities, and a non-underlying non-cash interest
charge of £1.1m has been recognised in finance charges in respect of these obligations. Of the liability of £47.6m, £6.3m has been included
within Reported Net Debt as it will be payable irrespective of the outcome of the dispute, The remaining balance of £41.3m has been excluded
from Reported Net Debt.

35. Service Concession Arrangements

The Group has two integrated waste management contracts with Leicester City Council (25 years - awarded in 2003) and West Sussex
County Council (25 years - awarded in October 2010). The concessions vary as to the extent of their obligations, but typically require
the construction and operation of an asset during the concession period including scheduled maintenance and capital expenditure,
The operation of the assets includes the provision of waste management services such as collection, recycling and disposal. Typically
at the end of concession periods the assets ara returned to thg concession owner. There have not been any significant changes to these
arrangerments in the period. The construction of the infrastructure for West Sussex County Council was funded by the Couneil and
therefore falls outsida of the scope of IFRIC 12 and no financial asset or intangible has been recognised. A financial asset of £3.4m

has been recognised in relation to the Leicester City Council contract (Note 18].

These contracts generated revenue of £45.7m in the 52 weeks ended 27 March 2020 (2019: £49.6m). The contract with Leicester City
Council is loss making and a return to profitability is not expected and as such an onerous contract provision has been recognised.

36. Non-principal Subsidiary Undertakings
The following entities comp!ete the full list of the Company's subsidiary undertakings. All subsidiaries are 100% owned and consolidated
unless otherwise statad.

Name Country of incorporation  Activity Shareholding
Wasteholdco 1 Limited***2 Jersey Holding company 100%
Wasteholdco 2 Limited*? Jersay Holding company 100%
Biffa Group Holdings Limited*® Jersey Holding company 100%
Biffa Group Limited* England and Wales Holding company 100%
GS Equity Co® Cayman Islands Holding company 100%
GS Acguisitions Limited™ England and Wales Holding company 100%
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Name Country of incorporation  Activity Shareholding
Biffa GS Holdings Limited* England and Wales Holding company 100%
Material Recovery Nominees Limited* England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa GS UK Holdings Limited*! England and Wales Holding company 100%
Biffa GS (LPP) Limited* England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa GS Environmental Limited™ England and Wales Waste managerment  100%
Biffa GS (RUR) Limited** England and Wales  Dormant 100%
Biffa GS Environmental Recycling Limited* England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa GS [M&B] Limited* England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa GS (FC) Limited™ England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa (WES) Limited* England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Group Holdings (UK Limited*! England and Wales Holding company 100%
Biffa Corporate Services Limited* England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa Corporate Holdings Limited** England and Wales Holding company 100%
Biffa Netherlands BV.** Netherlands Holding company 100%
Biffa Servicios de Energia Mexico SA de CV.** Mexico Waste management  100%
Empresa de Servicios Espezialoados en Gensracion de Ener-gia, S.A.de CV**  Mexico Waste management  100%
Biffa Waste Limited* England and Wales Waste management  100%
Biffa Holdings (Jersey) Limited*? Jersey Holding company 100%
Bitfa UK Group Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa UK Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa (UK) Holdings Limited* England and Wales Waste management  100%
UK Waste Management Holdings Limjted*! England and Wales Waste management  100%
A Smith & Sons (Waste Disposal) Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa (Land) Limited*® Guernsey Waste management  100%
Pilmuir Waste Disposal Limited* England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa [Roxby]) Limited*! England and Wales Waste management  100%
Norwaste Limited™ England and Wales Dormant 100%
Loristan Services Ltd England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa West Sussex Holdco Lirnited™! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Bray 2008 (Malta) Lirnited*” Malta Holding cornpany 100%
Reclamation & Disposal Limited™ England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa Holdings Lirnited™*! England and Wales Holding company 100%
Biffa (Jersey] Limited*® Jersey Holding company 100%
Richard Biffa (Reclamation] Limited*! England and Wales Dormarnt 100%
M Joseph & Son (Birmingham] Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Biffa Pension Scheme Trustees Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Cressex Insurance Services Limited* England and Wales Dormant 100%
White Crogs Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Wastedrive Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Wastedrive (Manchester) Limited! England and Wales Waste mmanagernent  100%
Amber Engineering Lirited*! England and Wales Waste management  100%
0'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Holdings Limited* England and Wales Holding cormpany 100%
0'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Limited*’ England and Wales Waste management  100%
SWR Plastics Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
SWR Waste Management Limited*? England and Wales Dormant 100%
Smash & Grab Glass Recycling Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Wastecutter Limited* England and Wales ~ Dormant 100%
New Star Environmental Limnited* England and Wales Waste management  100%
SWR Eguipment Limited*! England and Wales Dorraant 100%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

36. Non-principal Subsidiary Undertakings continued

Narne Country of incorporation  Activity Shargholding
SWE Smash & Grab Limited*? England and Wales Waste management  100%
RUR3 Environmental Lirnited* England and Wales Waste management  100%
National Waste Collection Limited* England and Walas Dormant 100%
SWR Just Bins Limited* England and Wales Dormant 100%
SWRNewstar Limited*! England and Wales Dormant 100%
Protos Investco Lirnited England and Wales Waste management  100%
Newhurst ERF Holding Limited**® England and Wales Waste management  50%
Newhurst ERF Limited**® England and Walgs Waste management  50%
* Financial year ended 27 Maxch 2020.
** Pinancial year ended 31 Deceraber 2019
*** Directly held by Biffa ple.
1 Registered at Coronation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire HP12 3TZ.
2 Registered at 42 Egplanade, 5t Helier, Jersey, JE4 SWG.
4 Registered at Strawinskylaan 3127, 8e verdieping, 1077Z2X Amsterdam.
5 Registered at Intertrust Corporate Services {Cayman] Liruted, 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Caymaon KY18005
6 Registered at PO Box 119, Martello Court, Admiral Park, St Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 3H.
7 Registered at Development House, 5t Anne Street, Floriana, Malta.
8 Registered at Suite 1, 3rd Floor 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB
37. Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers
The Group has recognised the following contract assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers:
2020 2019
£m £m
Current contract assets 58.2 54,2
Current contract liabilities [17.8) 117.6]

The tirming of payments received from customers, relative to the recording of revenue, can have a significant impact on the contract-related
assets and liabilities recorded on the Group's Statement of Financial Position.

Contract liability is what was previously referred to as deferred incorme under IAS 18. Included within contract liability is £0.1m {2019: £0.1m]
in relation to Government grants which will be recognised in less than one year.

Certain contracts have payrment terms based on contractual milestones, which are not necessarily aligned to when revenue is recognised,
particularly for those contracts with revenue recognised over-time by reference to the stage of complation. Where work is carried outand
revenue recognised in advance of the customer being invoiced this creates a contract asset. Where revenue is received in advance of work
carried out and therefore the revenue recognised a contract liability arises.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to consideration for work completed but not invoiced at the Staternent of Financial
Position date, The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the amounts are agread by tha customer. Gn most contracts,
certificates and agreement is by the customer on a monthly basis. All contract assets held at 27 March 2020 are expected to be invoiced
and transferred to trade receivables within the next 12 months. The movernent in contract assets relates to £56.2m performance obligations
satistied in the year and recognised as revenue £564.2m which has been transferred to trade receivables.

None of the contract assets at the end of the reporting period are past due, and, taking into account the historical default experience
and the future prospects in the industry, the directors consider that no contract assets are impaired.

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration received from customers in respect of performance obligations which
have not yet been fully satisfied and for which revenue has not been recognised. All contract liabilities held at 27 March 2020 are expected
to satisfy performance obligations in the next 12 months. The movement in contract liabilities relates to £17.6rn performance obligations
satisfied and recognised as revenue in the year and £17.8m cash received for performance obligations not satisfied.

38. Dividends
As announged in the COVID-19 update on 25 March 2020 the Board recommended there will be no final dividend for the year ended
27 March 2020. An interirn dividend of 2.47p per share was paid on 20 Decemnber 2019, All dividends were paid frorn distributable reserves.

39. Postbalance sheets
There have been no post balance sheet events.
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Parent Company Statement of Financial Position

The parent company statements are prepared under FRS 101 and relate to the Cormpany and not to the Group. The accounting policies which
have been applied to these accounts can be found on page 165 and a separate independent auditor's report on page 88-101.

2020 2018
Notes fm Fm
Assets
Non-currgnt assets
Investments 2 255.8 2565.7
Trade and other receivables 3 34.3 2.8
2901 264.4
Current assets
Other receivables 3 - 34.0
Cash and cash equivalents 4 01 01
Current liabilities
Derivatives financial instruraents 5 1.3) (0.7)
Trade and other payables 6 (33.6) (29.3)
Net current assets/(liabilities) [(34.8) 41
Net assets 255.3 a282.7
Equity
Called up share capital 7 2.5 2.5
Share prermium 235.3 2353
Retained earnings 19.8 20.2
Hedging and other reserves (2.3) 47
Total surplus/(deficit] attributable to shareholders 255.3 262.7
Retained profit for the year was £17.9m (2019: £27.6m).
The Financial Statements on pages 153 to 154 wera approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:
,) .
Y
——
Richard Pike
Director
Biffa ple
Registered no: 10336040
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Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Retained
Called up Share Hedging and eamings/ Total
share capital premium  otherreservas (deficit) equity
£m £m £im £ £m
Ag at 30 March 2018 25 23563 18 aB 249.2
Profit for the period - - - 276 276
Cashflow hedges - - [04) - (0.4}
Value of employee service in respect of share aption
schemes and share awards - - 3.3 - 3.3
Djvidends paid - - - [17.0) (27.0)
As at 29 March 2018 25 235.3 47 20.2 2627
Profit for the period - - 179 179
Cashflow hedges - - (0.8) - [0.6]
Shares purchased by employee beneift trust - - (8.8] - (8.8)
Value of ernployee service in respect of share option
schemes and share awards - - 24 - 24
Dividends paid - - (18.3) [18.3)
As at 27 March 2020 2.5 235.3 2.3) 19.8 265.3

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own income statement or staternent of comprehensive
income. The profit of the Company for the year attributable to shareholders was £17.9m.

The Company's distributable reserves amount to £19.8m (2019: £20.2m) at the end cf the period. The Company regularly reviews its distributable
reserves and makes dividend recapitalisations as and when necessary to ensure it can make all expected dividend payments. The company
has sufficient subsidiary reserves to enable recapitalisation in 2021 and going forward.
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Accounting Policies to the Parent Company Financial Statements

Basis of Preparation
These Minancial Slalenients relate to Bifta plic, a publicly traded company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The registered
address is Corenation Road, Cressex, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP12 3TZ.

These Financial Statements present the results of the Company as an individual entity and are prepared on the going concern basis,
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101) and the Companies Act 2006.

The Company is part of a larger group and participates in the Group's centralised treasury and banking arrangements. The Company
is expected to generate positive cash flows to continue to operate in the foreseeable future.

The Company has not presented its own incorne statement or statement of comprehensive income as permitted by section 408
of the Companies Act 20086.

The Financial Statermnents have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out below, which have been consistently
applied to all the years presented except where the Cornpany has elected to tale the following exemptions under FRS 101:

a The requirements of IAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows'.
u The requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures’ in respect of key management personnel.
= Requirerments of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures' to disclose transactions between wholly owned members of tha Group.

» The requirements of IFRS 7 ‘'Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, as equivalent disclosures are provided in the consolidated Financial
Statements of the Group to which the Company belongs.

» The requirements of IFRS 2 ‘Share-hased Payments’

m The requirements of paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurements', as equivalent disclosures are presented in the consolidated
Financial Staternents.

Areas of Judgement and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Judgement
Due to the uncertainty following COVID-19 the company considers Expected Credit Loss (ECL) on inter-company balances to be a key judgerment.

Estimation
The Company does not have any key assumptions concerning the future, or other key areas of estimation uncertainty in the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Investments

Investments are initially stated at cost. Investments are tested for impairment when an event that might affect asset value has occurred.

An impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the carrying amounts cannot be recovered either by selling the asset or by the discounted
future cash flows from the investment.

Dividend Distribution
Final dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s Financial Statements in the periced
in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Other Receivables
Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value less any provisien for expected credit loss. They are subsequently held at amortised
cost less any provision for expected credit loss.
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Accounting Policies to the Parent Company Financial Statements continued

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and subsequently remeasured at fair value
at each balance sheet date. The method of recagnising the resuiting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging
instrument and, if so, the nature of the itern being hedged.

The Company designates certain derivatives as either a) fair value hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities);
or b] cash How hedge (hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probabls forecast transaction);
or c] net investrment hedge (hedges of net investrments in foreign operations).

The Company documents the transaction relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items at inception. At inception and
at each reporting date the Company assesses whether the derivatives used have been highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value
of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative instruments used for hedging are shown in Note 5, Movernents in the hedging reserve are shown in the statement

of changes in equity.

At the reporting date the Company has no fair value hedges or net investment hedges. |
Cash Flow Hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The Company's
cash flow hedges in respect of forward foreign exchange contracts result in recognition in either profit and loss or in the hedging reserve.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when the nedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or
loss in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction occurs, When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 1oss that was reported in equity will be transferred to the income staternent.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement.
Other Payables

Aceounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current
liahilities.

Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity and are recorded at par value of proceeds received. Where shares are issued above par value,
the proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account net of direct issue costs,
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

1. Employees and Directors
Netails of the remuncration received by Diteulors of Biffa ple are included in the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 66 to 83. Biifa plc
has two employees (2018: two).

2. Investments

2020

£m

As at 29 March 2019 25656.7
Movernents relating to share options granted/(issued) on behalf of subsidiary employees 01
Asg at 27 March 2020 255.8

There have been no indicators of impairment during the year and no requirement for irmpairment. The Directors believe that the carrying
value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.

Disclosure of the Company's subsidiaries is given in Notes 31 and 36 of the Group Financial Statements.

3. Trade and Other Receivables

2020 2019
£m Em
Amounts falling due within one year
Armounts due from subsidiary undertaking - 34.0
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Armounts due from subsidiary undertaking 34.0 -
Other receivables 0.3 29
Total 34.3 2.9

During the year amounts due from subsidiary undertakings was reclassified to falling due after more than ene year due to managements assessment.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receivables approximates their fair value.

4. Cashand Cash Equivalents

2020 2018
£m £m
Cash at bank and in hand 0.1 0.1
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements continued

5. FairValue of Financial Assets and Liabilities

2020 2019

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

Financial assets and liabilities £m £m £m £rn
Derivative asset 1.3) 1.3) 07 (0.7])

Trade and other receivables 343 343 369 36.9
Cash and cash equivalents 0.1 01 0.1 01
Trade and other payables [33.8) [33.6) [29.3) (29.3]

Total financial assets and liabilities (0.5) (0.9) 70 70

Derivative financial instruments
Full details of the derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 19 of the Group Consolidated Statements. The fair valueand the
notional arnounts are as follow:

2020 2019

Fair value Notional Fair value National

£m £m £m £m

Forward foreign exchange contracts 04 109 {07 16.0

Interest rate swaps [1.6) 200.0 - -

6. Trade and Other Payables
2020 2019
£m £m
Non-cutrent

Amounts payable to subsidiary undertakings (33.8) (29.3)

Other - -
Total trade and other payables (33.6]) (29.3)

All creditors are unsecured.

The fair value of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities are deterrmined based on discounted cash flow analysis using current market
rates for sirilar instruments.

7. Called up share capital

Nurnber of Called up
shares share capital
No £
As at 27 March 2020 and 29 March 2019 250,000,000 2,500,000

8. Related Party Transactions
There have been no material related party transactions in the 52 weeks ended 27 March 2020 (2018: nil) except for key management cormnpensation
as set out in the report of the remuneration commitiee.
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9. UK Registered Subsidiaries Exempt from Audit
The following UK subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemnption set out within section 4794 of the Companias Act 2006 for the

period ended 27 March 2020, Unless otherwise stated, the undertakings listed below are 100% owned, either directly or indirectly, by Biffa ple.

Name Proportion of shares held by subsidiary (%) Company nurmber
G5 Acquisitions Limited 100% 07255980
Biffa GS Holdings Limited 100% 046023885
Materials Recovery Nominees Limited 100% 05186581
Biffa G5 UK Holdings Lirnited 100% 04831832
Biffa GS [LPP] Limited 100% 02276396
Biffa GS Environmental Limited 100% 03446693
Biffa GS [RUR) Limited 100% 04594882
Biffa GS Environmental Recycling Limited 100% 04786413
Biffa GS (M&B] Limited 100% 01173607
Biffa GS (FC) Limited 100% 04800628
Biffa Group Holdings [UK] Limited 100% 04081901
Reclamation and Disposal Lirnited 100% 00879315
Biffa Waste Limited 100% 04084432
Biffa UK Group Lirnited 100% 036850457
Biifa UK Limited 100% 03650459
Biffa (UK) Holdings Limited 100% 03249158
UK Waste Management Limited 100% 01362615
A. Smith & Sons (Waste Disposal) Lirnjted 100% 013486573
Pilmuir Waste Disposal Limited 100% 01829739
Biffa Waste Management Limited 100% 01138022
Biffa (Roxby] Limitad 100% 02031961
Norwaste Limited 100% 01041912
White Cross Limited 100% 01537610
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

9. UK Registered Subsidiaries Exempt from Audit continued

Name Proportion of shares held by subsidiary (%) Cornpany number
Wastedrive Limited 100% 01396771
Wastedrive {(Manchester] Limited 100% 01517244
Biffa Holdings Limited 100% 01032104
Richard Biffa (Reclamation] Limited 100% 00929000
Barge Waste Management Limited 100% 02849408
Island Waste Services Limited 100% 015652791
M. Juseph & Son [Birmingham) Limited 100% 00440100
Amber Engineering Limited 100% 01067283
0'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Limited 100% 09362987
(0'Brien Waste Recycling Solutions Holdings Limited 100% 035605688
Weir Recycling Services Limited 100% 9390664
Weir Waste Services Limited 100% 03777183
SWR Equipment Limited 100% 06974078
SWR Plastics Limitad 100% 07800637
SWR Waste Management Lirnited 100% 07800679
Srnash & Grab Glass Recyeling Limited 100% 07800734
Wastecutter Limited 100% 08212454
National Waste Collection Lirnited 100% 09700337
SWR Just Bins Limited 100% 10060304
SWRNewstar Limited 100% 11098385
UK Waste Management Holaings Limited 100% 02536345
Protos Investco Limited 100% 12215602
Biffa (WES) Lirnited 100% 02729607
Biffa West Sussex Holdco Lirnited 100% 07001231
New Star Environmental Limited 100% 07306131
SWR Smash & Grab Limited 100% 05667032
RUR3 Environmental Limited 100% 06304761
Loristan Services Limited 100% 013380710
Newhurst ERF Holding Lirnited 50% 11598817
Newhurst ERF Limited 50% 12006738

In accordance with section 479C of the Companies Act 2008, the Company will guarantee the debts and liabilities of the above UK subsidiary
undertakings. Asat 27 March 2020 the total surn of these debts and liabilities is £33.7 million.
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Glossary

A

Acquisition Acquisition Net Revenue Growth in any period FTSE Financia! Times Stock Exchange
Net Revenue  represents the Net Revenue Growth in the - -
Growth relevant period from (i) acquisitions completed FY Financial Year
in the relevant period and (ii) acquisitions
completed in the 12 months ended to the G
start of the relavant period up to the 12 month - .
anniversary of the relevant acquisition date GDPR General Data Protection Regulation
(tothe extent such Net Revenue falls in the GHG Greenhouse gas
current period}. Acquisition Revenue Growth is
calgulated on the same basis, using revenue in H
place of Net Revenue
Anaerobic Anaerobic digestion, a process that generates HDPE High-density polyethylene
Digestion renewable electricity using biogas created frorn
biodegradable waste material {primarily food I
waste) in the absence of oxygen
) <VE I&C Industrial and commercial business
Admission The Company’s admission of its shares to the UK tial Public Offeri
Listing Authority's Official List and listing on the PO Initial Public Offering
Main Market of the London Stock Exchange on
20 October 2016 I<
APM Alternative Performance Measures KPIs Key Performance Indicators
C ktns or kt Thousand tonnes
CO:e Carbon dioxide equivalent is a standard L
unit in carbon accounting to quantify - :
greenhouse gas erissions, emissions lla.e;:ierage Ratio of Reported Net Debt to Underlying ERITDA
reductions and carbon credits atlo
LT1 Lost Time Injury Frequency rate, a safety

benchmarking measure calculated as the
number of lost time injuries occurring in

EfW Energy from waste, typically from the a workplace per 100,000 hours worked
incineration of RDF
ERF Energy recovery facility M
ESG Environmental, Social and Governance M&A Mergers & acquisitions
ES0S Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme - MBT Mechanical and biological treatment
a mandatory energy assessment scheme M al ling facili
for organisations in the UK that meet the MRF aterials recycling facility
qualification criteria Mw Megawatt
EV Electric Vehicle MWh Megawatt hour
EVP Engineered into the void permanently, related N
tothe use of certain material at a landfill site,
placed at specified depths immediately below Natlonal Grid High-voltage electric power trensmission
the geomermnbrane layer at the top of a landfill network in the UK
cell, for use in capping the site R
Net Capex Cash capex less proceeds from disposal of
tangible assets
Net Revenue  Statutory Revenue excluding landfill tax,
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Glossary continued

0

U

Organic Net
Revenue
Growth

The increase/[decrease] in nat revenue in the
period excluding net revenue from acquisitions
completed in the period and net revenue from
acquisitions completed in the prior period up

to the anniversary of the relevant acquisition
date, to the extent such net revenue falls in the
current period. Organic net revenue growth can
be expressed both as an absolute financial value
and as a percentage of prior period revenue

PET Polyethylene terephthalate

PSP Performance Share Plan

RCF Revolving credit facility

RDF Refuse-derived fuel, produced by processing
solid waste to segregate largely combustible
comporents for incineration

Recyclate Raw material sent to, and processed in, a waste
recycling plant or materials recycling facility

Reported Net Debt excluding the EVP preference instrument

Net Debt

Returnon Operating Profit excluding exceptional items

Capital and impact of real discount rate changes to

Employed landfill provisions divided by the average of

[ROCE) opening and closing shareholders’ equity plus
Net Debt {including finance leases), pensions
and environmental provisions

Return on Underlying Operating Profit divided by the

Dperating average of opening and closing Tangible Fixed

Assets (RODA) Assets plus net working capital

RIDDOR Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous
(Ooeurrences Regulations 2013

ROC Renewable Obligations Certificate

SDGs Sustainable Development Goals - a collection
af 17 global goals (set by the UN) designed t¢
be a “blueprint to achieve a better and more
sustainable future for all”

Section 172 Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006

orsi72

SHEQ Safety, health, environment and quality

SIP Share Incentive Plan

SWR Specialist Waste Services

162

Underlying Underlying Earnings per Share is expressed

Earnings per  asunderlying profit after tax dividend by the

Share weighted average number of shares in the year

UN United Nations

Undexlying Profit before depreciation and amortisation,

EBITDA exceptional items, irpact of real discount rate
changes to landfill provisions, finance costs and
taxation. Divisional underlyving EBITDA is stated
after allocstion of shared services costs

Underlying The net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash

Free Cash equivalents excluding dividends, restructuring

Flow and exceptional iterns, acquisitions, movement
in financial assets and movements in borrowings
or share capital (but including finance lease
principal payments)

Underlying Profit before exceptional iterns, amortisation of

Operating acquisition intangibles, impact of real discount

Profit rate changes to landfill provisions, finance costs
and taxation. Divisional underlying operating
profit is stated after allocation of shared
service costs

Underlying Underlying Profit after tax is the profit or loss

Profit after for the period as adjusted for non-underlying

Tax operating items (exceptional items, amortisation
of acquisition intangibles and impact of real
discount rate changes to landfill provisions),
non-underlying net interest items and
non-underlying taxation

Underlying Underlying Operating Profit margin is expressed

Operating as Underlying Operating Profit as a percentage of

Profit Margin Statutory Revenue

viogs Videoblogs

Vaid Maasure of potential capacity of a landfill site
in cubic metres

WEEE Waste Electronic and Electrical Equipment

Working Worling Capital Mpvement represents the

Capital rmovement from the previous period in relation

Movement to inventories, trade and other receivables, trade

and other payables and provisions adjusted for
the impact of acquisitions on these halances
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Forward-looking statements

Certain statements made in this Annual Report are forward-locking
and are based on qurrent expectations. The statements are subject
to assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which
are beyond the Company’s control and which could cause actual
results to differ significantly from those expected. Unless required
by law, regulations or accounting standards, the Company does

not undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statement,
whether as a result of new information or future developments. Any
forward-looking staternents rnade by or on behalf of the Group spealk
only as of the date that they are made and are based on knowledge
and information available to the Directors on the date of this Annual
Repaort. Nothing in this Annual Report should be regarded as a profit
forecast or constitute an offer tasell ar an invitation tobuy any
shares in Biffa plc.

Website

The Company’s website wwwbiffa.co.uk gives additional information
on the business. Notwithstanding the references made in the Annual
Report to the website, none of the information made on the website
constitutes part of this Annual Report or is deemed to be incorporated
by reference herein.
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